
People Scrutiny Commission
Agenda
This Commission will meet with the South Gloucestershire Health 
Scrutiny Committee to discuss the items  set out on this Agenda

Date:      Wednesday, 8 June 2016
Time:      10.00 am
Venue:   Council Chamber, Kingswood Civic Centre

Distribution:
Councillors: Lesley Alexander, Mark Brain, Jos Clark, Eleanor Combley, Anna Keen, Gill Kirk, Cleo Lake, 
Brenda Massey, Celia Phipps, Ruth Pickersgill and Liz Radford

Copies to: John Readman (Strategic Director - People), Hilary Brooks (Service Director, Care and 
Support - Children & Families), Angela Clarke (Interim Service Director, Care, Support Children & 
Families), Mike Hennessey (Service Director, Care and Support - Adults), Nick Hooper (Service 
Director Strategic Housing), Paul Jacobs (Service Director Education & Skills), Netta Meadows (Service 
Director, Strategic Commissioning & Commercial Relations), Lucy Fleming, Claudette Campbell 
(Democratic Services Officer) and Rachel Abba (DLT Support Manager)

Issued by: Claudette Campbell, Democratic Services
Floor 4, Brunel House (Clifton Wing), Bristol BS1 5UY
Tel: 0117 92 22342
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk
Date: Friday 27th May 2016

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


People Scrutiny Commission – Agenda

Agenda
1. Welcome, Introduction and Safety Information 6.00 pm

2. Apologies for Absence 

3. Declarations of Interest 
To note any interests relevant to the consideration of items on the agenda.
Please note that ……

Any declarations of interest made at the meeting which is not on the register of 
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion.

4. Public Forum 
Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Any member of the public or Councillor may participate in Public Forum.  The 
detailed arrangements for so doing are set out in the Public Information Sheet at 
the back of this agenda.  Public Forum items should be emailed to 
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk and please note that the following deadlines 
will apply in relation to this meeting:-

Questions - Written questions must be received 3 clear working days prior to the 
meeting.  For this meeting, this means that your question(s) must be received in 
this office at the latest by 5 pm on Thursday 2nd June 2016

Petitions and Statements - Petitions and statements must be received on the 
working day prior to the meeting.  For this meeting this means that your 
submission must be received in this office at the latest by 12.00 noon on Tuesday 
7th June 2016

5. University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust Quality 
Report 2015/16 

(Pages 4 - 116)

6. North Bristol NHS Trust - Account of the Quality of Clinical 
Services 2015/16 

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


People Scrutiny Commission – Agenda

(Pages 117 - 201)

7. Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust - 
Quality Account 2015/16 

(Pages 202 - 250)

8. South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust - 
Quality Review and Quality Account 2015/16 

(Pages 251 - 297)



Quality Report

2015/16

P
age 4

A
genda Item

 5



• Progress against quality objectives for 2015/16

• Board assurance from headline quality measures

• Our quality ambitions for 2016/17

• Opportunity to ask questions about our Quality Report

P
age 5



Achieved:

• Improving the experience of cancer patients (learning from South Tees)

• Improving the quality of appointment letters (Plain English templates)

Partially achieved:

• Reducing last-minute cancelled operations for non-clinical reasons 

• Ensuring patients are cared for on the right ward for their clinical condition (reducing the 

number of outlier bed days)

• Improving timeliness of discharge from hospital (increasing the number of patients 

discharged between 7am and 12noon)

• Improving the management of sepsis 

• Reducing in-clinic outpatient delays and keeping patients informed

• Improving the quality of written complaints responses (reducing the number of dissatisfied 

complainants)

Not achieved:

• Minimising inappropriate patient moves between wards

Quality objectives 2015/16

P
age 6



In-hospital deaths / deaths within 30 days of discharge

Board assurance – clinical effectiveness

P
age 7



Board assurance – patient experience

P
age 8



Board assurance – patient safety

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

p
re

v
e

n
ta

b
le

 m
e

d
ic

a
ti

o
n

 

in
ci

d
e

n
ts

 r
e

su
lt

in
g
 i

n
 m

o
d

e
ra

te
 o

r 
g
re

a
te

r 

ac
tu

al
 h

a
rm

Year

Percentage of preventablemedication 

incidents resulting in moderate or greater 

actual harm

Patient falls per 1,000 bed days

P
age 9



Carried forward from 2015/16:

• Reducing last minute cancelled operations

• Ensuring patients are cared for on the right ward for their clinical condition

• Improving timeliness of patient discharge

• Reducing delays in outpatients (and keeping patients better informed about delays)

• Improving the management of sepsis

New objectives for 2016/17:

• Ensuring public-facing information displayed in our hospitals is relevant, up-to-date, standardised 

and accessible

• Reducing the number of complaints received where poor communication is identified as a root 

cause (including telephone communications)

• Ensure inpatients are kept informed about what the next stage in their treatment and care will be, 

and when they can expect this to happen

• Implementing the Accessible Information Standard

• Increasing the proportion of patients who tell us that, whilst they were in hospital, we asked them 

about the quality of care they were receiving (we currently do this after people go home)

• Continuing to reduce avoidable harm to patients

Quality objectives 2016/17

P
age 10



Questions?P
age 11



1

Quality Report 2015/16

Page 12



2

Contents
               Page

Part 1 3
Statement on quality from the chief executive 3
Introduction from the medical director and chief nurse 4
Part 2 - Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance from the Board 5
Priorities for improvement 5
Update on quality objectives for 2015/16 5
Quality objectives for 2016/17 18
Statements of assurance from the Board 26
Mandated quality indicators 34
Part 3 – Review of services in 2015/16 36
Patient safety 36
Patient experience 59
Clinical effectiveness 74
Performance against national priorities and access standards 86
Appendices 90
Appendix A – Feedback about our Quality Report 92
Appendix B – Performance indicators subject to external audit 101
Appendix C – Statement of directors’ responsibilities 102
Appendix D – External audit opinion 104

Page 13



3

Part 1

1.1 Statement on quality from the chief executive

Welcome to this, our eighth annual report describing our quality achievements. Our mission is 
to provide exceptional healthcare, research and teaching every day. The Quality Report (also 
known as the Quality Account) is one of the key ways that the Trust demonstrates to the public 
and its stakeholders that its services are safe, effective, caring and responsive. The report is an 
open and honest assessment of the last year, its successes and its challenges. 

In 2015/16, we made an early commitment to a new national campaign – Sign up to Safety – 
that aims to make the NHS in England the safest healthcare system in the world and to halve 
avoidable harm in the NHS, saving 6,000 lives as a result. As part of this, we have worked to 
understand and develop our patient safety culture, asking every staff member who has contact 
with patients and their families to provide insights and information. As part of a robust patient 
safety culture we must ensure we learn from all incidents. You’ll find more information about 
Sign up to Safety in this report. 

This year, I am particularly delighted that the Care Quality Commission’s national survey has 
recognised our maternity services as one of the best in the country. In the areas of care during 
labour and birth, UH Bristol attained nine survey scores that were better than the national 
average by a statistically significant margin. These are particularly pleasing results because they 
reflect the enormous amount of work carried out by our maternity staff to improve the 
experience of women who use their services. In recent years, this has included investment in 
new midwifery posts, a reconfiguration of postnatal wards based on feedback from service-
users, and various “co-design” projects where the maternity team has worked in partnership 
with people who have experienced maternity services, in order to understand what works well 
and identify aspects of care that could be improved. It shows that when we say we want the 
best for the people of Bristol and the West Country, we really can achieve it. 

On the subject of working with patients and our partners, I have been encouraged by the 
development of our new Involvement Network: based on the concept of a citizen’s assembly, 
“IN” is part of our broad and ambitious programme to refresh the way in which we deliver our 
patient and public involvement work. IN is about creating new opportunities for people to have 
their say about how healthcare is developed and provided at UH Bristol. To date, IN members 
have helped inform the Trust’s quality priorities for 2016/17 and commented on the quality of 
information patients receive about outpatient appointments.

After the difficulties that the NHS experienced in the winter of 2014/15 we planned extensively 
for last winter both within our hospitals and services but also with our partners across our 
health and social care community. We invested over £3 million of ‘resilience’ funding before 
winter in additional core beds at the Bristol Royal Infirmary with permanent staff, radiology and 
therapy staffing on Saturdays and theatre staff for more weekend trauma operating. We also 
invested in capacity in the Bristol Royal Hospital for Children, including an extra paediatric 
intensive care bed. Despite our careful preparations, however, the extended period of high 
emergency demand has meant that, while we have kept our patients safe, our services have not 
always been as responsive as we would wish. The fact that overall patient-reported experience 
has remained high in 2015/16 is credit to everyone who works in the Trust and evidence of their 
commitment to deliver best care.

We have also continued the essential process of renewing our estates and facilities. In 2015/16 
this included the opening of a new pre-operative department in the Bristol Royal Infirmary, for 

Page 14



4

the first time bringing together the surgical admissions suite and pre-operative assessment 
clinic, co-locating surgical, critical and trauma care.

I would like to thank everyone who has contributed to this year’s report, including our staff, 
governors, commissioners, local councils, and HealthWatch. To the best of my knowledge, the 
information contained in this Quality Report is accurate. 

Robert Woolley, chief executive

1.2 Introduction from the medical director and chief nurse

As an organisation, our key challenge is to maintain and develop the quality of our services. The 
Trust is committed to and expects to provide excellent health services that meet the needs of 
our patients and their families and provide the highest quality standards. The Board and Senior 
Leadership Team of UH Bristol have a critical role in leading a culture which promotes the 
delivery of high quality services. This requires both vision and action to ensure all efforts are 
focussed on creating an environment for change and continuous improvement. The Trust’s 
annual quality delivery plans set out the actions we will take to ensure that this is achieved. 

We have much to be proud of. The Trust’s quality improvement programme in 2015/16 has 
shown us what is possible when we have a relentless focus on quality improvement. Healthcare 
does not stand still. In the year ahead, we will continue to seek out new and better ways of 
providing the highest quality services which are safe, enable a better patient experience and 
improved patient outcomes. Never has there been a greater need to ensure we get the best 
value from all that we do. 

Dr Sean O’Kelly
Medical director

                  Carolyn Mills
                  Chief nurse

Page 15



5

Part 2

Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance from the Board

2.1 Priorities for improvement

2.1.1 Update on quality objectives for 2015/16

Twelve months ago, we identified nine specific areas of practice where we wanted to see 
improvements in 2015/16. These were a combination of patient ‘flow’ objectives carried forward 
from the previous year, and new objectives aimed at improving different aspects of patient 
experience. A progress report is set out below, including a reminder of why we selected each 
objective and an overall ‘RAG’ rating of the extent to which we achieved each ambition. Overall, we 
fully achieved two objectives and made significant progress in six more. 

Objective 1 To reduce the number of cancelled operations
Rationale and 
past performance

Cancelled operations waste time and resources; the impact of cancelling 
operations is often distressing and inconvenient for patients and their 
families. We set this objective to reduce cancelled operations in 2014/15, 
but did not achieve our goal. Our target in 2014/15 had been to reduce the 
percentage of operations cancelled at the last minute for non-clinical 
reasons to 0.92 per cent; we achieved 1.08 per cent.

What did our 
patients say?

“The biggest problem is the cancellation of operations. I sat nervously all 
day in my op gown all ready to go to be informed by an anaesthetist that my 
op had been cancelled, and I was to await more information. It never came 
and a staff nurse had to go and find out for me. I had the op the following 
day. These sorts of things do nothing for patients’ mental and psychological 
wellbeing.”

What did we say 
we would do?

Review standard operating procedure; audit reasons for last minute 
cancellations and develop plan according to findings; link into Urgent Care 
work programme. 

Measurable 
target/s for 
2015/16

We said that the indicator would be the number of operations cancelled on 
the day of operation/admission for non-clinical reasons, with a goal of 
achieving last year’s target – 0.92 per cent. 

How did we get 
on?

Overall, we achieved 1.03 per cent, which represents a marginal 
improvement on 2014/15. We achieved our targets in the second and third 
quarters of the year but failed them in the first and fourth quarters. 
Performance in March 2016 had a particularly adverse effect on our overall 
performance: there were 108 last minute cancellations in this month, 
representing 1.84 per cent of operations (overall, we achieved 0.95 per cent 
across the previous 11 months of the year). 

The total number of cancelled operations in 2015/16 was lower than in 
2014/15: 713 compared with 749. However, there has been a marked 
increase in the percentage of cancelled operations caused by lack of 
available beds: 42 percent in 2015/16, compared with 29 percent in 
2014/15. Lack of available beds was also the primary reason for us missing 
our targets in the first and fourth quarters (40 per cent and 62 per cent of 
cancelled operations respectively) although the specific causes were 
different: in quarter 1, our performance was affected by capacity pressures 

Page 16



6

in our Cardiac Intensive Care Unit and at the Bristol Royal Hospital for 
Children, whereas our challenges in quarter 4 were related primarily to 
adult surgical services. The operational pressure on adult services beds in 
quarter 4 was unprecedented with adult services seeing an increase in 
attendance through our emergency departments (14 per cent higher than 
the same period in 2014/15), higher levels of acuity (i.e. higher levels of 
dependency and severity of sickness) in patients, and increasing numbers of 
patients awaiting discharge.

However, on a positive note and in contrast to 2014/15, the Trust met the 
0.8 per cent national standard for last-minute cancelled operations in two 
quarters of 2015/16 (i.e. quarters 2 and 3).

Continued improvements in performance are expected to be delivered in 
2016/17 through further focus on ward discharge processes, planned work 
on pathways for which admissions may be avoided or lengths of stay 
reduced, and by commissioning an independent provider, Orla Healthcare, 
to deliver a community based “virtual ward”. The latter service is expected 
to commence in July 2016 and be fully operational from January 2017 with 
capacity for 35 patients. This service will not only enable improvements in 
hospital bed occupancy, but will also provide ‘winter flex’ capacity in 
quarter 4 when it is typically most needed. This should help to reduce bed 
occupancy and the risk of cancellation of elective operations during the 
busiest time of the year.

In addition to high occupancy levels in general wards beds, a large number 
of cancellations in quarter 4 were attributable to a lack of critical care beds; 
this is of particular note as it often results in cancellation of patients with 
cancer. A plan to address this has been developed and this will be a key 
focus in 2016/17.

The Trust was issued with a Contract Performance Notice by Bristol Clinical 
Commissioning Group and subsequently developed an improvement plan 
which is managed by nominated leads across the divisions and overseen 
through our Emergency Access Performance Improvement Group.  

Page 17



7

Reducing cancelled operations will continue to be a corporate quality 
objective in 2016/17. 

RAG rating Amber – we made significant strides during 2015/16, but operational 
pressure on adult services beds in quarter 4 was unprecedented, resulting in 
a deterioration in performance at that time. 

Objective 2 To minimise inappropriate patient moves between wards (time and place)
Rationale and 
past performance

We set this objective in 2014/15, but did not achieve our goal. Our target in 
2014/15 had been to reduce the average number of ward moves per 
patient to 1.92. We achieved 2.32, which represented a deterioration 
compared with 2013/14. An “inappropriate” patient move is one which 
happens for reasons which are not related to that patient’s clinical 
circumstances. 

What did our 
patients say?

“I was woken in the middle of the night to be moved to another room, I 
wasn't happy about it, but did understand that my bed was needed by 
someone who needed constant supervision.”

What did we say 
we would do?

Implement a standard operating procedure to govern this area of practice.  

Measurable 
target/s for 
2015/16

We said that the indicator would be the average number of ward moves per 
patient, for patients staying a minimum of two nights, with a goal of 
achieving last year’s target – an average of no more than 1.92 moves per 
patient (for patients staying a minimum of two nights).

How did we get 
on?

Disappointingly, we did not meet our target. Overall, during 2015/16, we 
achieved 2.26 moves per patient, which is only marginally better than in 
2014/15. Our best performance was in May and June (2.18 and 2.19 
respectively) when the hospital had good flow through services. Not 
surprisingly, there is a direct correlation between this indicator (average 
number of moves per patient) and bed occupancy levels. 

During 2015/16, we established a number of new patient pathways which 
resulted in ward moves to ensure patients were cared for in the most 
appropriate place. An example of this was the creation of a ward for 
patients whose discharge is delayed. As a result of doing the right thing for 
patients, additional moves have been introduced, which have negatively 
impacted performance against our target.

Page 18



8

Although minimising inappropriate patient moves between wards will not 
be a formal quality objective in 2016/17 for the reasons outlined above, the 
issue will continue to receive significant attention as we seek to fully realise 
the benefits of redevelopment and an alternative measure (outlier beddays) 
will be used to identify patients in inappropriate wards.

RAG rating Red – disappointingly, we did not achieve our target for 2015/16

Objective 3 To ensure patients are treated on the right ward for their clinical condition
Rationale and 
past performance

We set this objective in 2014/15, but did not achieve our goal, which had 
been to reduce the total number of outlier bed days to 9,029. We reported 
11,216, which represented a deterioration compared with 2013/14.

What did our 
patients say?

“I was an inpatient for three weeks and I was only on the ward I should have 
been on for one of those weeks. I would have been much happier if I could 
have been on the correct ward for the whole of my stay as I felt I was just 
being put anywhere. I was moved three times before I went to the right 
ward.”

What did we say 
we would do?

Link into pathway review work and urgent care programme

Measurable 
target/s for 
2015/16

We said that the indicator would be the total number of bed days patients 
spent outlying from their correct divisional ward, with a goal of achieving 
last year’s target – no more than 9,029 outlier bed days in total, with 
seasonally adjusted quarterly targets.  

How did we get 
on?

At year end, the total number of outlier bed days was 9,588 which fell short 
of our target, but nonetheless represented a significant improvement on the 
previous year (11,216 in 2014/15). Quarterly targets were achieved in 
quarters 1 and 3, but missed in quarters 2 and 4. The development of clear 
patient pathways and appropriate capacity, through assessment areas and 
into specialist wards as a result of the Bristol Royal Infirmary redevelopment 
has helped to deliver the overall reduction in outlier bed days.    

RAG rating Amber – although we fell short of our target, our performance in 2015/16 
was significantly better than in 2014/15

Page 19



9

Objective 4 Improving patient discharge 
Rationale 
and past 
performance

We were not achieving our SAFER1 bundle standards or timely discharge 
planning.

What did 
our patients 
say?

“My overall experience of the stay in hospital was very good. Only thing that 
could have been better was the time it took in the discharge lounge to receive 
the medication.”
“It would be helpful to know of your discharge the day before, with the 
understanding that the final decision is made by the doctor on the day.”
“Even though we were aware of discharge date and confirmation was given that 
morning we waited hours for a discharge letter.”

What did we 
say we 
would do?

Ensure more patients are discharged in a timely manner, adhering to all aspects 
of our discharge ‘bundles’ – delivering our discharge standards every time. 

Measurable 
target/s for 
2015/16

We said that at least 1,100 patients per month would be discharged between 
7am and 12 noon, noting that this would be a stretching target (the highest 
monthly total during 2014/15 was 992).

How did we 
get on?

We have addressed timely discharge through the rollout of a programme of ward 
processes improvement. The programme has been rolled out by having a multi-
disciplinary team workshop with each ward, where the topics are covered:

*’To Take Away’ medications

This Ward Processes package was designed to support achievement of the SAFER 
bundle of standards (of which discharge standards are a part). Each topic maps to 
standards within the bundle, raising awareness of and embedding good practice 
in daily routines. In the workshops, the key areas of discussion have been:

 reverse triage (a discharge planning tool used on the wards to show a 
patient’s progress against their discharge plans, coded in way which identifies 
any blocks or delays) and estimated date of discharge

1 Senior review, Assessment, Flow, Early discharge and Review

Page 20



10

 effective board rounds 
 planning for discharge (a review of all patients on the ward with the 

multidisciplinary team to progress plans for discharge)

This project is aimed at increasing the number of earlier-in-the-day discharges 
and use of the Bristol Royal Infirmary Discharge Lounge, as well as improving 
patient experience.

In quarter 1, we commenced the project in our Division of Medicine: for example, 
Ward B404 achieved an increase of 18 per cent of discharges before noon during 
a pilot week. In subsequent quarters, we rolled out the approach across all 
divisions, holding ward-based workshops to identify improvement priorities and 
to develop improvement plans; weekly follow up meetings are then held to 
review progress. 

What our staff said:

“It has been so worthwhile to work on a project that focuses on 
revisiting current processes and allows ward teams to review 
these. Even when you feel you are doing things properly there is 
always room for further improvements.  Working together as a 
multi-disciplinary team, we have been able to identify how we can 
increase our team communications. We now have afternoon 
board rounds to ensure we all catch up with what has happened 
during the day. Our patients’ discharge plans are refined day by 
day and all have their tablets to take home organised in advance. 
Communication has improved so much that we wanted to look at 
spreading this benefit over the weekends; we now have a nurse 
led board round both Saturday and Sunday which really helps 
organise the staff allocation and workload and so ensuring patient 
safety. It’s not just the Sister leading and understanding the ward 
processes, it’s the whole team understanding and being engaged 
too.”

A Trust-wide sharing event was held in November 2015 with over 50 attendees, 
allowing teams which had been involved in the ward processes work to share 
their achievements, benefits, challenges, next steps and top tips. 

Progress in completing the workshops fell behind plan during the winter period, 
largely due to the operational pressures on ward teams. However, we have now 
held ward processes workshops and follow up meetings with all adult inpatient 
areas, and will complete children’s wards by the summer of 2016. 

As a result of this initiative, our timely discharge performance has improved 
across the year, but has fallen short of the stretching target we set ourselves. 
Over the course of the year, 10,444 patients were discharged between 7am and 
12noon – a 6.5 per cent increase on the 9,804 achieved in 2014/15. This equates 
to a monthly average of 870 discharges between 7am and 12noon, increasing to 
942 in the final quarter of the year and giving cause for optimism as we move 
into a new financial year. In March 2016, 22.3 per cent of patients were 
discharged between 7am and 12noon, which is the highest proportion recorded 
in the past three years. 

Page 21



11

RAG rating Amber – although we did not achieve our stretching target, we made 
encouraging progress, both in improvement in early discharges and in the 
implementation of the SAFER bundle based Ward Processes programme, 
particularly in the final quarter of the year. Timely discharges as a proportion of 
all discharges increased during the year.

Objective 5 To improve the quality of patient appointment letters
Rationale 
and past 
performance

We know that a large proportion of complaints and informal feedback received 
by the Trust relate to the poor quality of written and telephone communications 
patients and carers have with the Trust. In response to this, the executive team 
commissioned a Trust-wide improvement project which would last for at least 
two years. 

What did 
our patients 
say?

“Letter referred to MDT. What is that? Plain language would help. Previous 
letters have been very tardy in being signed/posted or on one occasion, not 
received at all.” 

What did we 
say we 
would do?

We said that in 2015/16, we would focus on improving the quality of 
appointment letters sent to patients. 

Measurable 
target/s for 
2015/16

Our goal was to review and standardise all appointment letters that are sent to 
patients (electronically and non-electronically generated). We said that we would 
write these letters in Plain English and would test this through proactive 
engagement with patients (for example via surveys or focus groups). 

How did we 
get on?

A working group was formed with representation from across our hospitals, with 
an initial focus on letters generated by our Medway patient administration 
system. The task of reviewing and improving the letter templates was significant 
because of the volume and variety of letter templates in use. The group held a 
‘Letters Champions Week’ in August 2015 when staff and volunteers met with 
patients in a number of outpatient areas across the Trust to discuss the quality of 
the letters they had received. Two thirds of patients were happy overall with the 
content and timeliness of the letters they had received, however common issues 
included a lack of details to inform patients’ expectations for their appointment, 
and confusing use of abbreviations and acronyms. The working group used this 
feedback to develop a quality standard for patient letters and tested draft letter 
templates for readability. As a result, a significant amount of information has 

Page 22



12

been removed from letters and included instead in accompanying patient 
information leaflets. The new approach, involving letters written deliberately in 
Plain English, is being piloted in cardiology outpatients and with the surgery 
admissions team, and a further ‘Letters Champions Week’ is planned to evaluate 
the letters. Learning from the pilot will inform the Trust-wide roll out of the new 
letter templates during the remainder of 2016.

A further development is that patients can now to opt to receive their Medway 
letter by email instead of through the postal service. This will improve the 
timeliness of letters being sent, reduce costs and provide a more flexible option 
for patients with visual impairment.

RAG rating Green – we have made good progress towards our goal and are currently piloting 
our new letters, prior to a wider roll-out which will take place in 2016/17 

Objective 6 To improve the quality of written complaints responses
Rationale 
and past 
performance

Too many complainants were telling us that they were dissatisfied with our 
complaints responses: 84 in 2014/15 compared with 62 in 2013/14. 

What did 
our patients 
say?

“The reply letter I received was quite defensive. It gave me the impression they 
were responding just because they had to rather than genuinely apologising for 
my upset.”
“The letter in fact said in some cases ‘This is obviously unacceptable and we 
apologise’ but it didn’t say what action they would then take.”

What did we 
say we 
would do?

We said we would roll out training to our staff, introduce a good practice 
checklist for all complaints, and make changes to the Trust’s response letter 
template, embracing learning from the Patients Association.  

Measurable 
target/s for 
2015/16

We agreed a target that fewer than five percent of complainants would be 
dissatisfied with our response in the second half of 2015/16 (with an ‘amber’ 
target of less than 10 per cent). We define a dissatisfied respondent as someone 
who replies to us to say that they are unhappy with one or more aspects of our 
response to their concerns. Replies which merely ask additional questions are 
not classified as dissatisfied. 

How did we 
get on?

Training sessions have been successfully delivered to staff in each of our clinical 
divisions. The tone of the Trust’s standard template for writing complaints 
responses has been re-written in a way that encourages investigating managers 
to respond with greater openness and empathy, and a final ‘checklist’ has been 
produced to guide divisions when submitting draft responses. Draft response 
letters have also received additional corporate scrutiny from the quality team 
prior to approval by an executive director. Levels of dissatisfaction with our 
complaints responses reported to the Board in the second half of 2015/16 (our 
target period) were as follows:

Month Dissatisfied 
responses*

Total responses %

Oct-15 5 56 8.9%
Nov-15 2 42 4.8%
Dec-15 4 63 6.3%
Jan-16 1 40 2.1%
Feb-16 3 39 7.7%
Mar-16 3 36 8.3%

Page 23



13

*The indicator is calculated as a proportion of complainants who are sent a 
response letter in a given month. 

We have, however, identified that our current method of recording numbers of 
dissatisfied responses is resulting in under-reporting of the true figure. Data is 
currently ‘frozen’ six weeks after the end of each reporting month. Taking 
2015/16 as a whole, 59 complainants expressed dissatisfaction with our 
investigation of their concerns. This represents 9.1% of the 647 formal response 
letters sent by the Trust and therefore an improvement on 2014/15 when we 
received 84 dissatisfied responses. 

Looking ahead to 2016/17, we will continue to deliver training to key managers 
focussing specifically on complaints response writing skills. We will also review 
each dissatisfied complaint we receive and make a judgement about whether we 
could have responded in a way which would have avoided the need for the 
complainant to contact us again – any learning from this will be shared with the 
Trust’s patient experience group. We will also be adjusting the way we measure 
our performance, allowing an additional month for complainants to respond 
before we report this information to the Board. 

RAG rating Amber – we have made significant strides in improving the quality of our written 
complaints responses, however we have not met our target of less than 5 per 
cent dissatisfied respondents

Objective 7 To improve the management of sepsis
Rationale 
and past 
performance

Sepsis is recognised as a significant cause of mortality and morbidity in the NHS, 
with around 37,000 deaths attributed to sepsis annually. Of these, some 
estimates suggest 12,500 could have been prevented. Problems in achieving 
consistent recognition and rapid treatment of sepsis nationally are thought to 
contribute to the number of preventable deaths from sepsis. 

What did we 
say we 
would do?

Our goal was to achieve the national sepsis CQUIN for 2015/16. 

Measurable 
target/s for 
2015/16

The national CQUIN targets were as follows:
- In Q4, at least 90 per cent of eligible patients to be screened for sepsis
- In Q4, at least 90 per cent of eligible patients to receive antibiotics within 

one hour of presentation
How did we 
get on?

Adult services:

There have been significant improvements in sepsis care in the adult Emergency 
Department (ED) and Acute Medical Unit (AMU) in 2015/16. The focus has been 
on the ED, which is where approximately 80 per cent of adult sepsis patients 
present to. Screening did not take place in 2014/15 (and 2015/16 Q1) but more 
than 90 per cent of patients were screened in quarter 4. Antibiotic 
administration rates within one hour of hospital presentation have also markedly 
improved at over 70 per cent during quarters 3 and 4, however this aspect of the 
CQUIN has not been achieved. 

The appointment of two part-time sepsis nurses in September 2015 via CQUIN 
funds has transformed our ability to implement improved sepsis care during 
2015/16. Achievements during year include the following:

 A sepsis question is now on the hospital discharge summary; this improves 

Page 24



14

communication with primary care, facilitates accurate coding and increases 
sepsis awareness

 Our sepsis management pathway has been updated and implemented in ED 
and AMU

 The implementation of National Early Warning Scores (NEWS) since 
December 2015 will facilitate the early recognition of patients with sepsis as 
the new NEWS observation chart includes sepsis prompts; we therefore 
expect sepsis screening rates and antibiotic administration rates to improve 
further in 2016/17

 Continual education is taking place in ED, AMU and the Surgical Trauma 
Assessment Unit for nursing and medical staff; these are the key admission 
areas for adult admissions with sepsis at UH Bristol.

 Medical teaching for Foundation doctors, core surgical trainees, core 
medical trainees and anaesthetic/intensive care trainees 

Looking ahead to 2016/17, our sepsis plans include the continuation of trust-
wide clinical teaching events and the implementation of a sepsis screen saver for 
Trust computers as a visual reminder to all staff. 

Children’s services:

There has been significant improvement in the identification of potentially septic 
children at triage with enhanced awareness throughout the nursing staff group 
regarding the need to escalate children meeting the sepsis screening criteria.

Positive actions in 2015/2016:
 The paediatric emergency nurse educator has continued to work with all 

nursing staff involved in undertaking triage to make them aware of the 
sepsis screening process and its rationale. She is continuing to provide 
“refresher” sessions when working in the triage area.

 A presentation has been produced by Dr Christian, paediatric sepsis lead, for 
nursing staff and medical staff to make them aware of the background to the 
‘sepsis 6’ programme and why the identification of potentially septic 
children in the Children’s Emergency Department (CED) is so important. This 
will be rolled out at nursing training sessions and with the junior doctors in 
the department alongside ongoing teaching sessions to raise awareness of 
the sepsis guidelines amongst CED trainees

 All junior doctors from the last intake undertook the Royal College of 
Paediatrics and Child Health’s module for recognising seriously ill children

Our quarter 3 sepsis audit showed that, as a result of these and other measures, 
screening at triage had increased to 90 per cent of all eligible patients. This audit 
confirmed that staffing ratios and crowding in the CED remain significant 
challenges to the recognition and treatment of sepsis. At times of peak demand, 
our ability to triage patients rapidly (within 15 minutes) is compromised which 
potentially may delay the recognition of the septic child. A triage workstream 
has been set up to look at ways of improving this process in terms of efficiency / 
flow. It is likely that the sepsis screening criteria will be incorporated into the 
triage process as a way of identifying patients who are likely to have sepsis. The 
audit demonstrated that, for those children who presented with features of 
septic shock, antibiotics were consistently administered within an hour of triage.

The Bristol Royal Hospital for Children is also planning to convene a group to 

Page 25



15

examine the implications of the NICE sepsis guidance when it is published in July 
as this is likely to have major implications for practice in the CED.

RAG rating Amber – we have made significant progress during the year however we only 
partially achieved our CQUIN target (also see section 2.2.4)

Objective 8 To improve the experience of cancer patients
Rationale 
and past 
performance

The Trust achieved disappointing results in the 2014 national cancer patient 
experience survey. These results were significantly at variance with those 
achieved by the Trust in other national patient surveys. 

What did 
our patients 
say?

“It was very efficient, but, somewhat, I felt disjointed, as I started at Southmead 
Hospital then went to the oncology at Bristol. I'm not always sure now where to 
go if I have a medical problem i.e. GP, breast care nurse.”
“The hospital needed someone who could hold my overall treatment who I could 
readily contact.”
“The nurses and staff are very understanding and friendly. Always willing to 
listen to patients and are helpful when needed.”

What did we 
say we 
would do?

We said that the Trust would deliver an 18 month improvement programme, the 
core elements of which would be: 
 to repeat an ‘in-house’ survey of recent UH Bristol cancer patients  

(completed January to March 2015)
 working in collaboration with the Patients Association, to carry out a series 

of patient engagement and involvement activities with cancer patients, to 
fully understand their experience of our services 

 to work with high-performing acute NHS Trusts, local health and social care 
partners, patient advocate organisations, and our own staff to identify and 
implement improvements to our cancer services

 to monitor the actions identified, and wherever possible undertake regular 
measurement to provide assurance of progress, completion and impact. 

Measurable 
target/s 
identified for 
2015/16

We noted that a key measure of success would be the Trust’s scores in the next 
national cancer patient experience survey, however we noted that this survey 
had been delayed until 2016. In the meantime, we said we would:
 complete planned listening exercises and thematic analysis
 track progress of the Trust’s existing comprehensive action plan, in line with 

the agreed 18 month timescale
 repeat the Trust’s ‘in-house’ cancer patient experience survey in quarter 3 of 

2015/16. 
How did we 
get on?

Throughout 2015/16 we have been delivering our cancer patient experience 
improvement plan. Patient involvement / listening activities and collaborative 
work with the Patients Association were completed by May 2015, as a result of 
which we were able to identify key principles that influence the experience of 
cancer patients at our Trust, namely:

 receiving ‘shared care’ across more than one organisation increases the 
potential to negatively impact on patients’ experience

 having a negative experience at the start (e.g. a delayed diagnosis, receiving 
a diagnosis in an insensitive manner, or having your operation cancelled) will 
in most cases negatively impact the whole pathway experience thereafter

 access to a clinical nurse specialist (CNS) is paramount
 the importance of the Trust doing what we say we are going to do, 

recognising that, by and large, it is the Trust that sets patients’ expectations.

Page 26



16

Following our disappointing results in the 2014 national cancer patient 
experience survey, the Trust was ‘buddied’ with South Tees NHS Foundation 
Trust (a high performing cancer patient experience Trust) as part of an NHS 
England national cancer patient experience improvement programme. The 
programme ran from February to November 2015. 

Learning from all of the above has been channelled into our local cancer 
improvement plans. Important developments in 2015/16 included:

 creation of four additional CNS posts following an internal review of CNS 
cancer pathways

 a further review of CNS cancer pathways across the SWAG (Somerset, 
Wiltshire, Avon and Gloucester) cancer network

 expansion of our trained cancer volunteer workforce, with additional roles in 
the chemotherapy day unit and radiotherapy department at the Bristol 
Haematology and Oncology Centre (BHOC)

 the commencement of feasibility discussions about the potential to build a 
UH Bristol Holistic / Support Centre adjacent to BHOC

 training for over one hundred waiting list office and administration staff 
about how to deal sensitively with difficult conversations when operations 
have to be cancelled or delayed, or when changing chemotherapy 
appointments

 plans to create a small cancer information hub in the Welcome Centre of the 
Bristol Royal Infirmary (BRI) following the securing of a grant from 
Macmillan, with additional cancer information also installed on BRI wards 
A700 and A800

 significant progression of the cancer ‘recovery package’ to support people 
from diagnosis onwards, including electronic holistic needs assessments, 
health and wellbeing days, and treatment summaries being sent to GPs

 development of a ‘Big Conversation in BHOC’ (talking to service users, to 
ensure patients’ views are at the heart of any future development decisions 
we make – the first event, which involved over 60 patients, took place in 
April 2016, and will be repeated every six months).

During the year, it was announced that the National Cancer Patient Experience 
Survey would be repeated in 2015 (a sample of UH Bristol Cancer inpatients seen 
during April-June 2015 received questionnaires in November and December 
2015). In light of this, a decision was taken by the Trust not to repeat our 
planned in-house survey as this would have coincided with the national survey 
and risked poor response rates to both surveys. 

RAG rating Green – we are confident that we have made significant improvements to the 
experience of cancer patients. This has been reflected in conversations with 
patients and anecdotal feedback received during the year. We are therefore 
optimistic of improved scores in the National Cancer Patient Experience Survey 
when the latest result are published in July 2016. 

Objective 9 To reduce appointment delays in outpatients, and to keep patients better 
informed about any delays

Rationale 
and past 
performance

Reducing waiting times, and improving communication about delays in clinic are 
things that our patients consistently tell us that we can do better.

What did “I had to wait for 1 and a half hours to be seen for approximately seven minutes! 

Page 27



17

our patients 
say?

It seemed the consultant was totally overbooked.”
“Whilst this visit was very on time other visits have not been. Sometimes up to 
one hour wait.”

What did we 
say we 
would do?

We said that we would adopt a multi-faceted approach to improving 
communication with patients about any delays they are likely to experience 
whilst waiting for a clinic appointment.  

Measurable 
target/s for 
2015/16

We set measurable patient-reported targets based around four survey questions 
that appear in the National Outpatient Survey: 
 how long after the stated appointment time did the appointment start?
 were you told how long you would have to wait?
 were you told why you had to wait?
 did you see a display board in the clinic with waiting time information on it?

How did we 
get on?

The Trust’s outpatient manager is currently working with the performance team 
to identify clinics where appointments are delayed on a regular basis. Live 
reporting from Medway has been piloted effectively within Bristol Dental 
Hospital and is now being rolled out Trust-wide as a tool to identify problem 
areas. This system of reporting records how long each patient spends in the 
different steps of their journey through the outpatient clinic. 

Disappointingly, patient-reported experience of waiting times in clinic fluctuated 
over the year without showing sustained improvement: our score for the final 
quarter of the year was only fractionally better than the first.  We are 
anticipating an improvement in patient-reported experience once the live 
reporting tool is implemented more fully and we will continue to work with 
individual clinical teams where delays are more prevalent. 

Question Response Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

How long after 
the stated 
appointment 
time did the 
appointment 
start?

On time / 
within 15 
minutes

74% 71% 68% 75%

The use of whiteboards to display information about clinic running times has 
been reviewed across the Trust. Initial reinforcement of best practice amongst 
clinic staff had a positive impact, but following quality audits in November 2015, 
it was agreed that standardisation of the layout of the boards was required to 
improve the quality and consistency of the way information is presented to 
patients. A standardised board design was approved following consultation with 
patients, sisters and the Trust’s patient experience leads, and a standard 
operating procedure was developed to ensure all staff responsible for 
communications within clinic are aware of the process for keeping patients 
informed. Regular spot checks are carried out by the outpatient manager to 
monitor process. A longer term solution involving display screens is also under 
consideration. 

Disappointingly, patient-reported experience of being told about waiting times in 
clinic has been unchanged (in terms of statistical significance) throughout the 
year:

Page 28



18

Question Response Q1 Q2 Q3* Q4

Were you told 
how long you 
would have to 
wait?

All “Yes” 
responses

40% 38% 37% 38%

RAG rating Amber – we have made significant changes which we believe will reduce clinic 
waiting times and keep patients better informed about any delays, however the 
impact of these changes has yet to be seen in patient-reported experience and 
so this will remain a focus for 2016/17. 

2.1.2 Quality objectives for 2016/17

The Trust is setting 12 quality objectives for 2016/17. Five of the objectives relate to ambitions 
we have only partially realised in 2015/16: reducing cancelled operations; ensuring patients are 
treated on the right ward for their clinical condition; improving the timeliness of patient 
discharge; reducing appointment (in-clinic) delays in outpatients, and keeping patients better 
informed about any delays; and improving the management of sepsis. 

In addition, we have identified seven new objectives, which take account of feedback from 
patients, members, governors, staff, and our commissioners and regulators. Once again, these 
objectives include a focus on improving different aspects of how we communicate with patients. 
In particular: we want to ensure that patients are kept properly informed about the next steps 
in their treatment and care, right through to discharge; we want to improve the quality, 
relevance and consistency of information that visitors find displayed throughout our hospitals; 
we plan to make some significant changes and improvements to how we gather feedback from 
patients whilst they are in hospital; and our ambition is that these changes will contribute 
towards fewer complaints being made about poor communication. 

Objective 1 To reduce the number of last minute cancelled operations
Rationale and 
past 
performance

We set this objective for the last two years, but did not achieve our goal. Our 
target in 2015/16 – as per 2014/15 - was to reduce the percentage of 
operations cancelled at the last minute for non-clinical reasons to no more 
than 0.92 per cent. In 2015/16, we achieved 1.03 per cent. 

What do our 
patients say?

“Any operation is a big deal but when it’s cancelled and, in my case, cancelled 
twice the impact is devastating - I had cancer and was really worried this 
would affect the success of the operation when it finally happened.”

What will we 
do?

We will embed a revised standard operating procedure across all our 
divisions and amend our escalation plan to ensure that everyone is aware of 
the current Trust-wide state-of-play relating to cancellations and that 
decisions to cancel are recorded through escalation ‘Silver meetings’. Our 
divisions will review the reasons why operations are cancelled at the last 
minute and will agree a plan which sets out specific actions to reduce 
cancellations further related to the cause of breach. Given that the most 
common cause for cancellation is lack of a ward or critical care bed, most of 
these actions will be linked to the more general actions to support flow.  

Measurable 
target/s for 
2016/17

The indicator will be the number of operations cancelled on the day of 
operation/admission for non-clinical reasons. Our goal is to achieve last year’s 
target – 0.92 per cent. 

Page 29



19

How progress 
will be 
monitored

Through divisional reporting and oversight at the Emergency Access 
Performance Improvement Group.

Board sponsor Chief operating officer
Implementation 
lead

Associate director of operations

Objective 2 To ensure patients are treated on the right ward for their clinical condition
Rationale and 
past 
performance

We set this objective for the last two years, but did not achieve our goal. Our 
target in 2015/16 was to have no more than 9,029 outlier bed days in total; 
we achieved 9,588.

What do our 
patients say?

“I went into hospital to have a mastectomy. After surgery I was put on a ward 
for the elderly where nurses did not know how to help which was not a good 
experience but it also knocked my confidence in the staff looking after me.”

What will we 
do?

We will continue our work focussing on improving flow through our hospitals 
and, by doing so, improving occupancy. In 2016/17, we will roll out our ward 
processes to all wards and implement our new out of hospital acute model of 
care (Orla Healthcare) which has biggest single contribution to make to 
occupancy.

Measurable 
target/s for 
2016/17

As in 2015/16, the indicator will be the total number of bed days patients 
spent outlying from their correct specialty ward. Our goal is to achieve last 
year’s target – no more than 9,029 outlier bed days in total, with seasonally 
adjusted quarterly targets. 

How progress 
will be 
monitored

Through divisional reporting and oversight at the Emergency Access 
Performance Improvement Group.

Board sponsor Chief operating officer
Implementation 
lead

Associate director of operations

Objective 3 To improve timeliness of patient discharge
Rationale and 
past 
performance

Despite huge efforts, we have yet to achieve our goal of increasing the 
number of discharges before noon. This impacts on the number of cancelled 
operations, as they cannot start if a bed hasn’t been identified, as well as 
being a source of frustration for patients who may spend many hours 
awaiting their discharge.

What do our 
patients say?

“I was required to wait for a letter of discharge I saw the doctor at 
approximately 8.30am. My letter of discharge was given to me at 3pm.”
“I think the discharge process could be a lot more organised.”

What will we 
do?

We will continue to embed our ward processes in order to promote timely 
discharge with an emphasis on pre-day planning of pharmacy requirements, 
patient transport and discharge letters. We will pilot new models of discharge 
including therapist such as physiotherapists and occupational therapists being 
able to discharge patients based on agreed criteria.

Measurable 
target/s for 
2016/17

As in 2015/16, our target will be for at least 1,100 patients per month to be 
discharged between 7am and 12noon. Our target is also to increase the 
number of patients discharged at weekends by 20 per cent. 

How progress 
will be 
monitored

Via transformation board

Page 30



20

Board sponsor Chief operating officer 
Implementation 
lead

Associate director of operations

Objective 4 To reduce appointment (in-clinic) delays in outpatients, and to keep 
patients better informed about any delays

Rationale and 
past 
performance

We set this objective last year and have more work to do. 

What do our 
patients say?

“Staff treated me well and with respect, but my appointment time was 
delayed, and no-one informed us of this until my wife asked at the reception 
desk. Then we had a 90 minute delay, but the sign over the desk area 
indicated no delays.”

What will we 
do?

We will complete Trust-wide implementation of our new standardised layout 
for information boards in outpatient departments and a standard operating 
procedure will be embedded to ensure teams proactively inform patients 
about any delays. Associated work reviewing clinic productivity and utilisation 
will lead to improved booking practices and scheduling to help minimise 
delays. Each quarter, we will also carry out a ‘15-step’2 senior management 
walk around to ensure our redesigned clinic status boards are being used 
correctly. 

Measurable 
target/s for 
2016/17

We will ask patients about their experience using our monthly survey, setting 
minimum targets which would represent a statistically significant 
improvement on our patient-reported performance in 2015/16. The 
questions we will use and our minimum target scores are as follows:

 How long after the stated appointment time did the appointment start? 
(78%)

 Were you told how long you wold have to wait? (50%)
 Did you see a display board in the clinic with waiting time information on 

it? (55%)

In addition to asking patients about their experiences, we will also develop 
our own real-time objective measurement of clinic running times (currently 
being piloted in the Bristol Dental Hospital). 

How progress 
will be 
monitored

Reports to outpatient steering group

Board sponsor Chief operating officer
Implementation 
lead

Associate director of operations

2 The ’15 Step Challenge’ is The 15 Steps Challenge is a series of toolkits which are part of the resources available for 
the Productive Care workstream. They have been co-produced with patients, service users, carers, relatives, 
volunteers, staff, governors and senior leaders, to help look at care in a variety of settings through the eyes of 
patients and service users, to help capture what good quality care looks, sounds and feels like. - See more at: 
http://www.institute.nhs.uk/productives/15stepschallenge/15stepschallenge.html#sthash.XhyOdrrc.dpuf

Page 31



21

Objective 5 To improve the management of sepsis
Rationale and 
past 
performance

Sepsis is recognised as a significant cause of mortality and morbidity in the 
NHS, with around 37,000 deaths attributed to sepsis annually. Of these, some 
estimates suggest 12,500 could have been prevented. Problems in achieving 
consistent recognition and rapid treatment of sepsis nationally are thought to 
contribute to the number of preventable deaths from sepsis. Locally, we have 
identified – through mortality reviews and incident investigations into 
deteriorating patients – that we can improve our management of patients 
with sepsis. Therefore, this is one of the sub workstreams of our patient 
safety improvement programme for 2015 to 2018, and is a continuation of a 
quality objective we set ourselves in 2015/16. 

What do our 
patients say?

“During my three months after suffering sepsis, the treatment I received was 
first class, the doctors and surgeons saved my life. I would like to put on 
record that all staff at BRI are fantastic.”
“The ward did not recognise how unwell my wife was (viral sepsis) and at first 
did not manage her symptoms very well.”

What will we 
do?

Continuation and development of activities described in section 2.1.1 of this 
report.

Measurable 
target/s for 
2016/17

Our goal is to achieve the national sepsis CQUIN: timely identification and 
treatment of sepsis in emergency departments, and acute inpatient settings.

How progress 
will be 
monitored

Monitoring by the National Early Warning Scores (NEWS) implementation / 
deteriorating patient group, and the Patient Safety Group; additional monthly 
CQUIN reporting to the Trust’s Clinical Quality Group

Board sponsor Medical director
Implementation 
lead

Adult services – Dr J Bewley, consultant in intensive care
Children’s services – Dr W Christian, consultant in paediatric medicine

Objective 6 To ensure public-facing information displayed in our hospitals is relevant, 
up-to-date, standardised and accessible

Rationale and 
past 
performance

The objective forms part of the Trust’s previous two year commitment to 
improve key aspects of communication with patients. The issue was raised via 
the Trust’s consultation on quality priorities. 

What will we 
do?

We will:
 Produce guidelines for all staff about the standard of information that 

should be displayed in public areas and advice on how to get support to 
produce it

 Work with areas to professionally produce and print any materials that 
arise from this process

 Continue to provide good quality corporate posters, publications and 
other materials for display in public areas – ensuring they communicate 
key information and messages. 

How progress 
will be 
monitored

A monthly walk round public areas by a member of the communications team 
to take down any materials that do not meet the standard and to identify 
where new materials need to be professionally produced.

Board sponsor Deputy chief executive
Implementation 
lead

Head of communications

Page 32



22

Objective 7 To reduce the number of complaints received where poor communication is 
identified as a root cause

Rationale and 
past 
performance

Identified by Trust Board as an improvement area – we know that failures in 
communication account for a significant proportion of complaints received by 
the Trust. 

What do our 
patients say?

“The information relayed by doctors was vague and the language that they 
used was jargon.”
“My experience was a very positive one and this has not been the case in 
some other hospitals I have used. The big difference was UH Bristol provided 
clear, timely communication.”

What will we 
do?

Analysis of complaints data reveals that in 2015/16, the Trust received a total 
of 320 complaints relating to the following categories: 

- Telecommunications and failure to answer phones (97)
- Administration including waiting for correspondence (64)
- Communication with patients and relatives (159)

In 2016/17, we will be rolling out the changes to patient letters described in 
section 2.1.1 of this report. We will also be running a transformation project 
to improve the quality of telephone communications. Finally, during quarter 
1, we will conduct further analysis of complaints previously received within 
the ‘communication with patients and relatives’ category, to see whether 
common themes and opportunities can be identified. 

Measurable 
target/s for 
2016/17

Our target is to achieve a reduction in complaints received in the categories 
described above. 

How progress 
will be 
monitored

Reports to patient experience group

Board sponsor Chief nurse

Objective 8 To ensure inpatients are kept informed about what the next stage in their 
treatment and care will be, and when they can expect this to happen

Rationale and 
past 
performance

Identified in discussion with Involvement Network as an important marker of 
positive patient experience when in hospital. 

What do our 
patients say?

“I was kept informed at all times, from the cleaners to the doctors, and had 
excellent treatment”
“I would like to see more communication between doctors and patient 
keeping them informed of what is happening with treatment.”

What will we 
do?

During the first half of the year, we will carry out targeted ‘Face to Face’ 
interviews with inpatients to gain a clearer understanding of their needs and 
expectations around being kept informed, the ways in which patients are 
kept informed, and opportunities to do this better. 

Measurable 
target/s for 
2016/17

To be determined by chief nurse and medical director following scoping work 
described above

How progress 
will be 
monitored

Reports to patient experience group

Board sponsors Chief nurse and medical director

Page 33



23

Implementation 
lead

To be determined by chief nurse and medical director following scoping work 
described above

Objective 9 To fully implement the Accessible Information Standard, ensuring that the 
individual needs of patients with disabilities are identified so that the care 
they receive is appropriately adjusted

Rationale and 
past 
performance

This is a key national standard which has the potential to make a significant 
difference to patients with disabilities who are cared for in our hospitals. Fits 
with the Trust’s ambitions to do more to meet the needs of patients from 
defined equalities groups, which will form part of the Trust’s quality strategy. 

What do our 
patients say?

“Some nurses didn't know my child was disabled.”
“This operation was for my 15-year-old son who is deaf. We never got help 
from anyone who could sign to him and, if I wasn’t there, he would have been 
lost. No-one could talk to him. They knew that he was deaf.”

What will we 
do?

We will develop and implement a Trust-wide plan to address the 
requirements of the standard. 

Measurable 
target/s for 
2016/17

To be agreed

How progress 
will be 
monitored

To be determined as part of development of Trust-wide plan

Board sponsor Chief operating officer
Implementation 
lead

Associate director of operations

Objective 10 To increase the proportion of patients who tell us that, whilst they were in 
hospital, we asked them about the quality of care they were receiving 

Rationale and 
past 
performance

All trusts perform relatively poorly on this measure in the National Inpatient 
Survey; UH Bristol particularly so, because our current surveys are geared 
largely towards asking patients to reflect on their care post-discharge. In 
2016/17, we will implement a new system of routinely capturing and 
responding to patients’ experiences of care whilst they are in hospital. This 
will form an important part of our new strategy for improving patient 
experience, which will be focussed on the theme of responsive care. 

What do our 
patients say?

“Please remember that you (midwives/doctors etc.) do this daily, patients 
don't, so don't forget to take a moment however busy you are, to mean it 
when you ask a patient if they are okay and listen. Too often the question is 
asked but the reply is unheard.”

What will we 
do?

During 2016/17, we will procure a new in-hospital patient feedback system to 
run alongside our existing post-discharge survey. This will enable staff to 
routinely ask patients about the quality of care they are receiving whilst they 
are still in hospital, at point of care, as part of a wider theme of delivering 
responsive care. In the meantime, during the first half of the year, we will 
carry out targeted ‘Face to Face’ interviews with inpatients to gain a clearer 
understanding of their needs and expectations around being asked about 
quality of care and raising anything they are unclear or concerned about. 

Measurable 
target/s for 
2016/17

To achieve significantly improved scores in this measure in the 2017 National 
Inpatient Survey (by virtue of when the survey takes place), but in the 
meantime, to see consistent progress through our own monthly survey. 

How progress Reports to patient experience group

Page 34



24

will be 
monitored
Board sponsor Chief nurse
Implementation 
lead

Patient experience programme manager

Objective 11 To reduce avoidable harm to patients
Rationale and 
past 
performance

Reducing avoidable harm is a stated aim of our ‘Sign up to Safety’ Patient 
Safety Improvement Programme 2015-2018 and aligns with our vision ‘to be 
among the best and safest places to receive healthcare’ and the national ‘Sign 
up to Safety’ campaign’s aims and objectives. Avoidable harm reduction is a 
longer term goal over several years.

In our previous Safer Care Southwest Patient Safety Improvement 
Programme3 2009-2015, we set an improvement goal to reduce our adverse 
event rate4 by 30 per cent. The graph below shows that over a five year 
period we achieved our goal to reduce our adverse event rate to below 31.74 
per 1,000 patient days and sustain this.

What will we 
do?

We will broaden the scope of our adverse event rate audit tool to include 
additional types of adverse events not previously included. We will test this 
new tool during quarter 1 of 2016/17. We predict that the new tool will 
initially increase our adverse event rate so we will use it to establish a new 
baseline over quarters 2 and 3 and will then set an improvement target of 50 
per cent reduction to be achieved over the next three years.

Measurable 
target/s for 
2016/17

Completion of testing of the new audit tool in quarter 1 and establishing a 
new baseline by the end of quarter 3. Setting a new improvement goal of 50 
per cent reduction in quarter 4.

How progress 
will be 
monitored

Progress will be monitored through quarterly reports to our Patient Safety 
Programme Board and our non-executive Quality and Outcomes Committee.

Board sponsor Medical director 
Implementation 
lead

Head of quality (patient safety)

3 Formerly known as the South West Quality and Patient Safety Improvement Programme
4 Adverse events are events which are judged to have caused moderate or a higher level of harm to 
patients and which we want to reduce, whereas reported incidents may or may not have caused any harm 
to patients. We want to increase incident reporting so that we can learn as much as possible about events 
which could impact on our patients and enable us take action to minimise the risk of a similar incident. 

Page 35



25

Objective 12 To improve staff-reported ratings for engagement and satisfaction
Rationale and 
past 
performance

Although our 2015 staff survey results were better than the previous year, we 
still need to make considerable improvements if we are to achieve our 
ambition of being rated as one of the best teaching hospitals to work for.  

What will we 
do?

Our plans for 2016/17 include: a focus on improving two way communication 
between staff and management; recognition events and team building; a 
review of the Trusts appraisal process; training programmes for line 
managers; health and wellbeing initiatives, with a specific focus on stress 
related illness, reduction in staff seeing errors and near misses and an 
increase in reporting where they are seen to increase lessons learned from 
the reporting; a piloted employee assistance programme; targeted action to 
address harassment and bullying; a revision and re-launch of the ‘Speaking 
Out’ policy; and support for staff forums and reverse mentoring.  

Measurable 
target/s for 
2016/17

Our target is to achieve improvements in the following areas of staff-reported 
experience:

 Staff Friends and Family Test scores (this asks whether staff would 
recommend the Trust as a place to work and receive treatment)

 Overall staff engagement (a ‘basket’ of measures covering staff 
motivation, involvement and advocacy)

 The percentage of staff witnessing potentially harmful errors, near misses 
or incidents in the last month 

We will measure improvement via our annual all-staff census (this takes place 
in the third quarter of the year). We will also track progress via our quarterly 
Friends and Family Test survey (different staff groups are surveys each 
quarter: scores for each quarter are directly comparable to the equivalent 
survey 12 months previously).

How progress 
will be 
monitored

Divisional Board meetings and Trust Board

Board sponsor Director of workforce and organisational development
Implementation 
lead

Divisional directors supported by corporate human resources

2.1.2.1 How we selected these objectives

These objectives have been developed, following consideration of:

- our desire to maintain our focus on any quality objectives that were not achieved in 
2015/16

- views expressed by our members of our Involvement Network at a meeting in January 
2016

- feedback from our governors
- feedback from staff and members of the public via an online survey
- feedback from patients via ongoing surveys
- the views and quality priorities of the Trust Board and our commissioners
- the Government’s mandate to NHS England for 2016/17

Page 36



26

2.2 Statements of assurance from the Board

2.2.1 Review of services

During 2015/16, UH Bristol provided relevant health services in 705 specialties via five clinical 
divisions (Medicine; Surgery, Head and Neck; Women’s and Children’s Services; Diagnostics and 
Therapies; and Specialised Services). 

During 2015/16, the Trust Board has reviewed selected high-level quality indicators covering the 
domains of patient safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness as part of monthly 
performance reporting. Sufficient data was available to provide assurance over the services 
provided by the Trust. The Trust also receives information relating to the review of quality of 
services in all specialties via, for example, the Clinical Audit Annual Report. The income 
generated by UH Bristol services reviewed in 2015/16 therefore, in these terms, represents 100 
per cent of the total income generated from the provision of relevant health services by the 
Trust for 2015/16. 

2.2.2 Participation in clinical audits and national confidential enquiries

For the purpose of the Quality Account, the Department of Health published an annual list of 
national audits and confidential enquiries, participation in which is seen as a measure of quality 
of any trust clinical audit programme. This list is not exhaustive, but rather aims to provide a 
baseline for Trusts in terms percentage participation and case ascertainment. The detail which 
follows, relates to this list.

During 2015/16, 38 national clinical audits and three national confidential enquiries covered 
NHS services that University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust provides. During that 
period, University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust participated in 100% (38/38) national 
clinical audits and 100 per cent (3/3) of the national confidential enquiries of which it was 
eligible to participate in.

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that University Hospitals Bristol 
NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to participate in during 2015/16, and whether it did 
participate, are as follows:

Table 1
Name of audit / Clinical Outcome Review Programme Participated

Acute
Case Mix Programme (CMP) Yes
Major Trauma: The Trauma Audit & Research Network (TARN) Yes
National emergency laparotomy audit (NELA) Yes
National Joint Registry (NJR) Yes
Procedural Sedation in Adults (care in emergency departments) Yes
VTE risk in lower limb immobilisation (care in emergency departments) Yes
National Complicated Diverticulitis Audit (CAD) Yes
Emergency Use of Oxygen Yes

5 Based upon information in the Trust’s Statement of Purpose (which is in turn based upon the Mandatory Goods and 
Services Schedule of the Trust’s Terms of Authorisation with NHS Improvement)

Page 37



27

Medical and Surgical Clinical Outcome Review Programme (NCEPOD) Yes
Blood and Transplant
National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion programme Yes
Cancer
Bowel cancer (NBOCAP) Yes
Lung cancer (NLCA) Yes
Oesophago-gastric cancer (NAOGC) Yes 
Heart
Acute coronary syndrome or Acute myocardial infarction (MINAP) Yes
Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM) Yes
Congenital heart disease (Paediatric cardiac surgery) (CHD) Yes
Coronary Angioplasty/National Audit of PCI Yes
National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit Yes
National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) Yes
National Heart Failure Audit Yes
Long term conditions
National Diabetes Audit (Adult) ND(A) Yes
National Diabetes Foot Care Audit (NDFA) Yes
Diabetes Inpatient Audit Yes
Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA) Yes
Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) Yes
National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme Yes
Renal replacement therapy (Renal Registry) Yes
Rheumatoid and early inflammatory arthritis Yes
National Ophthalmology Audit Yes
UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry Yes
Older People
National Hip Fracture Database (NHFD) Yes
National Audit of Inpatient Falls (NAIF) Yes
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) Yes
UK Parkinson’s Audit Yes
Other
Elective surgery (National PROMs Programme) Yes
Women’s & Children’s Health
Vital signs in children (care in emergency departments) Yes
Neonatal intensive and special care (NNAP) Yes
Paediatric Asthma Yes
Paediatric intensive care (PICANet) Yes
Child Health Clinical Outcome Review Programme Yes
Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome Review Programme (MBRRACE-
UK)

Yes

Page 38



28

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that University Hospitals Bristol 
NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and for which data collection was completed during 
2015/16 are listed below alongside the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a 
percentage of the number of registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry 
(where known).

Table 2
Name of audit / Clinical Outcome Review Programme % Submitted

Acute
Case Mix Programme (CMP) 100% 

(1332/1332)
Major Trauma: The Trauma Audit & Research Network (TARN) 80% (327/408)
National emergency laparotomy audit (NELA) 64% (145/228)
National Joint Registry (NJR) 45*
Procedural Sedation in Adults (care in emergency departments) 100% (50/50)
VTE risk in lower limb immobilisation (care in emergency departments) 100% (50/50)
National Complicated Diverticulitis Audit (CAD) 30*
Emergency Use of Oxygen 22*
Medical and Surgical Clinical Outcome Review Programme (NCEPOD) 42% (8/19)
Blood and Transplant
National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion programme 100% (88/88)
Cancer
Bowel cancer (NBOCAP) 120 (188/157)**
Lung cancer (NLCA) 148*
Oesophago-gastric cancer (NAOGC) >90% (211*)
Heart
Acute coronary syndrome or Acute myocardial infarction (MINAP) 833
Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM) 840*
Congenital heart disease (Paediatric cardiac surgery) (CHD) 100% (744/744)
Coronary Angioplasty/National Audit of PCI 100% 

(1690/1690)
National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit 100% 

(1411/1411)
National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) 98*
National Heart Failure Audit 318*
Long term conditions
National Diabetes Audit (Adult) ND(A) 613*
National Diabetes Foot Care Audit (NDFA) 23*
Diabetes Inpatient Audit 83*
Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA) 100% 

(1567/1567)
Renal replacement therapy (Renal Registry) 66*
Rheumatoid and early inflammatory arthritis 18*
UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry 371*

Page 39



29

Older People
National Hip Fracture Database (NHFD) 100% (315/315)
National Audit of Inpatient Falls (NAIF) 100% (30/30)
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) >90% (466*)
UK Parkinson’s Audit 54*
Other
Elective surgery (National PROMs Programme) 60% (103/173)
Women’s & Children’s Health
Vital signs in children (care in emergency departments) 100% (50/50)
Neonatal intensive and special care (NNAP) 100% (721/721)
Paediatric Asthma 100% (25/25)
Paediatric intensive care (PICANet) 100% (775/775)
Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome Review Programme 
(MBRRACE-UK)

100% (59/59)

 
*No case requirement outlined by national audit provider/unable to establish baseline.
** Case submission greater than national estimate from Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) data

The reports of 13 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2015/16. University 
Hospital Bristol NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the 
quality of healthcare provided:

British Thoracic Society (BTS) Emergency Oxygen Audit 
 introduce a Patient Group Direction to allow senior nurse practice nurses to prescribe 

oxygen; ward-based education in oxygen prescribing has also been introduced.

National Emergency Laparotomy Audit (NELA)
 ‘Boarding’ and ‘landing’ cards have been introduced to help prompt decisions around 

pre and post-operative care and to improve the standardisation of care in theatres.

College of Emergency Medicine Audits
 the operating hours of the mental health liaison team will be increased to reduce the 

time patients wait to be reviewed; the Mental State Examination (MSE) will also be 
incorporated into the matrix assessment form

 fluid balance forms are to be made available in the resuscitation area to improve the 
management of patients with severe sepsis/septic shock

 a flow chart/decision aid will be designed to aid management from the early stage of 
triage of patients presenting with a paracetamol overdose

 follow-up arrangements for fitting patients presenting to the Emergency Department 
will be clarified and improved through the introduction of a new guideline and care 
record proforma; a ‘Fits, Faints and Funny Turns’ leaflet is also being produced to raise 
parental awareness

 a wheeze care record proforma is being developed to better manage patients 
presenting with moderate and severe asthma; Trust guidance is also being revised in 
line with national recommendations.    

National Cancer Audits
 there has been an increase in proactive data collection for this audit with much day-to-

day work now delegated to multi-disciplinary team coordinators and teams, supported 

Page 40



30

by full guidance and data completeness trackers; our data completeness is now better 
than the national average for most data fields. 

National Heart Failure Audit
 an outreach heart failure service from cardiology to medicine has been established
 consultant and nursing capacity has been increased to manage additional referral 

activity
 electronic alert and referral systems have been set up within Medway (the Trust’s 

patient administration system) to identify patients admitted with heart failure and 
improve their management

 an electronic data capture system has been designed in Medway to improve the capture 
of data required for the national audit.

National Adult Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) Audit
 extra IBD specialist nurses are to be recruited and our clinical guidelines for the 

management of IBD are to be re-written.

National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NADIA)
 further diabetes inpatient specialist nurse roles are to be recruited to and an inpatient 

diabetes steering group is being established to improve the care of diabetic patients.   

National Diabetes Audit – Pregnancy in Diabetes   
 a database/spreadsheet is to be created which will allow capture of specific baseline 

data (e.g. folic acid prescribing) at the first clinic visit and facilitate analysis of UH Bristol 
specific data moving forwards

 liaison with primary care and education about pre-conception counselling regarding 
glycaemic control, folic acid use etc. is underway. Discussions include a focus on the 
increasing proportion of women with Type 2 diabetes becoming pregnant including high 
risk ethnic minority groups and obese women.

 the endocrine team is fully engaged with the established south west diabetes and 
pregnancy regional network to support regional service development, sharing of data 
and ideas and agreeing consensus best practice

 the antenatal endocrine service provision and capacity will be reviewed in order to 
increase frequency of contact with patients to support improved glycaemic control. 

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme
 the Trust’s admission proforma is being redesigned to help capture and record the 

required patient data relating to their COPD exacerbation. This will include the ability to 
record the patient’s DECAF (Dyspnoea, Eosinopenia, Consolidation, Acidaemia & 
Fibrilation) score.

 smoking cessation and referral to pulmonary rehabilitation referral is now a matter of 
course after introducing the formal discharge bundle of care 

 portable spirometers for the three respiratory wards within the Trust and for the 
Medical Assessment Unit are in the process of being purchased.

Childhood Epilepsy Audit (Epilepsy 12)
 care pathways, guidance and care proforma will be amended to help improve the 

management of children with epilepsy
 secondary care epilepsy clinics will be introduced and a transition service set up
 a questionnaire will be designed to capture the parental issues relating to behavioural, 

developmental and emotional issues of the children.    

Page 41



31

Neonatal intensive and special care (NNAP)
 further targeted local audits have been identified to help improve practice. 

The outcome and action summaries of 218 local clinical audits were reviewed by University 
Hospital Bristol NHS Foundation Trust in 2015/16; summary outcomes and actions reports are 
reviewed on a bi-monthly basis by the Clinical Audit Group.  Details of the changes and benefits 
of these projects will be published in the Trust’s Clinical Audit Annual Report for 2015/166.

2.2.3 Participation in clinical research

As a research active trust providing specialist care to patients in Bristol and across the South 
West, we recognise the importance of research in gathering the evidence to improve the care 
the NHS delivers.  

We are proud of the research that takes place in UH Bristol, and that we can give patients the 
opportunity to participate in a trial relevant to their condition, receive gold-standard clinical 
care which is provided or sub-contracted by UH Bristol, and to play a part in generating research 
evidence. The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided by University 
Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust in 2015/16 that were recruited during that period to 
participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was  4,429. As of 31st March 
2016, we have 756 active research projects. They include clinical trials of investigational 
medicinal products, and interventional trials such as surgical trials.

Table 3
Number of active non-commercial (portfolio) projects – 457
Number of active non-commercial (non-portfolio) projects – 144
Commercial studies registered –155 (125 portfolio studies)
Number of recruits in non-portfolio non-commercial trials – 555
Number of recruits in portfolio non-commercial trials – 3,524
Number of recruits in commercial trials – 350

Over the last year, we have focused on a number of specific areas. We continued to support 
researchers to develop high quality grant applications and then setting up grants and recruiting 
more quickly, to ensure the funding is used most effectively. We have opened trials in new 
areas, notably obstetrics and ear nose and throat, and are working collaboratively with new 
local partners to deliver their trials successfully. We continue to be committed to the rapid set-
up and effective delivery of high quality commercial research at UH Bristol. These trials allow us 
to offer new treatments to our patients, which may otherwise not be available. They also 
provide an income stream to build capacity to deliver more trials at UH Bristol. In 2015/16 we 
recruited first patients to a number of trials – both nationally and internationally, and six of our 
Principal Investigators were recognised for the successful delivery of commercial research within 
the NHS by the chief medical officer as part of a National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) 
event.
 
We recognise that a well trained workforce is one of the keys to success, and have worked with 
partner organisations to make NIHR training accessible to staff across the research network. A 
group of our research staff are now trained to deliver a wide range of courses to their peers, 
including The Fundamentals of Clinical Research, Let’s Talk Trials, Paediatric Communication and 
Consent, and Valid Informed Consent, in addition to the International Conference on 
Harmonisation of Good Clinical Practice (ICH-GCP). 

6 Available via the Trust’s internet site from July 2016

Page 42



32

2015/16 saw the close of an international trial, in which the effectiveness of two drugs in 
reducing swelling of the macula for patients with diabetic macular edema was assessed. This 
was the first trial to come to the UK through a formal consortium agreement between the NIHR 
Moorfields Biomedical Research Centre, for which UH Bristol leads on inflammation and 
immunotherapeutics, and the National Institutes of Health (NIH) in the USA. UH Bristol recruited 
nearly two thirds of the 66 patients recruited in the trial, across the UK and USA. As a result of 
this successful collaboration we have been in discussions with the NIHR and NIH regarding four 
potential new trials we hope to bring to Bristol. 

It is important to demonstrate that research has an impact on the health care the NHS delivers.  
Evidence from one of our sponsored trials was confidentially shared with NHS England ahead of 
its publication, in order for a prescribing recommendation to be made. As a result, NHS England 
published an interim clinical commissioning policy on the use of a biologic for children with 
severe refractory uveitis, recommending its use for patients who meet the clinical criteria it sets 
out. The policy will benefit children for whom uveitis threatens their sight, and for whom other 
treatments have proven ineffective.

2.2.4 CQUIN framework (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation)

A proportion of University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust’s income in 2015/16 was 
conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed between 
University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust and any person or body they entered into a 
contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of NHS services, through the 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework. The amount of potential income 
in 2015/16 for quality improvement and innovation goals was approximately £9.77m based on 
the sums agreed in the contracts (this compares to £9.63m in 2014.15).  

The delivery of the CQUINs is overseen by the Trust’s clinical quality group. Further details of the 
agreed goals for previous years are available electronically at 
http://www.uhbristol.nhs.uk/about-us/how-we-are-doing/.

The CQUIN goals were chosen to reflect both national and local priorities. 22 CQUIN targets 
were agreed, covering more than 35 measures.  There were three nationally specified goals: 
acute kidney injury, sepsis (screening and timely provision of antibiotics) and dementia care 
(improve case finding and referral for emergency admission, provide clinical leadership and 
education, provide support to carers).

The Trust achieved 18 of the 22 CQUIN targets and four in part, as follows:

 Acute kidney injury
 Sepsis (partial)
 Dementia (partial)
 Improving diagnosis recording in A&E
 SHINE7

7 SHINE is a patient safety checklist which brings together in an easy to use tool a list of all essential tasks, grouped by 
time from presentation. These require a time and signature as they are completed. Patients with service needs either 
related to or peripheral to their presentation have these recognised and have referrals made into the correct 
services. These are safeguarding, mental health, domestic or sexual violence, alcohol and drugs. Patients with 
conditions that require being on a pathway are recognised and that pathway commenced, specifically stroke, diabetic 

Page 43

http://www.uhbristol.nhs.uk/about-us/how-we-are-doing/


33

 Reduction in alcohol dependence and planned alcohol withdrawal
 Discharge summaries
 Reducing late inter provider cancer referrals 
 Cancer treatment summaries
 End of life
 Ask 3 questions
 The Care Act - 'Making Safeguarding Personal'
 Care homes
 Organisational patient safety culture 
 Transition
 BMT: comorbidity scoring of patients
 OncotypeDX
 Highly specialised services clinical outcomes collaborative audit meeting 
 Hepatitis C
 Reduce delayed discharge from intensive care unit to ward level care by improving bed 

management in wards (partial)
 2 year outcomes for infants <30 weeks gestation
 Standardised and equitable transition preparation across all patient groups
 Neonatal Unit Admissions (partial)

2.2.5 Care Quality Commission registration and reviews

University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) and its current registration status is ‘registered without compliance 
conditions’. The CQC has not taken enforcement action against the Trust in 2015/16.

The Trust’s most recent comprehensive inspection took place between 10 and 12 September 
2014, the outcome of which was reported in last year’s Quality Report. UH Bristol was not 
subject to a CQC comprehensive inspection or any responsive reviews in 2015/16 – our CQC 
status therefore remains ‘requires improvement’. The Trust did however participate in a CQC 
thematic review of integrated care for older people, and a review of health services for children 
looked after and safeguarding in South Gloucestershire. 

The Trust received two outlier alerts from the CQC during 2015/16. In December 2015, the Trust 
received a maternity outlier alert for maternal non-elective readmissions within 42 days of 
delivering, and in March 2016, the Trust received a mortality outlier alert in respect of coronary 
atherosclerosis and other heart disease. The Trust responded to the CQC within the agreed 
timeframes for these alerts. 

2.2.6 Data quality

UH Bristol submitted records during 2015/16 to the Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the 
hospital episode statistics, which are included in the latest published data. 

The percentage of records in the published data:

- which included the patient’s valid NHS number was: 99.5 per cent for admitted patient 
care; 99.8 per cent for outpatient care; and 96.8 per cent for accident and emergency 

ketoacidosis, fractured neck of femur, gastro-intestinal bleed and sepsis. The tool minimises written information and 
facilitates easy, accurate handover between staff, particularly during busy periods.

Page 44



34

care (these are all improvements on the 2014/15 data: 99.4 per cent for admitted 
patient care, 99.7 per cent for outpatient care and 96.0 per cent for patients in accident 
and emergency care)

- which included the patient’s valid general practice code was: 99.9 per cent for admitted 
patient care; 99.9 per cent for outpatient care; and 99.9 per cent for accident and 
emergency care (the accident and emergency score is an improvement on 99.7 in 
2014/15; the admitted patient care and outpatient care scores both declined by 0.1 per 
cent compared with validated 2014/15).

(Data source: NHS Information Centre, SUS Data Quality Dashboard, April 2015 - January 2016 as 
at Month 10 inclusion date)

UH Bristol’s information governance assessment report overall score for 2015/16 was 72 per 
cent and was graded Level 2. This is an improvement on our score of 66 per cent in 2014/15.

UH Bristol has not been subject to a national payment by results audit in 2015/16 as the 
accuracy of clinical coding is within accepted norms. 

In 2015/16, the accredited auditor for the Trust’s clinical coding team undertook an audit of 100 
Finished Consultant Episodes (FCEs) in cardiac surgery and cardiology. The following levels of 
accuracy were achieved (2014/15 results in brackets):

 primary procedure accuracy: 100% (98.9%)
 primary diagnosis accuracy: 99.0% (90.0%)

In March 2015/16, the clinical coding team also carried out an audit of 50 FCEs in 
ophthalmology. The results showed an increase in accuracy for diagnoses and procedures 
(2014/15 results in brackets):

 primary diagnosis accuracy:  98.0% (96.0%)
 primary procedure accuracy:  98.0% (93.9%)

(Due to the sample size and limited nature of the audit, these results should not be 
extrapolated)

The Trust has taken the following actions to improve data quality:

- the data quality programme involves a regular data quality checking and correction 
process; this involves the central information system team creating and running daily 
reports to identify errors and working with the Medway support team and users across 
the Trust in the correction of those errors (this includes checking with the patient for 
their most up to date demographic information)

- the Trust has installed self-check-in devices across the Trust in addition to outpatient 
clinic reception staff to enable patients to update their own demographic information. 

2.3 Mandated quality indicators

In February 2012, the Department of Health and NHS Improvement announced a new set of 
mandatory quality indicators for all Quality Accounts and Quality Reports. The Trust’s 
performance in 2015/16 is summarised in the table below. Where relevant, reference is also 
made to pages of our Quality Report, where related information can be found. The Trust is 
confident that this data is accurately described in this Quality Report. A data quality framework 

Page 45



35

has been developed by the Trust, which encompasses the data sets that underpin each of these 
indicators and addresses the following dimension of data quality: accuracy, validity, reliability, 
timeliness, relevance and completeness. The framework describes the process by which the 
data is gathered, reported and scrutinised by the Trust. Further details are available upon 
request. (Comparisons shown are against a benchmark group of all acute Trusts, with the 
exception of patient safety incidents, where the benchmark group is acute teaching hospitals 
only).

Table 4
Mandatory indicator UH Bristol 

2015/16
National 
average 
2015/16

National 
best 

2015/16

National 
worst 

2015/16

UH Bristol 
2014/15

Page 
ref.**

Venous thromboembolism risk 
assessment

98.8%
Apr-Dec15

95.7%
Apr-Dec15

100%
Apr-Dec15

80.6%
Apr-Dec15

98.0% 39

Clostridium difficile rate per 100,000 
bed days (patients aged 2 or over)

16.7
Apr15-Jan16

15.3
Apr15-Jan16

0
Apr15-Jan16

63.4
Apr15-Jan16

20.5 41

Rate of patient safety incidents 
reported per 1,000 bed days

54.64
Apr15-Sep15

38.23
Apr15-Sep15

117.008

Apr15-Sep15
15.90

Apr15-Sep15
54.80 51

Percentage of patient safety incidents 
resulting in severe harm or death

0.37%
Apr15-Sep15

0.42%
Apr15-Sep15

2.92%
Apr15-Sep15

0%
Apr15-Sep15

0.44% 51

Responsiveness to inpatients’ personal 
needs

Comparative data for 2014/15 (2013/14 in brackets): UH Bristol 
score 69.4 (71.7); England overall 68.9 (68.7); low 59.1 (54.4); high 
86.1 (84.2). 
Comparative data for 2015/16 will not be available from the Health 
& Social Care Information Centre until August 2016).

59

Percentage of staff who would 
recommend the provider

77.0%
2015 Staff 

Survey

75.0%
2015 Staff 

Survey

86.1%
2015 Staff 

Survey

55.4%
2015 Staff 

Survey

70.5% 
2014 Staff 

Survey

69

Summary Hospital-level Mortality 
Indicator (SHMI) value and banding

97.8 (Band 2 
“As Expected”) 

Oct14-Sep15

100
Oct14-Sep15

65.2
Oct14-Sep15

117.7
Oct14-Sep15

96.1 (Band 2 
“As Expected”) 

Apr14-Mar15

76

Percentage of patient deaths with 
specialty code of ‘Palliative medicine’ 
or diagnosis code of ‘Palliative care’

23.5% 
Oct14-Sep15

26.6% 0.2% 53.5% 22.3%
Apr14-Mar15

N/A

Patient Reported Outcome Measures Comparative groin hernia data for 2014/15: 72% of UH Bristol 
patients reported an improved EQ-5D score (national average 
50.7%); 45.5% of UH Bristol patients reported an improved EQ-VAS 
score (national average 38.1%). UH Bristol PROM data for varicose 
veins does not meet the publication threshold due to small sample 
size.

81

Emergency readmissions within 28 
days of discharge: age 0-15

Comparative data for 2011/12: UH Bristol score 7.8%; England 
average 10.0%; low 0%; high 47.6%. Comparative data is not 
currently available for subsequent years from the Health & Social 
Care Information Centre.*

83

Emergency readmissions within 28 
days of discharge: age 16 or over

Comparative data for 2011/12: UH Bristol score 11.15%; England 
average 11.45%; low 0%; high 17.15%. Comparative data is not 
currently available for subsequent years from the Health & Social 
Care Information Centre.*

83

*this is the same data we reported last year – at the time of writing, more recent data is not available 
from the Health & Social Care Information Centre.
Note: historical data published by the HSCIC has been adjusted during the last 12 months – this accounts 
for discrepancies between data listed in this table and corresponding figures published in last year’s 
Quality Report. 

8 High levels of reporting are indicative of a positive patient safety culture; the aim is to achieve high levels of 
reporting accompanied by low levels of incidents resulting in severe harm or death (the goal being zero)

Page 46



36

**page numbers indicate where in this report the indicators are discussed, or where there is related 
content

Page 47



37

Part 3

Review of services in 2015/16

3.1 Patient safety

The safety of our patients is central to everything we want to achieve as a provider of 
healthcare. We are committed to continuously improving the safety of our services, and will 
focus on avoiding and preventing harm to patients from the care, treatment and support that is 
intended to help them. We will do this by successfully implementing proactive patient safety 
improvement programmes and by working to better understand and improve our safety culture. 
We will also continue to conduct thorough investigations and analyses when things go wrong, 
identifying and sharing learning, and making improvements to prevent or reduce the risk of a 
recurrence. We will be open and honest with patients and their families when they have been 
subject to a patient safety incident, and will strive to eliminate avoidable harm as a consequence 
of care we have provided.  

3.1.1 Patient falls

Falls and fractures are a common and serious problem affecting older adult inpatients, with over 
240,000 falls reported each year from hospitals in England and Wales; resulting in significant 
personal and financial consequences (Royal College of Physicians 2015).

In 2015/16, we continued to focus on reducing the numbers of inpatient falls and incidences of 
harm caused by a fall. Common themes identified during the year were that the majority of falls 
were unwitnessed, age related, with over half of falls occurring in people with a degree of 
cognitive impairment. 

Our target for the year was to achieve fewer falls than the average 5.6 per 1,000 bed days 
(National Patient Safety Agency). Having achieved green status for 11 consecutive months in 
2014/15, it was agreed by the Trust’s Patient Safety Group that the target would be lowered to 
4.8 per 1,000 bed days. As seen in Figure 1 we have consistently performed below (better than) 
the new target. 

This reduction in falls has continued through a combination of focused work by our falls steering 
group. The promotion of initiatives such as the “Eyes on Legs” Campaign has helped embed the 
concept of falls being everyone’s responsibility, regardless of role. Our bespoke falls training 

What patients said in our monthly survey:

“I found the stay in hospital really good. I felt secure and very safe.”

“I felt safe, comfortable and cared for. I do not feel I could have received better if I had 
gone to an expensive private facility. St Michael's Hospital is highly recommended in my 
view.”

For second edit

Page 48



38

now incorporates an element on dementia and supporting patients with a cognitive impairment, 
as this group of patients are more susceptible to falls.

The Trust’s clinical leads for falls continue to offer bespoke, face to face training in those areas 
reporting a higher numbers of falls or who have a fall with harm. Falls awareness forms part of 
the Trust’s staff induction programme and clinical update days. 

Figure 1 – Patient falls per 1,000 bed days

Source: Falls Base Data, UH Bristol
Note: Prior to April 2015, the Trust used the old NPSA target of 5.6 falls per 1,000 bed days. Since April 
2015, in a spirit of continuous improvement, we have adopted a green threshold of 4.8 (equal to our 
average falls rate in 2014/15), with an ‘alarm’ trigger of 5.0.

The falls steering group was proud to receive the ‘Quality Champion’ award at the annual Trust 
Recognising Success Awards in November 2015. In 2016/17, the group will continue to focus on 
reducing the level of harm to patients as a result of a fall. Additional actions are planned 
including: 

 development of the Trust falls champions role and enhanced training for these staff 
members

 supporting the roll out of activity boxes for patients who are on 1:1 enhanced 
observation

 piloting the use of coloured tags on walking aids to identify the level of support needed 
for patients when walking

 increasing use of call bells through specific posters to highlight use to patients and 
carers.

Targeted promotional work will also take place during national falls awareness week in 
September 2016.

Page 49



39

3.1.2 Pressure ulcers

Pressure ulcers are defined as localised skin or tissue damage as a direct result of pressure. They 
can range from small superficial skin damage to deep tissue injury that can lead to life-
threatening complications. 

In 2015/2016, the Trust’s target was to achieve fewer than 0.4 category 2 to 4 hospital acquired 
pressure ulcers per 1,000 bed days. The target of 0.4 per 1,000 bed days was a reduction from 
the 2014/2015 target of 0.651 per 1,000 bed days. The Trust achieved 0.23 per 1,000 bed days 
during 2015/2016, achieving our target and a reduction from 2014/2015’s figure of 0.398. This 
figure represents a reduction in the number of grade 2 and 3 hospital acquired pressures ulcers, 
with no grade 4 pressure ulcer seen over the last two years.

Figure 2

Source: Ulysses Safeguard and Datix® systems

The importance of achieving and sustaining pressure ulcer prevention and the impact this has 
on our patients’ experience is recognised across the Trust. Good practice is well embedded and 
is underpinned by national guidance. Achievements during 2015/2016 include:

 implementing patient-centric pressure ulcer prevention care plans throughout the Trust
 working with community partners, implementing patient information leaflets 

throughout the Trust to ensure a consistent message is communicated across acute and 
community settings

 implementation and roll-out of a Trust-wide dressings formulary in order to standardise 
dressings across both acute and community settings

 developing a second generation interactive e-learning programme, which is specific to 
adult, maternity and paediatric clinical settings

 publication of an article and presentation of a poster at a national tissue viability 
conference 

 six-monthly reviews of all grade 3 pressure ulcers to identify themes and ensure learning 
and actions are disseminated and captured on the work plan.

Page 50



40

Planned actions for 2016/2017 include:

 introducing wound care and pressure ulcer prevention competencies throughout the 
Trust to compliment and link theory to practice training

 developing focussed work on reducing hospital acquired pressure ulcers, which are 
linked to pressure from medical devices

 reviewing our dynamic mattress contract to ensure it meets the needs of patients and is 
cost effective.

3.1.3 Venous thromboembolism (VTE)
(Mandatory indicator)

In 2015/16, we aimed to sustain our good performance for 2014/15 by adhering to our locally 
set stretch target (99 per cent) for VTE risk assessment and 95 per cent for appropriate 
thrombo-prophylaxis.

We have consistently achieved the required national target of greater than 95 per cent of adult 
inpatients being risk assessed for risk of venous thromboembolism (VTE). For the year as a 
whole, we achieved 98.2 per cent9; this compares with 98.8 per cent in 2014/15. From October 
2015, there was a decline in performance below our 99 per cent stretch target which we have 
subsequently found to mainly be a data entry issue following a change of staff in the discharge 
lounge where large numbers of VTE risk assessments are recorded.  Training was provided in 
this area in March 2016 and performance seems to have started to recover. We have however, 
remained above the national target of 95 per cent for the whole of 2015/16.

Figure 3 

Source:  UH Bristol Medway system

The Trust considers its VTE risk assessment data is as described because of the data quality 
checks that are undertaken, as detailed in the Trust’s data quality framework. 

The Trust has taken the following actions in 2015/16 to sustain more than 95 per cent 
compliance with VTE risk assessments: hospital associated VTE are subject to a modified root 

9 This figure differs from the 98.0 per cent quoted in Table 4, which is from the Health & Social Care Information 
Centre and covers the first three quarters of the year only

Page 51



41

cause analysis (RCA) investigation10, and should there be any learning regarding the timeliness 
or appropriateness of the VTE risk assessments and appropriate thrombo-prophylaxis, this is 
shared across the organisation. 

In 2015/16, 94.6 per cent of patients at risk of VTE received appropriate thrombo-prophylaxis, 
compared with 94.4 per cent in 2014/15 and 93.4 per cent in 2013/14. See Figure 4 below. 

Figure 4

88%

90%

92%

94%

96%

98%

100%

Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15 Oct-15 Nov-15 Dec-15 Jan-16 Feb-16 Mar-16

Percentage of patients who received appropriate 
thrombo-prophylaxsis

Source:  Pharmacy ward audits

During the last year, there have been 76 cases of hospital associated thrombosis 
(compared with 66 in 2014/15), 11 of which were deemed potentially avoidable. At the 
time of writing, the Trust is finalising the investigations into all hospital associated 
thrombosis for the whole year.

There has been one serious incident which occurred in 2015/16 (but which was identified 
and reported in 2016/17) where a patient was unexpectedly found to have a pulmonary 
embolus on post mortem.  The patient did have risk factors that would indicate a need for 
prophylactic enoxaparin; however, the VTE risk assessment was not completed and 
prophylactic enoxaparin was not given during the patient’s admission. It is believed that 
had enoxaparin been administered, this may have reduced but not eliminated the patient’s 
risk of pulmonary embolus. Following this incident, we have issued a further Trust-wide 
safety bulletin regarding VTE risk assessments entitled “Don’t be a clot - Assess all patients 
for their venous thromboembolic risks” to raise awareness about what happened in this 
incident. There has also been some local learning regarding routes of admission for 
patients into the relevant specialty which are being reviewed and a plan to look at 
standardising ward rounds in the speciality.

10 This is a requirement of our commissioners

Page 52



42

3.1.4 Infection control

3.1.4.1 Clostridium difficile 
(Mandatory indicator)

Clostridium difficile infection remains an unpleasant, and potentially severe or fatal infection 
that occurs mainly in elderly and other vulnerable patient groups, especially those who have 
been exposed to antibiotic treatment. The Trust has made great strides over the years to reduce 
the numbers of Clostridium difficile infections; however there was a rise in cases during 2014/15 
and the rate of improvement has slowed. It is important to note that some detected cases of 
Clostridium difficile are a consequence of factors such as clinical condition and are beyond the 
Trust’s control. This has been acknowledged nationally and means that we need a greater 
understanding of individual cases. Accordingly, we changed our reporting methodology in 
2014/15. The Trust and its commissioners (Bristol CCG) are now required to assess each case to 
see if there were lapses in care of each patient who acquires Clostridium difficile in the Trust, to 
determine whether these lapses in care contributed to their infection, and whether the 
Clostridium difficile infection was ‘avoidable or unavoidable’. The limit for avoidable cases for 
2015/16 was set at 45 by Public Health England. During the year, the Trust reported 17 
avoidable cases. 

Table 5
Total Number of Clostridium 

difficile cases
Avoidable 
infections

2014/15 50 8
2015/16 40 17

Possible reasons for the slowing of improvement in the total number of Clostridium difficile 
infections include:  

 a gradual increase in the mean age of patients, which increases the risk of development 
of significant co-morbidities and immobility

 increased exposure to antibiotics because of respiratory and urinary tract infections in 
the hospital and community populations.

The Trust considers its Clostridium difficile data to be accurate because of the data quality 
checks that are undertaken, as detailed in the Trust’s data quality framework. This framework 
governs the collection and validation of the data and its submission to a national database.

The Trust has taken the following actions in 2015/16 to manage Clostridium difficile infection 
and to improve patient safety: 

 patients are assessed by an infection control nurse, medical microbiologist and anti-
infective pharmacist when a positive result is received

 patients are monitored by the infection prevention and control team on a daily basis
 all cases are assessed to determine if their infection was ‘avoidable’ or ‘unavoidable ‘
 antibiotic prescribing continues to be monitored. 

Page 53



43

Figure 5 – Number of reported cases of Clostridium difficile

Source: South West Public Health England Centre healthcare associated infection data

3.1.4.2 Meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) bacteraemia

The National target of zero tolerance to avoidable MRSA (Meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus 
aureus) bacteraemia infection continues year on year. UH Bristol had three MRSA cases 
reported in 2015/16; an improvement from 2014/15 when five cases were reported and 
attributed to the Trust. Post infection reviews have been undertaken and have shown that all 
the cases were clinically complex and challenging. Two recurrent themes were identified:

 MRSA decolonisation washes were not continued for the duration of stay of the patient 
in the hospital as per Trust policy

 Documentation such as stool charts and risk assessments were not being fully 
completed. 

Action plans have been agreed to ensure these concerns are addressed and infection control 
clinical focus ward rounds have been commenced weekly by the infection control team to help 
to focus on these issues. 

3.1.4.3 Peripheral and central line care

Poor standards of aseptic technique are a fundamental cause of healthcare acquired infections 
(Department of Health, 2003). The aseptic non-touch technique (ANTT) is the standard 
intravenous technique used for the accessing of all venous access devices regardless of whether 
they are peripherally or centrally inserted. The main focus of ANTT is to minimise the 
introduction of micro-organisms, which may occur during preparation, administration and 
delivery of IV therapy. Developments in 2015/16 include the following:

 ANTT is now part of essential training
 an ANTT compliance audit is now available on the Trust’s intranet; to be completed 

quarterly

Page 54



44

 the introduction of bio patches - chlorhexidine impregnated disks that fit around the 
catheter and sit on the skin of the patient - in our medical division has coincided with a 
decrease in line infections; our specialised services division has also implemented bio 
patches and seen a reduction in catheter related blood stream infections (CRBSI)

 we plan to evaluate Posiflush - a ready to use sterile pre-filled syringe for flushing 
vascular access devices - in the Bristol Haematology and Oncology Centre to further 
reduce infection rates

 all clinical areas have now implemented Microclave - clinically-proven needlefree 
technology designed to reduce the risk of bacterial contamination and improve patient 
outcomes

 the Trust is reviewing intravenous dressings to improve infection rates.

Figure 6 – Number of reported cases of MRSA

Source:  Public Health England Data Capture System 

3.1.4.4 Meticillin susceptible Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA) bacteraemia

The Trust’s MSSA bacteraemia target for 2015/16 (set by the Trust) was 25 cases. The number of 
cases reported was 26. Actions to prevent MSSA are similar to those for MRSA. There is no 
national guidance indicating widespread screening of MSSA at the present time. The number of 
people who harmlessly carry MSSA (approximately one third) is far greater than MRSA. 

There were 11 MSSA cases relating to vascular access devices during 2015/16. This equates to a 
reduction of four cases from the previous year. Work continues on care pathways for vascular 
access devices and standardisation of care. Education and awareness has increased, and aseptic 
non-touch technique continues to be a focus for infection control link practitioners throughout 
the Trust. 

3.1.4.5 Norovirus

Norovirus cases are being managed more effectively following the opening of the new Bristol 
Royal Infirmary ward block and a corresponding increase in side room capacity. We continue to 

Page 55



45

follow national norovirus guidelines and report outbreaks through the Public Health England 
hospital norovirus outbreak reporting system. In 2015/16, there were a number of bays closed 
for short periods throughout the year but there was only one full ward closure. Up to the end of 
February (the latest data available at the time of writing) there were five bay closures and 18 
bed days lost; a significant improvement over the year. 

3.1.4.6 Pharmacy

Antibiotic compliance began favourably in 2015/16, meeting our 90 per cent target, however 
the departure of the pharmacy data manager resulted in a gap of four months when data was 
not communicated to divisions. This was associated with a very significant fall in compliance 
which had not been seen since 2012. This serves to underline the importance of feedback. 
Prescriber legibility (being able to read the signature of the prescriber) has also declined over 
the past year (87.7 per cent). Anti-infective ward rounds are currently being reviewed with an 
aim to improve compliance. 

Figure 7

Source:  University Hospitals Bristol pharmacy department

3.1.5 Reducing medication errors 

In 2015/16, our aim was to continue overall improvement in medication safety, ensuring that 
medication related harm was minimised. Our focus of attention has been on keeping the 
number of medication incidents with a level of moderate or greater harm (as defined in the 
National Patient Safety Agency’s model matrix) to a minimum, continuing to improve on the low 
level of omitted doses of critical medicines, and improving the safe use of medicines when 
patients are transferred from hospital to their home environment. 

In 2015/16, we continued to give particular attention to patient safety alert 
NHS/PSA/D/2014/005, the subject of which was effective reporting of and learning from 

Page 56



46

medication errors. In August 2015, the Trust changed its incident reporting system to Datix®.  
Since this time, the number of medication incidents and adverse drug reactions reported has 
increased compared with previous years. We view this as a positive development. The system is 
empowering more staff to report medication incidents and near misses, as a result of which we 
know more about what goes wrong and how to prevent recurrence. All reported medication 
errors and near misses are reviewed by a member of the pharmacy medication safety team 
irrespective of level of harm caused to the patient, and incidents are selected for formal review 
and ‘sharing the learning’ through the medication safety group. In the last year, we have seen an 
increase in the number of incidents reported which are non-preventable, for example adverse 
drug reactions to the first dose of a medicine (our assumption is that this has resulted from a 
reporting system which is quicker and easier to use). 

In 2015/16, 19/2373 (0.8 per cent) of medication related incidents were reported with a level of 
moderate, major or catastrophic harm caused to the patient. The breakdown by level of harm is 
moderate (16/19), major (2/19) and catastrophic (1/19). This compares to 2014/15, when 
10/2007 (0.5 per cent) of medication related incidents resulted in moderate (8/10), major (1/10) 
or catastrophic (1/10) harm. The Trust’s progress over the last six years in reducing harm from 
medication related incidents is shown in Figure 8.

Figure 8 

Source: Datix® Incident Reporting System 

Although our reported performance in 2015/16 has not improved compared to 2014/15, further 
analysis of the 17 reported cases of moderate, major or catastrophic harm reveals that eight of 
these incidents cannot be attributed to preventable harm, i.e. errors of practice or patient 
safety incidents. Five of the reported incidents (causing moderate harm) were as a result of 
adverse drug reactions to a first dose of a medicine. These incidents, while unfortunate for the 
patients concerned, cannot be predicted or prevented (we note these adverse reactions in the 
medical notes in order to avoid the patients being given the same drug again). Two incidents 
(also moderate harm) involved extravasation injuries (this is where medication given by 
injection directly into the vein leaks out of the vein and irritates the surrounding tissue). The 
medical notes from both of the patients that suffered these extravasation injuries suggest that 
the actual harm caused to the patient was minor rather than moderate (extravasation injuries 
are treated similarly to burns and the patients had no long lasting effects). One further incident 
(moderate harm) described an omitted dose of a baby’s medicine: the dose was not given 
because a second consultant had stopped the medicine on the drug chart.

Page 57



47

These six incidents of non-preventable harm are of a type that has not been reported prior to 
the introduction of the Datix® system. For purposes of direct comparison, Figure 9 has therefore 
been adjusted to show the percentage of preventable medication incidents that resulted in 
moderate or greater harm when compared to data from previous years. 

Figure 9

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f p
re

ve
nt

ab
le

 m
ed

ica
tio

n 
in

cid
en

ts
 r

es
ul

tin
g 

in
 m

od
er

at
e 

or
 g

re
at

er
 

ac
tu

al
 h

ar
m

Year

Percentage of preventable medication 
incidents resulting in moderate or greater 

actual harm

Source: Datix® Incident Reporting System 

As in 2014/15, we set ourselves the goal of further reducing the number of unintentional 
omitted doses of critical medicines. This is important to patient safety and quality of care and to 
ensure that medicines use is optimal. Using the same data collection methods as previous years 
(sampling methodology involving approximately 1,000 patients per month, monitoring the 
previous three days treatment), we were successful in reducing the percentage of omitted doses 
of critical medicines to 0.87 per cent: a 14 per cent reduction compared to 2014/15 and a total 
70 per cent reduction in the number of unintentional omitted doses of critical medicines since 
we started monitoring our performance in 2012. The results are shown in Figure 10.

Figure 10 

Source: Pharmacy medicines safety data

Page 58



48

Our work to improve medicines safety when patients are transferred home has focussed on 
improving the time it takes to supply patients’ medicines when they are discharged from 
hospital. Since 2011, we have had internal Trust target that at least 90 per cent of discharge 
medicines prescriptions will be available within two hours. We are now exceeding this target, 
with the result that patients’ transfer of care is now more streamlined and there are fewer 
delays at discharge due to medicines not being ready. Results are shown in Figure 11

Figure 11

Source: UH Bristol Webtracker data

In 2016/17, in addition to our on-going focus on the areas of practice described above, we will 
be commencing a pilot of electronic prescribing and administration. Our aim is to scrutinise the 
prescribing and administration of all medicines to ensure they are given as they are intended, 
when they are intended. We anticipate that this electronic system will alert us when medicines 
have been omitted or delayed so this will provide us with further information and intelligence 
on medication usage.

We will also participate in two new patient safety projects coordinated by the West of England 
Academic Health Science Network. The theme of the first of these projects is insulin safety, 
whilst the second project involves supporting patients with their medication when they are 
discharged from hospital. Work to date on the latter project includes the introduction of the 
‘PharmOutcomes’ system which will engage community pharmacies in the ongoing support of 
their patients.  

A further priority area, identified from our incident reporting and learning, is that there is scope 
for improving the quality of medication second checking at the point of medicines 
administration. We will therefore also be focussing attention on this as an area of safety in 
which to improve within the next year. 

Page 59



49

3.1.6 Early identification and escalation of care of deteriorating patients

There are six key points in a deteriorating patient’s pathway that provide opportunities for 
action by healthcare professionals to improve the patient’s chances of a good outcome.

 
In last year’s Quality Report, we described how we had achieved our ‘outcome’ improvement 
goal for deteriorating patients by reducing the number of validated cardiac arrest calls for adult 
inpatients in general ward areas. We also described the actions we had taken to improve the 
escalation of deteriorating patients; this resulted in some improvement in 2014/15, however we 
did not manage to sustain our 95 per cent improvement goal. 

Knowing we have more work to do, we have included the continued focus on early identification 
and escalation of deteriorating patients in our Sign up to Safety Patient Safety Improvement 
Programme (2015-2018) as described in section 3.1.13 of this report.

One of the key elements of the programme in 2015/16 has been the development and 
implementation of a new adult observation chart incorporating the National Early Warning 
Score (NEWS),11 in conjunction with North Bristol NHS Trust. Following testing of a number of 
prototypes in defined areas in both Trusts, the new observation chart was introduced on 17th 
December 2015. This has meant a change for front line staff in how the early warning score is 
calculated and in the escalation of deteriorating patients for senior clinical review. 
Implementation was supported by a training programme and resources delivered by a training 
and education manager experienced in the implementation of NEWS, provided by the West of 
England Academic Health Science Network.

Throughout 2015/16, we have continued our monthly process measures of accuracy of 
completion of early warning scores, the appropriate response to a deteriorating patient and the 
use of a structured communication tool to escalate the patient for senior clinical review. We 
have also continued to monitor the cardiac arrest outcome measure described above. We 
anticipated the potential for an initial slight reversal of the previous improvements we had 
made in the aftermath of this change, as people became used to the new calculation of early 
warning scores and escalation protocol, therefore a risk assessment was conducted and 
mitigating action put in place.

11 The National Early Warning Score (NEWS) was developed by the Royal College of Physicians in 2012 with the aim of 
standardising early warning scoring systems already in existence in many healthcare organisations. An early warning 
score is derived from measuring a range of physiological parameters (commonly known as patient observations) such 
as temperature, pulse and blood pressure, and scoring each parameter. Higher scores are allocated to measurements 
further outside of the normal range. The scores for each parameter are added together to reach a single early 
warning score for the patient. Higher scores indicate sicker patients and progressively higher scores indicate 
deteriorating patients, both of which will trigger the need for a response. Responses are graded in terms of urgency 
and the seniority of clinician needed to review the patient.

Page 60



50

Figure 12 shows that we have sustained over 95 per cent achievement in completeness and 
accuracy of early warning scores, following the introduction of the new adult observation chart 
incorporating the NEWS score.

Figure 12

 
Source: monthly audit

Table 6 - Percentage of early warning scores correctly calculated, 2015/16:
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

98.4 99.0 99.6 95.3 98.4 99.7 98.7 99.3 99.3 98.9 99.5 99.7

Figure 13 shows that in the early part of 2015/16 there were signs of improvement towards our 
95 per cent improvement goal for appropriate response to trigger scores, however performance 
tailed off towards the end of 2015 prior to the introduction of NEWS. Additional training is being 
targeted to the areas where greatest improvement in needed and we are also testing a revised 
escalation protocol designed to make it easier for staff to escalate the sickest patients.

The change to NEWS has afforded us the opportunity to get beneath the reasons why patients 
are not always escalated (or why this is not always recorded) and to address any underlying 
causes that prevent this happening. It has also identified a training need for doctors in resetting 
triggers and to consider treatment escalation plans for appropriate patients.

Figure 14 shows variation in the use of the SBAR12 structured communication tool to escalate 
deteriorating patients, partly due to the relatively small numbers of patients involved. The 
increased sensitivity of NEWS to trigger deteriorating patients has meant that the number of 
patients requiring SBAR communication to escalate has approximately doubled from 10-15 
patients to 30-35 patients in any 24 hour period. We will use the additional NEWS training to 
remind staff to use SBAR as well as getting beneath the reasons why this does not always 
happen.

12 SBAR: Situation, Background, Assessment, Recommendation - a  structured communication tool

Page 61



51

Figure 13

Source: monthly audit

Figure 14

Source: monthly audit

Finally, Figure 15 below shows that, in 2015/16 we have sustained our 2014/15 improvement 
goal of reducing the number of validated cardiac arrest calls from adult inpatient wards. We 
achieved our target of no more than seven validated cardiac arrest calls in any given month. In 
2016/17, we expect our sustained progress to be strengthened by the introduction of NEWS. 
We are also looking to include additional outcome measures to assess the effectiveness of our 
improvement actions.

Page 62



52

Figure 15

Source: monthly audit

3.1.7 Rate of patient safety incidents reported and proportion resulting in severe harm or 
death
(Mandatory indicators)

The data for 2015/16 presented in this section of the report are a combination of NHS England’s 
National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) data, released in April 2016 covering the period 
from April to September 2015, and provisional data submitted to the NRLS by UH Bristol for the 
period from October 2015 to March 2016; the final data for this period will be published by the 
NRLS in November 2016. 

The data shows that the total number of incidents reported in April to September 2015 was 
6,789, which equates to a rate of 54.64 incidents per 1,000 bed days. Provisional data for the 
second six months of 2015/16 shows the number of reported incidents to the NRLS was 7,162; 
an estimated rate of 57.64 incidents per 1,000 bed days. For 2015/16 as a whole, this gives a 
provisional total number of 13,951 incidents and an estimated rate of 56.14 incidents per 1,000 
bed days.

The percentage of reported incidents at UH Bristol resulting in severe harm13 during April to 
September 2015 was 0.3 per cent (1714 incidents), similar to the previous six months (0.3 per 
cent, 22 incidents) and to the corresponding period in 2014 (0.3 per cent, 21 incidents). The 
percentage of reported incidents resulting in death was at 0.1 per cent (eight deaths) for the 
period of April to September 2015. This represents an increase from the previous six months 
(0.08 per cent, five deaths) and the same period last year (0.1 per cent, seven deaths). 

Provisional data sent to the NRLS by UH Bristol for the period October 2015 to March 2016 
indicates that 0.32 per cent of reported incidents in that period resulted in severe harm or death 
(20 severe harm incidents and three potentially avoidable deaths out of 7,162 incidents). 

13 The level of harm for reported incidents can be subject to change following full investigation. For investigations 
which are completed after the NRLS cut-off date the information contained within local incident reporting system 
when interrogated at a future date may be different.
14 This number has subsequently reduced to nine incidents following investigation.

Page 63



53

The provisional percentage of reported incidents resulting in severe harm or death in 2015/16 
as a whole was therefore 0.26 per cent (27 severe harm events and 11 deaths). This compares 
with 0.38 per cent in 2014/15 (38 severe harm events and 12 deaths). 

The Trust considers its incident reporting data is as described because of the data quality checks 
that are undertaken, as detailed in the Trust’s data quality framework. This framework governs 
the identification and review of incident data prior to submission to the National Reporting and 
Learning System (full details are available upon request). 

In 2016/17, the Trust intends to continue with the implementation of our Sign up to Safety 
Patient Safety Improvement Programme (described in section 3.1.13 of this report), to reduce 
harm from avoidable patient safety incidents. Other patient safety sections of this report 
describe further work underway within the Trust to prevent or reduce the risk of harm to 
patients. We will also continue to investigate incidents proportionally to their level of harm or 
risk, and improve how we share learning and take action across the organisation to reduce the 
likelihood or impact of the same kind of incident happening again.

3.1.8 Serious incidents

The purpose of identifying and investigating serious incidents, as with all incidents, is to 
understand what happened, learn and share lessons, and take action to reduce the risk of a 
recurrence. The decision that an event should be categorised as a serious incident is made by an 
executive director. Throughout 2015/16, the Trust Board was informed of serious incidents via 
its monthly quality and performance report. The total number of serious incidents reported for 
the year was 69, compared to 78 in 2014/15. Of the 69 serious incidents initially reported, two 
were subsequently downgraded. Nine investigations remain in progress at the time of writing 
(April 2016). A breakdown of the categories of the 69 reported incidents is provided in Figure 16 
below.

All serious incident investigations have robust action plans, which are implemented to reduce 
the risk of recurrence. The investigations for serious incident and resulting action plans are 
reviewed in full by the Trust Quality and Outcomes Committee (a sub-committee of the Trust 
Board of Directors). 

In January 2016, the Trust was served with a Contract Performance Notice by Bristol Clinical 
Commissioning Group for failing to achieve compliance with requirements set out in the Serious 
Incident (SI) Framework (NHS England, March 2015) relating to the timelines of reporting and 
investigating serious incidents. The Trust has put in place a robust action plan with a recovery 
trajectory to achieve 100% compliance by July 2016. 

3.1.8.1 Learning from serious incidents 

Learning and actions arising from serious incidents involving falls and pressure ulcers is provided 
in the falls and tissue viability sections of this report, and learning from never events is provided 
in the section below.  Examples of learning themes from other serious incident investigations in 
2015/16 include:

 the need for continued improvement in the recognition and response to deteriorating 
patients in 2016/17; this will happen as part of our ‘Sign up to Safety’ improvement 
programme as described in section 3.1.13

Page 64



54

 the need to further strengthen our processes to prevent peri-procedure never events in 
‘out-of-theatre’ environments; this aligns with the work we are already undertaking to 
comply with the National Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures published towards 
the end of 2015 and will happen as part of our ‘Sign up to Safety’ improvement 
programme

 reviewing procedures for children who make an unscheduled return with the same 
condition to the emergency department including the involvement of senior clinicians 
on the second and any subsequent attendances.

Figure 16

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20

Deteriorating patient

Diagnostic incident

Medication incident

Never event

Infection/communicable disease issue

Safeguarding

Delayed diagnosis

Surgical/invasive procedure incident

12 hour trolley breach

Grade 3 pressure ulcer

Other

Unexpected death

Fall

Serious incidents by type 2015/16

Source:  UH Bristol Serious Incident Log
N.B.: The category “other” includes all categories where only one serious incident of its type was reported

3.1.9 Never events

A ‘never event’ is a particular type of serious incident that is wholly preventable and has the 
potential to cause serious patient harm, where there is evidence that the type of never event 
has occurred in the past, and it is easily recognised and clearly defined as such (NHS England 
2015)15.

There were three confirmed never events reported by UH Bristol in 2015/16. 

Wrong site surgery, private provider

One never event occurred in August 2015 in the category “Wrong site surgery”, whereby the 
wrong mole was removed on an out-patient. The patient’s treatment was subcontracted to a 
private provider. Using a mirror, the surgeon and the patient together identified a mole on the 
patient’s back that was of concern to the patient and was situated in the area described in the 

15 Revised Never Events Policy and Framework March 2015

Page 65



55

notes, which they thought was the one to be removed. At follow up, it was identified that the 
suspicious mole the dermatologist had intended to be removed was in fact a different one that 
had been in the same vicinity. The patient was informed of the error as soon as it was identified 
and an apology was given. The patient has since had the originally intended mole removed; the 
surgery was performed uneventfully.

The learning from this incident included: the need for photographs taken in dermatology and 
marked with the lesion to be removed to be made available for other providers who are treating 
our patients; also the need for the lesion to be inked in the context of the body region so that it 
can be located effectively in relation other skin markings.

Wrong route medication, Bristol Royal Hospital for Children

In November 2015, an oral solution of sodium bicarbonate was administered intravenously to a 
child. The child came to no harm as oral and intravenous preparations of sodium bicarbonate 
are the same (apart from the intravenous preparation being made with sterile water) and, 
fortunately, the infection risk the incident posed did not materialise. The child’s parents were 
informed of the error and an apology given.

The investigation identified that the independent checking procedure – which in this instance 
had involved three nurses – had failed. Learning arising from the incident included: the 
appointment of a clinical skills facilitator for the ward to educate and support new and junior 
staff (including regarding independent checking of medicines); a review of ward skill mix; and 
the need to improve communication and to support staff to feel confident to escalate concerns.

Wrong tooth extracted, Bristol Dental Hospital

In December 2015, an outpatient at the Bristol Dental Hospital required two dental extractions, 
one of which was the second lower left permanent molar (lower left 7), for caries. Having 
performed all the safety checks put in place as described in last year’s Quality Report, including 
the marking of the teeth to be extracted on the dental bib, the correct tooth for extraction was 
identified. Following the start of the procedure, there was a need for the dental student to 
request suction; they then re-counted the teeth from back to front (8, 7, 6) and placed the 
forceps on the first lower left permanent molar (lower left 6) to complete the extraction. The 
third permanent molar (lower left 8) was horizontally impacted and partially erupted. There was 
also a lack of direct vision secondary to the presence of blood.

The patient was immediately informed of the error and the lower left 6 tooth was re-implanted 
in an attempt to save it. The root cause was determined to have been human error and the 
learning from the investigation included:

 if there is “ANY DOUBT” regarding any aspects of the proposed treatment during 
delivery then a “TIME OUT/STOP” should be called and the clinical situation reassessed 
prior to continuing with the planned procedure

 teeth should be re-counted by the operator and a second person prior to repositioning 
the instrument for extraction if the operator is required to stop the procedure for an 
unplanned reason.

Action was taken immediately following this incident so that no dental undergraduates were 
permitted to undertake any oral surgical procedures including tooth removal on a patient unless 
under the direct supervision of a registered dental surgeon with a level of experience above that 
of a dental core trainee.

Page 66



56

3.1.10 NHS England Patient Safety Alerts

At the end of 2015/16, there were no outstanding patient safety alerts relating to UH Bristol.

3.1.11 Safe staffing

In last year’s report, at the request of our governors, we included some information about how 
we ensure that our wards and services are safely staffed. During 2016/17, the re-configuration 
of our medical wards resulted in a major review of nurse staffing establishment and skill mix 
appropriate for the new layouts/speciality mix. The Trust Board has continued to receive six 
monthly reports on nurse staffing levels for all adult inpatient areas (including midwifery and 
the children’s services). In addition, the Quality and Outcomes Committee of the Board has 
received detailed information each month. This reporting has provided the Board with 
assurance that the right actions are being taken to ensure that UH Bristol has the right number 
of staff in place with the right skills. 

3.1.12 Duty of candour

Being open and honest when things go wrong has been an integral part of incident management 
and patient safety culture development since the advent of the Being Open Framework 
developed by the National Patient Safety Agency in 2009. The reports by Robert Francis QC 
(2010 and 2013) and Professor Don Berwick (2013) following the events which took place at Mid 
Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust between 2005 and 2009 led to more formal arrangements 
in this respect: first, a contractual obligation (in 2013) and subsequently, a statutory obligation 
for duty of candour (in 2014). This was followed by explicit requirements of a professional duty 
of candour published jointly by the General Medical Council and Nursing and Midwifery Council 
in 2015.

The Trust has had a Staff Support and Being Open Policy in place since 2007. This policy has 
been developed over the years in response to learning from within the organisation, national 
guidance and, more recently, from the aforementioned contractual, statutory and professional 
obligations for duty of candour. Key developments that have taken place in recent years include:

 training for staff on induction and in clinical updates on the formal and professional 
requirements of duty of candour

 information on induction and clinical updates regarding a ‘just culture’ to assist staff to 
feel supported in being open and honest

 development of and intranet page with information and resources to support staff in 
complying with duty of candour

 amending our ‘72 hour report’ and root cause analysis templates to prompt early and 
subsequent compliance with duty of candour

 development of a patient information leaflet  entitled ‘Guide for patients and families 
about patient safety incidents’, explaining what they can expect in this regard

 developing our incident reporting system with prompts for duty of candour
 testing the use of a duty of candour sticker for patients’ notes to facilitate recording of 

duty of candour conversations with patients and their families
 ‘Difficult conversations’ training made available within the Trust.

Our next steps are:

 to continue training and education regarding duty of candour

Page 67



57

 to evaluate our first test of the duty of candour sticker
 to complete an analysis-by-team of safety culture assessments and take these forward 

as described in the Sign up to Safety Programme section of this report
 to start a longer term piece of work, working with front line staff and families, to 

develop an open disclosure framework which recognises that the needs of individuals 
(patients, families and staff) require a more flexible approach to being open, based on 
where they are at particular times of the post-incident or grieving process.

3.1.13 Sign up to Safety

UH Bristol ‘signed up to safety’ in 2014 by making our pledges under five national themes, which 
aligned with the aims of our existing patient safety strategy: 

 put safety first
 continually learn from feedback and by measuring and monitoring how safe our services 

are
 be open and honest
 collaborate with others in developing system wide improvements
 support patients, families and our staff to understand when things go wrong and how to 

put them right.

Following this, we developed our Patient Safety Improvement Programme for 2015-2018 which 
was officially launched on 31st July 2015 with the assistance of Professor Jane Reid, the Sign up 
to Safety lead for the South of England. Our ‘Sign up to Safety’  programme builds on our 
previous involvement in the Safer Care South West programme and has overarching ambitious 
aims in line with the national Sign up to Safety campaign: to reduce mortality by a further 10 per 
cent and halve avoidable harm. We conducted a thematic analysis of incidents, complaints, 
claims, serious incidents and consulted with staff and members on our quality and patient safety 
priorities. We also worked closely with colleagues in the West of England Patient Safety 
Collaborative to identify and develop opportunities for system wide safety improvements and to 
share and learn from each other.

Running through our whole programme is a continued focus on leadership for safety and 
developing the engagement of staff and patients in developing safety and quality 
improvements. We have chosen four key areas to focus on:

 improving the recognition, escalation and response to deteriorating patients, including 
focusing on improving the care and management of patients with sepsis (also see 
sections 2.1.1 and 2.1.2 of this report) and acute kidney injury, both common causes of 
deterioration

 improving medicines safety (see section 3.1.5 of this report), specifically insulin safety 
and medicines safety at the point of transfer of care

 improving our processes to prevent peri-procedural16 never events in environments 
where surgery and invasive procedures take place (the publication of the National 
Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures by NHS England in September 2015, and the 

16 i.e. occurring soon before, during, or soon after a procedure

Page 68



58

associated patient safety alert to develop Local Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures 
by September 2016, supports this locally selected priority)

 understanding and developing our safety culture. 

Highlights of what we have achieved so far:

 we have developed, tested and introduced a safety checklist for adult patients queuing 
to enter the emergency department; this is now being adopted by a number of 
emergency departments in the West of England Patient Safety Collaborative, and has 
attracted wider national interest

 working with colleagues from North Bristol NHS Trust, we have designed and 
implemented a new adult observation chart based on the National Early Warning Score
17 (also see section 3.1.5); this work supports the aim of the West of England Patient 
Safety Collaborative to introduce a single early warning score across all providers in all 
sectors of the local health system so that we all understand how sick our patients are by 
talking the same language when referring and transferring patients between providers

 we have improved the screening of patients for sepsis in admission and assessment 
areas and the administration of antibiotics within an hour for appropriate patients 

 we have improved the identification of patients with acute kidney injury and the 
frequency of reviews of nephrotoxic18 medication for these patients to help prevent 
worsening acute kidney injury

 we have completed the local safety standards for invasive procedures for theatre 
environments and are testing similar standards in interventional suites and the 
emergency department

 we have audited the quality of how our surgical safety checklist procedure is performed 
in order to ensure that all required staff are present and attentive; this will continue and 
extend to ‘out-of- theatre’ environments  

 within the West of England Patient Safety Collaborative, UH Bristol has a leadership role 
in the medicines safety work stream; a number of learning events have taken place to 
agree system-wide priorities and safety improvements to be tested, and we are already 
sharing learning from insulin related incidents

 we have completed our first safety culture assessments of our organisation as a whole 
and 130 individual teams have assessed their safety culture. 

Our plans for next steps as we go into 2016/17 are:

 to further embed the use of the National Early Warning Score and responses to 
escalating patients; this will include further training and support for front line teams as 
well as looking at the human factors that inhibit appropriate escalation and responses

 to develop an escalation protocol for deteriorating patients in the emergency 
department to ensure a senior clinician from the receiving specialty is aware of, and 
prepared to receive into their care, those patients who are sickest 

17 The National Early Warning Score was developed by the Royal College of Physicians in 2012with the aim of 
standardising early warning scoring systems already in existence in many healthcare organisations. An early warning 
score is derived from a measuring a range of physiological parameters (commonly known as patient observations) 
such as temperature, pulse and blood pressure, and scoring each parameter. Higher scores are allocated to 
measurements further outside of the normal range. The scores for each parameter are added to reach a single early 
warning score for the patient. Higher scores indicate sicker patients and progressively higher scores indicate 
deteriorating patients, both of which will trigger the need for a response. Responses are graded in terms of urgency 
and seniority of clinician needed to review the patient.

18 Nephrotoxic medicines are those which  are known to cause or contribute to acute kidney injury

Page 69



59

 to embed and spread the sepsis work to include patients who develop sepsis during an 
inpatient stay and, working with colleagues in the West of England Patient Safety 
Collaborative, adapting our sepsis care pathway in the light of new guidance due to be 
published in July 2016

 learning from North Bristol NHS Trust, who are leading the testing and development of 
an acute kidney injury care bundle, to test and implement  this within our inpatient 
areas and focus our safety improvements where monitoring and audit direct us

 to standardise fluid balance monitoring and recording for adult patients in general ward 
areas

 to test a ‘patient’s own drugs’ scheme for patients using insulin and to engage enablers 
and front line staff across the system in medicines safety improvements at transfers of 
care (focussing on insulin safety in the first instance)

 to test a ‘patient’s own drugs’ scheme for patients using insulin and to spread the 
PharmOutcomes system across the West of England Patient Safety Collaborative’ s foot 
print

 to complete the implementation of  local safety standards for invasive procedures for all 
areas where these take place, including wards and outpatient departments, and to 
spread existing quality audits to all areas

 to complete the analysis of safety culture assessments at divisional and team level and 
to provide facilitated face-to-face feedback to enable teams to understand their current 
team safety culture and to identify and own their plans to develop this further.

Page 70



60

3.2 Patient experience

We want all our patients to have a positive experience of healthcare. All our patients and the 
people who care for them are entitled to be treated with dignity and respect, and should be 
fully involved in decisions affecting their treatment, care and support. Our staff should be 
afforded the same dignity and respect by patients and by their colleagues. Our commitment to 
‘respecting everyone’ and ‘working together’ is enshrined in the Trust’s values. 

Patient experience can only be fully understood by asking patients what they think about the 
care that they received in our hospitals (Darzi, 2008). At UH Bristol, our core patient surveys give 
us a strong understanding of the things that matter most to our patients; these priorities 
continue to guide our choice of quality objectives. In 2015/16, we significantly expanded our 
patient feedback programme to include new day case, paediatric, and outpatient surveys. 
Alongside this, we also recognise the importance of actively engaging with patients and the 
public as partners in our planning and decision-making processes. 2015/16 has seen significant 
developments in our approach to patient and public involvement, in particular the 
establishment of our new “Involvement Network”, which builds on the interest Trust members, 
Governors, community groups, other patients and carers have shown in taking a more active 
role in the work of the Trust.  

3.2.1 Overall patient experience

Local patient experience ‘tracker’ scores

The patient experience tracker scores are generated from our monthly outpatient and inpatient 
postal survey programme. We combine a number of survey questions to generate these scores, 
based on the aspects of care that our patients have told us matter most to them:

 Being treated with respect and dignity
 Receiving understandable answers to questions (in other words, communication)
 Being treated in a clean ward / clinic 
 Being involved in decisions about care and treatment (inpatients only)
 Waiting times in clinic (outpatients only).

The tracker scores are reported to our Trust Board each month: if our high standards were to 
begin to slip, this would be identified in the survey, and actions would be taken to remedy this. 

What patients said in our monthly survey:

“I received outstanding care throughout my stay, very professional and friendly staff, 
excellent experience.”

“Since I was last a patient in the BRI in 2009, there has been a vast improvement - a 
huge blessing… clean, airy, bright, friendly, personal. The staff have a much more 'I can 
help' attitude and seem happier too.”

Page 71



61

Throughout 2015/16, our tracker score has been consistently above our minimum target (see 
Figure 17). The Board will continue to monitor the monthly tracker score in 2016/17. 

Figure 17

Source: UH Bristol monthly inpatient and parent survey 
Notes:  (1) the alarm limit would represent a statistically significant deterioration in the Trust’s patient-
reported experience score, prompting us to take remedial action in response; (2) scores have been 
recalculated based on end-of-year data, and therefore will differ slightly from previously-reported data to 
the Trust Board; (3) During the 2013-14 year there was a single “communication” relating to both doctors 
and nurses, from 2014-15 this was split into two questions about communication (one relating to doctors 
and one to nurses)

Friends and Family Test

The Friends and Family Test (FFT) focuses on one main question: whether the patient would 
recommend the hospital ward to friends and family if they needed similar care or treatment. 
During 2015/16, UH Bristol’s Friends and Family Test scores for the inpatient / day case and 
maternity surveys have been in line with national norms (see Figures 18 and 19). In contrast, the 
Trust’s Emergency Department (ED) scores in the Bristol Royal Infirmary (BRI) and Bristol Royal 
Hospital for Children were below national benchmarks (see Figure 20). We believe this has 
resulted from a change in methodology introduced during the year, rather than a decline in 
quality of care (the BRI ED achieves consistently high scores in the national survey): electronic 
touchscreens were introduced in waiting rooms and observation wards, which means that 
patients are giving us feedback during their journey through ED, rather than at the end, when 
they are more likely to be feeling positive about their experience. We will continue to 
experiment with appropriate methodologies in these settings during 2016/17, including trialling 
the use of SMS (text messaging) to ask the “recommend” question. FFT scores for the ED at 
Bristol Eye Hospital, where a card-based approach continues to be used, have remained 
relatively unchanged in 2015/16.

During 2015/16, the Trust was served with a contract performance notice by Bristol Clinical 
Commissioning Group, for not achieving the agreed target of a 30 per cent response rate in the 
combined inpatient and day case Friends and Family Test survey. UH Bristol’s inpatient element 
of this survey routinely meets this target, but day case response rates have been significantly 
below 30 per cent since this survey commenced in April 2015, which has “dragged down” the 
overall response rate. An action plan is in place to resolve these issues and bring the response 
rate in line with agreed targets. 

Page 72



62

Figure 18

Source: UH Bristol Friends and Family Test survey. 
Notes: (1) day case and paediatric services were included in the survey from April 2015; (2) the national 
benchmark is the national-level score from February 2016

Figure 19

Source: UH Bristol Friends and Family Test survey.  
Note: the national benchmark is the national-level score from February 2016

Figure 20

Source: UH Bristol Friends and Family Test survey. Note: the national benchmark is the national-level 
score from February 2016

Page 73



63

Overall care ratings

Another way of measuring overall experience of care is to pose that question to patients 
directly. In 2015/16, 98 per cent of all survey respondents rated the care they received at the 
Trust as excellent, very good, or good (see Figure 21).

Figure 21

Source: UH Bristol monthly inpatient / parent survey; UH Bristol monthly outpatient survey

We continue to monitor patient-reported experience data to ensure that there is no evidence of 
statistically significant variation in reported experience according to the ethnicity of our 
patients. The differences shown in Figure 22 (between ethnic groups and between years) are 
not statistically significant, and are most likely caused by the margins of error that are present in 
the survey data. 

Figure 22

Source:  UH Bristol monthly inpatient and parent survey 

Page 74



64

3.2.2 National patient surveys

Each year, the Trust participates in the national patient experience survey programme. These 
surveys allow the experience of patients at UH Bristol to be benchmarked against other NHS 
acute Trusts in England. In 2015/16 we received the results to three national surveys: 

- the national inpatient survey (2014)19

- the national children’s survey (2014)
- the national maternity survey (2015)

Overall, UH Bristol tends to perform in line with or better than the national average in national 
patient surveys (Figure 23 and Table 7). In 2015/16 we received an outstanding set of national 
maternity survey results. The experience ratings we received from our service users in this 
survey were recognised by the Care Quality Commission as being the best in the country. In the 
areas of care during labour and birth, UH Bristol attained nine survey scores that were better 
than the national average. A further “better-than-average” score was received for kindness and 
understanding on postnatal wards. These are particularly pleasing results because they reflect 
significant ongoing work carried out by our maternity staff to improve the experience of women 
who use their services. In recent years, this has included investment in new midwifery posts, a 
reconfiguration of postnatal wards (based on feedback from service-users), and various “co-
design” projects where the maternity team has worked in partnership with people who have 
experienced maternity services, in order to understand what works well and identify aspects of 
care that could be improved. One particularly successful element of this broad programme of 
work has been the “patient experience at heart” workshops. These multi-disciplinary workshops 
are attended by staff in the maternity service, providing an opportunity to reflect on the delivery 
of a high quality experience of care. The Trust is currently looking at how this programme can be 
rolled out more widely in our hospitals. 

Figure 23

Source: Care Quality Commission national surveys, overall satisfaction survey questions (except maternity 
survey where no single overall score exists and therefore a mean across all hospital-based survey 
questions has been used); the national average and quintile thresholds are indexed to 100 to aid 
comparability.

19 Published in April 2015 and referenced in last year’s quality report. At the time of writing (May 2016), the results of 
the 2015 survey have yet to be published

Page 75



65

Table 7: Results of national patient survey reports received by the Trust during 2015/16

Comparison to national average
 Above (better) Same Below
2014 National inpatient survey (patients 
who were discharged during July 2014)

2 57 1

2014 National Children’s inpatient and day 
case survey (patient or their parents who 
attending during August 2014)

1 36 0

2015 National Maternity survey (women 
who gave birth during February 2015)

10 9 0

Although there were no national cancer survey results available in 2015/16, we continued to 
carry out a large number of activities with a view to improving these survey scores (see section 
2.1.1). 

During 2015/16, we also received our results for the first national children’s inpatient and day 
case survey. This survey showed that UH Bristol broadly performed in line with the national 
average for patient experience in paediatric services. However, UH Bristol is one of a relatively 
small number of specialist children’s hospitals in England and is a regional centre. When we 
carried out our own analysis to assess our scores against directly comparable trusts, our results 
emerged very favourably (Figure 24). 

Figure 24

Source: Care Quality Commission national children’s survey data; cohort derived via CHKS healthcare 
intelligence tool

What patients said in our monthly survey:

 “The two midwives I had were amazing. I cannot fault their care and assistance 
during labour. It is an experience made more memorable for me because they were 
so engaging, respectful and caring to me. Thank you.”

Page 76



66

3.2.3 Patient and public involvement

UH Bristol actively seeks contributions from patients and the public in the planning, evaluation 
and development of our services. This includes hosting community events and discussion 
forums, and having patient and public representation on some of our management groups. Each 
month, we also take the opportunity to share a patient story at the start of each Trust Board 
meeting, to set the context for the discussions that are held there. Some examples of our 
patient and public involvement work during 2015/16 include:

Involvement Network
The UH Bristol Involvement Network (“IN”) is part of a broad and ambitious programme to 
refresh the way in which we deliver our patient and public involvement work. IN is about 
creating new opportunities for people to have their say about how healthcare is developed and 
provided at UH Bristol. IN members have helped inform the Trust’s Quality Priorities for 2016/17 
and commented on the quality of information patients receive about outpatient appointments.

Patient letters 
Patients were involved in a “patient letters week” to understand how the quality of patient 
letters could be improved (see section 2.1.1 of this report). A set of standards was agreed with 
patients and new letters are currently being piloted. 

Paediatric cardiac surgery
We have continued to work with the families of children who have had cardiac surgery to 
understand their experience of the care they received. This has resulted in improvements to the 
process of consent and information about services. This work will continue into 2016/17 and has 
informed new work to establish a family involvement group for the Paediatric Intensive Care 
Unit.

Rheumatology and Sleep Unit services
Patients have been working with staff as part of plans to re-locate services within the Trust in 
autumn 2016. This has included a “walk through” to identify associated access improvements 
such as signage, additional seating and enhanced information about vehicle drop off points.

Patients and doctors as partners in learning
Patients have taken part in a new initiative whereby they share their patient experiences as part 
of the ongoing development of our Foundation Level 2 doctors. 

People approaching the end of life
As part of a service development initiative, a focus group was held in association with St Peter’s 
Hospice with patients who are recognised as approaching the end of life. Patients were able to 
share their experiences of the care they received from the Trust and suggest ways in which the 
training and development of staff involved in end of life care could be improved.

Maternity Services
Women at St Michael’s Hospital have taken part in conversations about their expectations of 
the discharge process from our maternity wards. This work will continue in 2016/17 with repeat 
interviews during which the women will reflect on their actual experience. 

Page 77



67

3.2.4 Complaints

In 2015/16, 1,941 complaints were reported to the Trust Board, compared with 1,883 in 
2014/1520; this is an annual increase of 3.1 per cent. 647 of these complaints - exactly one third - 
were investigated under the formal complaints process; two thirds of complaints were 
addressed through informal resolution. 

This volume of complaints equates to 0.25 per cent of all patient episodes, against a target of 
<0.21 per cent. Figure 25 shows the number of complaints received each month as a proportion 
of patient activity; complaints received in each month of 2015/16 were higher than in seven of 
the corresponding months of the previous year. In contrast, the Trust’s patient experience 
inpatient ‘tracker’ survey ratings in 2015/16 improved compared to the previous year (see 
section 3.2.1).  

In 2015/16, the Trust agreed a quality objective to improve the quality of our written response 
letters. During 2015/16, we carried out staff training, and implemented changes to the way that 
complaints responses are written and reviewed prior to sending. You can read more about this 
in section 2.1.1 of this report. We said that we would measure progress by measuring the 
numbers of complainants who expressed dissatisfaction with our response: at the time of 
writing, 59 complainants have expressed dissatisfaction with complaints responses sent out 
during 2015/1621. 

Figure 25

Source: UH Bristol Ulysses Safeguard and Datix® systems 

In 2015/16, we carried out complaints investigations and replied to complainants within agreed 
timescales in 75.2 per cent of cases; a reduction from the 85.9 per cent achieved in 2014/15. 
This has largely been a consequence of the introduction of more robust processes for checking 
draft response letters. Performance has been steadily recovering since December 2015, as 
shown in Figure 26. 

Looking ahead to 2016/17, key themes in our complaints work plan include: 

 implementing a routine follow-up survey of all complainants to better understand their 
experience of using our complaints service – this will be for all formal resolution cases, three 
months after our final response letter has been sent. At the same time, the patient support 

20 Previously 1,442 in 2013/14, 1,651 in 2012/13, and 1,465 in 2011/12
21 Note: this figure differs from data reported to the Board during 2015/16 (38). The reason for this discrepancy is 
explained in section 2.1.1 of the report (2015/16 objective 6)

Page 78



68

and complaints team will send an updated action plan to the complainant (where 
applicable) confirming progress in implementing any outstanding actions arising from their 
complaint.

 providing further training to managers in all our divisions specifically aimed at improving 
skills in writing complaints response letters

 routinely considering and recording whether there are opportunities for complainants to be 
involved in developing the solutions to the issues they have highlighted through their 
complaints

 strengthening our processes for ensuring that potential incidents and serious incidents are 
systematically identified from complaints (in response to the Ombudsman’s report, A review 
into the quality of NHS complaints investigations, published in December 2015).

Figure 26

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

%
 R

es
po

ns
es

 to
 b

y 
ag

re
ed

 d
ea

dl
in

e

Month/Year

Target

Actual
performance

Source: UH Bristol Ulysses Safeguard and Datix® systems

The Trust will be publishing a detailed annual complaints report, including themes and trends, 
later in 2016. 

During 2015/16, in addition to receiving and handling complaints, the patient support and 
complaints team dealt with 389 enquiries for help and information and received 198 
compliments on behalf of the Trust22. 

3.2.5 NHS Staff Survey 2015

As in previous years, in line with the recommendations of the Department of Health, we are 
including in our Quality Report a range of indicators from the annual NHS Staff Survey that have 
a bearing on quality of care.

Questionnaires were sent on a census basis to all substantively employed staff across UH Bristol: 
3,625 staff responded – a response rate of 44 per cent. This is three per cent better than the 

22 That is, unsolicited compliments sent directly to the PSCT – this data has been included in the report at the request 
of our governors and does not take into account compliments received directly by individual wards and departments.

Page 79



69

national response rate, but compares with a 47 per cent response rate in this Trust in the 2014 
survey.

A variety of research has demonstrated clear links between levels of staff engagement and a 
range of outcomes for trusts, including patient satisfaction, patient mortality, trust performance 
ratings, staff absenteeism and turnover. The more engaged a workforce is, the better the 
outcomes for patients.23 

The NHS Staff Survey provides an overall indicator of staff engagement, calculated using 
responses to questions relating to staff members’ willingness to recommend the Trust as a place 
to work or receive treatment; the extent to which they feel motivated and engaged in their 
work; and their perceived ability to contribute to improvements at work. 

Figure 27

The Trust’s overall score for staff recommendation of the organisation as a place to work or 
receive treatment is arrived at by aggregating the scores in the areas shown in Table 8 below.

Table 8
UH Bristol 
score 2015

Average (median) 
score for acute 
trusts  2015 

UH Bristol 
score 2014

‘Care of patients / service users is my 
organisation’s top priority’

77% 75% 70%

‘My organisation acts on concerns raised 
by patients / service users’ 

72% 73% 71%

‘I would recommend my organisation as a 
place to work’

61% 61% 56%

‘If a friend or relative needed treatment, I 
would be happy with the standard of care 
provided by this organisation’ 

77% 70% 70%

Staff recommendation of the organisation 3.81 3.76 3.68

23 West, M. A., Dawson, J. F., Admasachew, L., & Topakas, A. (2011). NHS Staff Management and Health Service 
Quality: Results from the NHS Staff Survey and Related Data. Report to the Department of Health. 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/2011/08/nhs-staff-management/ 
 West, M. A., & Dawson, J. F. (2012). Employee engagement and NHS performance. Paper commissioned for The 
King’s Fund review Leadership and engagement for improvement in the NHS. 
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/document.rm?id=9545 
 Powell, M., Dawson, J. F., Topakas, A., Durose, J., & Fewtrell, C. (2014). Staff satisfaction and organisational 
performance: evidence from a longitudinal secondary analysis of the NHS staff survey and outcome data. Health 
Services and Delivery Research, 2, 1-336.  

Page 80



70

as a place to work or receive treatment. 
(mandatory indicator24)

In last year’s Quality Report, our colleagues from Healthwatch North Somerset raised a 
particular concern about our 2014 NHS Staff Survey score for the percentage of staff who 
witnessed potentially harmful errors, near incidents or misses in the last month.  In the 2015 
survey, our score improved by five points, but remains in the worst 20 per cent of trusts. As 
documented elsewhere in this report, the Trust continues to work tirelessly to eradicate 
potentially harmful errors. The introduction of new incident reporting software (Datix®) has 
provided an additional opportunity for raising awareness and capability with regard to 
reporting. A risk assessment and incident campaign took place in the first quarter of 2015/2016, 
delivered through health and safety briefings, site-wide poster campaigns and via the health and 
safety website.

Table 9
UH Bristol 
score 2015

Average (median) 
score for acute 
trusts  2015 

UH Bristol 
score 2014

Percentage of staff witnessing potentially 
harmful errors, near misses or incidents 
in the last month

34%
Highest 
(worst) 20%

31% 39%
Highest 
(worst) 20%

Percentage of staff stating that they or a 
colleague had reported potentially 
harmful errors, near misses or incidents 
in the last month

90%
(average)

90% 91%
(average)

The Trust’s values (respecting everyone, embracing change, recognising success and working 
together) embody not only how we expect staff to treat patients, but how they can themselves 
expect to be treated. Mindful of this, the Trust is paying particular attention to the staff survey 
findings about harassment and bullying and equal opportunities for career progression. As 
required by the workforce race equality standard, these results are split between white and 
black and minority ethnic (BME) staff.

Table 10
UH Bristol in 
2015

Average 
(median) for 
acute trusts

UH Bristol 
in 2014

White 25% 25% 26%Percentage of staff experiencing 
harassment, bullying or abuse 
from staff in the last 12 months

BME 34% 28% 40%

Percentage of staff believing that 
the organisation provides equal 
opportunities for career 
progression or promotion

White 89% 89% 90%

24 In the NHS Staff Survey, Trusts receive a score out of a maximum of five points for each question.  This score equals 
the average response given by their staff on a scale of 1-5, where 5 means that they ‘strongly agreed’ with the 
statement “If a friend or relative needed treatment I would be happy with the standard of care provided by this 
organisation”.  The mandatory indicator in Table 4 is made available by the National NHS Staff Survey Co-ordination 
Centre and analyses the same data in a different way; in this instance the indicator measures the percentage of staff 
who said that they either ‘agreed’ or ‘strongly agreed’ with the statement, “If a friend or relative needed treatment I 
would be happy with the standard of care provided by this organisation”. 

Page 81



71

BME 73% 75% 63%

Following the 2014 survey results, the Trust embarked on an extensive staff experience plan, 
including an appraisal improvement project, increased involvement of staff in the 
transformation of services, staff listening events, and the implementation of a number of health 
and wellbeing initiatives with a particular focus on work related stress.  These have seen 
improved results in staff recommending the Trust as a place to work, staff satisfaction with their 
level of responsibility and involvement, and a reduction in the percentage of staff suffering 
work-related stress in the last 12 months. Whilst these are all positive results, the Trust 
recognises that significant improvement is still required. Building on last year’s engagement 
activities, we will continue to focus on staff satisfaction with the quality of work and patient care 
they are able to deliver, effective team work and actions to tackle harassment and bullying. The 
Trust’s Speaking Out policy has undergone substantial revision in response to recommendations 
from the Francis Freedom to Speak Up review and has been available to staff since November 
2015. A major re-launch and awareness raising campaign will take place in April 2016.     

Note:  To meet the needs of participating organisations and associated bodies, the 
questionnaire, Key Findings and benchmarking groups all underwent substantial revisions for 
2015. The NHS Staff Survey Co-ordination Body has therefore recommended that the results of 
certain Key Findings are not comparable with results from 2014. This includes these two 
indicators, reported on in 2014: Percentage of staff feeling satisfied with the quality of work and 
patient care they are able to deliver, and, Percentage of staff agreeing that their role makes a 
difference to patients. For information, the Trust’s scores for these indicators remain in the 
lowest (worst) 20 per cent and below (worse than) average, respectively, when compared with 
all acute trusts in 2015. It is further recommended that comparisons are only made between 
data which appears in the same report (for example, 2014 data included in the 2015 report); the 
Trust has therefore not included comparisons with data from years prior to 2014 in this year’s 
report.

3.2.6 Carers strategy

Our governors have requested the inclusion of an update on the ongoing implementation of our 
carers strategy. 

A carer is someone who provides unpaid help and support to another person who could not 
cope without their help; this could be due to age, physical or mental illness, disability or 
addiction. A carer may be a partner, child, relative, friend or neighbour. Carers can also be of 
any age; for example, it might be a young carer who cares for a parent or sibling, or a parent 
carer of a disabled child. A carer is not necessarily the closest relative of a patient or their next 
of kin. A carer often does not realise that they are a carer and can struggle to tell someone they 
are finding it difficult to cope.  

During 2015/16, we have updated our joint carers charter with North Bristol NHS Trust to reflect 
our ongoing support for, and commitment to, carers and their rights (including recent changes 
to legislation). The charter was re-launched on 20th November 2015, Carers’ Rights Day.

Over the past 12 months, key developments in identifying and supporting carers have included a 
focus on young carers, including:

 the production of a young carers’ hospital leaflet to support the work of improving the 
identification, support and information for young carers (adapted from the original 

Page 82



72

leaflet ‘Is This You?’ used at GP surgeries by the GP team from the Carers Support 
Centre)

 the creation of a young carers’ ‘Hospital experience’ training film clip, designed to 
support hospital staff in understanding what the issues and needs for young carers are 
and what difficulties they face in hospitals

 ongoing work to create a young carers’ identity card, which would be recognised across 
both Trusts. 

Elsewhere, a carer liaison service has been established at South Bristol Community Hospital and 
our hospital admissions paperwork has been updated to include questions that are carer-
related: the forms ask whether the patient has a carer and, if so, staff are prompted to consider 
whether referral to the carer liaison worker is appropriate. 

In 2015/16, the carers liaison workers have continued to support carers by:

 signposting carers to alternative support services e.g. Samaritans, Mindline, Bristol 
Stroke Society, Cancer Information & Support Centre, St Peter’s Hospice and Red Cross

 informing carers of their rights and referring carers for carers assessments
 providing advice on benefits and how to access social services
 attending discharge planning meetings
 explaining hospital processes and procedures to carers 
 liaising with hospital staff and social workers around discharge planning
 meeting Trust staff to discuss the ‘discharge to access’ scheme.

The Trust’s carers strategy steering group continues to have good engagement from staff across 
the Trust and benefits from carer governor representation bringing issues to discuss and actions 
to address. A carer reference group continues to review any new documentation and brings 
issues for onward discussion at the strategy steering group. We also continue to work with the 
Carers Support Centre (a local third sector organisation) in the delivery of our carers’ support 
programme. The Trust’s carers’ liaison worker team has expanded to three members of staff 
who follow up referrals from both Trusts providing five day cover, responding to carers and their 
needs in a timely manner.

Looking ahead to 2016/17, we will be:

 working with the South Bristol Community Hospital to embed the systems and processes 
there and develop new services including a potential ‘stroke café’

 progressing our young carers work, as described above
 raising the profile, identification and support for BME carers across the trusts
 introducing a locally recognised carers logo across both Trusts
 developing a comfort box25 for carers and exploring the use of lanyards as another way of 

identifying carers
 training our volunteers to identify, support and refer carers to the carers liaison service
 exploring the purchase of chairs that convert into beds at the bedside of patients where 

carers wish to stay.
 supporting Trust employees who are carers.

The case study below provides an example of the difference that our Carer Liaison Service 
makes:
25 A comfort box is a pre-prepared box of items that will enhance the stay of a carer during their time with 
us which includes tissues, wipes, flask, tea/coffee/biscuits and other comfort items to support their 
protracted stay on the wards

Page 83



73

                   

3.2.7 End of life care

This report on end of life care has been included at the request of our governors. 

The Trust takes the care of patients approaching the end of life, and care in the last few days of 
life very seriously. We have an executive director with special responsibility for end of life care 
(Carolyn Mills, chief nurse), a consultant end of life lead (Karen Forbes, consultant in palliative 
medicine) and an end of life steering group chaired by the deputy chief nurse (Helen Morgan) 
which reports to the Trust Board. End of life care is viewed within the Trust as everyone’s 
business, since patients will die in ward and care areas of all of its hospitals, however the Trust’s 
supportive and palliative care team (SPCT) lead on service improvement work to ensure current 
high standards of care and to develop these further, delivered through the Trust’s end of life 
steering group to all divisions. The Trust’s privacy and dignity group links closely with the end of 
life steering group.

The Trust uses the pathway indicated in the Department of Health’s end of life care strategy 
(2008) which suggests that ‘end of life care’ should encompass the last 6-12 months of life and 
have particular recognition or action points along this ‘pathway’: recognition that the patient is 
dying; assessment, care planning and review; coordination of care; delivery of high quality care; 
care in the last days of life; care after death.

SPCT staff are involved in ongoing work to improve care around recognition, care planning and 
review, and coordination of care through specific initiatives:

Mrs A contacted the carer liaison worker during her husband’s admission to hospital.  Her 
husband had dementia and some other conditions that were making caring for him at 
home increasingly difficult. He could no longer do very much or make decisions for 
himself. Mrs A felt she could no longer look after Mr A at home as it was impacting on her 
life and health. 

Mrs A and the carer liaison worker talked about the situation in detail including her rights 
as a carer and her realisation that she was unable to continue her caring role and the 
feelings and emotions that accompany such a decision. We put together a list of her 
concerns and why she felt that she could no longer care. The carer liaison worker found 
out who the social worker for the patient was and made Mrs A’s concerns clear. The carer 
liaison worker encouraged the social worker to speak directly to the carer. The carer 
liaison worker also encouraged the carer to be clear about her worries and concerns with 
the hospital staff and social worker. The carer liaison worker also came along to some of 
these meetings to support the carer.

Although it was a difficult choice for Mrs A, a decision was made that Mr A should move 
to residential care. The carer liaison worker supported Mrs A by providing information 
about funding for care homes, and information and inspection reports about each of the 
homes offered. Following her husband’s move, the carer liaison worker contacted Mrs A 
to see how she was and to let her know about other services available to support her 
now her caring role had come to an end. 

A case study written by the hospital carer liaison worker

Page 84



74

 encouraging teams to recognise when their patients with long term conditions may be 
entering the last 6-12 months of life

 helping with the development of the advanced communication skills needed to talk to 
patients and their carers about poor prognosis and to review their expectations and 
wishes for future care

 facilitating communication with community services through the development of a 
‘poor prognosis letter’ which is sent to the patient’s GP. 

The SPCT has been involved in the introduction of the Trust’s treatment escalation personalised 
plan which helps teams record conversations with patients about what care they should or 
should not receive should they deteriorate. When a patient is recognised as dying, the patient’s 
care is reviewed and led by the Trust’s end of life care tool, which contains:

 a series of prompts for medical and nursing staff to review and prioritise the patient and 
carers’ needs

 guidance for prescribing for junior doctors to ensure that patients have access to 
medication to control common symptoms at the end of life

 a symptom observation chart so that patients’ comfort continues to be monitored and 
recorded.  

All staff are committed to patients’ comfort, privacy and dignity at the end of life. The move of 
most wards into new builds or refurbished areas of the Trust has provided far more patients 
with single rooms when they are dying, should they wish for them. The palliative care team and 
end of life lead nurses provide support to colleagues in recognising when patients should be 
referred to the team and providing high quality end of life care. This support is provided through 
training ward end of life nurse champions and ward and Trust-based education. Work is ongoing 
within the Trust around supporting carers (also see section 3.2.6), including open visiting when a 
patient is dying, access to family rooms and chaplaincy support, and the provision of carer 
‘comfort boxes’ containing toiletries, drinks, etc.

The Trust performed above (better than) the national average in the majority of indicators for 
end of life care in the recent national care of the dying audit which examined the care 
documented in the notes of patients who had died during May 2015. 85 per cent of UH Bristol 
patients had a holistic individualised plan of care documented (national average 66 per cent). 
Patients’ common end of life symptoms were controlled 83-96 percent of the time, depending 
on the symptom, in comparison with 55-79 per cent of the time for other participating hospitals. 
In 80 percent of cases, the fact that the patient was likely to die was discussed with a carer (79 
percent nationally); in 97 percent of cases the patient had an opportunity to have their concerns 
listened to (84 per cent nationally) and in 64 per cent of cases the needs of the person(s) 
important to the patient were asked about (56 per cent nationally). We are encouraged by these 
results which validate our current approach. There is always room for improvement however 
and we continue to develop initiatives to maintain and enhance high quality end of life care 
within the Trust for patients and their carers.  

Page 85



75

3.3 Clinical Effectiveness 

We will ensure that the each patient receives the right care, according to scientific knowledge 
and evidence-based assessment, at the right time in the right place, with the best outcome. 

3.3.1 Dementia

Dementia is an umbrella term for a set of symptoms that may describe memory loss, difficulties 
with thinking, language and problem solving. It is a progressive and terminal condition. Currently 
nearly 80,000 people in the South West are affected, with this expected to increase significantly 
over the next twenty years (Alzheimer’s Society, 2015). Figure 28 demonstrates that increasing 
numbers of patients with a confirmed diagnosis of dementia have been admitted to UH Bristol’s 
hospitals since 2012 (2,035 patients in 2015/16).

Figure 28

Source: UH Bristol Medway system

The Trust has achieved the National Dementia CQUIN for this year (also see section 2.2.4). This 
has been achieved through the hard work of our divisional teams, dementia project nurse and 
dementia support worker. 

Education and training remains high on our agenda. All staff and volunteers undertake a 
dementia awareness session at their corporate induction; the materials we use in this training 
are reviewed each quarter to ensure the guidance continually reflects best practice. The lead 
practitioner and dementia team continue to provide bespoke training sessions for clinical teams, 
ward team away days, and also for individuals. 

As of the end of 2015/16, there are 121 dementia champions in place across the Trust: these are 
staff who act as advocates for patients with dementia and their carers. Our dementia champions 
come from a variety of clinical and non-clinical backgrounds, but all share the common goal of 
improving care for patients with dementia.

We are committed to supporting carers of people with dementia. We actively promote and 
support ‘John’s Campaign’ for carers to have the same rights as parents of children in hospital. 

Page 86



76

This campaign encourages carers to visit their loved ones at any time of the day, remaining with 
them for as long as they wish. Involving a family carer from the moment of admission to hospital 
until the moment of discharge has been proved to give better quality of care and improved 
outcomes. Hospital staff are professionals with a wide, generalised knowledge, however the 
family carer is the ‘expert’ for each individual: if they are accepted as part of the care team they 
can provide insight, facilitate communication (and informed consent) and ensure continuity of 
care. This includes the right of the carer to continue to provide care in hospital and access to 
open visiting if this is desired.

Our dementia support café opened in August 2015. The café takes place twice a month, in the 
restaurant of the Bristol Royal Infirmary. Anyone can attend (patients, carers or staff) to get 
information about dementia, seek support or to just have an informal chat over a cup of tea. 
The Trust dementia team lead the café, with support from the carer’s liaison worker and a 
dementia navigator from the Bristol Dementia Well-Being service. 

When the Care Quality Commission inspected the Trust in September 2014, they identified that 
the Abbey Pain Scale needed to be used for people with cognitive impairment who cannot 
communicate their needs. We continue to work to embed this tool into practice to ensure its 
consistent use. The CQC also highlighted the need for regular review to ensure that the needs of 
dementia patients are being met – we are achieving this via monthly and annual audits, with 
appropriate action plans to improve practice where gaps are identified. 

The following patient engagement and experience projects for dementia have been developed 
during 2015/16:

 activity boxes which include games, reminiscence cards and painting have been 
introduced in two pilot sites (a general medicine ward and a trauma and orthopaedic 
ward)

 a trial of the use of iPad technology for patients with dementia, funded by the Trust’s 
Above & Beyond charity (‘Alive!’, a Bristol-based charity, has provided training for this 
initiative, which uses music, film clips and Skype to help keep patients connected to 
their normal routines and family). 

One of the Trust’s corporate quality objectives for 2015/16 has been to minimise unnecessary 
patient moves within our hospitals. This is particularly important for patients with dementia, as 
moves can add to confusion and disorientation, and is supported by Standard 4 of the South 
West Strategic Health Authority Dementia Action Plan. We therefore consciously aim not to 
move patients with a cognitive impairment for non-clinical reasons between the hours of 8pm 
and 8am. In our “transfer” audit in December 2015, we achieved 92 per cent which is above 
(better than) our local target of 90 per cent. 

The examples of feedback given above underline the fact that whilst we have made 
considerable progress, there is still much to do. The involvement of the dementia clinical leads 
in the design of the new build at the Bristol Royal Infirmary and refurbishment of wards has 
helped ensure they are environmentally friendly areas for people with dementia. This work will 
continue into the next phase of our redevelopment work: the refurbishment of out-patient 
services. Other plans for improving dementia care in 2016/17 include:

 Working jointly with other agencies to run focus groups for patients with dementia and 
their carers to identify their needs, ideas for improving care

 Creating a UH Bristol specific e-learning package for staff

Page 87



77

 Opening up the dementia champions’ conference – run jointly by UH Bristol and North 
Bristol NHS Trust – to the wider Bristol health community, to share good practice and 
learning across the Dementia pathway.

3.3.2 Summary Hospital-Level Mortality Indicator (SHMI)
(Mandatory indicator)

The Summary Hospital-Level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) is a measure of all deaths in hospital, 
plus those deaths occurring within 30 days after discharge from hospital. It should be noted that 
SMHI does not provide definitive answers: rather it poses questions which trusts have a duty to 
investigate. In simple terms, the SHMI ‘norm’ is a score of 100 – so scores of less than 100 are 
indicative of trusts with lower than average mortality. In Figure 29, the blue vertical bars are UH 
Bristol data, the green solid line is the median for all trusts, and the dashed red lines are the 
upper and lower quartiles. The graph shows that patient mortality at UH Bristol, as measured 
using SHMI, is consistently lower than the national norm. The most recent comparative data 
available to us at the time of writing is for the period April 2014 to March 2015 and shows the 
Trust as having a SHMI of 98.3. 

The Trust considers its SHMI data is as described because of the data quality checks that are 
undertaken, as detailed in the Trust’s data quality framework (full details are available upon 
request). This includes data quality and completeness checks carried out by the Trust’s IM&T 
systems team. SHMI dated is governed by national definitions. 

3.3.3 Adult Cardiac Surgery Outcomes

The Bristol Heart Institute is one of the largest centres for cardiac surgery in the United 
Kingdom. The centre currently performs approximately 1,500 procedures per annum. The Trust 
has supported a cardiac surgical database for more than 20 years which now contains 
information relating to clinical outcomes for more than 26,500 patients. This is an extremely 
valuable resource for research and audit, service planning and quality assurance.  

Feedback about dementia care received via our monthly carers’ survey:


“Happy with staff and they are speedy, have a laugh and take the time to speak with 
the patients” 
“I couldn't fault any of the staff at any level. Extremely clean - saw cleaning auditor 
come around. Doctors approached family as did social work and have felt supported”
“Always someone walking with patient which helps with his anxiety”


“X wishes there were more activities on the ward - has been bored.”
“Frustrated at repeating situation and still not knowing what’s happening next, feels 
out of control. Hard to keep track of who knows what about his situation.” 
“Ward move was 'sprung' on the patient and really upset her, increased anxiety and 
upset”
“Staff need to be reminded the person they see now isn't the person they were”

Page 88



78

Figure 29 - Summary Hospital-Level Mortality Indicator (SHMI)

Source: CHKS benchmarking

P
age 89



79

Figure 30

Source: Central Cardiac Audit Database / Patient Analysis Tracking System

P
age 90



80

In general, our adult cardiac outcomes measured in terms of mortality have been better than 
the UK average for all procedures. Figure 30 shows a pattern of relatively static activity and a 
crude mortality rate which is below the national average. 

Cardiac surgical outcomes data is collected and analysed under the auspices of the National 
Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research (NICOR) at University College London. The data 
is analysed and presented in association with the Society for Cardiothoracic Surgery of Great 
Britain and Ireland (SCTS) and fed back to the individual participating centres 
(http://scts.org/patients/hospitals/centre.aspx?id=27&name=bristol_heart_institute) using 
national contemporary comparators. More detailed analysis of the 2015/2016 data is currently 
awaited from the NICOR/SCTS collaboration to enable us to benchmark our performance further 
against other centres in the UK.

3.3.4 Paediatric Cardiac Surgery Outcomes

The Bristol Royal Hospital for Children (BRHC) provides a congenital cardiac service to the whole 
of the South West of England and South Wales, serving a population of 5.5 million people.  It 
functions as a network with the specialist cardiology centre at University Hospital of Wales in 
Cardiff and its Welsh consultants providing sessions in BRHC. Following recommendations from 
a national review of congenital cardiac services the Trust has decided to manage the area as a 
formal network; the manager and clinical director have recently been appointed. This will 
enable effective integration, both clinically and from a governance perspective, of the 19 
centres (nine in South West England, and ten through our Cardiff partnership) in the area we 
serve, allowing us to provide cardiology care closer to where patients live.

The number of paediatric cardiac cases performed at BRHC has increased over the last year by 
approximately 12 per cent to 365. This is in large part due to an increase in theatre capacity with 
an extra operating day per week. Crude 30-day survival following cardiac surgery in our unit has 
continued to improve and in 2015/16 was 98.9 per cent; this is well within expected limits. 
Crude survival is however a very coarse demonstration of the quality of outcomes because 
children born with congenital heart disease frequently have associated co-morbidities that 
influence their clinical outcome as much as the cardiac defect. Consequently, as risk profiles vary 
between centres, direct comparison between units is inappropriate. Using risk-stratification 
statistical analysis that has been developed by NICOR (PRAiS), more sophisticated analysis of the 
outcomes following surgery at BRCH has been possible, allowing us to monitor our results in real 
time and demonstrate a progressive improvement in our outcomes. Figure 31 shows verified 
NICOR data for the three year period April 2012 to March 2015 (i.e. the most recent reporting 
period available). This compares very favourably with data from the other centres in the 
country.

The independent review into paediatric cardiac services in Bristol announced in February 2014 
by Professor Sir Bruce Keogh, medical director of NHS England following some complaints from 
parents, is drawing to its conclusion. The Trust welcomes the ongoing review and the 
opportunity the review insights will afford the Trust to further improve our care to children and 
their families. We recognise that for some families they have lost trust and confidence in the 

What patients said in our monthly survey:

“I received great care from the moment we dialled 999 until I was discharged.”

Page 91

http://scts.org/patients/hospitals/centre.aspx?id=27&name=bristol_heart_institute


81

service and we hope the review findings and the Trust’s response to them will go some way to 
restoring this position. We recognise that treating children with congenital heart disease is 
about more than just managing their clinical condition – it’s also about supporting and preparing 
families for procedures and giving them all the information they need. Since 2014, we have held 
a number of patient engagement events that we have called ‘listening events’ so that we can 
learn directly from parents and young people about what we can do to help and support them 
better through a very stressful time in their lives. Initial discussions led to us rewriting 
information sheets and redesigning our website. More recently, we focused on the issue of 
consent for treatment to find out if parents and patients have enough information in a form 
that’s accessible to them. This has led to us redesigning this part of our care pathway and at the 
last event we received very positive feedback that the steps we have taken are meeting the 
needs of families. Our new approach has since been shared at a national meeting as a model 
that other centres can learn from. 

The Trust welcomes feedback and families. Our Trust’s monthly survey shows that in 2015/16, 
100 per cent of parents (of children up to 11 years old) and children (aged 12 and above) rated 
their overall experience of care on ward 3226 good, very good or excellent27.

Figure 31

Table 11

26 Ward 32 is a 16 bedded unit at BRHC where patients between the ages of 0-18 are admitted for investigation, 
assessment and treatment of cardiac conditions or for management of other conditions, which may impact on their 
cardiac status.
27 UH Bristol inpatient experience survey for the 12 month period up to and including February 2016

What patients said in our monthly survey:

“I was kept informed about what was going to happen and the doctor was coming in and 
explaining everything. The nurses were coming in and checking to see if I was OK. I think 
my stay was very good.”

Bristol Royal Hospital for Children

Page 92



82

3.3.5 Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs)
(Mandatory indicator)

Since 2009, Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) have been collected by all NHS 
providers for four common elective surgical procedures: groin hernia surgery, hip replacement, 
knee replacement and varicose vein surgery. One these procedures - groin hernia surgery is 
carried out at the Bristol Royal Infirmary.

PROMs comprise questionnaires completed by patients before and after surgery to record their 
health status. For hernia surgery, outcomes are measured in two ways; a tool called the ‘EQ-5D 
index’ asks patients questions about things like mobility, activities and pain levels; and patients 
also rate their health on a scale of 0-100 using a ‘visual analogue scale’ (VAS). The Trust follows 
nationally determined PROM methodology and outsources administration to an approved 
contractor.  
 
The most recent full-year data available from the NHS Health and Social Care Information Centre 
(HSCIC) is for 2014/15. Although provisional, this shows that 25 patients returned groin hernia 
PROM questionnaires in this time period, 72 per cent of whom (18/25) scored more highly on 
the EQ-5D index after surgery than before (i.e. the surgical procedure had resulted in an 
improvement); this compares with 50.7 per cent in England (10,304/20,312). 22 patients 
completed and returned the EQ VAS section of the PROMs questionnaire.  45.5 per cent (10/22) 
of UH Bristol patients scored more highly on the EQ-VAS scale after surgery than before; this 
compares with 38.1 per cent (7,980/20,951) in England.

The latest unpublished participation figures from the HSCIC for 2015/16 (as at February 2016) 
show that 42.4 per cent of patients returned the pre-operative questionnaire (64/151); this 
compares with 57.3 per cent (36,356/63,472) nationally.  To enable a change in healthcare 
status to be measured, patients must also return a post-operative questionnaire.  Latest figures 
show that 51.3 per cent (20/39) of UH Bristol patients have done so; this compares to 53.5 per 
cent (13,889/25,974) nationally.  

3.3.6 Hip fracture best practice tariff

Best Practice Tariffs (BPTs) help the NHS to improve quality by reducing unexplained variation 
between providers and universalising best practice. Best practice is defined as care that is both 
clinical and cost effective. To achieve the BPT for hip fractures, trusts are required to meet eight 
indicators of quality as recorded in the national hip fracture database. The indicators are: 

 surgery within 36 hours from admission to hospital
 ortho-geriatric review within 72 hours of admission to hospital
 joint care of patients under a trauma and orthopaedics consultant and ortho-geriatrician 

consultant 
 completion of a joint assessment proforma
 multi-disciplinary team (MDT) rehabilitation led by an ortho-geriatrician
 falls assessment
 bone health assessment
 abbreviated mental test done on admission and pre-discharge.

Overall performance for 2015/16 is 68 per cent, compared to the national average of 61.8 per 
cent (see Figure 32). The Trust has historically struggled to achieve the BPT due to poor 
performance against the indicators relating to time to theatre and ortho-geriatric review, 
despite consistently achieving over 90 percent for the other six indicators.

Page 93



83

Recent improvement work has included the implementation of a ‘live’ trauma board to help 
focus on prioritisation of patients and increased staffing in theatres and within the ortho-
geriatric team. Delivering BPT continues to be a challenge however: a key priority for 2016/17 is 
to move towards an integrated model of care. This includes our ongoing efforts to recruit middle 
grade ortho-geriatric doctors, of which there is a national shortage.

To help us better understand how we can improve hip fracture care at UH Bristol, the Trust has 
also invited a multidisciplinary team from the British Orthopaedic Association to assess our 
current service and review all aspects of care against National Hip Fracture Database Best 
Practice.     

Figure 32

  Care meets BPT % (local)    Care meets BPT % (national)

Source: National Hip Fracture Database 

3.3.7 Consultant Outcomes Programme

Consultant Outcomes Publication (COP) is an NHS England initiative, managed by the Healthcare 
Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP), to publish quality measures at the level of individual 
consultant doctors using National Clinical Audit and administrative data. COP began with ten 
National Clinical Audits in 2013, with two further audits/registries added in 2014. Those that 
published in the inaugural year have continued to build on and develop the number of 
procedures and quality measures covered including team-based or hospital measures.

The table below shows the medical specialties/societies that reported consultant outcomes 
within 2015/16 and whether the Trust submitted data to the required national audit/registry. 

Table 12
Specialty Clinical audit/registry title Specialist Association Submitted
Adult cardiac 
surgery

National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit
Open heart surgery 

Society for Cardiothoracic Surgery Yes

Bariatric surgery National Bariatric Surgery Register
Surgery concerning the causes, prevention and 
treatment of obesity

British Obesity & Metabolic Surgery 
Society 

N/A

Colorectal surgery National Bowel Cancer Audit Programme
Surgery relating to the last part of the digestive 
system

The Association of Coloproctology 
of Great Britain and Ireland 

Yes

Page 94



84

Thyroid and 
endocrine surgery

BAETS national audit
Surgery on the endocrine glands to achieve a 
hormonal or anti-hormonal effect in the body 

British Association of Endocrine and 
Thyroid Surgeons 

Yes

Head and neck 
surgery

National Head and Neck Cancer Audit 
Surgery concerning the treatment of head and 
neck cancer

British Association of Head and 
Neck Oncology 

Yes

Interventional 
cardiology

Adult Coronary Interventions
Treatment of heart disease with minimally 
invasive catheter based treatments 

British Cardiovascular Intervention 
Society 

Yes

Lung cancer National Lung Cancer Audit
Treatment of lung cancer through surgery, 
radiotherapy, and chemotherapy 

British Thoracic Society and SCTS Yes

Neurosurgery National Neurosurgery Audit Programme Society of British Neurological 
Surgeons

Yes

Orthopaedic 
surgery

National Joint Registry 
Joint replacement surgery for conditions 
affecting the musculoskeletal system 

British Orthopaedic Association Yes

Upper gastro-
intestinal surgery

National Oesophago-Gastric Cancer Audit
Surgery relating to the stomach and intestine

Association of Upper-
gastrointestinal Surgeons 

Yes

Urological surgery BAUS cancer registry
Surgery relating to the urinary tracts

British Association of Urological 
Surgeons 

N/A

Vascular surgery National Vascular Registry 
Surgery relating to the circulatory system

Vascular Society of great Britain 
and Ireland 

N/A

All data can be found on the individual association websites and is also published on NHS 
Choices (MyNHS). No UH Bristol consultants have been identified as an ‘outlier’ within these 
published outcomes.

3.3.8 28 day readmissions
(Mandatory indicator)

The need for a patient to be readmitted to hospital following discharge can sometimes be 
an indicator of the effectiveness of a clinical intervention. The Trust monitors the level of 
emergency readmissions within 30 days of discharge from hospital. Readmission within 30 
days is used as the measure, rather than 28 days, to be consistent with payment by result 
rules and contractual requirements. . The level of emergency readmissions within 30 days 
of a previous discharge from hospital was marginally higher in 2015/16 than in the 
previous year (2.86 per cent in 2015/16 compared to 2.80 per cent in 2014/15 – both 
figures quoted year to date March to February). Previous audits have found that a high 
proportion of emergency readmissions to the Trust are unrelated to the original admission 
to hospital. For this reason it is difficult to interpret any changes in readmission rates at a 
Trust level. The Trust, via the work of its quality intelligence group, continues to review the 
reasons behind any specialty being an outlier from its clinical peer with regards to levels of 
emergency readmission. Where a specialty is at or above the readmission rate of the top 
25 per cent of Trusts in the clinical peer group, a formal review process is instigated. This 
includes a review of the clinical coding and admission classification of the cases in the 
period for which the specialty is shown to be an outlier, and then progresses to a notes 
review by an appropriate clinician if the specialty remains an outlier with any corrections to 
the coding or classification applied.

The most recent national risk adjusted data (2011/12) for the 28-day emergency ‘indirectly 
standardised’ readmission rates for patients aged 16 years and above, shows the Trust to 

Page 95



85

be better than average within its peer group (acute teaching Trusts). Of the 23 acute 
teaching Trusts for which data is available, the Trust is ranked sixth best (i.e. the sixth 
lowest readmission rate), with an indirectly standardised emergency readmission rate of 
11.15 per cent compared with the median for the group of 11.87 per cent (lower and 
upper confidence intervals of 10.80 per cent and 11.51 per cent respectively). For patients 
under the age of 16, the Trust has a standardised readmission rate of 7.8 per cent, which is 
lower (i.e. better) than the national median readmission rate of 8.4 per cent, despite the 
Trust’s case-mix being biased towards the more complex cases. The readmission rates for 
both age groups are significantly lower than that of the previous reported year, with the 
readmission rate for patients aged 16 years and over dropping from 11.93 per cent in 
2010/11 to 11.15 per cent in 2011/12, and from 8.2 per cent in 2010/11 for patients under 
the age of 16 to 7.8 per cent in 2011/12.

The Trust considers its readmission data is robust because of the data quality checks that 
are undertaken, as detailed in the Trust’s data quality framework. These include checks on 
the completeness and quality of the clinic coding, checks conducted of the classification of 
admission types and lengths of stay as recorded on the patient administration system, and 
the reviews undertaken of the data quality returns on the commissioning data sets 
received from the secondary uses service.

3.3.9 Seven day services

A report on seven day services has been included this year at the request of our governors. 

In 2013, the NHS Services Seven Days a Week Forum developed ten clinical standards describing 
the minimum level of service that hospital patients admitted through urgent and emergency 
routes should expect to receive on every day of the week. 

Following discussions between NHS England and the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges, the 
following four standards have been identified as having the greatest potential impact on 
reducing weekend mortality and have therefore become the immediate focus for improvement 
across the NHS. These are:

 Standard 2: time to consultant review
 Standard 5: access to diagnostics
 Standard 6: access to consultant-directed Interventions28

 Standard 8: on-going review

At the end of July 2015, NHS providers were asked to support the establishment of a robust 
baseline showing the extent to which these standards are being met nationally, by completing 
the online NHS Improving Quality Seven Day Service Self-Assessment Tool.  Self-assessment was 
carried out via audit of case-notes and completion of specific questions relating to the operation 
of diagnostic services. Trust performance again the measures published by NHS England are 
outlined below.

28 Defined by NHS England as Critical Care, Percutaneous Coronary Intervention (PCI), Cardiac Pacing, Thrombolysis, 
Emergency Surgery, Interventional Endoscopy, Interventional Radiology, Renal Replacement Therapy and Urgent 
Radiotherapy. 

Page 96



86

Table 13
2 5 6 8Standard

 Inpatients seen 
by a consultant 
within 14 hours

Diagnostic 
services 
available seven 
days per week

Interventional 
services available 
seven days per 
week

Ongoing review 
of patients by 
consultants

University 
Hospitals Bristol 
NHS Foundation 
Trust 

5 out of 10
specialties 
reported that 
patients are 
seen within 14 
hours 90 per 
cent or more of 
the time

11 out of 14
diagnostic 
services are 
available seven 
days per week

7 out of 9
consultant- 
directed 
interventions are 
available seven 
days per week

6 out of 13
relevant clinical 
areas reported 
that patients 
receive a review 
by consultants at 
appropriate 
intervals

  
During 2016/17, in order to improve performance against these standards, consultant cover will 
be increased within surgical specialties so that more patients are reviewed within 14 hours, 
seven days of the week. Work is also underway to increase staffing capacity within the Trust’s 
interventional radiology service to help ensure that key diagnostic services are available seven 
days a week.      

The Trust is currently in the process of submitting data for the second round of assessment; 
results are expected to be published in May 2016. 

Page 97



87

3.4 Performance against national priorities and access standards 

3.4.1 Overview

In its 2015/16 operational plan, the Trust declared risks to five of the standards against NHS 
Improvement’s risk assessment framework. The five standards (with the service performance 
score shown in brackets) not forecast to be achieved in one or more quarters were as follows: 

 A&E 4-hour waiting standard (1); 
 62-day GP and 62-day screening cancer standard (combined score of 1);
 RTT non-admitted pathways standard (1);
 RTT admitted pathways standard (1); and
 RTT incomplete/ongoing pathways standard (no score - RTT standards failure capped at 

2).

Table 14 below shows the planned performance against those standards not expected to be 
achieved in 2015/16, as declared in the 2015/16 annual plan, along with the actual reported 
performance for the quarter. Please note that the RTT admitted and RTT non-admitted pathway 
standards were removed from NHS Improvement’s risk assessment framework during quarter 
one in 2015/16 and for this reason are not shown in the reported position for any quarters.

Table 14: Performance against access standards in 2015/16
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Standards 
not forecast 
to be met

RTT non-
admitted
RTT admitted
RTT incomplete
62-day GP cancer
62-day screening 
cancer

RTT non-
admitted
RTT admitted
RTT incomplete
62-day GP cancer
62-day screening 
cancer

RTT non-
admitted
RTT admitted
62-day GP cancer
62-day screening 
cancer

RTT admitted
A&E 4-hours
62-day GP cancer
62-day screening 
cancer

Forecast 
score 3 3 3 3
Standards 
declared not 
met in the 
quarter

RTT incomplete
A&E 4-hours
62-day GP cancer
62-day screening 
cancer

RTT incomplete
A&E 4-hours
62-day GP cancer
62-day screening 
cancer

RTT incomplete
A&E 4-hours
62-day GP cancer
62-day screening 
cancer

A&E 4-hours
62-day GP cancer
62-day screening 
cancer

Actual score 3 3 3 2

Governance 
Risk Rating

GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN29

Although annual performance against the access standards in 2015/16 was similar to that in 
2014/15, there were some notable improvements in performance across many of the national 
standards. These included: achievement of the 92 per cent referral to treatment (RTT) 
incomplete pathways standard at the end of March 2016, achievement of the 99 per cent 
national standard for the 6-week diagnostic wait for six of the last seven months of the year; 
and achievement of the 0.8 per cent national standard for cancellation of operations at last 
minute for non-clinical reasons, for two quarters in the year. 

29 To be confirmed  in June 2016

Page 98



88

The Trust achieved five of the seven core national cancer waiting times standards in every 
quarter of 2015/16. In addition, the aggregate annual performance for the 31-day first definitive 
and 31-day subsequent surgery standards showed an improvement on our 2014/15 
performance. The 62-day wait from referral to treatment for patients referred by their GP with a 
suspected cancer, was not achieved in 2015/16; the main reason for the failure to achieve the 
85 per cent national standard was the late receipt of referrals from other providers, with late 
referrals accounting for approximately 34 per cent of breaches each month. Performance for 
solely internally managed pathways was above 85 per cent in all quarters in 2015/16. The 62-
day wait from referral to treatment for patients referred from one of the national screening 
programmes failed to be achieved in any quarter of 2015/16; the main reason for the failure to 
achieve the 90 per cent standard was outside of the Trust’s control, further details of which can 
be found in the extended narrative about cancer performance below.

Disappointingly, the Trust failed to achieve maximum 4-hour wait in A&E for at least 95 per cent 
of patients in every quarter of the year. However, the Trust met three of the four other national 
A&E clinical quality indicators in the period. The level of ambulance hand-over delays was also 
lower than in 2014/15, despite increasing pressure on the Trust’s Emergency Departments. 

Performance against the primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) heart 
revascularisation 90-minute door to balloon standard remained strong in 2015/16 and above 
the 90 per cent standard for each quarter of the year.

The Trust received performance notices from Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for the 
areas of performance where national and constitutional standards were not being met. This 
included the RTT incomplete pathways standard, 62-day GP cancer, A&E 4-hours, last-minute 
cancelled operations, the six-week diagnostic standard and ambulance hand-over delays. 
Remedial action plans and associated recovery trajectories were agreed. 

Full details of the Trust’s performance in 2015/16 compared with the previous two years are set 
out in Table 15 below. The table includes performance in controlling healthcare acquired 
infections which is described in detail in section 3.1.4 of this report; further information about 
28 day readmissions can be found in section 3.3.8; and extended commentary regarding the 18 
week RTT, A&E 4 hour, cancer and other key targets is provided below. 

3.4.2 18 weeks Referral to Treatment (RTT)

As planned, the Trust made significant progress during 2015/16 in reducing the number of 
patients waiting over 18 weeks from Referral to Treatment (RTT). Performance was restored to 
above the 92 per cent national standard at the end of March 2016. At the start of the year 3,339 
patients were waiting over 18 weeks for treatment. By the end of March 2016, the backlog of 
long waiters had dropped by 29 per cent to 2,397. More than half of this reduction related to 
patients waiting for an elective procedure, with the number of patients waiting over 18 weeks 
on an admitted pathway reducing from 1,513 at the end of March 2015 to 937 at the end of 
March 2016. Demand for outpatient appointments was above plan in 2015/16 for several of the 
high volume RTT specialties, resulting in slower progress being made during the first half of the 
year in reducing the number of patients waiting over 18 weeks on non-admitted pathways. The 
level of activity required to support ongoing achievement of the RTT incomplete pathways 
standard has been agreed with commissioners for 2016/17. 

Page 99



89

3.4.3 Accident & Emergency 4-hour maximum wait 

In 2015/16, the Trust failed to meet the national A&E standard for the percentage of patients 
discharged, admitted or transferred within four hours of arrival in our emergency departments. 
System pressures continued to be evident in 2015/16 with levels of emergency demand at the 
Bristol Royal Hospital for Children (BRHC) being significantly above plan for the majority of the 
year. During the first six months of 2015/16, levels of emergency admissions via the Bristol Royal 
Hospital for Children’s Hospital Emergency Department were 15.2 per cent above the same 
period in the previous year, reaching average 2014/15 winter levels in May and September. This 
increase in demand was a significant driver of the Trust’s underperformance against the 4-hour 
standard during the year. Work with our commissioners to understand the reason for the higher 
than expected levels of paediatric emergency demand continues. 

Following improvements early in 2015/16, the Trust experienced a significant increase during 
much of the year in the number of medically fit patients whose discharge from the Bristol Royal 
Infirmary (BRI) was delayed, with levels at their peak reaching more than double those seen at 
the start of the year. This was primarily due to a lack of sufficient domiciliary care packages as a 
result of providers taking time to reach their planned operating capacity, following the 
recommissioning of these services by Bristol City Council during quarter 2. An acute shortage of 
social workers also contributed to the increase in delayed discharges. 

Consistent with other parts of the country, the last quarter of the year has seen exceptional 
pressures on both the adult and paediatric Emergency Departments, with significant increases in 
emergency department attendances, emergency admissions and patient acuity leading to a 
significant deterioration in 4-hour performance. The combination of these system pressures on 
both the adult and paediatric emergency services led to the failure to achieve the 95 per cent 
A&E 4-hour standard in each quarter of 2015/16. 

3.4.4 Cancer

The Trust continued to perform well in 2015/16 against the majority of the national cancer 
waiting times standards, achieving the 2-week wait for GP referral for patients with a suspected 
cancer, the 31 day wait for first definitive treatment, and the three 31-day standards for 
subsequent treatment (i.e. surgery, drug therapy and radiotherapy) in each quarter in 2015/16. 
Despite the 62-day GP standard not being achieved in any quarter, performance against the 
standard improved over quarters 2 and 3, with the 85 per cent standard being met in December 
2015 for the first time since June 2014. The Trust achieved its improvement trajectory (monthly 
in quarter 3 and in aggregate for quarter 4), which was agreed as part of a national submission 
of 62-day GP cancer improvement plans in August 2015.

The Trust failed to achieve the 62-day referral to treatment standard for patients referred by 
their GP with a suspected cancer. The three top causes of breaches of the 62-day GP cancer 
standard were: late referrals from, or pathways delayed by, other providers (34 per cent), 
medical deferral/clinical diagnostic complexity (20 per cent), and delayed outpatient 
appointments (9 per cent). Delayed outpatient appointments featured as one of the top three 
causes of breaches of the 62-day GP standard in 2015/16. The main reasons for this were firstly, 
a capacity constraint within one particular service, which has now been sustainably addressed 
with the appointment of an additional consultant, and secondly a delayed step in an 
administrative process for another service, which has now been revised to minimise the 
likelihood of a delay. The main risks to other avoidable causes of pathway delays were 
addressed in 2015/16 through the development of ideal timescale pathways, with pathways 
being designed and pre-planned as far as possible around core pathway events such as multi-

Page 100



90

disciplinary team meetings. For some tumour sites this redesign work has taken a week out of 
the length of a 62-day GP pathway. 

Following the transfer-out to NBT of the high performing breast and urology cancer services, 
and the transfer in of the head and neck cancer service at the end of 2012/13, UH Bristol has a 
more complex portfolio of cancer services. In combination with increasing levels of breaches 
due to late referral by other providers, medical deferral and patient choice to delay pathways, 
consistent achievement of the 62-day standard continues to require performance significantly 
above the national average in most tumour sites. The Trust is expecting to continue to make 
improvements against the 62-day GP cancer waiting times standard in 2016/17 through the 
ideal timescale pathways which were implemented in the latter half of 2015/16. 

The Trust failed to achieve the 62-day referral to treatment standard for patients referred by the 
national screening programmes in 2015/16. In each quarter of 2015/16, the majority of the 
breaches of this standard were outside of the Trust’s control, including: patient choice, medical 
deferral and breaches at other providers following timely referral. Following the transfer-out of 
the Avon Breast Screening service, the majority of treatments the Trust reports under this 
standard are for bowel screening pathways, which nationally perform significantly below the 90 
per cent standard. This is largely due to high levels of patient choice to defer diagnostic tests, 
which continues to be the main cause of breaches of this standard for the Trust.

Page 101



91

Table 15 - Performance against national standards 

Ⓐ data subjected to external audit scrutiny as part of the process of producing this report

 Achieved for the year and each quarter  Achieved for the year, but not each quarter  Not achieved for the year  Target not in effect

30 Figures shown are up to and including March 2016 for all figures, except the cancer waiting times standards and primary PCI, which are up to February 2016.
31 The 15 minute standard was achieved in the Bristol Royal Infirmary Emergency Department, but due to a data quality/data capture issue for the Bristol Royal Hospital for Children (BRCH) that could 
not be resolved, was not achieved at a Trust level; local validation of figures provides assurance that the 15 minute standard is being met in the BRCH
32 Please note, the figures quoted for 2015/16 are the total number of cases reported. However, of these, nine were deemed to be potentially avoidable (up to the end of quarter 3 – quarter 4 still to 
be confirmed) against the limit of 45. For this reason this indicator is RAG rated Green.
33 IMPORTANT NOTE: this indicator must not be confused with the mandatory indicator reported elsewhere in this Quality Report which measures emergency readmissions to hospital within 28 days 
following a previous discharge

National standard 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
Target

2015/1630 Notes

A&E maximum wait of 4 hours 93.7% 92.2% 95% 90.4%Ⓐ Target failed in every quarter in 2015/16
A&E Time to initial assessment (minutes) 95th percentile within 15 minutes 15 15 15 mins 34 Target failed in every quarter in 2015/1631

A&E Time to Treatment (minutes) median within 60 minutes 52 54 60 mins 57 Target met in every quarter in 2015/16
A&E Unplanned re-attendance within 7 days 1.5% 2.3% < 5 % 3.0% Target met in every quarter in 2015/16
A&E Left without being seen 1.8% 1.8% < 5% 2.4% Target met in every quarter in 2015/16
Ambulance hand-over delays (greater than 30 minutes) per month 100 107 Zero 92 Target failed in every month in 2015/16
MRSA Bloodstream Cases against trajectory 2 5 Trajectory 3 Zero cases in quarter 4
C. diff Infections against trajectory 38 5032 Trajectory 40 Target met in every quarter in 2015/16
Cancer - 2 Week wait (urgent GP referral) 96.8% 95.5% 93% 95.8% Target met in every quarter in 2015/16
Cancer - 31 Day Diagnosis To Treatment (First treatment) 97.1% 96.9% 96% 97.4% Target met in every quarter in 2015/16
Cancer - 31 Day Diagnosis To Treatment (Subsequent Surgery) 94.8% 94.9% 94% 97.0% Target met in every quarter in 2015/16
Cancer - 31 Day Diagnosis To Treatment (Subsequent Drug therapy) 99.8% 99.6% 98% 98.9% Target met in every quarter in 2015/16
Cancer - 31 Day Diagnosis To Treatment (Subsequent Radiotherapy) 97.4% 97.6% 94% 96.9% Target met in every quarter in 2015/16
Cancer 62 Day Referral To Treatment (Urgent GP Referral) 80.1% 79.3% 85% 80.2% Target failed in each quarter in 2015/16
Cancer 62 Day Referral To Treatment (Screenings) 93.8% 89.0% 90% 68.2% Target  failed in each quarter in 2015/16
18-week Referral to treatment time (RTT) admitted patients 92.7% 84.9% 90% N/A Target no longer in effect
18-week Referral to treatment time (RTT) non-admitted patients 93.1% 90.3% 95% N/A Target no longer in effect
18-week Referral to treatment time (RTT) incomplete pathways 92.5% 90.4% 92% 91.3%Ⓐ Target met at the end of quarter 4 2015/16

Number of Last Minute Cancelled Operations 1.02% 1.08% 0.80% 1.03% Target met in two quarters in 2015/16
28 Day Readmissions (following a last minute cancellation)33 89.6% 89.8% 95% 88.7% Target failed in each quarter in 2015/16
6-week diagnostic wait 98.6% 97.5% 99% 99.0% Target met in quarter 3 (and 6 of the 7 last months in 15/16)
Primary PCI - 90 Minutes Door To Balloon Time 92.7% 92.4% 90% 93.8% Target met in each quarter in 2015/16

P
age 102



103

P
age 103



93

APPENDIX A – Feedback about our Quality Report

a) Statement from the Council of Governors of the University Hospitals Bristol NHS 
Foundation Trust

Introduction

This is an honest, transparent report which carries enhanced credibility due to extensive public 
and patient involvement activities carried out through focus groups and other stakeholder 
events during the year before quality objectives are agreed. Governors contribute to this 
process as part of their duty to represent the interests of the members who elected them.

Overall this is a comprehensive report that identifies strengths and areas for improvement over 
the last twelve months. There is evidence of consultation in the setting of the nine corporate 
quality objectives at the beginning of 2015/16. Some of the results themselves are disappointing 
with a failure to fully achieve seven of the nine set corporate quality objectives but an 
accompanying narrative which highlights some of the challenging conditions that the Trust has 
faced over the last twelve months. Increasing patient acuity and demand for services means that 
effective collaboration with our local healthcare partners continues to be vital. Maintaining 
patient flow through the hospital has been difficult due to insufficient community provision 
delaying discharge and consequent pressure on waiting time targets. Despite these pressures, it 
is gratifying to note that some key quality targets have been achieved consistently throughout 
the year, notably the control of pressure ulcers and patient falls, dementia care, and medicines 
safety.  

We believe that our staff are key in the provision of high quality harm-free care and excellent 
patient experience. A major staff engagement initiative was continued throughout the year with 
listening events, improvements to the appraisal system and new staff development 
opportunities. We feel that these initiatives are important for staff retention. Recruitment of 
appropriately qualified staff has been a problem for most NHS trusts and our Trust has worked 
hard to streamline its recruitment processes. It is encouraging to see that our staff vacancy rate 
had been reducing throughout the year and that safe staffing levels have been maintained.

Performance against 2015/16 quality objectives

Of nine objectives set for last year, six were partially achieved and two fully achieved, the one 
failure being the excessive number of inappropriate ward moves. We understand that part of 
the reason for non-achievement of the target was the creation of an additional discharge ward 
to ease patient flow problems but such moves are disorientating for patients, particularly for 
those with cognitive impairment and are also upsetting for patents and family where there is an 
end of life situation.

Reducing the number of cancelled operations remains a challenge and is amber rated although 
performance was better than last year. Patients tell us how stressful it can be and inconvenient 
in terms of wasted time and inability to plan ahead. Again, the lack of beds and emergency 
pressures contribute to this problem. Creating bed availability has been an ongoing ambition for 
the Trust and the provision of a discharge lounge was just one of the initiatives which brought 
some success. The Trust is now looking at a new model of care at home for selected patients 
who do not need to be kept in an acute hospital. This service is provided by Orla Healthcare Ltd 
and the Trust plans to set up a “BRI at home” service in the summer of 2016. We are naturally 
concerned to ensure that this service provides consistent, high quality harm-free care.

Page 104



94

Patients treated in the right ward for their condition was set as a quality target and although not 
fully achieved and amber rated, results were better than last year so continuing improvement is 
welcomed.

Improving patient discharge is an aspiration that we fully support so that patients and 
family/friends are not kept waiting for discharge letters and prescriptions. Progress is amber 
rated but performance improved when compared to last year. The reverse triage initiative has 
also helped to improve the overall discharge of patients and understand potential blockages 
along the way.  

The Governors welcome the Trust’s initiative to improve the quality of written correspondence 
and commends the ‘Letters Champions Week’. On the subject of letters, the Governors welcome 
progress towards greater empathy and candour in responding to complaints. 

Improving the management of sepsis has significant potential for saving lives. CQUIN targets 
were not fully achieved, however the Governors agree that important improvements have been 
made, especially with the overall screening of patients, the employment of additional staff, a 
specific sepsis management pathway and further education and training within the Trust. The 
Governors also welcome the transparency and early warning of the impact of the new NICE 
sepsis guidance on practice in the children’s emergency department.

The Governors are particularly supportive of the Trust’s ambitions to improve cancer patients’ 
experience, including early diagnosis and treatment. We welcome to addition of four cancer 
clinical nurse specialists but we would emphasise the need to join up care pathways with other 
providers. In this respect, we praise the Trust for its collaborative review of cancer nurse 
specialist cancer pathways across the Somerset, Wiltshire, Avon and Gloucester cancer network 
and the expansion of our trained cancer volunteer workforce, with additional roles in the 
chemotherapy day unit and radiotherapy department at the Bristol Haematology and Oncology 
Centre. In terms of the on-going education of front line administrative staff, the Governors 
welcome the introduction of training for over one hundred waiting list office and administration 
staff about how to deal sensitively with difficult conversations when operations have to be 
cancelled or delayed, or when changing chemotherapy appointments.  In addition, the 
significant progression of the cancer ‘recovery package’ to support people from diagnosis 
onwards, including electronic holistic needs assessments, health and wellbeing days, and 
treatment summaries being sent to GPs is also welcomed as part of the Trust’s approach to 
providing support to patients.  

Delays in outpatients cause anxiety and stress for patients and waste their time. The Governors 
agree that standardisation of the layout of the boards was required to improve the quality and 
consistency of the way information about clinic running times is presented to patients.   

Quality objectives for 2016/17
 
The Governors are pleased to see the continuation of a number of previous objectives which 
have been under-achieved. We welcome new targets related to improving communication with 
patients, carers and families and specifically the provision of better public facing information 
and keeping patients informed about their treatment with a renewed emphasis for patients with 
special needs. It is also good to see the inclusion of an objective for improving staff engagement 
and job satisfaction.  

The objectives set out in the quality report are open and honest and use quotations from 
patients. A clear rationale has been provided in terms of why the 12 objectives have been 
selected and how they will be measured moving forward.

Page 105



95

Statements of assurance from the board    

We are impressed that the Trust actively completed 38 national clinical audits (with 100% 
participation in each) and three enquiries. The list of clinical audits is also very helpful and 
demonstrates the breadth and depth of these activities of the Trust. The Governors are 
reassured with the actions being taken by the Trust in response to audits, all of which will 
undoubtedly have a positive impact on future patient services. 

The Trust is to be commended on its active involvement in research. It was really positive to see 
six of the Trust’s principal investigators being recognised for the successful delivery of 
commercial research within the NHS by the chief medical officer as part of a National Institute 
for Health Research (NIHR) event.

Patient safety

The Governors welcome the continued reduction in patient falls in 2015/16. The introduction of 
the “Eyes on Legs” campaign has helped embed the concept of falls being everyone’s 
responsibility. The introduction of bespoke falls training now incorporates an element on 
dementia and supporting patients with a cognitive impairment, as this group of patients are 
more susceptible to falls. The Trust is to be commended on the ‘Quality Champion’ award 
received by the falls steering group at the annual Trust Recognising Success Awards in 
November 2015 and this demonstrates the commitment by the Trust to the continued work 
around reducing falls within its hospitals.  

A further reduction in the incidence of pressure ulcers has been reported in 2015/16 and builds 
upon previous years’ work. This progress is to be commended, along with the further actions 
planned in 2016/17, and again demonstrates a clear commitment by the Trust and the staff to 
eradicating pressure ulcers. 

With regards to VTE, the Trust has maintained excellent standards. The on-going action plans 
also reflect the Trust’s commitment to ensure further learning and prevention of VTE.  

Whilst numbers of Clostridium difficile cases reduced in 2015/16, the number of avoidable 
infections has doubled compared to the previous year. The introduction of the aseptic non-
touch technique training techniques is welcomed along with Posiflush and Microclave 
procedures.  

The Governors welcome the transparency of the medication error data presented in the report 
and acknowledge the overall reduction of medicines related incidents over the last five years.  
The Governors also note a 70 per cent reduction in the number of unintentional omitted doses 
of critical medicines since 2012. The Governors welcome this positive outcome and progression 
with the pharmacy dispensing for inpatients should also be commended, in terms of speeding 
up patient discharge and improving the overall patient experience, whilst making more effective 
use of resources / bed occupancy within the Trust. The Governors also welcome the Trust’s 
participation in new patient safety projects coordinated by the West of England Academic 
Health Science Network. 

The Trust has sustained over 95 per cent achievement in completeness and accuracy of early 
warning scores, following the introduction of the new adult observation chart incorporating the 
NEWS score and this is welcomed by the Governors, as is the reduction in reported incidents 
resulting in severe harm or death. On-going education and training and the Trust’s Sign up to 
Safety programme will also offer more support in the future. 

Page 106



96

Patient experience

It is reassuring to see the patient experience tracker above the set target. Results from some 
aspects of the Friends and Family Test (for example, emergency departments) have been 
variable, although we note the methodological issues described in the report. There are some 
good examples of practice / evidence, and areas for improvement. The report provides further 
evidence of effective patient and public involvement. The total number of complaints to the 
Trust increased slightly in 2015/16, with the trend reflecting increasing numbers of patient 
attendances and increasing pressures on services. Governor representatives have been involved 
in the work of the Trust’s patient experience group throughout the year. 

It is pleasing to see the development of a carers strategy, which had previously been requested 
by the Governors, as is the introduction of carer liaison staff within the Trust. Looking forward, 
there are positive steps being put into place to provide more support for carers, which the 
Governors welcome.  

The inclusion of a narrative around end of life care strategy, again as requested by the 
Governors, is welcomed.  

Clinical effectiveness

The Trust’s partial achievement of the national dementia CQUIN was encouraging and the 
growth in the number of Dementia Champions across the Trust is to be commended, along with 
the positive approach and communications strategy underpinning the Trust’s activities in this 
area. A lot of work has been undertaken by staff within the Trust and by volunteers, working 
with charities and patient groups. The launch of the dementia café in 2015 is an excellent 
example of bringing people together and promoting a better understanding. The Governors 
welcome the use of the Abbey pain scale for use with patients with dementia.   

The latest overall performance against the hip fracture best practice tariff in 2015/16 was 68 per 
cent, compared to the national average of 61.8 per cent, which is an improvement, but still 
relatively low as an overall figure. Improvement plans are acknowledged and welcomed by the 
Governors going forward.  

An overall reduction in readmissions has been reported year on year and this is welcomed by 
the Governors. The presentation of data and narrative related to the positioning of seven day 
services within the Trust is also welcomed, as is the methodology / implementation process.  

Performance against national priorities and access standards:

It was disappointing to see the Trust failing to achieve maximum 4-hour wait in A&E in every 
quarter of the year. The Governors do however note that the Trust met three of the four other 
national A&E clinical quality indicators in the period.  There are also other mitigating 
circumstances that have been presented in the quality report.

The Governors are pleased to see an improvement in the overall cancer referral to treatment 
figures, however the Trust failed to achieve the 62-day referral to treatment standard for 
patients referred by their GP with a suspected cancer.  The accompanying narrative is helpful in 
terms of explaining the underlying reasons for the Trust’s performance. 

Dr Marc Griffiths, Appointed Governor 
Clive Hamilton, Governor 

20th May 2015

Page 107



97

b) Statement from Healthwatch Bristol and Healthwatch South Gloucestershire

Healthwatch Bristol and South Gloucestershire support the focus in several of UH Bristol’s 
quality priorities on improving the ways in which information is shared with patients regarding 
their treatment both before an appointment or admission, during the treatment and leading up 
to and at the point of discharge. Lack of clear information about treatment is a recurrent theme 
in the feedback Healthwatch gathers from members of the public about their experiences of 
health and social care services across the region. Similarly, the focus on the reduction in waiting 
times and cancellation of operations will hopefully address another negative theme identified in 
feedback gathered by Healthwatch across a range of providers. The draft Quality Report that 
Healthwatch has commented on does not give detail of how all the targets will be achieved or 
measured and Healthwatch urges UH Bristol to include patient participation and feedback in the 
evaluation of all targets. Healthwatch Bristol and South Gloucestershire welcome further 
opportunities to work with UH Bristol, for example via enter and view visits (as carried out in 
spring 2016 to the Bristol Royal Infirmary discharge lounge) and engagement in patient 
participation events as planned by UH Bristol and Healthwatch. 

Comments on performance against 2015/16 objectives:

Reducing the number of cancelled operations
Healthwatch encourages UH Bristol to ensure the integration of care provided in the hospital 
and by Orla Healthcare in people’s homes. As this project is beginning and throughout its 
duration it is essential that service users, their family and carers are consulted and their 
feedback taken into account in how the service is delivered. Healthwatch asks UH Bristol to 
consider and respond to the following questions: Will consultation with patients be undertaken 
by Orla Healthcare or by UH Bristol? Will patients receiving Oral Healthcare services be entitled 
to support from UH Bristol’s patient support and complaints service? 

Minimising inappropriate patient moves between wards (time and place)
Commentators tell Healthwatch that they would like any changes to their care, including moving 
between wards, to be explained to them by staff. Family members, carers and visitors have also 
reported finding it distressing to arrive at a ward to visit and find their loved one is no longer 
there, but to be unable to get information about where they have moved to. Although UH 
Bristol has not selected this as a priority in 2016/17, Healthwatch urges the Trust to ensure staff 
are consistently providing patients and their support networks with timely information about 
any changes to ward. 

Improving patient discharge 
Healthwatch has recently carried out an ‘enter and view’ visit to the Bristol Royal Infirmary 
Discharge Lounge and the report will be shared with UH Bristol once completed. 

Improving the quality of patient appointment letters
Healthwatch staff and volunteers are happy to help with the promotion of the planned ‘Letters 
Champions Week’ and participate where appropriate. The Accessible Information Standard also 
enforces the need for health and social care services to provide information in an appropriate 
format for people with additional communication needs. Healthwatch Bristol is working with 
local service providers, commissioners and voluntary and community sector groups to develop 
ways of working with people with learning disabilities to ensure health and social care services 
are accessible. UH Bristol has been invited and is encouraged to take part and share learning 
from the work they have already undertaken. For work with North Bristol NHS Trust (NBT), 
Healthwatch is aware that NBT is also reviewing its patient letters. Healthwatch encourages 
both Trusts to work together to ensure patients, who are often using services at both UH Bristol 
and NBT, are receiving consistent and clear information regardless of where their treatment is 
taking place. 

Page 108



98

Comments on proposed 2016/17 objectives:
 
Reducing the number of last minute cancelled operations
Healthwatch supports this as a priority. Commentators contacting Healthwatch stress the 
importance of any changes to or cancellations of operations being communicated clearly and in 
as much advance of the operation as possible. In developing the priority, Healthwatch urges UH 
Bristol to consider how information about the reasons for cancellations of operations will be 
relayed to the patient and how the Trust will ensure patients are supported during the 
additional waiting time for the rearranged operation. 

Improving timeliness of patient discharge 
Delays in discharge, lack of information about when and how the patient will be discharged and 
a lack of information about accessing support are common themes in feedback received from 
members of the public about their experiences of hospital treatment. Healthwatch, therefore, 
supports the decision to include this as a priority. Healthwatch Bristol is currently producing a 
survey to gather feedback from people who have recently been discharged from secondary care 
services about their experiences. Healthwatch welcomes UH Bristol to work with us to cascade 
this survey and learn from the feedback received. 

Reducing appointment (in-clinic) delays in outpatients, and keeping patients better informed 
about any delays
This priority supports patient feedback regarding waiting times and Healthwatch is pleased to 
see it included as a priority. 

Ensuring public-facing information displayed in our hospitals is relevant, up-to-date, 
standardised and accessible
The Accessible Information Standard should be considered within the plans for this priority to 
ensure information is accessible to people with additional communication needs (including 
people with learning disabilities and sensory impairments). Healthwatch receives feedback 
about the importance of clear signage within health and social care services and encourages UH 
Bristol to consider the needs of patients who have communication needs, low literacy levels 
and/or do not speak English as their first language. 

Reducing the number of complaints received where poor communication is identified as a 
root cause
Poor communication is a recurrent theme in the feedback Healthwatch gathers regarding health 
and social care services. Healthwatch is delighted to see this as a priority.

Implementing the Accessible Information Standard, ensuring that the individual needs of 
patients with disabilities are identified so that the care they receive is appropriately adjusted
Healthwatch Bristol is working with The Hive, a local voluntary organisation, Birchwood Medical 
Practice and local health and social care providers to collectively produce resources and models 
of working to improve accessibility for people with learning disabilities. UH Bristol has been 
invited to take part. 

Increasing the proportion of patients who tell the Trust that, whilst they were in hospital, they 
were asked about the quality of care they were receiving 
Healthwatch is happy to see that gathering patient feedback is a priority for UH Bristol. 
Healthwatch urges UH Bristol to consider how patients will be supported to give their feedback 
and how patients will be signposted to alternative feedback options including PALS, advocacy 
and Healthwatch. Healthwatch also urges UH Bristol to consider the nine protected 
characteristics in the Equality Act and reflect on whether feedback received is representative of 

Page 109



99

people within the protected characteristics. If not, UH Bristol should undertake work to ensure 
all patients are enabled and encouraged to give their feedback. 

c) Statement from Healthwatch North Somerset

Healthwatch North Somerset is pleased to have the opportunity to comment on the draft 
University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report for 2015/16. Healthwatch 
North Somerset acknowledges the report and notes that although there was good progress, of 
the nine objectives outlined for 2015/16, seven were not fully achieved. We welcome the Trust’s 
commitment to continue towards a number of these objectives in 2016/2017 alongside new 
ambitions.   

We recognise the number of clinical audits and clinical research the Trust has participated in 
which provide an effective mechanism for clinical governance for improving the quality of care 
patients receive.  

It is noted that the Trust has improved its performance in patient safety for falls, pressure ulcers 
and VTE alongside a reduction in Clostridium Difficile and MRSA. It is disappointing that there 
were 18 bed days lost due to norovirus during the year. We note that there has not been a 
discernible improvement in medication incidents when compared with the previous year but 
acknowledge the comments regarding non-preventable incidents and harm. We also commend 
the Trust for the reduction in the number of serious incidents compared to 2014/15. The 
number of patient safety severe harm incidents however remains comparable with the previous 
year and it is hoped that the Sign up to Safety programme will reduce the risk of severe harm to 
patients. 

The evaluation of patient experience is central to the functions of Healthwatch and therefore 
we commend the steps taken by the Trust to involve patients through the new Involvement 
Network. The level of Friends and Family Test responses (other than maternity) were often 
lower than the national benchmark, although we acknowledge the comments about 
methodologies. It was disappointing to note there was an increase in the number of complaints 
received compared to the previous year, however we acknowledge the adjustments made to 
ensure that complaints are dealt with satisfactorily. It would be useful to see the data regarding 
the type of complaints received, although we note that this information is published by the 
Trust in regular quarterly reports.   

We commend the Trust for the five point staff experience improvement programme but note 
that there is more work to be done: the figures relating to staff experiencing harassment, 
bullying or abuse from all staff are of great concern. We seek assurance that a robust plan of 
action is in place to resolve these concerns and that additional work is undertaken to 
understand and respond to the comparatively poor reported experience of BME staff. We 
commend the Trust on the support provided for carers and the plans to build on the steps 
already undertaken. 

The data in the draft quality report for clinical effectiveness is partially incomplete at the point 
we are reviewing it, however we note that the dementia CQUIN has been achieved and the 
struggle to achieve the hip fracture tariff. There are a number of performance standards that 
have not been met including the 62 day wait for referral to treatment for cancer and the 4 hours 
wait for A&E, however we acknowledge that system pressures and demand have been above 
predicted levels.   

This response was complete with the support of Healthwatch North Somerset Volunteers. 

Page 110



100

d) Statement from South Gloucestershire Health Scrutiny Select Committee

The Health Scrutiny Committee’s comments are based on its engagement with UH Bristol during 
2015/16. During this time the Committee scrutinised one matter which involved UH Bristol and 
that was in January 2016 in relation to the Severn Pathology Service. The subject has a long 
history dating back to an Independent Inquiry into histopathology services in 2010. Whilst it was 
felt that progress had taken a long time, the Committee was pleased to learn of significant 
developments, which included the centralisation of histopathology laboratory services on North 
Bristol NHS Trust’s Southmead Hospital site whilst maintaining clinical relationships through 
continued multi-disciplinary team meetings on both NBT and UH Bristol sites. The Committee 
also received an invitation to visit the new laboratory ahead of the official opening in mid-
summer 2016, which was warmly received by members. Looking ahead, UH Bristol has accepted 
an invitation to attend committee in June 2016 to present highlights from its Quality Report and 
answer members’ questions.

Councillor Toby Savage
Chair, Health Scrutiny Committee

Councillor Sue Hope
Lead Member, Health Scrutiny Committee

Councillor Ian Scott
Lead Member, Health Scrutiny Committee

e) Statement from Bristol City Council People Scrutiny Commission

The Commission will formally receive UH Bristol’s Quality Report at a joint meeting with South 
Gloucestershire Health Scrutiny Select Committee on 8th June 2016.

f) Statement from Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group

This statement on the University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality
Report 2015/16 is made by Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group following a review by members 
of its Quality and Governance Committee and responses from South Gloucestershire and North 
Somerset CCGs. 

Bristol CCG welcomes UH Bristol’s quality report, which provides a comprehensive reflection on 
the quality performance during 2015/16.  The data presented has been reviewed and is in line 
with data provided and reviewed through the monthly quality contract performance meetings. 

Bristol CCG noted that of the nine quality objectives for 2015/16 only two were fully achieved 
and six partially met. The CCG notes the work put in place for these objectives and is pleased to 
note that five of the objectives that were either not or only partially achieved have been put 
forward along with seven new quality objectives for 2016/17.

The inclusion of patients’ feedback to support the rationale for why these objectives have been 
chosen is positive and the CCG supports the chosen areas for quality improvement for 2016/17.  
Within the quality report, UH Bristol has demonstrated continued good progress in reducing the 
number of inpatient falls, pressure ulcers and sustaining compliance with VTE assessments, all of 
which are to be commended. The Trust achieved compliance with the C Difficile target and 
demonstrated an improvement from the previous year. However, the CCG would have 

Page 111



101

welcomed more detail on how UH Bristol plans to work collaboratively and proactively with 
community and primary care partners to support further reduction in the number of C Difficile 
infections.  

UH Bristol’s performance against achieving the quality improvement and innovation goals 
(CQUINs) is noted in the quality report, but as with the previous year’s report there is little 
narrative to explain why there was non-achievement of those schemes either partially or not 
met other than via a web link. 

Bristol CCG notes the ongoing work to support families and carers and the use of patient stories 
to highlight the positive work to support carers.  We also would like to acknowledge the positive 
approach taken by UH Bristol in the management and care of end of life patients and their 
families. 

Bristol CCG notes the ongoing reduction in the number of missed medicine doses and supports 
the Trust’s plans to implement a pilot for electronic prescribing and administration, which 
should provide further intelligence to support the reduction in omitted or delayed 
administration of medicines. However, the CCG noted there is little supporting information 
around the decline in aspects of antimicrobial stewardship and would support a continued focus 
on this in 2016/17. 

Bristol CCG expects concerns about services to be shared openly and honestly in annual quality 
reports. We welcome the acknowledgement of the paediatric cardiac services independent 
review and would expect the Trust make more detailed reference to the outcomes of this 
review in next year’s report. 

Going forward, Bristol CCG will continue to work closely with the Trust in areas which need 
either further improvement or development. These include:

 improvement in performance against the best practice tariff for patients who have 
sustained a fractured neck of Femur

 improvements in the Friends and Family Test response rates for inpatient areas specially 
day case and outpatient areas

 closer working with primary care and community partners to help support the reduction 
in incidences of healthcare associated infections, namely C Difficile Infection and MRSA

 developing  meaningful priorities to work with primary care to improve quality either 
through learning from experiences or in developing pathways

 improvement in the Trust’s response in communicating with us in a timely way about 
specific areas of interest/concern; we would want them to do this more consistently in 
2016/17

 joint working with partner agencies on the emerging priorities of the sustainability and 
transformation plans to support service improvement.

Bristol CCG acknowledges the good work going on in the Trust and the quality report clearly 
demonstrates this. We also note where further improvement work is needed and we look 
forward to working with UH Bristol in 2016/17.  

Page 112



102

APPENDIX B – Performance indicators subject to external audit

Percentage of patients with a total time in A&E of four hours or less from arrival to admission, 
transfer or discharge 
Source of indicator definition and detailed guidance 
The indicator is defined within the technical definitions that accompany Everyone Counts: 
planning for patients 2014/15 - 2018/19 and can be found at www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf. Detailed rules and guidance for 
measuring A&E attendances and emergency admissions can be found at 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2013/03/AE-Attendances-
Emergency-Definitions-v2.0-Final.pdf. 

Numerator 
The total number of patients who have a total time in A&E of four hours or less from arrival to 
admission, transfer or discharge. Calculated as: (Total number of unplanned A&E attendances) – 
(Total number of patients who have a total time in A&E over 4 hours from arrival to admission, 
transfer or discharge). 

Denominator 
The total number of unplanned A&E attendances.

Accountability 
Performance is to be sustained at or above the published operational standard. Details of 
current operational standards are available at: 
www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf (see Annex B: 
NHS Constitution Measures). 

Indicator format 
Reported as a percentage. 

Percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete pathways 
Source of indicator definition and detailed guidance 
The indicator is defined within the technical definitions that accompany Everyone Counts: 
planning for patients 2014/15 - 2018/19 and can be found at www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf. Detailed rules and guidance for 
measuring referral to treatment (RTT) standards can be found at 
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/rtt-waitingtimes/rtt-guidance/ 

Numerator. The number of patients on an incomplete pathway at the end of the reporting 
period who have been waiting no more than 18 weeks. 

Denominator 
The total number of patients on an incomplete pathway at the end of the reporting period 

Accountability 
Performance is to be sustained at or above the published operational standard. Details of 
current operational standards are available at: www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
21content/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf (see Annex B: NHS Constitution 
Measures). 

Indicator format 
Reported as a percentage. 

Page 113

file:///C:/Users/smithrachel/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/EGITTONH/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
file:///C:/Users/smithrachel/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/EGITTONH/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2013/03/AE-Attendances-Emergency-Definitions-v2.0-Final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2013/03/AE-Attendances-Emergency-Definitions-v2.0-Final.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf
file:///C:/Users/smithrachel/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/EGITTONH/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
file:///C:/Users/smithrachel/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/EGITTONH/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/rtt-waitingtimes/rtt-guidance/
file:///C:/Users/smithrachel/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/EGITTONH/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-21content/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf
file:///C:/Users/smithrachel/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/EGITTONH/www.england.nhs.uk/wp-21content/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf


103

APPENDIX C – Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality 
Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. Monitor34 has issued 
guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual quality reports 
(which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that NHS 
foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data quality for the preparation of 
the quality report. 

In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 

 the content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2015/16 and supporting guidance 

 the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of 
information including: 

o board minutes and papers for the period April 2015 to March 2016 
o papers relating to Quality reported to the board over the period April 2015 to March 

2016
o feedback from commissioners received 19/5/2016
o feedback from governors received 20/5/2016 
o feedback from local Healthwatch organisations received 13/5/2016 and 18/5/2016 
o feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee received 16/5/2016 and 

18/5/2016 
o the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority 

Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 200935 
o the 2014 national patient survey published 8/4/201436

o the 2015 national staff survey published 22/3/2016
o the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control environment 

dated 26 May 2016 

 the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s performance 
over the period covered 

 the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate 
 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of 

performance included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to 
confirm that they are working effectively in practice 

 the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is 
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, 
is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review and 

 the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting 
manual and supporting guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) as 
well as the standards to support data quality for the preparation of the Quality Report. 

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the 
above requirements in preparing the Quality Report. 

34 On 1st April 2016, Monitor became part of NHS Improvement
35 This report is due to be received by the board in July 2016
36 The 2015 survey results have not yet been published

Page 114



104

By order of the board 

John Savage, chairman
25 May 2016

Robert Woolley, chief executive
25 May 2016

Page 115



105

APPENDIX D – External audit opinion

Page 116



1 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Account of the Quality 
of Clinical Services 
2015/16

Exceptional healthcare, personally delivered
Page 117

Agenda Item 6



2 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Contents (# page numbers to be added once content finalised)

Statement on the quality of services from the Chief Executive #Overall 
Review Review of Services #

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Quality Account 2015/16 #

Section 1 Priorities for Improvement #
Review of performance for 2015/16 Quality priorities #
Our priorities for 2016/17 #
Sign up to Safety review 2015/16 #
Emergency Department Improvement Work #
External reviews - CQC Inspection and action delivery #

Section 2 Patient Safety #

Section 3 Patient Experience #

Section 4 Clinical Effectiveness #

Section 5 Operational Performance Standards & Data Quality #

Section 6 Engagement and Consultation #
Engagement in setting 2016/17 Quality Account priorities #
External Comments on draft Quality Account #

Section 7 Appendices #
Appendix 1 - Mandatory Indicators Table #
Appendix 2 - 2015/16 CQUINS #
Appendix 3 - List of services provided by NBT in 2015/16 #
Appendix 4 - Auditor’s Opinion #

Page 118



3 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Statement on the quality of services from the Chief Executive
Introduction from the Chief Executive 

North Bristol NHS Trust is the largest hospital trust in the South West of England, providing 
hospital and community healthcare to the residents of Bristol, South Gloucestershire and North 
Somerset. We are also a specialist regional centre for a number of services including neurosurgery, 
renal (kidney) medicine, plastics, orthopaedics and major trauma. 

We aim for ‘Exceptional healthcare personally delivered’  by providing services of exemplary quality, 
ensuring no unnecessary waits or delays, providing care in high quality facilities and having well trained 
and caring staff. 

Quality improvement – In 2014, we became one of the first 12 NHS organisations in England to ‘Sign up 
to Safety’ - a government-led campaign that aims to make the NHS the safest healthcare system in the 
world. Five core safety pledges were made and a huge amount of work has been done throughout the 
organisation to support these pledges.  

 Putting safety first – as part of this pledge our dedicated falls lead has trained over 500 staff, and 
environmental changes have been made in clinical areas all targeted towards reducing falls. As a 
result of this focus we have seen a significant decrease in the amount of serious falls.

 Continually learning – Our trust has always been at the forefront of patient safety initiatives and 
the drive and focus of our staff to continually develop and improve how we do things plays a large 
part in this pledge. We have developed an organisation wide improvement and safety programme 
and in their inspection report the CQC recognised the positive opportunities provided for continued 
learning and improvement, as illustrated through outstanding practice in a number of areas, such as 
dementia care and Major Trauma outcomes. 

 Honesty – A culture of openness and transparency is something I personally feel strongly about 
and we can demonstrate this happening in practice across NBT. The CQC observed an effective 
safety culture with staff taking an honest approach to incident reporting and highlighting that staff 
felt able to raise any concerns they might have about safety. We are also currently evaluating the 
results from a detailed staff safety culture survey, which has generated a fantastic response from 
around 1000 staff. The outcomes will shape further improvements in 2016/17 to support our 
ambition of becoming one of the safest hospitals in the UK.

 Collaboration – Examples of collaborative working include the SHINE project which was initially 
implemented at University Hospitals Bristol and has since been used to great effect in our 
Emergency Department. This example of safety improvement has led to reduced incidents relating 
to recognition of deteriorating patients or delays in care within the ED.

 Support - This pledge has seen us focusing on helping staff to understand why things go wrong 
and how to put them right. The implementation of a safety hub is providing staff with support 
through dedicated weekly awareness and training sessions. This is facilitated at locations close to 
clinical teams’ working areas through ‘pop up’ booths that help to make this was widely accessible 
as possible.

Care Quality Commission inspection – In December 2015, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) carried 
out a focused re-inspection of services previously rated as ‘requires improvement’ or ’inadequate’ in 
November 2014. Whilst our overall rating has remained as ‘requires improvement,’ the CQC has 
recognised significant safety improvements within urgent and emergency care services with the service 
improving to a ‘Good’ rating overall. Important improvements were also recognised within our critical care 
and maternity and gynaecology services, both of which also achieved an overall rating of ‘good.’ 

Page 119



4 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

I am also extremely pleased that the CQC described the care we are providing to our patients with 
dementia as ‘an outstanding example of responsiveness’ as well as praising the passion and continual 
drive for improvement in patient care shown by frontline staff and managers. There is still work to do but I 
am confident that our continued commitment will enable us to provide quality care that achieves the best 
possible outcomes for all our patients.  

Patient experience – One of our priorities was to improve our patient’s overall experience in hospital and 
in 2015-16 we have laid the foundations for achieving this consistently. New trust-wide leadership roles in 
Patient Experience and Quality & Safety Improvement have helped to scope priorities in each area that are 
engaging the whole organisation more effectively.  For example, a new initiative entitled ‘Ask three 
questions’ aims to empower patients and their families and carers to play a more active role in decisions 
about their care. By asking the right questions during consultations with their doctors, nurses and 
therapists, patients can actively consider their options with the support of their healthcare professional 

Trust strategy – The Trust Board approved a new strategy at its March 2016 meeting. This will provide 
clarity of direction over the next five years. It sets out our vision of the future - delivering healthcare, which 
is of exceptional quality, with excellent clinical outcomes and in an environment that provides an 
outstanding experience for our patients and staff.  We will be sharing this broadly internally and externally 
to gain further views on how we can successfully take this forward.

Andrea Young
Chief Executive 
North Bristol NHS Trust

Page 120



5 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Review of Services

During 2015/16, the Trust provided a wide range of NHS services. These are listed in Appendix 3. 

The Trust reviews data and information related to the quality of these services through regular reports to 
the Trust Board and the Trust’s governance committees. Each clinical service undergoes monthly 
Executive review in which performance against standards of quality and safety are reviewed.  These 
reviews discuss with clinical teams and managers any areas of concern and also continuous quality 
improvement. The Trust has therefore reviewed 100% of the data available to them on the quality of care in 
all its NHS services. 

During the year a new Patient Administration System (Lorenzo) was implemented, which went live in 
November 2015. As with any large scale system implementation, this has disrupted the collection and 
quality of information available. This primarily has an impact on operational data, for example that relating 
to length of stay, bed days, bed occupancy and performance against national waiting time standards. 
Gradually these issues are being addressed through the post implementation stabilisation process, which is 
overseen through the IM&T Committee and reported at each Trust Board. Progress is also scrutinised by 
commissioners and the Trust Development Authority.

If there is any doubt as to the quality of data included within this account this is clearly stated within the 
relevant section. 

The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2015/16 represents 100% percent of total income 
generated from the provision of NHS services by the North Bristol NHS Trust for 2015/16.

Page 121



6 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE 
QUALITY ACCOUNT 2015/16

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009, National Health Service (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations 2010 and National Health Service (Quality Account) Amendment Regulation 2011 to 
prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. The Department of Health has issued guidance on 
the form and content of annual Quality Accounts (which incorporate the above legal requirements). 

In preparing the Quality Account, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 

 the Quality Account presents a balanced picture of the Trust’s performance over the period covered; 
 the performance information reported in the Quality Account is reliable and accurate; 
 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance 

included in the Quality Account, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are 
working effectively in practice; 

 the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Account is robust and 
reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to 
appropriate scrutiny and review; and 

 the Quality Account has been prepared in accordance with Department of Health guidance. 

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the Quality Account. 

By order of the Board 

NB: sign and date in any colour ink except black 

Signatures and dates in final published copy

Signed............................................................. Date…………………………………..

Peter Rilett 
Chairman 

Signed............................................................. Date...............................................

Andrea Young
Chief Executive

Page 122



7 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Section 1 – Priorities for Improvement 

Every year the Trust manages a wide range of quality improvement targets and measures set by the 
Trust Board, Commissioners, NHS England and the Department of Health alongside requirements 
of specialist national reviews and recommendations from national NHS organisations including 
NICE, Royal Colleges and Care Quality Commission amongst others. 

The targets are included as part of our overall quality strategy under the headings of Patient Safety, Clinical 
Effectiveness and Patient Experience. The connection between good performance and high quality care 
and the range of issues that remain priorities for the board include falls, pressure ulcers, nutrition, 
medicines safety, and infection prevention & control. In addition to all the other quality and safety targets, 
each year Trusts are asked to choose up to 5 priorities for improvement which are chosen in consultation 
with patients, public and staff.

Involving the public in identifying these priorities

We asked our clinical teams to make suggestions for priorities to improve patient care. This list was then 
discussed with the Trust’s Patient Panel and the Patient Experience Group members to obtain their views.

These topics were then compiled into a survey for patient and public consultation which was distributed to 
the Trust’s Foundation Trust members who wish to take part in surveys. Presentations including the 
shortlist were made to Local Authority Health Scrutiny Committees to seek their views.

Over 180 patients and members of the public completed the survey. The results of the survey were 
analysed and ranked according to importance as rated by patients and carers. These were discussed by 
the Trust’s Quality Committee to agree the final priorities prior to final approval by the Trust Board.

Our Priorities for Improvement for 2015/16
1. Improving care for patients with dementia.
2. Improve our patients’ overall experience in hospital. 
3. Improving the recognition, diagnosis and treatment of Acute Kidney Injury (AKI).
4. Improving the quality and timeliness of information provided to GP’s when patients go home to 

ensure there is safe handover to primary care.  

How did we get on with these priorities?

Priority 1: Improving care for patients with dementia

Dementia continues as one of the Trust’s priorities led by the dementia team of doctor, 
matron and trainer. Work to improve the care of people with dementia starts on 
admission with staff identifying people with dementia and those who have had a 
decline in their memory. This enables the provision of reasonable adjustments to each 
person’s care using our cognitive impairment care bundle.

There are national incentives to finding, investigating and referring people with unrecognised cognitive 
decline for diagnosis and as can be seen from chart 1 we have moved forward in this throughout the year 
exceeding compliance with national standards. 

Future work for 2016/17

Page 123



8 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15 Oct-15 Nov-15 Dec-15 Jan-16 Feb-16 Mar-16
80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

Find Assess Refer to GP Compliance

Dementia CQUIN Compliance 2015/16

Date

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Chart 1 - Dementia Returns 2015/16

Our Care Bundle for people with cognitive impairment allows an individualised plan to be constructed using 
evidence based interventions to improve care. It covers a wide range of tools including selection of the best 
environment for care, medication reviews, promoting nutrition and hydration and supporting people to 
remain independent. The team are working to make sure that this is embedded as normal care for people 
with dementia. 

The care plan encourages staff to support carers to be involved as much as they wish, in particular to be 
present when the person with dementia is eating and drinking. The Trust was one of the first to sign up to 
“John’s campaign” which also encourages carers/family to remain with the patient as much as they wish. 
This can include remaining overnight to reassure and care for their loved ones.

Carers are also the focus for the Memory Café which is held every Wednesday in conjunction with the 
Alzheimer’s Society. Here carers can receive more information and support, be linked into external caring 
organisations and enjoy tea and biscuits whilst they find out what they wish to know. 

The dementia team were pleased to be shortlisted for “Dementia Team of the Year” in the BMJ awards. 
Whilst we did not win, we received a highly commended certificate for our development of the memory 
café, now copied in other Trusts.

More recently we have joined with the new “enhanced care” improvement project, linking with occupational 
therapists to work on providing more meaningful activity for patients on the wards. This has included the 
provision of “digital reminiscence DTRS” computers to each ward. In ED they have found this to be an 
excellent tool in engaging with older people who are distressed.

“One of the positive experiences I had with the DTRS was when an elderly chap with dementia was in the 
department, it was busy, it was loud, and he was distressed, shouting, grabbing and generally agitated.

We decided we would try the DTRS, it was still fairly new and we were all slightly scared of this big 
machine on wheels that not many of us had gone near yet! We switched it on, found some jazz music, hit 
the play button and within ten minutes the patient was tapping his feet, wiggling on his bottom and at times 
pretending to blow the trumpet! It was like watching a person transform in front of us.”

- RL (ED staff member 2016)

We continue to use twiddlemuffs knitted by numerous groups for us to help calm agitated people and there 
are activity boxes available to support staff in providing simple activities.

Page 124



9 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

We are not complacent as we still have lots to do to maximise care for people with dementia. Each patient 
bedroom is now equipped with a clock and whiteboard for communication, and during the year the Elgar 
wards were refurbished with improved colour and signage to aid way-finding. 

Fresh Arts have helped with planning murals to go on the walls and storage for activity equipment. This is 
still a work in progress with improvement continually being added. Other projects for the coming year 
include continuing to improve the environment, increasing the breadth of training and improving the 
identification of people with delirium – another under-recognised group.  

Priority 2: Improve our patients’ overall experience in hospital

The experience of our patients and carers is at the heart of our work. What patients and carers tell us 
makes a difference to the services we provide.  To help with this work this year we have appointed a Head 
of Patient Experience to lead this aspect of work. 

The experience and satisfaction of our patients is monitored and measured in a range of ways. This 
includes complaints, concerns and compliments, national surveys, local surveys, the Friends and Family 
Test, social media and online patient feedback.

Inpatient survey (general) 

The national patient survey is part of a national survey program. It is run by Picker Europe Ltd on our behalf 
every year. A random sample of 850 patients who have stayed in our Trust in July 2015 are invited to take 
part. There was a response rate of 49.9%. 

Patients were asked 62 questions about different aspects of their experience. The overall outcomes are 
summarised below in chart 2 showing that we are the 2nd most improved trust of the 81 who also used 
Picker Europe Ltd to undertake their survey. In terms of overall outcomes we will continue working hard to 
move our overall achievement towards the best performers during 2016 (see chart 3).

Page 125



10 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Chart 2 - The orange line indicates north Bristol Trust position in relation to improved scores in the National Inpatient Survey 
compared with 81 other Trusts  

Chart 3 - the orange line indicates North Bristol Trust position in relation to the 81 trust we were compared with.

The more detailed information shows that we scored significantly worse than last year for 3 questions 
(below), significantly better in 19 and there was no significant change in 40. 
Areas where we scored worse than last year: 

 Hospital: patients staying in more than 1 ward shared sleeping accommodation with opposite sex.
 Hospital: patients using bath or shower shared it with the opposite sex.
 Discharge: Staff did not discuss need for further health or social care.

Aspects of care that improved significantly include:
 Patients feeling of being well looked after by staff.
 Having privacy when being examined or treated in the emergency department.
 Involvement in decisions about care and treatment 
 Quality and choice of food

Page 126



11 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Focus for improvement:

The Trust’s inpatient areas are comprised of 75% single rooms to maximise privacy and dignity, including 
ensuring single sex accommodation. The challenges experienced are relatively small scale in overall terms 
and primarily related to extreme pressures within the emergency zone where the concentration of patients 
within the department meant this was unavoidable. All options to minimise this are being considered and 
we have already eliminated particular issues identified within interventional radiology.   

The following aspects of the reported experience of patients have been agreed by Patient Experience 
Group as the focus for improvement: 

• Discharged patients
– Being told of any danger signals to look for.
– Family being given enough information.
– Being involved in decisions about discharge from hospital.
– Being given enough information to help care after discharge.
– Consideration being given to the family or home.
– Information on medications.
– Discussion of the need for health and social care services.

• Allowing the patient to be more involved  in decisions about care & treatment where they wish to - 
this will link with our progress on empowering patients in shared decision making  through  ‘Ask 3 
Questions’  

• Finding someone to discuss concerns with.
• Receiving enough emotional support from staff.
• Being told how they would feel after operation or procedure. 

These aspects have the highest problem scores and are supported by evidence from other feedback such 
as complaints and feedback from Healthwatch. We look forward to working with our partners as well as 
patients and carers to improve these aspects of the patient experience. 

Priority 3: Improving the recognition, diagnosis and treatment of Acute Kidney Injury (AKI)

Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) is a sudden and recent reduction in a person’s kidney function. In the UK up to 
100,000 deaths each year in hospital are associated with AKI and up to 30% could be prevented with the 
right care and treatment. It is estimated that up to one in five people admitted to hospital as an emergency 
has AKI and 65% of these start in the community. This year by focusing on ‘kidney attack’, NBT seeks to 
reduce harm associated with AKI by 50%. An AKI working group was established in April 2015 to develop 
and implement an AKI improvement strategy for the trust in line with the national ‘Think Kidneys’ 
programme set up by NHS England (www.thinkkidneys.nhs.uk). We are also working in collaboration with 
clinical teams in other trusts (UHB, Weston, and RUH) to develop a unified strategy in tackling AKI in the 
area.

Kidneys for Life: Stop Acute Kidney Injury

What we achieved last year (2015/16)
Page 127



12 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Apr-1
5

May
-15

Jun-15
Jul-1

5

Aug-1
5

Se
p-15

Oct-
15

Nov-1
5

Dec-1
5

Jan
-16

Fe
b-16

Mar-
16

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Achieved Target

AKI Discharge Information to GPs

%
 C

om
pl

ia
nc

e

1. Early detection of AKI: 
Early diagnosis of AKI enables clinical teams to take appropriate measures to stop the kidney 
function getting worse and thereby improve patient outcomes. A diagnosis of AKI is made if the 
patient’s kidney function has worsened by more than 50% compared to previous results. As of 
September 2015, we had implemented an electronic alert in the hospital’s laboratory systems to 
facilitate the early diagnosis. The Laboratory Information Management System (LIMS) will 
automatically compare patient’s kidney function tests during the current admission to previous blood 
test results and generate a laboratory report on the system if the patient has met the criteria. The 
alerts are colour coded ‘yellow’, ‘amber’ and ‘red’ to represent the increasing severity of AKI.

Data on the number of patients who had AKI each month will be sent to UK Renal Registry, 
commissioned by NHS England to collect and report incidence of AKI across the UK for 
benchmarking and quality improvement. 

2. AKI training programme:
A structured education and training programme on prevention and management of AKI has been 
rolled out for pharmacists and junior doctors during their induction training. We are in the process of 
implementing similar sessions for registered nurses and developing an e-learning module to 
facilitate broader uptake of training.

3. AKI patient information:
There is an urgent need to raise public awareness of AKI. We have developed a patient information 
leaflet to help patients, their carers and the public understand what kidneys do, how important they 
are, what they can do to keep their kidneys healthy and reduce their chances of AKI. This will be 
handed out to patients who have been diagnosed during the hospital admission and to those who 
are at risk due to their other health problems.

4. AKI CQUIN:
It is important that GPs are informed at the time of discharge if their patients had developed AKI 
during their recent hospital admission and what follow up is required in the community to monitor 
their kidney function. NHS England had established a national CQUIN around this for 2015/16. Our 
target was to achieve 80% for the 3rd quarter and 90% for the fourth quarter of this year. Our 
performance for the 3rd quarter has been well above the target at 95% and we are on track to 
maintain this for the fourth quarter, as set out below within chart 4.

Ongoing work (2016/17)

1. AKI Care bundles:

Chart 4 - AKI Discharge Information to GPs

Page 128



13 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

We have developed a care bundle that will be piloted in the Medical Admissions Unit (MAU) with 
plans to roll it out across the trust. The care bundles incorporate a minimum set of standards of care 
to be implemented in those who have been diagnosed with AKI. The aim is that these care bundles 
will raise awareness and understanding of the risk of AKI, improve the care and treatment of 
patients with AKI and enhance their recovery.

2. AKI Risk assessment tool:
Some patients are predisposed and at a higher risk of developing AKI due to their underlying health 
problems and the medications they are currently on. We have developed a risk assessment tool and 
this will be tested in one of the wards. This tool, once finalised, will enable clinical teams to identify 
patients who are at increased risk of developing AKI so that appropriate interventions can be put in 
place to minimise the chances.

Future Work includes

1. Mini RCA: 
It is estimated that 20-30% of AKI is avoidable. We hope to develop a system to undertake root cause 
analyses for at least the severe forms. This will help us understand the reasons for the AKI and if this 
could have been prevented and what measures need to be put in place to prevent this happening 
again.

2. Engagement with primary care:
It is estimated that 65% of the AKI starts in the community and therefore further work needs done to 
raise awareness amongst health care professionals in the community on prevention and management.

Priority 4: Improving the quality and timeliness of information provided to GP’s when patients go 
home to ensure there is safe handover to primary care

A Discharge Summary or Transfer of Care document is a letter written by the doctors and the multi-
professional teams caring for a person in hospital. It contains important information about that persons 
hospital stay including why they came in, what diagnosis was made, what tests they had, what medications 
they were being discharged on and what changes had been made during their stay. Follow up 
arrangements and future planning are also documented.

A working group was set up in July 2015 to improve the information included in the discharge summary. 
Feedback from GP’s, patients and relatives, junior doctors completing the form, senior doctors, 
pharmacists, nursing staff,  patient safety representatives and audit results all contributed to this work. A 
meeting was also held with the University Hospitals Bristol discharge summary lead to ensure consistency 
across the local health system.

Key changes made include;

1) Moving medications to the bottom of the discharge summary keeping diagnosis at the top (more 
clinically coherent)

2) Include treatment escalation decision discussions 
3) Bring together the delirium diagnosis and cognitive problems
4) Clarity around responsible consultant and team details in case of query
5) Elective or emergency admission
6) Advice section for patient-encourage patient responsibility for making appointments with GP
7) Adding whether the patient had been septic during their stay
8) Infection risks
9) Clarifying reasons for medication additions and changes and stoppages
10)  Follow-up arrangements clearly stated
11)  Increase the proportion of discharge summaries sent electronically

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) standards for completion were audited for Quarter 2 
and 3 through a joint audit with a local GP and we were pleased to exceed targets for accurate completion 
at rates above 75% in both cases.

Page 129



14 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Building on this success, we will be progressing further work in 2016-2017, such as;

1) Deceased patient summary for GP to help support relatives
2) Aiming for electronic summary for all GP’s
3) Medication education information for discharge
4) Pharmacy to check reconciliation system on discharge (aiming for 100% of summaries.)
5) Customising discharge summaries for specialities 

Our Priorities for Improvement for 2016/17

We will continue to improve the quality of care for patients as set out in our contract across a wide range of 
areas. For example - prevention of deterioration, continuing reduction of pressure ulcers, reducing the 
number of falls, infection prevention and control, improving nutrition, improve the identification and care for 
patients with Acute Kidney Injury and the management of catheters or other similar items (e.g. tubes or 
drains).  In addition, through our consultation we have agreed with patients, staff and local Healthwatch 
organisations to address the following priorities within the Quality Account:

1. Involving patients, family and carers in decisions about care and treatment.
2. Improving the identification and management of sepsis.
3. Improving care for patients with Dementia or delirium.
4. Improving the consistent delivery of care for patients who are nearing their end of life.

How we will measure progress with these priorities

A clinical lead and supporting reference group will be identified for each priority to drive it forward. 
Improvement measures will be set and the data will be collected and analysed to track progress.  

In addition to the ongoing review at the relevant group, overall progress will be monitored closely by the 
Trust’s Quality Committee chaired by the Medical Director. Its membership includes the Director of Nursing 
and Director of Operations as well as Clinical Directors, chairs of quality and safety committees and other 
key staff involved in monitoring or progressing quality and safety priorities.

Reporting on a wide range of quality measures is presented to the Board every month as part of an 
Integrated Board Report and includes measurements of progress against improvement measures set, 
shown on a quality dashboard. This report is included in the public session of the Trust Board and is 
published on the Trust’s external website as part of the papers. 

In addition, quality measures are reviewed at the Quality Sub Group to South Gloucestershire, Bristol and 
North Somerset CCGs, the main local commissioners for the Trust’s services, plus NHS England who 
commission specialised services.

‘Sign up to Safety’ & NBT Quality Faculty

The Trust Quality and Safety Improvement Team 

Page 130



15 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

The Quality and Safety Improvement Team was set up in June 2015. We lead the Safety Programme for 
North Bristol Trust. The function of the team is to provide direction for safety projects within the programme, 
ensure they align with patient needs and the overall Trust strategy, and generate commitment from 
members of staff involved in the safety work. The team consists of a consultant physician who is the 
associate medical director for safe care, a senior nurse who is the quality and safety improvement lead and 
a radiographer who is a quality improvement practitioner. The team has the medical director as the 
executive lead and report to the Trust’s quality committee.   

What are our aims?

Our aim is to make North Bristol NHS Trust a high-reliability organisation with safety at the heart of its 
culture. We want our staff to be delivering the right care to patients at the right time, even when no-one is 
looking.  

Building improvement capability in our workforce

The Trust is seeking to build upon previous success in delivering quality improvement projects that deliver 
real benefits for our patients. Although a number of staff members are engaged in improvement work 
across the hospital, this work is not always visible to others.

The team have the opportunity to introduce themselves to all new staff at the staff induction days and are 
able to explain why safety and continuous improvement is so important to patients, carers and families. In 
2016 the team have set up quality improvement workshops for all members for staff to attend, (including 
porters, managers, nurses, doctors, and physiotherapists) with a plan to continue these workshops to build 
capability in improvement skills and maintain momentum.      

Keeping patients safe whilst having a positive experience of care are also the underpinning foundations for 
the NHS Outcomes Framework and reflect the approaches and measures recommended by the 
aforementioned resources. 
www.health.org.uk/publications/the-measurement-and-monitoring-of-safety/.

Page 131

http://www.health.org.uk/publications/the-measurement-and-monitoring-of-safety/


16 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

The measurement & monitoring of safety;

Safety Hub

A physical Safety Hub has been launched in the Brunel Building to enable staff to learn about improvement 
science, problem-solve issues with current projects and keep up to date with the ongoing safety work in the 
Trust. The Hub will also have a portable function so that it can make use of different locations e.g. use of 
the staff restaurant and the hospital atrium for staff and patients (recognising that staff will not always have 
the time to be released from clinical areas). The Safety Hub days are advertised and on occasions will 
include speakers. The Safety Hub captures current projects and will include events, workshops, and 
conferences. It will act as an informal support unit for any member of staff wanting to learn about 
improvement science or start up their own project.            

2015/16 Sign up to Safety Priorities for the Trust and team;

The Quality and Safety Improvement Team support a number of work streams within the Trust and these 
include:          

 Reducing Patient Falls 
 Preventing Pressure Ulcers 
 Sepsis Management 
 Acute Kidney injury (AKI) Management
 Safe Medicines
 Prevention of Patient Deterioration 
 Continence
 Dementia and Delirium
 Safe Emergency Care
 Discharge of Patient and the Safe Handover of Care
 Safe Operating Theatre

Fig.1 – Health Foundation: The Measuring and Monitoring of Safety. Drawing together 
academic evidence and practical experience to produce a framework for safety measurement 

and monitoring. – Professor Charles Vincent, Susan Burnett, Jane Carthey – April 2013

Page 132



17 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Organisational Safety Culture

Organisational culture is difficult to define but is vital to address if the ambition to be the ‘best in class’ is to 
be achieved. Organisational culture can be defined as the assumed understandings between the staff of an 
organisation. It means that they share views on the way staff should work together and treat each other and 
their patients. We have an ambition to be an organisation with a strong safety culture. At the core of this 
plan is improving patient care and bringing about a step change in ‘how we improve and manage the 
quality agenda’. The aim is to make quality everyone’s business to increase the profile of the work staff 
currently do in relation to this agenda, bring about a system of total quality management that creates a 
culture of team working, efficient working practices based on the newest technology, systems based 
thinking, best evidence and a culture of continuous improvement.  This year we will start work in key areas 
such as Theatres and the Emergency Zone by undertaking a safety survey with staff and developing 
improvement work streams through the feedback received.

Emergency Department Improvement Work
When inspectors from the Care Quality Commission (CQC) first visited the department in November 2014 – 
six months after the move from outdated facilities at Frenchay Hospital to the new hospital at Southmead – 
they had significant concerns around overcrowding, primarily due to issues associated with flow and 
patients accessing beds in a timely manner. 

The Emergency Department was rated as “inadequate” overall; therefore a warning notice was placed on 
the department when the report was published in February 2015. 

Since then there has been a relentless focus on making improvements – so much so that in its latest report, 
published on 6th April 2016, the CQC has rated the service as “good” overall. The requirements of the 
warning notice were fully met following a subsequent inspection in October last year.

This reflected a number of positive changes, such as;

 An additional triage nurse on duty for every shift, day and night. This has halved the time people are 
waiting to be triaged.

 Creating more space by moving the seated assessment area into the Acute Medical Unit next door.
 Consolidating patient documentation so that the patient record from ambulance to admission to the 

Emergency Department is all in one place and therefore safer for patients and more efficient for 
staff.

 Changing shift patterns for doctors and consultants – meaning that an additional consultant is on 
duty in the department during the middle of the day.

As Matron Juliette Hughes says; “What we have proved is that during busy times we can continue to 
provide safe, excellent care and high quality treatment to patients – even though waiting times may be 
longer than we would like. It is fantastic for us and our patients to have this recognised by the CQC.”

Page 133



18 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

What other Organisations say about the Trust

Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
By law all Trusts must be registered with the CQC under section 10 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 
- to show they are meeting essential quality standards. NHS Trusts have to be registered for each of the 
regulated activities they provide at each location from which they provide them. As at 31/03/16, the Trust is 
registered for all of its regulated activities, without conditions. Without this registration, we would not be 
allowed to operate. 

The Trust has not taken part in any special reviews or investigations by the CQC under section 48 of the 
Health and Social Care Act 2008 during the reporting period. 

The Trust was first inspected by the CQC under its new regime in November 2014. A further inspection was 
undertaken in December 2015, covering services and domains not rated as either ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ 
originally. 

Following publication of the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) latest reports on 6th April 2016, the CQC 
Quality Summit was held on 11th April. The first half was chaired by the CQC with a presentation from the 
Head of Hospitals Inspection, followed by NBT’s response. The CQC’s comments about the Trust’s 
progress were glowing; the overall improvement at NBT over the last 12 months was described as 
“remarkable”. In particular the passionate commitment of our frontline staff and managers in delivering high 
quality care was considered to be “outstanding”. 

The overall sense was of an organisation that is improving but needs to persist with the challenging issues 
reflected in the ‘must do actions’ within the report – namely patient flow and medical records. There is an 
expectation from CQC and NHS Improvement that our health and social care partners will also contribute to 
delivering better flow which needs to be incorporated into the final CQC action plan.

The current ratings across NBT services are shown below as at the end of the financial year 2015/16 and 
the Trust will be submitting an action plan to the CQC by 17th May setting out measures to address those 
issues, aiming for an overall rating of ‘good’ within the next 12-18 months. 

Overall Trust Rating

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led

Overall trust Requires 
improvement

Requires 
Improvement

Good * Requires 
Improvement Good

Table 1 - Trust Rating *Rating from November 2014

Southmead Hospital Rating

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well led Overall 
rating

Urgent & 
Emergency Services Good Good Good * Requires 

improvement Good Good

Medical Care
Requires 

improvement
Requires 

improvement Good *
Requires 

improvement Good Requires 
improvement

Surgery Requires 
improvement

Requires 
improvement Good * Requires 

improvement
Requires 

improvement
Requires 

improvement

Critical care Good Good * Good * Requires 
improvement Good * Good

Maternity & 
Gynaecology Good Good * Good * Good Good * Good

Page 134



19 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well led Overall 
rating

Services for 
Children & Young 
People

Good* Good* Good * Good* Good* Good*

End of life care Requires 
improvement

Requires 
improvement Good * Requires 

improvement
Requires 

improvement
Requires 

improvement

Outpatients & 
Diagnostic Imaging

Requires 
improvement N/A Good * Requires 

improvement Good * Requires 
improvement

Overall location Requires 
improvement

Requires 
improvement Good * Requires 

improvement
Requires 

improvement
Requires 

improvement

Table 2 - Southmead Rating *Ratings from November 2014

Frenchay Hospital Rating

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

Outpatients Requires 
improvement Not rated Good * Requires 

improvement Good * Requires 
improvement

Table 3 - Frenchay Rating *Ratings from November 2014

Cossham Hospital

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

Maternity & 
Gynaecology

Good* Good* Outstanding* Outstanding* Good* Outstanding*

Outpatients Good* Not rated Good* Good* Good* Good*

Table 4 - Cossham Rating *Ratings from November 2014

Community CAMHS Rating

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

Community 
CAMHS 

Requires 
improvement

Good * Good * Good * Requires 
improvement

Requires 
improvement

Table 5 - CAMHS Rating *Ratings from November 2014

Child and adolescent mental health wards (Riverside)

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

CAMHS wards 
Riverside

Good * Good * Good * Good * Good * Good *

Table 6 - Riverside Rating  *Ratings from November 2014

Community health services for children, young people and families

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well-led Overall

Community health
services 

Good * Outstanding* Outstanding* Good* Outstanding* Outstanding*

Table 7 - CYPF Rating *Ratings from November 2014

Page 135



20 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Copies of the full reports for the Trust and each location inspected by the CQC in 2015 are available at;

Trust-wide Quality Report;

http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAE8140.pdf

Southmead Hospital

http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAE8141.pdf

Specialist Community Mental Health Services (Children & young People)

http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAE8142.pdf

Page 136

http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAE8140.pdf
http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAE8141.pdf
http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAE8142.pdf


21 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

2008-...

2009-...

2010-...

2011-...

2012-...

2013-...

2014-...

2015-...
2000

3000

Total Falls

Total Falls

Date

N
o.

 o
f f

al
ls

2008-...

2009-...

2010-...

2011-...

2012-...

2013-...

2014-...

2015-...
10

60

Serious Incident Falls

Serious Incident Falls

Date

N
o.

 o
f f

al
ls

Section 2 – Patient Safety
Reducing Patient Falls

Falls in hospitals are the most common patient safety incidents reported in hospital trusts in England. The 
National Patient Safety Agency (2011) report ‘Essential Care After an Inpatient Fall’ states that each year 
around 282,000 patient falls are reported to the NHS England's Patient Safety division from hospitals and 
mental health units. A significant minority of these falls result in death or in severe or moderate injury.

The human cost of falling includes distress, pain, injury, loss of confidence, loss of independence and 
mortality. Falling also affects the family members and carers of people who fall. Falls are estimated to cost 
the NHS more than £2.3 billion per year, therefore falling has an impact on quality of life, health and 
healthcare costs.

Falls Prevention Steering Group

The Trust has a Falls Prevention steering group which meets monthly. Membership includes ward nursing 
representatives, therapists, pharmacy, the training department, dementia and safeguarding teams and the 
Deputy Director of Nursing. 

The total number of falls has reduced over the last 5 years. The number of falls resulting in serious injuries 
rose in 2014/15 following the move into the new hospital at Southmead but has since reduced. 

What we achieved

Given the majority of Falls resulting in serious injury are in patients with dementia, delirium and cognitive 
impairment, we started working very closely with the Trust’s Enhanced Care Project team, Dementia Team 
and the Health Education Southwest funded Improving Patient Enablement & Continuity of Care (IPECC) 
Reablement project. 

Preventative Care

 Daily falls map to ensure patients are cared for in the right location on the ward and can be 
observed.

 9am Safety Briefing with doctors, nurses and physiotherapists to highlight who is at risk of falling.
 Project to improve medication review by doctors.
 New Falls Care plan with a focus on delirium, blood pressure, medication and vision.
 New bed rail magnets to ensure bed rails are used for the right patients.
 Falls sensors to alert staff if a patient has moved from the bed or chair.
 Improved tools to enable staff to manage patients’ safety after a fall.
 Meaningful Activity Occupational Therapist working with wards to improve the experience of patients 

with dementia in hospital and reduce falls.

Chart 5 - Total Falls Chart 6 - Serious Incident Falls


The Trust remains focused 
on a zero tolerance to 
infection continuously 
striving for reductions of 
infection acquired by 
patients cared for by the 
Trust. We remain 
committed to making 
further improvements over 
the next year.

Page 137



22 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Environment

 Work due to start to improve all inpatient bathrooms to reduce falls risk.
 Delirium Friendly Acute Medical and Complex Care Assessment Units with dementia-friendly 

signage, coloured bathroom suite, and clocks.
 Digital Reminiscence equipment now in use on 20 gates including the Emergency Department to 

help improve experience for patients with cognitive problems.
 Activity boxes for people with dementia (including old photos, colourful materials, etc.). 

Training

A Lead Nurse for falls prevention was employed in September 2015 using NHS England Sign Up to Safety 
funding. The Lead Nurse has provided face-to-face training for 817 nursing staff in falls prevention over 6 
months. Training at Induction has been improved to include training for healthcare assistants and scenario 
training has been developed. Equipment has been purchased to enable simulation training in falls for junior 
doctors and multi-professional teams. 

Current Outcomes

There were 2257 falls this year compared to 2391 the previous year (a reduction of 134 falls). The current 
falls rate is 6.44 per 1000 bed days (compared to a national acute hospital rate of 6.63), which represents a 
6% reduction compared to last year. Serious Incident falls have reduced by 20% with 26 serious injury falls 
(compared to 33 last year).

Reducing Pressure Ulcers

All people are potentially at risk of developing a pressure ulcer. If these occur they can be debilitating, 
increase complications to health and can have a serious impact on a person’s quality of life. There are 
national frameworks (NICE) in place requiring healthcare establishments have systems in place to prevent 
and monitor incidence of pressure ulcers. 

At North Bristol the prevention of pressure ulcers is a key priority ensuring the safety and quality of care to 
all those receiving treatment in our hospital.  2015/16 sees the completion of the Trust’s first of three years 
of sign up to safety for which the reduction of pressure ulcers is one of the objectives with a target to 
reduce incidence of grades 2-4 by 50% by the end of year 3 (2017/18). 

2015/16 has seen a significant improvement on the incidence of pressure ulcers grades 2-4, as shown in 
the table below, which is a result of continuous focus from work started in 2014/15 and robust review of all 
grade 3 and 4 pressure ulcers. Key themes are established from each case, which informs the tissue 
viability team of the educational and training needs for clinical staff.  This year’s success culminated with a 
regional study day with presentations by nationally recognised experts, attended by over 150 staff from 
both the hospital and community settings and the launch of a Pan Avon Dressings Formulary.

The Trust remains focused on continuous reduction to avoidable health care acquired pressure ulcers. 
Broader work has already commenced with a hospital and quality improvement collaboration to reduce 
pressure ulcers within the Bristol, North Somerset & South Gloucester health system.

Pressure Ulcer GradeYear

Grade 4 Grade 3 Grade 2

2014/15 6
 

14 378

2015/16 0
 

7 326

Total % 
reduction

100% 50% 14%

Table 8 - Pressure Ulcer Guide

Page 138



23 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Chart 7 - Funnel plot for pressure ulcer incidence – indicates NBT remains within safe limit

Intravenous Fluids Management

In August 2014, NICE published a clinical guideline and quality standard for intravenous (IV) fluid therapy in 
hospital. This was in response to a number of reports highlighting poor or unsafe care of patients with a 
requirement for IV fluids. Errors in assessment and management of patients’ IV fluid requirements are 
common (around 20% of patients have complications). The task of assessing and managing patients’ IV 
fluid needs can be left to the most junior and inexperienced staff with little knowledge of patient daily 
requirements or the composition of common IV fluids.

We developed a Fluids working group with doctors, nurses, pharmacists, dieticians and education staff to 
review and improve practice.

What we achieved

 We have developed three levels of e-learning training and competency assessment to target all 
healthcare professionals including doctors, nurses, dieticians, pharmacists, healthcare assistants 
and physiotherapists. 

 In addition, we have delivered practical and simulation sessions in IV fluid management for junior 
doctors. 

 We have modified the hospital clinical incident reporting tool to enable easier reporting of incidents 
related to poor fluid management. A monthly report is reviewed and actioned by the IV fluids lead. 

 The IV fluids working group is working closely with other working groups in the hospital, particularly 
Acute Kidney Injury and Sepsis. 

 A new intravenous fluid prescription chart was implemented.
 A new hydration chart has been developed and piloted with a view to improving the documentation 

of hydration in patients without complex fluid needs.
 An advanced fluid management tool has been developed for use in patients with complex IV fluid 

needs and has shown improvement in fluid recording. We will now be working on the spread of 
these tools and also test a new hydration risk assessment tool.

Catheters and Continence Management

It is estimated that 1 in 5 people in the UK have trouble with bladder control, and 1 in 10 have trouble with 
bowel control. Within our hospital between 15 and 20% of our patients will have a catheter inserted in their 
bladder to drain their urine. Some patients come into the hospital with a catheter and others will have one 
for a short time as part of their hospital treatment. It is important that catheters are kept very clean and well 
cared for, to reduce the risk of patients getting infections in their bladders or kidneys.  

North Bristol NHS Trust has a good record for catheter care with less than 0.5% of our patients with 
catheters being diagnosed with a urine infection in 2015/16; however we need to ensure that catheters are 
only used when necessary and that they are removed as soon as they are no longer needed.

NBT

Page 139



24 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

What we did in 2015/16:

Catheter Care Plan

In 2015 we designed, tested and implemented a new Catheter Care Plan to ensure that all patients receive 
the care that they need to reduce the risk of infection. The care plan includes a new section which reminds 
the nursing staff to check every shift whether the patient still needs a urinary catheter or whether it can be 
taken out. The design also helps the nurses to keep track of when the catheter bag is due for changing.

Catheter Care Re-launch Week

In April 2015 we held a special week-long event focusing on Catheter Care, with key messages about 
reducing the risk of infection going to all clinical staff via email and computer reminders. All the Matrons and 
Ward sisters used their regular walk-rounds to talk to staff about Catheter Care and check that all patients 
with catheters were receiving safe care.

On-going Work in 2016/17

World Continence Week 

Our next focus on continence and catheter care will be during World Continence Week, 20th to 26th June 
2016, when we will be sharing the latest developments in continence with our teams through publications 
and special events.

Policy review

During 2016 we will be reviewing our policies for Bowel Management and Catheter Care as well as 
developing a new policy for supporting patients to maintain or regain Continence.

Improving practice

We are working with our colleagues in the community, and with the companies that supply continence 
equipment to ensure that we select good quality, cost effective products which our patients can use in 
hospital and in their homes.

Preventing Deterioration prior to Cardiac Arrest

Cardiac arrests in hospital are rarely a sudden event. There is evidence to show that patients will often 
present with signs of deterioration prior to suffering a cardiac arrest.

Patients who are deteriorating often show signs and symptoms indicating their worsening state. Early 
Warning Scores (EWS) calculates a score based on the patient’s key physiological measurements and 
provides an indicator of how sick a patient is, thus enabling the recognition and escalation of care of 
patients whose condition is worsening.

All inpatients within the Trust have their physiological observations (respiratory rate, levels of oxygen, 
pulse, blood pressure, level of consciousness and temperature) measured and recorded in accordance with 
the Trust Observations Policy.

This early recognition and management of patient observations may prevent avoidable patient admissions 
to the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) and help prevent avoidable cardiac arrests and the need for 
Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (CPR).

In December the Trust changed the Observation chart to incorporate the nationally validated National Early 
Warning Score (NEWS), this was undertaken in conjunction with other healthcare providers within the 
Southwest to support the use of common terminology and help support the patient journey. 

As illustrated in chart 8, since the implementation of the NEWS chart there has been a significant increase 
in the number of patients who have triggered and as a result been escalated for medical review. This is a 
positive sign, reflecting the successful implementation of the NEWS chart which helps to ensure we identify 
and act upon patients who are showing signs of deterioration. 

Page 140



25 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Ju
n-

14

Ju
l-1

4

Au
g-

14

Se
p-

14

O
ct

-1
4

N
ov

-1
4

De
c-

14

Ja
n-

15

Fe
b-

15
M

ar
-1

5

Ap
r-

15

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n-

15

Ju
l-1

5

Au
g-

15

Se
p-

15

O
ct

-1
5

N
ov

-1
5

De
c-

15

Ja
n-

16

Fe
b-

16
M

ar
-1

6

0

50

100

150

200

EWS Calls Rate Median 2015 (42.5)

EWS Trigger Calls Rate per 1000 Discharges (Live and Dead)
June 14 - March 16

Date

Tr
ig

ge
r C

al
ls

 R
at

e

Jun-14
Jul-1

4

Aug-1
4

Se
p-14

Oct-
14

Nov-1
4

Dec-1
4
Jan

-15

Fe
b-15

Mar-
15

Apr-1
5

May
-15

Jun-15
Jul-1

5

Aug-1
5

Se
p-15

Oct-
15

Nov-1
5

Dec-1
5
Jan

-16

Fe
b-16

Mar-
16

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

1.4

1.6

Crash Calls Rate Median 2015 (0.6)

Crash Calls Rate per 1000 Discharges (Live and Dead)
June 14 - March 16

Date

Cardiac Arrest rates

The Trust’s cardiac arrest rate continues to reduce. Chart 9 shows that the Trust median rate is 0.6 per 
1000 discharges, which shows NBT to be much better than the National Average of approximately 1.5 per 
1000.

 

The reduction in the number of cardiac arrests in the Trust over the past 5 years is shown below.

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015 / 2016
215 163 148 125 103

Table 9 - Reduction in number of cardiac arrests

Chart 9 - Crash Calls Rate per 1000 Discharges (Live and Dead) June 14 – Jan 16

Chart # - EWS Trigger Calls Rate per 1000 Discharges (Live and Dead) June 14 – Jan 16

Page 141



26 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Achievements
 Successful implementation of the NEWS chart across the organisation – currently working with the 

Emergency Department and Neurosciences.
 Successful implementation of a funded project looking at the benefits of In Situ simulation training of 

our Acute Medical Admissions units in identifying and treating confirmed or suspected sepsis.
 Increased training and awareness of the deteriorating patient through practical assessment, 

simulation and focused debriefing for all Foundation Doctors and Nursing staff.
 Combined working with the Sepsis Group to integrate sepsis screening with NEWS.
 Continued improvement in the reduction of cardiac arrests.
 Clearer communication from the wards via our switchboard operators to the medical teams.
 Work with GPs and community services to use the NEWS for acutely unwell patients to enable clear 

handover of patients to the Ambulance Service and Emergency Department.
 Ongoing development and implementation of a structured assessment tool for reviewing unwell 

patients to improve their management; encourage escalation to senior teams and improve 
communication to nursing staff.

 Implementation of a joint educational programme for junior doctors and nurses seeing acutely 
unwell patients using simulation training scenarios.

Venous Thromboembolism (VTE)

This condition encompasses Deep Venous Thrombosis (DVT), where a blood 
clot (thrombus) forms in a vein - often the deep veins of the legs - and 
Pulmonary Embolism (PE) - a blood clot in the lungs.

Providing information to both patients and staff on recognising and reducing the 
risks of VTE is an important factor in our quest to reduce the incidence of VTE. 
Information leaflets are widely available for patients and carers.

There are many risk factors for the formation of blood clots including advancing 
age, obesity, previous episodes of VTE, certain co-existing conditions (e.g. 
cancer) and even long haul flights. VTE can also occur during or after a stay in 
hospital. Risk factors in this case include the condition and/or procedure for 
which the patient is admitted. 

The national target is to assess at least 95% of patients on admission for their 
risks of developing VTE and, following this, provide appropriate 
thrombopropylaxis (measures to reduce the risk of VTE) to at least 90%.

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 (to 
Sept)

85.00%

87.00%

89.00%

91.00%

93.00%

95.00%

97.00% % Achieved

Target

VTE Risk Assessment % Ach.  2013-15

 

Since 2013 VTE training has been mandatory for all clinical staff. We are making good progress in 
delivering this (see graph below) with more than 75% of clinical staff having received it.

In the first half of 2015/16 (April – September), 
for which we have reliable data, the average rate 
of VTE risk assessment was 95.14%.

In the preparation for and post ‘Go Live’ period 
since the implementation of our new Patient 
Administration System, the reliability of data has 
reduced. For this measure the main impact has 
arisen from backlogs in the clinical coding of 
patient notes, including for VTE.  

This is being closely managed internally and 
scrutinised by the Trust’s commissioners to 
ensure coding backlogs are cleared and a true 
picture obtained of the continued delivery of this 
standard.

Page 142



27 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Jan 
'13

June Sept Dec Mar 
'14

June Sept Dec Feb 
'15

May Aug Nov Feb 
'16

Mar
0

20

40

60

80

100

VTE training figures 2013 - 16

In order to improve the safety and quality of our practice, we currently perform a root-cause analysis review 
of the care provided to approximately 50% of patients who develop VTE during or after their stay in 
hospital. We will to increase this to 100% during the 2016-17 financial year.

We will also be introducing risk assessment and thromboprophylaxis (where appropriate) for patients with 
lower leg fractures who require a plaster cast and can be managed as outpatients. 

Management of Sepsis

Sepsis is a life-threatening condition that arises when the body’s response to an infection injures its own 
tissues and organs. Infections which can give rise to sepsis are common, and include lung infections, urine 
infections, and infections in wounds or the joints. Sepsis can lead to shock, multiple organ failure and 
death, especially if not recognised early and treated promptly. 
Sepsis accounts for 44,000 deaths annually in the UK and is a medical emergency. Patients with the most 
severe forms of sepsis are up to five times more likely to die than patients with a heart attack or stroke. 
Caught early, the outlook is good for the vast majority of patients. Treatment should be started within one 
hour of sepsis being suspected.

NBT has a sepsis working group who meet monthly to work on improvements in identification and 
management. 

What we achieved

 We screened 100% of patients who presented to the Emergency Department who needed 
screening using our electronic patient triage form.

 We improved our antibiotic delivery within 1 hour of entering the emergency department from 50% 
at the end of September 2015 to 83% at the end of December 2015.

 We are testing a new tool to improve sepsis identification on our surgical and medical wards.
 We have delivered sepsis training to staff in the Acute Medical Unit.
 All patients who are admitted with or develop sepsis whilst in hospital have this information included 

on their Handover of Care Discharge Summary to improve communication to the GP Practice when 
they leave hospital.

Medicines Management

The Trust has an excellent reputation nationally as being at the forefront of improving safety in medicines 
management.

This commitment to safety and quality improvement is no better illustrated than by the recognition we’ve 
received in 2015:

 We have been shortlisted for 3 national awards:
- “Patient Safety Congress” – Patient Safety Awards (July 2015: Birmingham)

Chart 10 - VTE Training Figures 2013 - 16

Page 143



28 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

- “Pharmaceutical Care Awards” (June 2015: London)
- “I Love My Pharmacist Award” (November 2015)

 We have presented at 2 National and 3 European conferences.
 Our work has been published in:

- NICE’s Local Practice Collection (March 2015)   
www.nice.org.uk/savingsandproductivityandlocalpracticeresource

Since 2007 we have made ongoing improvements and as part of our Medicines Quality and Improvement 
work we continue to remain focused on the following 3 areas;

 Medicines Reconciliation
 Missed doses
 Warfarin

Medicines Reconciliation 

Why is this important?

Ensuring an accurate record of medications on admission to hospital is important for safe treatment. 
Reconciliation is a process of confirming the medication that a patient is taking with at least two 
independent sources of information. 

Prescribing errors can result in harm to patients and the aim of this process is to ensure when patients are 
admitted to hospital that important medicines aren’t stopped and that new medicines are prescribed, with a 
complete knowledge of what a patient is already taking. NBT set a target of 95% for patients admitted to 
have their medicines reconciled within 24 hours.

Progress to Date

QIPP Benchmarking Data: 2010 – 2016

In 2012 our data was submitted to the national “Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention” (QIPP) 
benchmarking and still shows that NBT is the best performing Trust in England and Wales.

Key: ------ NBT    ------- Other Acute Trusts in England and Wales

Chart 11 - Percentages Medicines Reconciliation on Admission 2010 – Jan 2016

Future work 

Now that the team has achieved and maintained our target, we are continuing to monitor and review results 
but are now starting to focus on Medicines Reconciliation on discharge and have several discharge work 
streams.

Missed Doses  

Why is this important?

Page 144

http://www.nice.org.uk/savingsandproductivityandlocalpracticeresource


29 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Avoiding missed doses is important to ensure a patient’s care is not compromised. Missed doses were 
highlighted as an issue at the Trust following a review of incident forms. 

Chart 12 - Percentage of patients with one or more missed doses across NBT

Progress to Date

Progress on reducing “missed doses” has generally been shown since 2010. Pharmacists continue to 
measure missed doses on a daily basis and wards also collect data.  Medicines Management Technicians 
and Pharmacists contribute to investigating incidents and look to remove underlying causes.

Results deteriorated after the move to the new hospital but this is now starting to improve. We are now 
targeting wards breaching the target on the monthly reports. The team are working closely together to 
ensure improvements are being made and a new Safety Briefing is being finalised together with an updated 
flow diagram on how to access drugs and avoid missed doses.

Future work 

We also undertook work on patients with Parkinson’s disease in association with the “Get It on Time” 
campaign to ensure that these patients do not miss crucial medication. This is now being reviewed to re-
highlight to those wards linking in with the testing of the new prescription chart. 

Page 145



30 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Warfarin Control

Why is this important? 

Warfarin is an anticoagulant and is a high risk medicine that can cause increased risk of bleeding when 
there is poor control of Warfarin management. 

Progress to Date 

Since 2011 we have worked on improvements by monitoring causes of high International Normalised Ratio 
(INR) levels. We identified that interacting drugs and inappropriate prescribing were the main causes. We 
have therefore updated our anticoagulation chart to allow prescribers and pharmacists to more prominently 
display interacting medications, and made a change to the low dose loading regimen for Warfarin. Key 
important themes have also been included in a doctors and nurses e-learning package launched in 2014 
and 2015 respectively. 

INR greater than 6 for inpatient having INR tests for Warfarin control

Chart 13 - INR Greater than 6 for inpatient having INR tests for Warfarin control

The run chart shows the reduction in the number of NBT inpatients having an INR greater than 6. A 
medication safety alert for Warfarin was circulated in November 2014 to all clinical staff.

The newer oral anticoagulants Apixaban, Rivaroxaban and Dabigatran are now widely prescribed and 
constitute a bleeding risk. Patient safety work with these medicines has included a patient information 
leaflet, Anticoagulation Alert Cards, patient counselling checklists and a Medication Safety Alert in March 
2015. 

Future work 

We plan to feedback findings of mini root cause analysis for inpatient INRs greater than 6 to directorate 
Clinical Governance leads quarterly.

Page 146



31 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

0.0
1.0
2.0
3.0
4.0
5.0
6.0
7.0
8.0
9.0

10.0
11.0
12.0

Quarterly MRSA case rates per 100k bed days

NBT Regional National

MD07
999

0.0
5.0

10.0
15.0
20.0
25.0
30.0
35.0
40.0
45.0
50.0
55.0
60.0
65.0
70.0

Quarterly C-Difficile case rates per 100k bed 
days

NBT Regional National

MD08
999

Reducing Harm from Infection 

A healthcare-associated infection can occur in any patient receiving care in a healthcare setting, with the 
potential to delay recovery and affect quality of life. At North Bristol the prevention of healthcare-associated 
infections remains one of our key priorities ensuring the safety and quality of care to all those receiving 
treatment in our hospital.  

The Trust’s compliance with infection prevention and control standards and rates of infection is monitored 
against nationally recognised frameworks which include the Hygiene Code (DH, 2008) and the National 
Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE). The Trust’s Medical Director holds the position of Director of 
Infection, Prevention and Control (DIPC) supported by an established infection prevention and control team 
who are responsible for ensuring the implementation and facilitation of best practice and investigating 
cases relating to healthcare associated infection, the emphasis that the prevention of infection is the 
responsibility of every member of staff employed by the Trust with the message that IPC is “everyone’s 
business”.

Having had zero incidence of hospital acquired MRSA bacteraemia since September 2013; it was 
disappointing to report 3 MRSA Bacteraemia for 2015/16, with the first case occurring in August followed by 
one each in September and January. Each case was individually investigated to establish the root cause, 
with actions in place from those lessons learnt. The key areas for improvement were the embedding of 
recommendations for MRSA patient screening, and the care and management of indwelling devices.

C. Difficile infection (CDI) remains an unpleasant and potentially severe infection that occurs within 
healthcare especially to those who have had antibiotic treatment. The Trust continues to work very hard at 
reducing the number of patients acquiring C Difficile whilst in our care. Each year the Trust is set a national 
target which for 2015/16 was 43 cases. This was significant reduction on the trajectory from the previous 
year (2014/15) of 79 cases. In addition to the target of 43 cases there has also been national recognition 
that some cases of CDI are outside the control of the healthcare setting that detected the infection. 

An individual investigation takes place to understand if there have been any lapses in the quality of care 
provided in each case. This process has been in place for several years at NBT, which has had a positive 
impact in the reduction of incidence. Key themes and actions have centred on the cleanliness of the 
environment and point of care equipment and early detection through prompt sampling.

In 2015/16, 51 cases of CDI were reported against a target of 43, however only 32 of these were as a result 
of a lapse in care at the Trust, therefore below the national target. 

The Trust will continuously strive for reductions of infection acquired by patients cared for by the Trust. 

Chart 14 - Quarterly C-Difficile case rates per 100k bed days Chart 15 - Quarterly MRSA case rates per 100k bed days

Page 147



32 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

84

67

45 51

38

40
35

5 1 3

2

11 3

20

22
24

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

C-Difficile cases (HAI)
C-Difficle cases (CAI)
MRSA cases (HAI)
MRSA cases (CAI)
MSSA (HAI)

Infection Control
C-Diff, MRSA & MSSA 2012/13 to 2015/16

Chart 16 - Infection control Cdiff, MRSA, MSSA  

Screening for and treating alcohol related conditions

Alcohol dependence affects 4% of the adult population in the UK. Nearly 1 in 4 of adults drinks alcohol at a 
harmful or potentially harmful level. It costs the NHS around £3.5 billion a year. 

Alcohol related liver disease is a disease of the young. The average age of death is 59 years. The mortality 
from liver disease continues to rise whilst deaths from conditions such as heart disease, diabetes and 
cancer is falling year on year. 

There was a national and confidential enquiry into patients with alcohol related liver disease in 2013 which 
came up with a number of key recommendations. A working group was created to address these 
recommendations. 

What we achieved:

We implemented an expansion of the alcohol specialist nurse (ASN) service from 1 nurse to 2.8 WTE 
nurses. A review of attendances related to alcohol in North Bristol showed that when a patient attended 
hospital for an alcohol related issue and they were seen by an ASN, the chance of them coming back to 
hospital was 5% compared to 15% when they didn’t see an ASN. The ASN also attends the weekly liver 
clinic which provides opportunistic intervention for patients who may not wish to engage with community 
support services. 

A Bristol-wide strategy was created in 2015 to improve medical assessment of alcohol related harm. This 
includes formally screening more patients attending hospital for alcohol misuse with an evidence based tool 
and using different detoxification regimes to what were used previously, which are shown to reduce the 
length of stay and be safer. 

Page 148



33 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Currently 10 of the wards are using the new system and the screening tool has been incorporated into the 
admissions proforma for people admitted into the directorate of Medicine. Since the new proforma has 
been introduced, the percentage of people being screened for alcohol misuse has increased from 35% to 
65% in 6 months. A deficiency has been noted in screening patients over the age of 65 and this will be a 
focus of improvement in the upcoming months by positively improving the culture of asking everyone about 
their alcohol use. 

A ‘liver care bundle’ has been created to standardise the approach to patients attending the hospital with 
liver cirrhosis. This ensures timely investigation and management of this condition with early identification 
of infections and kidney failure which can be fatal if not identified early in this group of patients. 

The management of patients with alcohol related liver disease has been incorporated into a number of 
teaching programmes for various levels of junior doctors and the identification of alcohol misuse and 
management has been included into the Trust induction programme which occurs monthly for all new 
clinical staff. 

Improving Theatre Safety – 5 Steps to Safer Surgery and World Health Organisation (WHO) 
Checklist

During 2015/16 Team Theatres have been focussed on continuing the work related to Improving Theatre 
Safety which was identified as a priority in 2014/15.

The 5 steps to Safer Surgery continue to be used for all patients undergoing an invasive procedure in the 
Operating Theatres and the Interventional Radiology Rooms.

These are listed as:

 STEP 1: TEAM BRIEF
 STEP 2: SIGN IN
 STEP 3: TIME OUT
 STEP 4: SIGN OUT
 STEP 5: TEAM DE-BRIEF

Every member of the team is involved with these 5 steps and is encouraged to speak up if they have any 
concerns or questions related to the patient and the procedure which is taking place.

This ensures that through effective communication the safety of the patient is maintained - the correct 
patient is having the correct operation supported by staff with the appropriate experience and skills and that 
the right equipment is available.

Compliance with the 5 Steps to Safer Surgery and WHO Checklist is measured against a target of 100% 
with 2015/16 performance achieving 92.6% for WHO and 84.8% for Safer Surgery. This shows a decrease 
in compliance from 2014/15. This information is taken from an electronic Theatre Information System. In 
addition, a paper WHO checklist is completed and retained in the patient’s notes. In order to improve this 
position, a daily review of operations where a WHO checklist has not taken place is being completed. This 
allows for a review of the patient’s notes and checking for a checklist. If present this can then be inputted 
on to the electronic system retrospectively.

Work has commenced to change the way that patients are booked for emergency operations moving from 
a paper based system to using an electronic system which is already used for the booking of x-rays and 
laboratory tests. The benefits of this are that will improve safety as patients are booked in using their 
dedicated hospital number with specific operation details, it will allow for auditing of efficiency of the 
emergency operating lists to ensure that patients are getting their procedures within an appropriate time 
scale and that the resource is being used efficiently. 

To guarantee that staff have the appropriate skills and experience a formal system for measuring skills and 
gaps in skills has been introduced within Team Theatres – the ‘Skills Matrix’. Alongside this set 
supernumerary periods have been agreed to support new staff into the Theatre environment allowing them 
to gain the basic skills required and on which to build.

Page 149



34 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Additional instruments have been purchased and introduced into the system to make certain that the 
correct instruments are available, and there has been reduction in the non-conformance with 
decontamination standards which assures that instruments are safe for use.

A new role is being introduced for the development and delivery of a multi-professional simulation based 
education projects focussing on human factors training including simulation of emergency situations so that 
all involved know their roles and are prepared.

Improving Emergency Laparotomy Care at NBT

NBT has been participating in the National Emergency Laparotomy Audit since 2013, which aims to 
improve care in this high risk patient group. We collect information on all patients having this emergency 
surgery including preoperative risk assessment, treatment of sepsis, time to theatre, consultant supervision 
in theatre, postoperative care, mortality and lengths of stay.

Since September 2015, NBT is one of 30 Trusts in England participating in the Emergency Laparotomy 
Collaborative (ELC). The ELC is a two-year quality improvement project aimed at improving standards of 
care and outcomes for patients undergoing emergency laparotomy. We aim to save 1000 lives over the 
next 2 years.

We have introduced a six-step care bundle to standardise patient care from admission to postoperative 
stay. This includes:

1. Use of National Early Warning Score (NEWS) and measurement of lactate to identify patients most 
at risk, and the delivery of prompt resuscitation.

2. Use of a sepsis screening tool to identify septic patients and treatment with Sepsis Six.
3. Surgery within 6 hours of decision to operate.
4. Appropriate goal directed fluid resuscitation in theatre.
5. Postoperative critical care for all patients.
6. Consultant led care throughout.

We have introduced a new theatre booking system for emergency laparotomy cases to ensure the 
preoperative steps are being completed. We are monitoring our compliance with the introduction of these 
improvements and give timely feedback on our progress to all the theatre team. We meet regularly with 
other Trusts to share data and ideas on best practice. 

Managing Patient Safety Incidents & Implementing the Duty of Candour

The Trust is committed to minimising the risk of harm to patients in the course of their treatment and care. 
However, incidents do occur and we aim to adopt a pro-active approach to prevent incidents and learn 
lessons to improve patient safety. An open and learning culture operates within the Trust and all patient 
safety incidents are reported to the National Reporting & Learning System (NRLS) and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC). 

The Trust adheres to the principles of Being Open and Duty of Candour as defined by National Health 
Service England (NHSE). The Duty of Candour ensures incidents resulting in harm of moderate levels or 
worse are investigated and a structured process followed to ensure the patient, patients’ families or other 
involved persons are informed throughout the investigation and provided with explanations of the 
investigation findings. 

We have actively promoted staff awareness of the Duty of Candour process since its introduction in April 
2015 and guidance is available to all staff on the intranet. Further changes have been introduced with the 
revised Serious Incident Framework and the Never Event Framework published by NHSE for the 2015/16 
financial year which has been reflected in the Root Cause Analysis (RCA) process for Serious Incidents 
(SI’s).

RCA training is delivered on a monthly basis to senior staff to enable ongoing improvements in the quality 
of SI investigations. Further e-learning packages are being introduced to ensure staff know when and how 
to report and manage incidents. 

Page 150



35 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

All new staff attend an induction programme where patient safety is part of the curriculum, thus introducing 
them to the principles of a good patient safety culture from the outset.

Organisational feedback reports from the NRLS indicated a reduction in the level of reporting from NBT at 
the lower end of the mid-range of national reporting figures last year. In response to this, an improvement 
plan is now in progress to address the issues. This has had a positive effect on the number of incidents 
reported since September (chart 17).

Apr-15 May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan-16 Feb Mar
650

750

850

950

1050

1150

1250

Total Patient Safety Incidents Reported April 2015 to March 2016

A high proportion of incidents resulted in either no harm or low harm to patients, which demonstrates a 
positive approach to incident reporting and a pro-active safety culture (chart 18). 

0%
1%

48%

5%6%

39%

0%

Catastrophic
Major
Minor
Moderate
Near Miss
Negligible
Unavoidable Death

Actual Impact April 2015 to March 2016

There were 56 SI’s investigated from April 2015 to March 2016 (compared to 87 in 2014/15). All of these 
incidents were thoroughly investigated and an action plan for each incident was implemented. All Root 
Cause Analysis reports and the implementation of action plans are agreed and monitored by the Trust’s 
Clinical Risk Committee. 

Types of Serious incidents reported to STEIS April 2015 to March 2016 

The rate of Serious Incidents reported per bed day across the Trust has varied per month over the past 
year (chart 19). Of these, the Trust has seen a positive decrease in the number of pressure ulcers 

Chart 17 - Total Patient Safety Incidents Reported April 2015 to March 2016

Chart 18 - Actual Impact April 2015 to March 2016

Page 151



36 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

occurring in hospital. However, serious falls incidents remain an issue and the Trusts falls group are 
working hard to address the problem (chart 20).

Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15 Oct-15 Nov-15 Dec-15 Jan-16 Feb-16 Mar-16
0

0.05

0.1

0.15

0.2

0.25

0.3

Rate per 1000 bed days Median

Trustwide Serious Incidents Rate per 1000 Bed Days: Apr 2015 - Mar 2016
by Date Reported to STEIS

Pe
r 1

00
0 

Be
d 

Da
ys

DON028
01

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

12 Hour 
Trolley Breach

Delayed 
diagnosis

Delayed 
Treatment of 
Deteriorating 

Patient

Fall

Incorrect Test 
Results

Infection 
control

Information 
Governance

Lost to Follow 
Up

Maternal 
Death

Missed 
Diagnosis

Pressure Ulcer

Retained 
Foreign Object

Surgical 
Complication

Unexpected 
Admission to 

NICU

Unexpected 
Death

Wrong Route 
Medication

Wrong Site 
Surgery

Incidents - Types of SI's reported April 2015 to March 
2016

Never Events

‘Never events’ are a particular type of serious incident that are wholly preventable and have the potential to 
cause serious patient harm. NHS England reference these types of incidents as there is evidence that they 
have occurred in the past and barriers are now in place to ensure they should not occur in Health Care. 
These types of incidents are easily recognised and clearly defined as such in the Never Event Policy 
Framework (NHS England 2015). There were three confirmed never events reported by the Trust in 
2015/16, details of which are as follows;

1) Retained Foreign Object

A patient was admitted to Southmead Hospital for an elective High Anterior Resection. During the 
operation a Wound Protector/Retractor was used.

Chart 19 - Trustwide Serious Incidents Rate per 1000 Bed Days: April 2015 – March 2016

Chart 20 - Incidents – Types of SI’s reported April 2015 – March 2016

Page 152



37 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Three days later the patient became unwell. A CT scan was requested and carried out. This was 
reported – ‘there appears to be a circular prosthesis underlying the ileostomy site’. Later the same 
day the patient returned to theatre, the wound was reopened and a wound protector/retractor was 
removed.

At completion of the operation, Consultant surgeon contacted the patient’s wife and informed her 
there was a foreign body which she had removed and the patient was recovering.

The main points identified in the investigation were;

Root Cause:

 The wound protector/retractor was not included in the count and therefore not identified as 
“missing”.

Although the Swab, Instrument and Needle Count policy states disposable items to be included 
in the counts, there are a number of items that are not routinely counted. This includes wound 
protector/retractors as the visual size, including the outer rigid ring and how it was used, meant it 
would not be able to “slip” into the abdomen.

The following learning points have been taken forward:

At all times Scrub Practitioners must be aware of the location of all swabs, needles, sharps, 
disposable items, instruments and medical devices.

All items entering the sterile field to be part of the swab, instrument and needle counts.
 Theatre senior staff to observe swab and instrument counts carried out, to ensure the quality of 

these counts.
When enlarging an incision after the wound protector has been placed, surgeons to consider 

using a larger wound protector.

2) Wrong Site Surgery

A patient with progressive myelopathy due to cervical spinal cord compression at C4/5 was admitted 
for a C4/5 Anterior Cervical Discectomy + fusion + plate.

During the operation the level was checked with the image intensifier and C5/6 was misinterpreted 
as C4/5. The patient had a fusion at C5/6. This error was recognised when further x-rays were taken 
before plating. Plating of C5/6 was completed. The correct level, C4/5, was identified and 
discectomy with fusion and plating was carried out.

The patient and her husband were informed soon after the operation.

Post op x-ray and scans carried out prior to discharge were satisfactory. On discharge, the patient 
stated her left thumb symptoms are now better, and was discharged the same day having recovered 
well from the surgery.

It was identified that the radiopaque retractor blade was misinterpreted as the marker for C4/5.

The surgeon confused the intraoperative level marker with the radio opaque blade of the cervical 
retractor which looks very similar.

The following learning points have been taken forward:

 There is no nationally agreed technique or protocol for confirming the level of surgery.
 There is a risk of confusing artery clips used as surgical level markers with radio opaque retractor 

blades on an X-ray.
 Further work is underway to monitor current practice and identify the occurrence of this type of 

incident as a National concern. 

Page 153



38 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

3) Wrong Route Medication

A 41 year old gentleman admitted to the Emergency Department with decreased conscious level 
following illicit drug use.

The patient received a wrong route administration of oral medication via an intravenous cannula. 
There was no adverse effect on the patient as a result of the incident.

It was identified that a lack of oral syringes within the isolation suite resulted in a breach of oral 
medication administration policy.

Also, internal escalation status in the hospital resulted in the member of staff lone working in an 
isolation area whilst night staff supported the Acute Medical Admissions Unit.

The recommendations identified from the investigation were:

Enteral syringes must be used for oral liquid medication administration.
Medication should not be left unattended.
Distractions should be avoided whilst administering medication.
Safe staffing levels should be maintained at all times within the isolation unit and lone working 

should be avoided.
Housekeepers to ensure enteral syringes are stocked at all times within the isolation suite. This is 

included in their daily working schedule.
Review staffing within isolation suite, recommend no further lone working.
Purchase mobile phone to enable easy access to nurse in charge on 27b.
Registered nurse not to administer medications until reassessed as competent.
Registered nurse to complete Managed Learning Environment medicines management online.

Page 154



39 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Section 3 – Patient Experience
National Maternity Survey 

The national survey of maternity services was published by the Care Quality Commission in December 
2015. This survey is undertaken every 2 years. The overall response rate for North Bristol Trust was 53% 
(the overall national response rate being 41%). Both Cossham Maternity Hospital & Southmead Maternity 
Hospital were included in the survey.

The survey data was reviewed with other information from patient complaints and the Friends and Family 
Recommender Test. Whilst there are many compliments and positive comments from our mothers the need 
to improve communication was noted and action has been taken which includes a training session within a 
regular study day for midwives, doctors and maternity care assistants on communication, customer care 
and scenarios of poor communication.

Other areas for improvement from the survey area are as follows:   

 Labour and Birth: 
o Ensuring our patients are involved as much as they want to be in decisions about care.               

Postnatal Care: 
o Ensuring mothers have enough information about emotional changes that may be experienced.   
o Ensuring all mothers are always treated with kindness and understanding.
o Ensuring mothers are able to get help from a member of staff within a reasonable time.  
o Enabling anyone close to the patient to be able to stay as long as possible. N.B. Recliner chairs are 

now by all postnatal and antenatal beds to enable partners to stay.
Postnatal carer at home 

o  To seek to improve access to breast feeding advice during evenings, nights and at weekends.  
 Feeding: 

o Antenatal 
 Full discussion of infant feeding during pregnancy. 

o Post Natal 
 Receiving consistent advice. 
 Receive support and encouragement.                            
 Full discussion on infant feeding (where not fully discussed during pregnancy).  

Involving our Board in reviewing the quality of Patient Experience 

In 2015-16 considerable work was undertaken to improve the existing connections between frontline clinical 
teams and the Executive and Non-Executive Directors who make up the Trust Board.

Executive Safety Walkrounds have been a long-standing activity at the Trust, viewed as crucial in 
connecting the most senior-level managers with staff involved in the frontline delivery of care – enabling 
them to observe, enquire, speak to patients, and make time to learn about local issues, success stories and 
innovations, and in doing so take forward key actions and ideas to improve the experience of our patients 
and staff.

A new walkround programme was initiated this year, which involves an improved feedback form for the 
wards, an enhanced schedule which now sees each Executive complete at least 6 walkrounds per year 
across more locations, (this includes our mortuary, discharge lounge, dialysis units and other off-site 
locations), a ‘Summary of Learning’ report to the Trust’s Quality & Risk Management Committee and - for 
the first time - a new Non-Executive Director (NED) walkround based on the national 15-Steps Challenge.

The 15-Steps Challenge is a national toolkit produced by patients to help trusts on 
their continuous improvement journey.  It focuses on the patient/relative perspective 
on first entering a ward or clinical area and the various factors which instil 
confidence in the quality of care that they will receive. Given the success of this tool 
among Boards at other Trusts, we decided the 15 Steps to be a good framework to 
base our new NED walkrounds on – observing areas with a more holistic view, 
particularly suited to role of the NED within an NHS Trust.

This year we had a 49.9% response rate to the 
Inpatient Survey. As a result of patient feedback 
we have agreed on areas of improvement 
including:  Discharged patients

Page 155



40 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

A total of 32 walkrounds have been undertaken 2015-16, producing lots of rich descriptive information and 
intelligence on both staff and patient experience to be looked at and taken forward as a whole at executive 
level.  These walkrounds have taken place across a range of services including maternity services, our 
Neonatal Intensive Care Unit, theatres, our Riverside Inpatient Mental Health Unit, Interventional 
Radiology, Medical Day Care and many more specialties and inpatient areas.

16

34

22

25

31.3.15 31.3.16 (forecast)
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Exec/NED walkrounds completed
External reviews added to central 
tracker

Risk/Compliance
Executive Walkrounds & External Review

No. Walkrounds / 
External reviews

Chart 21 - Risk/Compliance – Executive Walkrounds and External Review

Each of our 7 NEDs, including the Trust Chairman, have completed at least one 15-Steps style walkround 
this year and, due to their success, are now scheduled to complete a further 2 each during 2016-17.  The 
informal format of “coffee and chat” with the Matron and Sister for the ward before the walkround, followed 
by debrief and discussion of actions at the conclusion of the walkround have been felt positively by both our 
NEDs and nurse managers.

Our target for 2016-17 is for 62 walkrounds to take place, covering all of our main services and locations, 
and allowing greater staff contact with our Executive and Non-Executive Team.  We aim to continually 
improve the feedback loop between ward and board, and the sharing of - and ultimately ability to act on - 
information in both directions.

Friends and Family Test – Patients

What is FFT? 

The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is an important feedback tool that supports the fundamental principle 
that people who use NHS services should have the opportunity to provide feedback on their experience.

It asks people if they would recommend the service they have used to their family and friends if they ever 
needed to use it. There are a range of responses available including the opportunity to explain why they 
have given that response. This commentary is vital to help us make improvements and celebrate that we 
are doing well.

The opportunity to give feedback should be provide to all patients attending outpatient clinics; those who 
are inpatients and those attending the emergency department. Maternity services offer the opportunity to 
their mothers and mums to be at 4 points of their care.   

Page 156



41 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Response rates: 

The overall response rate against the required target by these services is provided in table 10 below, as 
well as the percentage of patients that would recommend the service to their family and friends. This shows 
that we have not been able to achieve the required national targets during the year on a consistent basis.  
Achieving increases in response rates is a key area of focus for 2016/17.

Response Rate % Recommend

Area Target NBT Mths 
ach.

NBT National 
avge.

Inpatients 30% 22% 3 96.2% 95.0%

ED 20% 9% 5 92.9% 87.0%

Outpatients 5% 2% 0 92.9% 92.0%

Maternity 15% 13% 4 95.3% 95.3%

Table 10:  Overall % response rates against required levels and % of respondents recommending the service

What did our patients tell us?

The overwhelming feedback is of a really positive experience by patients, emphasising the importance of 
good communication, kindness, compassion and respect.

Themes from the inpatient comments analysis from the year 2015-16 for both positive and negative 
aspects are set out in table 11 below.

Positive experience themes    Number of 
comments Negative experience themes Number of 

comments 
Staff + 7030 Waiting / Delays:  - 210
General Quality of Care: + 3830 Food / Catering:  - 185
Food / Catering:  + 738 Staff:  - 165
Facilities:  + 604 Facilities:  - 135
Cleanliness:  + 589 TV:  - 126
Information:  + 358 Noise:  - 90
Environment:  + 286 General Quality of Care: - 72
Comfortable: + 157 Staffing levels:  - 59
Nursing Care: + 75 Information:  - 55
Waiting / Delays:  + 72 Environment:  - 47
Communication between staff + 51 Communication between staff - 37
Involving family/carers + 26 Parking:  - 28
Privacy:  + 25 Moving Wards etc:  - 25
TV:  + 19 Discharge:  - 22

Table 11 - Feedback from Inpatient FFT

What changed? 

The benefit of FFT is that the feedback is about that immediate experience. Whilst it is anonymous, actions 
can be taken to help improve matters for all patients. Below are some comments that patients gave us and 
the action that took place. 

 “Highly specialist neurological team worked their magic and got us the best present for 
Christmas, my mother’s speech back. Areas for improvement, shelf in shower, so soap, 
shampoo and conditioner does not drop. Some patients cannot reach the floor.”

- Action taken: shelving put into shower facilities.

Page 157



42 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

 “My experience towards the end of my stay was very good, but at the beginning it was very 
confusing and not easy to feel confident in their care because I kept being told something 
different and a lot of the nurses and doctors didn't seem to know what was wrong with me. It 
was much better when I had the same nurse for more than 1 day and 1 night. Communication 
between the different teams was very bad and clear communication with me was not often very 
good, which left me nervous and unsure.” 

- Action taken: staff reminded of the need to ensure staff are clear what is happening with the 
patient and any changes are shared with the patients whilst ensuring the patient has 
understood. 

 “This hospital and staff have provided an amazing and comforting experience. The building 
and equipment are state-of-the-art and the dedication and team spirit of the staff is self-
evident. It is a massive yes from me!”

Other actions that have taken place across the Trust:

 TVs are now in place across ward areas in the Brunel building. Further work is required to 
establish TVs across the wards in maternity. 

 The quality and choice of food and availability throughout the day. 

Feedback from Healthwatch 

During 2015-16 we have worked hard to build a positive and responsive relationship with Healthwatch as 
this provides valuable insight to us. We continue to receive feedback through Healthwatch of Bristol, South 
Gloucestershire and North Somerset of the experience of members of the public who have used our 
services. We respond and link this to our patient experience improvement actions, with formal reporting into 
our Patient Experience Group.   

In August and November 2015 Healthwatch Bristol visited our Hospital and sought the views and 
experiences of those coming to the Brunel Building and from inpatients on a number of wards. The full 
report of this feedback and the recommendations & actions being taken can be found through the following 
link to the report 

http://healthwatchbristol.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/Healthwatch-Bristol-visit-to-Southmead-
Hospital-November-2015-summary-reportCL.pdf

The key aspects of the report are as follows: 

 Parking and transport – this remains a challenging issue but will greatly improve with the opening 
of Brunel Phase 2 and the increased patient and staff car parking this will bring in July 2016.

 The positive attitude of staff and volunteers.
 Information provision and understanding treatment.
 Getting in contact with the right department and people.
 Getting around the hospital – the Atrium ‘buggy’ was greatly valued; signage and way finding could 

be improved in certain areas.
 Single rooms- enjoyed by some but some older people found them lonely. The TVs have helped 

considerably. 
 Food – quality and choice had improved, more choice for those on special diets was requested 

and the feedback is greatly valued by the Trust and has strengthened our relationship with 
Healthwatch.

Examples of patient comments through Healthwatch

 “The commentator said that they thought the entrance to the Brunel Building of Southmead Hospital 
is impressive and they like the internal shuttle buggy service which takes patients to their gate”

 “Even the consultant pushed me in my wheelchair. I cannot fault the service at Southmead."

Page 158

http://healthwatchbristol.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/Healthwatch-Bristol-visit-to-Southmead-Hospital-November-2015-summary-reportCL.pdf
http://healthwatchbristol.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/Healthwatch-Bristol-visit-to-Southmead-Hospital-November-2015-summary-reportCL.pdf


43 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

 “The commentator said that they are not happy with the procedure involved with moving patients 
from different rooms or departments in the middle of the night, without any prior notice or the 
patient’s family being informed.”

NHS Staff Survey and Staff Friends & Family Test

2015 National Staff Attitude Survey – Recommendation to Friends and Family

The National Staff Attitude Survey is an annual survey that takes place during Quarter 3 of the financial 
year.  This helps to ensure that the views of staff working in the NHS inform local improvements and 
provide input into local and national assessments of quality, safety and delivery of the NHS Constitution. All 
eligible staff in the Trust were invited to complete the survey during September to December 2015.  2636 
staff responded, giving a response rate of 30% (compared to 25% the previous year).  

Overall some improvements were made in the 2015 survey but we have further to go.  We are building on 
the work we did in 2015 to improve by:

 Identifying the three Trust-wide changes that will make the most difference.
 Engaging staff in the Directorates in identifying the key actions that will make the most difference 

locally.

The score below corresponds to the survey questions relating specifically to staff recommendation of the 
Trust as a place to work or receive treatment. It is correlated from the following questions:

 Care of patients/service users is my organisation’s top priority.
 I would recommend my organisation as a place to work.
 If a friend or relative needed treatment I would be happy with the standard of care provided by this 

organisation.

The score is from 1 to 5. 1 represents staff unlikely to recommend the Trust and 5 represents those likely to 
recommend the Trust.

The table below shows the scores for staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse in the last 12 
months and staff believing the organisation provides equal opportunities for career progression or 
promotion.

NHS Staff Survey 2015 NBT
2014

NB T
2015

National 
Average
(combined 
Acute & 
Community 
Trusts)

KF19 - % staff experiencing harassment, 
bullying or abuse from staff in previous 12 
months 26% 26% 24%

KF27 - % staff believing the organisation 
provides equal opportunities for career 
progression or promotion for the Workforce 
Race Equality Standard

86% 85% 87%

Table 13 - NHS Staff Survey 2015

NHS Staff Survey 2015 NBT
2014

NBT
2015

National 
Average
(combined 
Acute & 
Community 
Trusts)

Score out of 5
Staff recommendation of NBT as a place to 
work or receive treatment 3.32 3.64 3.71

Table 12 - NHS Staff Survey 2015

Page 159



44 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

These figures do not provide any significant conclusions in themselves; however we are undertaking work 
in both areas. 

With respect to harassment and bullying, it is notable call volumes for the Harassment & Bullying helpline 
have been declining over the past three years, which may indicate a reduction in concerns. We are not 
complacent and are currently evaluating options for promoting the Trust’s zero tolerance policy more 
actively. 

With respect to equal opportunities, our Trust Equality & Diversity Manager is working closely with our 
Director of Operations Kate Hanham in her capacity as ‘Gender Champion’ to promote the Trust’s Respect 
and Dignity Statement. This has been widely distributed, it is on the HR portal on the equality page and is 
included on the patient information screens in the Brunel and on the equality notice boards. 

Staff Friends & Family Test

In addition to the National Staff Attitude Survey, the Trust runs the Staff Friends and Family Test in 
Quarters 1, 2 and 4 of the financial year.  The two mandatory questions the Trust is required to ask are:

 How likely are you to recommend North Bristol NHS Trust to friends and family if they needed care 
or treatment?

 How likely are you to recommend North Bristol NHS Trust to friends and family as a place to work?

The results from Quarters 1 and 2 of 2015-16 are shown below.  The survey was conducted electronically 
and sent to all eligible staff.  The results from Quarter 4 have not yet been received.

Extremely
Likely

Likely Neither 
Likely 
nor
Unlikely

Unlikely Extremely
Unlikely

Don’t 
Know

Response 
Rate 

Q1 18% 51% 21% 7% 2% 1% 17%
Q2 20% 51% 20% 5% 3% 1% 15%
Table 14 - How likely are you to recommend North Bristol Trust for care or treatment?

Extremely
Likely

Likely Neither 
Likely 
nor
Unlikely

Unlikely Extremely
Unlikely

Don’t 
Know

Response 
Rate 

Q1 10% 37% 24% 17% 11% 1% 17%
Q2 11% 37% 24% 16% 11% 1% 15%
Table 15 - How likely are you to recommend North Bristol Trust as a place to work?

We are proud that 71% of our staff would recommend us for care or treatment but aim to improve on this, 
building on the good outcomes that we achieve for patients.  

There are two aspects to this:

 Continuing to improve the experience of patients in our Trust as well as the outcomes.
 Ensuring that all our staff, including those who work in non-patient facing roles, understand the 

progress we are making in achieving those improvements.

In a busy hospital it’s easy to lose track of the great care delivered every day, so one of the ways we are 
addressing this is through celebrating and spreading good practice, for example, through staff induction, 
iCARE moments awards and the NBT Heroes awards. 

‘Ask 3 Questions’ – developing shared decision making
Page 160



45 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

What is ‘Ask 3 Questions’ about?

As part of a local CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) initiative with Bristol CCG, NBT is 
trialling an initiative called ‘Ask 3 questions’ in three Outpatient specialities (Rheumatology, Colorectal and 
Vascular Surgery) from 29 February 2016. Patients attending outpatient appointments in these areas were  
given ‘Ask 3 Questions’ leaflets and postcards to encourage them to become more involved in 
understanding their treatment options and making choices that are right for them. Asking the 3 questions 
helped start the conversation.

The three questions are:
1. What are my options?
2. What are the possible benefits and risks of those options?
3. What help do I need to make my decision?

What did we do?

Two short videos were played in the outpatient area to help patients understand the ‘Ask 3 Questions’ 
approach and they were also given a postcard that offered more information. This also had additional 
space for writing any other questions they may have. The clinical lead for this work within the specialities 
discussed the approach with staff to enable the opportunity for patients to ask questions to be explicit in the 
consultation. 

Before and during the implementation of ‘Ask 3 Questions’, we asked patients several questions relating to 
their involvement in decision making, its impact on them and whether staff focused on what was important 
to them.

What difference did it make?

The survey results proved that the doctors were discussing with patients what was important to them in 
managing their illness, and as a result of this approach there was strong indication that patients felt better 
able to manage their condition or illness after using the ‘Ask 3 Questions’ approach. 

What next?

We are excited by the results and we will continue to roll this out to other outpatient areas over the coming 
year and monitor its impact. We will also use the principle of ‘Ask 3 Questions’ to support and empower 
patients to ask questions whilst they are attending appointments at the hospital.

Managing Complaints and Sharing Compliments

Complaints

Each and every complaint or concern received is important to the Trust as they provide an important 
feedback opportunity, allowing us to reflect on where things have fallen below our expected standards and 
in turn generating sustained improvements to our service across all aspects for the future. To ensure 
overall visibility of this important information at the highest level, the Chief Executive takes a ‘hands on’ 
interest by reading and signing off all formal complaints. 

The overriding complaints challenge for the Trust this year was addressing the backlog of complaints 
associated with significant environmental and practice changes in moving to the new Brunel Building in 
May 2014.  Common themes of these complaints included concerns about;

o Shortage of parking
o Crowded and un-coordinated drop-off access to Brunel Building
o Single patient rooms – lack of TV
o Move to system of centralised outpatient administration, and knock-on effect on patient 

appointments and letters
Page 161



46 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

The graph below clearly illustrates the success the Trust has had this year in reducing the backlog of 
overdue complaints and in addressing the root of these complaints long term through taking the following 
actions;

o “Pay on exit parking” introduced.
o The drop-off area in front of the main hospital will continue to be manually policed until all Phase 

2 construction is completed in the late spring, which will provided new access roads and more 
and improved visitor parking with direct access to the Brunel Building.

o TVs provided for patients’ in all wards to supplement the improved entertainment options 
provided by free Wi-Fi.  

o Out-patient booking services have continued to be reviewed to ensure a more responsive 
service. 

o Departmental and outpatient clinic letters continue to be revised to improve clarity and ensure the 
correct contact details are included. This limited any adverse impact of the move to the new 
Patient Record System.

o New staff parking facilities provided as the Phase 2 construction progressed.

The increase observed in the latter part of the year can be explained in part by the transition to the Trust’s 
new Patient Information System, which went live in December 2015.  While the system is now embedding 
well within the Trust, this proves to be the next challenge in terms of addressing complaints associated with 
bookings made during, and immediately-post, the changeover of systems.

142

96

59

16
8

14

32
44 43 43 41

48

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan '16 Feb Mar

Complaint responses overdue 2015/16

N
o.

 o
f r

es
po

ns
es

Chart 22 - Complaint Responses Overdue 2015/16

The relatively high number of complaints received during 2014/15 were due to the challenges associated 
with closing the Frenchay site and moving both hospitals into new accommodation. This has fallen by 
approximately 17% during 2015/16. 

Page 162



47 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

56

46

60 58

34

68

46
50

53

45

52 53

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan '16 Feb Mar

Total complaints received 2015/16
N

o.
 o

f c
om

pl
ai

nt
s

Chart 23 -Total Complaints Received 2015/16

Prior Years’ Comparison

Year 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
Number of complaints 832 757 1006 821
Rate of Complaints per 1000 patient episodes 2.26 1.3 3.4 4.19
Table 16 - Complaints

The overall total of cases received by the Trust increased reflecting the pattern of increased complaints 
across the whole of the NHS and the Trust’s particular circumstances of another year of huge change. 

Enquiries & Informal Concerns

The Advice and Complaints Team (ACT) also successfully managed many low level concerns and 
enquiries outside of the formal complaints process, through a telephone helpline or by meeting patients in 
person. While these are generally going up in-line with increases experienced across the NHS as a whole, 
the variation in the numbers broadly reflect the expected seasonal trends.

896

762

537

806
686

909 886
960

803
924 919

1152

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan '16 Feb Mar

Total enquiries answered 2015/16

N
o.

 o
f a

ns
w

er
s

Chart 24 - Total Enquiries Answered 2015/16

Page 163



48 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

57, 6%

431, 46%

62, 7%

260, 28%

91, 10%
32, 3%

Admission/discharge/transfer

All aspects of Clinical Treatment

Attitude of Staff

Communication/Information

Delay/Cancellation Inpatient

Delay/Cancellation Outpatient

Chart Title

Complaint Themes: The graph below shows a breakdown of the top 6 categories of complaint.

Monitoring and Feedback

In order to continue to take advantage of the learning opportunities for the Trust, robust monitoring has 
been undertaken within the Complaints Team to provide information and analysis of complaint data. This 
includes:  

 Risk rated Action Plans are created for all complaints to facilitate tracking and recording the lessons 
learned to help improve services and patient experience.

 Monthly feedback to directorates on details of complaint numbers, types, specialties, and graphical 
analysis of the data. Response times and action plans are also closely monitored along with returned 
complaints and the reason for the return. 

 A dashboard of key information is also produced monthly for Trust Board Meetings.

 In our iCARE programme, real complaints and compliments are used in training for all existing staff as 
well as new staff on induction, this helps staff look at care issues from the patient's perspective.

 Information about complaints is included in medical staff appraisals.

Complaints Action Plans

Risk rated Action Plans are created for, and supplied to, all complaints by the Complaints Department to 
facilitate tracking and recording the lessons learned to help improve services and patient experience.

Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) Reviews

The Trust’s Complaints service and performance was reviewed this year by the Parliamentary Health 
Service Ombudsman to ensure that good principles of complaints handling are being consistently met.  
Following completion of their investigations the Ombudsman upheld 2 and partially upheld a further 4 
complaints. 8 were found to be not justified. These cases proved a valuable source of information to help 
further improve the complaints process. Additionally the Patient’s Association (which assisted the NHS 
following the Francis Report) will continue to work with the Trust to advise on improving the complaints 
process and wider patient experience monitoring.

Chart 25 - Complaint Themes

Page 164



49 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Responses following resolved complaints

“I just wanted to say thank you to everyone for really investigating (my complaint) and that I am very 
impressed by the thought that went into it and the changes that were implemented.”

Re a telephone problem resolved…

“I had my surgery last week- it’s just a short email to say thank you for all you did for me and to say that all 
the staff at Southmead were amazing I couldn’t have been taken care of any better. I thought I would let 
you know as I expect all your emails are complaints.”

Compliments

Over 4,300 compliments were recorded during 2015/16. These were received in many forms, from 
telephone messages to thank you cards and emails. Positive feedback is shared with staff and patients to 
promote and celebrate good practice as well as to boost staff morale. As the strategy of improving patients’ 
experience continues we will be looking at closer links between Patient Experience and ACT involving more 
systematic ways of inviting, collecting and learning from positive feedback, which is easily overlooked when 
focusing on the more challenging issues.

A selection of the compliments received (where permission to share was granted) is included below:

Gate/Ward/Department: 33a. Hospital: Southmead – “many thanks to all the hard working staff who looked 
after me on ward 33a. You all made me feel like I got the treatment I needed.”

Gate/Ward/Department: Cossham birth centre. Team/Name of staff: Jill, Vanessa, Kathy, and the whole 
team!! – “My misses was worried as the date drew nearer. Her first birth wasn't amazing - she had an 
epidural and a 9 hour labour - but this was so much nicer. Rooms with a view, en suite bathrooms, double 
bed and first class care! Our baby was born within 16 minutes of being there and was all done on gas and 
air. The excellent advice and support from the Cossham team and Jill who we caught a little off guard with 
the quick birth, but she didn't let us down in anyway. Couldn't fault it and was well worth it, if only all birthing 
units had the care, time and staff that Cossham could give. We would all be a lot happier. All birthing units 
could learn a good lesson from Cossham and should. A massive thank to you all at Cossham.

Gate/Ward/Department: 27 - Cardiology. Team/Name of staff: Consultant Dr Walker. Hospital: Southmead 
– “I was admitted via A&E and underwent tests for Unstable Chest pain. I was recommended for a heart 
bypass and transferred to the Heart Institute in Bristol. Without the skill and ability of the team at 
Southmead I may well have suffered a further heart attack. I am now 5 weeks post op and feeling 
wonderful. They without doubt saved my life and gave me a new much healthier life to boot. I cannot thank 
them enough. As a patient you can trust them with your life what can one say. THANK YOU.” 

Gate/Ward/Department: 35 A&E Team/Name of staff: Receptionist that booked me in & Ann triage nurse 
Hospital: Southmead  -  “I would like to thank the receptionist who booked me in around 15:30 on Friday 
14/8/2015 & Ann the triage nurse who was lovely to me when I got upset during my consultation she made 
me feel so at ease.” 

Team/Name of staff: To all the staff Hospital: Southmead. – “To all the nursing staff on 25A, thank you for 
looking after me you are all wonderful. It was nice to have staff who care so much about the patients. 
Thank you again.”

Gate/Ward/Department: Cotswold Clinic. Team/Name of staff: Hysteroscopy Team on 16th July 2015 
Hospital: Southmead – “Just wanted to say a big thank you to the doctor and nurses who made the 
experience as pleasant as it possibly could have been. Also to the very kind lady on the phone (Gail?) who 
tried hard to give me an earlier appointment. Everyone was very kind and supportive. Thank you.”

Page 165



50 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Improving Cancer Patient Experience

The National Cancer Patient Experience Survey was sent out to patients earlier in the year by Quality 
Health. We expect to have the results published in the next few months. The survey did not take place last 
year. 

North Bristol Trust continues to lead nationally on the Living With and Beyond Cancer programme also 
known nationally as the Recovery Package. This programme is endorsed in Achieving world-class cancer 
outcomes - A strategy for England 2015-2020. The strategy sets out a proposed new five-year Cancer 
Strategy for England which recommends accelerating the roll-out of stratified follow up pathways and the 
“Recovery Package”. It states the aim should be that by 2020 every person with cancer will have access to 
elements of the Recovery Package, and stratified pathways of follow up care.  At NBT we have 
successfully implemented risk stratification and remote monitoring for follow-up in breast, colorectal & 
prostate services and are redesigning pathways in other cancer sites.  We have an active “Living-well” 
programme supporting cancer patients and their families following treatment. All cancer teams are 
delivering regular education and information events with the 4 main teams also providing self-management 
courses. In 2015 we held 30 events with a total of 700 patients attending. In 2016 we have at least 36 
Living Well days and 11 courses planned.

Patients are receiving documented holistic assessments and individualised care plans and we are 
improving the information sent to the GP’s in the form of a treatment summary helping primary care support 
their patients following treatment. We have been successful in achieving a CQUIN for 2015-2016 in 
providing treatment summaries for over 40% of patients.

In September 2014 we opened our NGS Macmillan Wellbeing Centre on the Southmead site delivering a 
wide range of activities and providing information, support and advice for cancer patients, families and 
professionals. The centre has been a huge success and we have had over 1500 people through the doors 
in the past year. We expect numbers to greatly increase when we become more visible to the public in May 
2016. In September 2015 we introduced free complementary therapies for cancer patients supported by 
therapist volunteers and we now run a regular cancer workshop for qualified therapists following a 
successful application to the Health Education South West for funding. 

The cancer teams continue to work hard in delivering a high standard of patient care whilst looking for 
innovative ways of making improvements. 

End of Life Care

At North Bristol NHS Trust, we provide end of life care for approximately 1800 people each year. End of life 
care is delivered in all areas of the hospital including the medical, surgical and orthopaedic wards, the 
emergency department and the intensive care unit. End of life care is given by doctors, nurses and other 
health care professionals in each area, often with help from the specialist palliative care team, ward based 
link nurses, chaplaincy team, pharmacists, Macmillan Wellbeing Centre staff, psychologists, mortuary staff 
and bereavement services. 

At NBT, we aim to give high quality individualised care and support to people who are nearing the end of 
their life and also to those close to them. We do this by planning care and services in line with national 
recommendations.

Page 166



51 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

We focus on how we can deliver care with compassion and kindness and maintain dignity and comfort as 
best we can. In the report issued by the CQC after the last inspection, staff were praised for being caring 
and the report emphasised that end of life care at NBT was delivered with the aim of meeting the individual 
needs of people. 

At NBT we have an End of Life Strategy Group made up of staff working in all areas of the hospital who are 
involved with caring for people at the end of life. This group plans the priorities for developing and 
improving end of life care. These are based on gaps identified by audits and national standards, outcomes 
of complaints and other feedback from patients and carers and areas of concern highlighted by staff.  
These are reported quarterly to the Quality and Risk Management Committee and actions are identified for 
the coming year to address the issues.

Recent developments in end of life care at NBT include;

 The introduction of a new way of recording care at the end of life called “Caring for Patients at End 
of Life”, following the national withdrawal of the Liverpool Care pathway. The new NBT paperwork 
prompts staff to think about all aspects of good end of life care and to make individual care plans for 
each person and ensure that comfort and symptom control are monitored closely and addressed 
quickly.

 The development of new forms to help guide doctors and nurses in discussing treatment aims with 
people when they are very unwell. This is helping to make sure that people understand what is 
wrong with them and this allows them and their carers to be more involved in planning their 
treatment and where they would like to be cared for. We have achieved local quality improvement 
targets for some of this work.

 Since January 2016, we have been delivering introductory end of life training to all staff at NBT.  

There are many aspects of end of life care where we can work to improve the quality of patient care, patient 
experience, staff skills, knowledge and attitudes and coordination of services. 

Our priorities for the coming year are;

1) Planning for how we can provide face to face access to specialist palliative care services seven 
days per week. Page 167



52 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

2) Continuing with delivery of introductory end of life training for all staff and planning how we can 
deliver the right level of further training to over 8,000 staff.

3) Improving our communication with people about their illness, what to expect, what their preferences 
are about their treatment and where they would like to be cared for.

4) Improving how we communicate information to GPs and other community staff when people leave 
hospital.

5) Improving how we collect and act on feedback from people and their carers about end of life at 
NBT.

6) Reviewing how we make arrangements for collection of death certificates.
7) Improving our documentation of the end of life care that we deliver at NBT.
8) Improving our documentation of decisions about resuscitation.

Carers

Understandably, Patient Carers need dignity and respect during a loved one’s hospital stay. Many carers 
are likely to be relatives of very sick patients and therefore every bit of assistance should be provided in 
making access to support as easy as possible. 

As part of the NBT Carer Support Scheme, Carers providing support while a patient is in hospital are 
entitled to:

 a complimentary parking permit
 an access card permitting access to the ward as well as access to the staff restaurant on level 5
 Carers conversation
 Referral to Carers liaison Service

As a Trust we have signed up to John’s Campaign http://johnscampaign.org.uk/ (and further work related to 
engagement with carers will be progressed through the newly formed carer’s strategy group that will report 
to the Patient Experience group.

We have re launched the carers scheme and updated information related to this on the extranet and 
internet. (There was a picture on twitter to support this yesterday).

iCARE

It stands for:

I take responsibility for:
Communication that’s effective
Attitude that’s positive
Respect for patients, carers and colleagues
Environment that’s conducive to care.

The Trust uses iCARE to embed our values and provide a vehicle for improved patient and staff 
experience. Staff are engaged in a practical expression of our values of Putting Patients First, Working Well 
Together, Recognising the Person and Striving for Excellence.  It also embraces other ways of making 
clear and personal commitments, such as our ‘Don’t Walk By,’ campaign, our ‘Patient Experience 
Improvement Plan’, and how to respond when things don’t go well, and in  maintaining one’s own 
professional and personal standards. Page 168

http://johnscampaign.org.uk/


53 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

The iCARE sessions are highly participative using real patient feedback and staff experience to gain an 
understanding of how our values and behaviours can affect the quality of patient and staff experience. 

In 2015/16 we have continued to champion iCARE, and to celebrate and  raise awareness of good practice 
through the iCARE Moments awards campaign. iCARE also became part of the NBT Welcome and 
induction, and Health Care Support Worker Care Certificate programmes.  This means that all new staff on 
their very first day, are given the insight into the importance of our NBT Values and how we want to work 
together to support our service users in NBT. 

Safeguarding Vulnerable People

Safeguarding Children

Children and young people are seen in a range of settings throughout North Bristol NHS Trust such as the 
Maternity services, Emergency Department, Outpatient clinics and the Nursery. Young people aged 
between 16 and up to 18 years can be admitted as inpatients and we work closely with other providers as 
young people transition from children’s services to adult health services. Children and young people are 
also seen indirectly through our contact with parents. 

North Bristol NHS Trust has a duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young people who 
are under 18 years of age. This is achieved in several ways by;

 Ensuring all staff are appropriately trained.
 Having robust governance arrangements.
 Having specialist staff to guide the Trust.
 Maintaining expected standards and responding to inspections.

Training 

North Bristol NHS Trust staff are trained to recognise, understand and report any safeguarding concerns for 
children. Throughout 2015-2016 the Trust’s in-house Safeguarding Children Training Programme offered 
training at three levels for all staff employed within the organisation and training compliance figures are 
reported to the Commissioner quarterly. The training is in-line with the requirements of Safeguarding 
Children and Young people: roles and competences for healthcare staff; Intercollegiate Document (2014) 
and the Trust’s Safeguarding Children Training Policy. High levels of compliance have been evident for the 
last 4 years. A collaborative approach to delivering level 1 and 2 training for adults and children has been 
developed. 

The Trust aims to achieve 90% compliance with all levels of training. 

The Quarter 3 for figure 2015/16 has shown a drop in compliance from Acute Services. This has been 
identified during the separation of Acute Hospital Staff from Children’s Community Health Partnership 
(CCHP) staff.

The percentage of staff trained at level 1 89

The percentage of staff trained at level 2 80

The percentage of staff trained at level 3 core 80
Table 17 - Quarter 3 figure for Acute Staff

A recovery plan is in place and will be monitored by the Safeguarding Committee. 

Governance

2015/16 has seen a strengthening and improvement of the arrangements in place within the Trust to 
safeguard all patients and the development of a “Think Family” culture. The Trust’s Safeguarding 
Committee arrangements were reviewed in 2015 and are now established with a focus on providing 
challenge and assurance with regard to the safeguarding arrangements within the Trust for both Adults and 
Children at the same committee. 

Our commissioners receive quarterly reports monitoring the Trust against agreed standards. These 
standards are assured internally by the Children’s Operational Group and the Safeguarding Committee.Page 169



54 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Specialist Staff

We have a team of individuals who are specialist in Children’s Safeguarding to provide advice and support 
to all Staff. The vacancy created by the impending departure of the Children’s services for a Named Doctor 
has been filled. The Named Nurse’s post for Safeguarding Children will be vacant in March 2016. A 
succession plan has been developed with the Director of Nursing to ensure continuity of the service until a 
substantive post holder can be recruited. 

Inspections

A recent inspection by the CQC was very positive, 

“We saw good evidence of the specialist [Safeguarding Midwives] midwives role in both internal and multi-
agency liaison.”

“Without the Family Nurse Partnership we wouldn’t have been as good parents as we are now.”

“Once ‘in service’ (then) young people in South Gloucestershire are supported well by CAMH practitioners.” 

“Children and young people who attend ED at Southmead hospital following self-harm, overdose or other 
risk taking behaviours are safeguarded well.”

Whilst the overall inspection was positive North Bristol NHS Trust had a number of specific actions 
assigned to it and these have been identified and collated into an action plan, implementation of which is 
being monitored by the Trust Wide Safeguarding committee and our Commissioners.

Moving to Pastures New…

The Community Child Health Partnership (CCHP) for Bristol and South Gloucestershire services (including 
community paediatrics, health visitors, school health nursing and allied health professionals) which has 
worked within a valued partnership with NBT for the past six years is leaving. In April 2016 NBT will say 
goodbye to our colleagues in CCHP and welcome three new providers of care. 

Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults

The Safeguarding of vulnerable adults remains a high priority for the Trust. This area of practice requires 
collaborative working with other health providers, health and social care commissioners and the local 
authority and the police. The Trust’s Safeguarding Adult Team is made of an Adult Safeguarding Lead (full 
time) and Specialist Safeguarding Practitioner (part time) supported by a full time administrator. The Team 
is led by the Head of Patient Experience. The Director of Nursing is the Executive Lead for Adult 
Safeguarding and chairs the Trust Safeguarding Committee. Adult Safeguarding has its own subcommittee 
which is chaired by the Head of Patient Experience.

The Trust has maintained its focus on Safeguarding Adults, Mental Capacity Act (including Deprivation of 
Liberty) training which now includes PREVENT awareness, Domestic Abuse and Violence and Female 
Gentile Mutilation, as well as Human Trafficking awareness. Training is supplied to every member of NBT 
staff at various levels and is delivered face to face with frontline professionals. This training is refreshed 
every three years.

April 2015 saw the introduction of the Care Act. Under that Adult Safeguarding moves on to a statutory 
footing from a policy basis. The Act increased those people who can be classified “as an adult at risk of 
harm” (this replaces the phrase vulnerable adult) so increases volume and lowers the threshold from 
significant harm to harm.

The table below shows the growth of referrals from the Trust into the team. 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total
2013/14 22 12 42 34 100
2014/15 54 57 105 98 214
2015/16 212 241 163 160* 776

*Quarter 4 figures compiled before quarter end.
Table 18 – Growth of referrals

The growth in referrals is explained by the following factors;Page 170



55 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

 Change in definition and threshold as required by national requirements
 The effect of training – generating greater awareness and therefore more referrals
 Adult Safeguarding Team improved availability for support 
 The adding of additional strands to the Adult Safeguarding Agenda i.e. Domestic Abuse and 

Violence, FGM, Modern Slavery
 Greater need to support practitioners with Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation compliance.

Safeguarding Adults Boards are now a statutory partnership for North Bristol NHS Trust. The Head of 
Patient Experience sits on the Boards for both Bristol and South Gloucestershire. The Adult Safeguarding 
Lead sits on sub groups of both boards.

49

129

339

861

21 49

186

280

28
80 153

140

13

57 86 75

314

578

31.03.13 31.03.14 31.3.15 31.3.16 
(forecast)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Alert Received
Community Acquired Harm - Alerts 
sent to Local Authority for triage
Hospital Acquired Harm - Alerts sent 
to Local Authority for triage
Safeguarding Investigations initiated
Deprivation of Liberty Applications

Safeguarding Adults

Chart 26 - Safeguarding Adults

Page 171



56 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Section 4 – Clinical Effectiveness
Mortality Outcomes - HSMR/SHMI

Mortality 

The Trust has an excellent record on patient mortality and both internal and external assessments by the 
CQC and TDA of its performance indicate that it is consistently performing at or better than the national 
expected levels on a range of measures that are used to monitor and assess mortality.

Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio - HSMR 

HSMR is a measurement which compares a hospital’s actual number of deaths with their predicted number 
of deaths, taking into account factors such as the age and sex of patients, their diagnosis and whether their 
admission was planned or an emergency. If a Trust has an HSMR of 100, this means that the number of 
patient deaths is as expected, based on the seriousness of their condition. If the HSMR is above 100 this 
means that more people have died than would be expected. In contrast an HSMR below 100 means that 
fewer die than expected. Chart # below shows that mortality is below expected levels for almost all of the 
year. There was a rise in December 2014 and February 2015 but it is important to note that the mortality 
levels still remained within the ‘expected range’. 

Standardised Hospital Mortality Indicator - SHMI 

SHMI is the preferred method used to measure and compare patient mortality but is more recently 
introduced than HSMR. The SHMI includes post-discharge deaths (30 days). The Trust SHMI is also below 
the Trust national average of 100, which indicates that NBT is performing better than would be expected. 
The key differences in methodology between HSMR and SHMI indicators are;

 HSMR is a sample of 56 diagnoses where around 85% of hospital deaths occur. HSMR is 
adjusted for more factors than SHMI, most significantly palliative care, but also other sub 
groups, such as social deprivation, past history of admissions and source of admission.

 SHMI includes all deaths, regardless of whether they were attributable to the hospital. So, for 
example, if 30 days after being in hospital someone dies (of any cause), it would still be 
included in SHMI.

Chart 27 - HSMR to November 2015. (Source: Dr. Foster)

Page 172



57 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Chart 28 - SHMI trend for all activity across the last available 3 years of data. (Source: Dr. Foster)

0

460
584

0

1379

1488

31.03.14 31.03.15 31.3.16
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Mortality Screening 
Reviews Completed

Deaths Loaded for 
Review

 Mortality Screening and Review 

N
o.

 o
f c

as
es

    Chart 29  - Mortality review & QI reporting

Safety Review of every patient death

Whilst the published and independently assessed NBT data outlined in Charts 27, 28 and 29 is reassuring, 
we are not complacent and continuous improvement is the goal for our longer term quality and safety 
improvement work. In April 2014 a new system was introduced to support the formal screening and review 
of all in-patient deaths, and underpin our objectives to prevent avoidable harm and death. This is 
undertaken to provide an objective review. To date (Feb 2016) there have been approximately 517 patient 
deaths which have been reviewed in this way. It is reassuring to note that no cases of avoidable death have 
been found during these reviews. The information from this Mortality Screening and Review work is 
compared with other data from the Trust to look for potential learning and improvement opportunities by the 
Trust’s Quality Surveillance Group.

Page 173



58 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Quality of Cancer Services

Within North Bristol Trust there are 11 specific cancer clinical teams who provide support to cancer patients 
and are additionally supported by a palliative care team and an acute oncology service. Each of these 
teams has an identified Lead Clinician who works closely with Clinical Nurse Specialists and other 
supporting staff to deliver services for cancer patients. All cancer clinical teams are monitored against 
national standards as part of the National Peer Review Programme. Each team’s compliance with these 
“national quality standards” is monitored through a programme that utilises self-assessment and external 
validation processes. The self-assessment process at North Bristol Trust is either conducted by the clinical 
lead as a desk-top exercise or via an internal validation panel (where teams are reviewed and validated by 
peers within the organisation).  Teams are also selected for an external review where professional peers 
are invited to visit and review teams against their compliance with these standards. In 2015 the following 
reviews were undertaken and the compliance is noted below:

Assessment type Disease Site/Peer 
Review Area Measures 

2015                    
(% 
compliance)

Action areas 
identified

Haematology 18 SA – 89%
EV - 83%

Serious concern - 
Inadequate CNS 
supportExternal Validation 

Visit
SIHMDS 5 SA – 80%

EV - 60%

Serious concern – 
Regional integrated 
reporting system

Acute Oncology
- Gen
- Inpatient  

5
10
4

IV - 60%
IV – 80%
IV – 50%

Administrative support 
for service needs 
review

CUP Hospital 3 SA – 66%
Pathway agreed but 
needs Bristol wide sign 
off

Breast 16 IV – 87.5%

Patient information was 
not up-to-date 
Pathways were locally 
developed and not 
networked

Skin - Specialist 
Skin – Immuno 

20 
1

Desk top – 
67%
Desk top – 
100%

Gloucester patients 
pathways and 
procedure numbers to 
be reviewed

Urology - Specialist 21 IV - 81%

MDT attendance issues 
RUH radical 
prostatectomy review 
required

Compulsory 
National Self-
Assessment & 
Internal Validation

Urology - Penile 17 Desk top - 
65%

Serious concern - 
Inadequate clinical 
support for service

Brain & CNS – 
Trust 
Brain – 
Rehabilitation 
Brain – 
Neuroscience MDT

6
18
18

IV – 100%
IV – 80%
IV – 80%

Serious concern - 
Neuro-psychology 
support to the MDT

Colorectal 
Colorectal 
Diagnostic

18
1

IV – 95.5%
IV – 100%

No issues identified - 
letter to confirm 
attendance measure 
requested.

Lung 15 IV – 80%
Waiting times for 
endoscopy and 
outpatients highlighted 

Nationally Optional 
Assessment – 
team assessed via 
Internal Validation

Sarcoma Trust
Sarcoma MDT

8
20

IV – 87.5%
IV – 70%

Shared care and 
network pathways need 
updating

Nationally Optional 
Assessment – 
team assessed via 

Gynaecology 
Diagnostic 2 SA – 100%

Page 174



59 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Assessment type Disease Site/Peer 
Review Area Measures 

2015                    
(% 
compliance)

Action areas 
identified

Palliative Care 25 SA – 95%

National measures 
pose challenges as no 
network group at 
present

self-
assessment/desk 
top

Chemotherapy 36 SA – 75%

Brain - Skull Base  
Brain - Pituitary

18
18

SA – Not 
provided

None expected but self-
assessment not 
completed

Nationally Optional 
Assessment – 
team chose not to 
assess Onc. Pharm 

Service 5 SA – Not 
provided

Self-assessment not 
completed

Table 19 - Cancer Services

(Note SA – self-assessment, IV – Internal Validation and EV – External Validation).

All issues or concerns raised as part of the Peer Review Programme of reviews were included in the clinical 
teams Work Programme for the year and these were reviewed at the bi-monthly Cancer Committee 
meeting to monitor progress against actions and escalate issues identified.

Cancer Performance

As outlined in the national cancer waiting time guidance document the Trust is tasked with delivery national 
cancer waiting times targets.  These targets can be summarised as follows: 
Maximum two weeks from: 

 Urgent GP (GMP, GDP or Optometrist) referral for suspected cancer to first outpatient attendance 
[Operational Standard of 93%].

 Referral of any patient with breast symptoms (where cancer not suspected) to first hospital 
assessment [Operational Standard of 93%]. 

Maximum one month (31 days) from: 
 Decision to treat to first definitive treatment [Operational Standard of 96%].
 Decision to treat/earliest clinically appropriate date to start of second or subsequent treatment(s) for 

all cancer patients including those diagnosed with a recurrence where the subsequent treatment is 
- Surgery [Operational Standard of 94%] 
- Drug treatment [Operational Standard of 98%] 
- Radiotherapy [Operational Standard of 94%] 

Maximum two months (62 days) from: 
 Urgent GP (GMP, GDP or Optometrist) referral for suspected cancer to first treatment (62 day 

classic) [Operational Standard of 85%].
 Urgent referral from a NHS Cancer Screening Programme (breast, cervical or bowel) for suspected 

cancer to first treatment [Operational Standard of 90%].
 Consultant upgrade of urgency of a referral to first treatment [No Operational Standard as yet].
 Maximum one month (31 days) from urgent GP (GMP,GDP or Optometrist) referral to first treatment 

for acute leukaemia, testicular cancer and children’s cancers [No separate Operational Standard – 
Monitored within 62 day classic].

The Trust has not been able to meet all these targets consistently over the past year and the performance 
against the key targets that North Bristol is measured against can be summarised below:

Standard Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD Total # 
Patients 

Patients seen within 2 weeks of 
an urgent GP referral (93% 
target)

92.4% 93.5% 94.7% 93.8% 93.6% 20,214

Patients with breast symptoms 
seen by specialist within 2 weeks 
(93% target)

99.1% 96.9% 92.8% 94.5% 95.5% 1,166

Page 175



60 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Patients receiving first treatment 
within 31 days of cancer 
diagnosis (96% target) 

92.0% 91.5% 93.1% 92.9% 92.3% 3,132

Patients waiting less than 31 days 
for subsequent surgery (94% 
target)

91.4% 94.4% 95.3% 94.8% 94.1% 905

Patients waiting less than 31 days 
for subsequent drug treatment 
(98% target)

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 122

Patients receiving first treatment 
within 62 days of urgent GP 
referral (85% target)

78.4% 81.7% 80.8% 75.2% 79.4% 1,558

Patients treated 62 days of 
screening (90% target) 93% 86.5% 91.5% 90.8% 90.5% 393

Patients treated within 62 days of 
consultant upgrades (90% target) 87.8% 98.4% 98.9% 93.5% 95.4% 296

Table 20 - Standards

In order to ensure that the impact of failing to meet these measures is fully understood and actioned the 
Trust undertakes a review of all patients who are not treated within 62 days of their GP referral (patients 
who breach this national standard).

Cancer patients who breach cancer waiting times targets are reviewed firstly by the core cancer services 
team to identify potential reasons for the breach and then, as appropriate, by the clinical teams to review 
reasons, actions and to attempt to ascertain risks for the patients of the breach.  

1. The core cancer services team conduct an initial review of the breach and provides a summary of 
findings and initial reason notes on the cancer register. 

2. Breaches are then reviewed by the clinical teams, as appropriate, to clarify and confirm appropriate 
actions and potential risks to a patient.  

The review of risk is based on the clinical judgement of the team reviewing the breach and the primary 
question posed is whether, based on the final diagnosis of the patient, the delay represented a clinical risk 
to the patient. 

If there is any clinical concern, the directorate teams must conduct an appropriate formal review and follow 
incident and risk reporting processes of the Trust.  For shared pathways the review of the breach focuses 
on the part of the pathway that sits within the control of NBT and if appropriate timescales were followed in 
respect of this. 

These reviews are essential in informing actions required to improve patient pathways.

In order to facilitate swifter cancer pathways the cancer teams within NBT have worked on reviewing their 
clinical pathways to identify and attempt to map ‘time points’ when certain key steps in their pathways 
should occur.  These timed pathways have been developed across the majority of cancer teams within the 
Trust and support capacity review and ensuring clear expectations across the Trust.  The pathways are not 
expected to be met for all patients as allowance must be made for medical conditions that would alter 
standard pathways and for pathway delays due to informed patient choice.   The Trust continues to monitor 
its delivery of cancer performance and look at key aspects of the timed pathway to assist in identifying 
areas for improvement.

Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs)

All NHS patients having hip or knee replacements, varicose vein surgery, or groin hernia surgery are invited 
to fill in PROMs questionnaires. When patients go into hospital, they are asked to fill in a short 
questionnaire before their operation. The NHS asks patients about their health and quality of life before 
they have an operation, and about their health and the effectiveness of the operation afterwards. This helps 
the NHS to measure and improve the quality of its care. NBT is working on new approaches to seek to 
improve rate of completion by patients of PROMs questionnaire and methods to act upon results. 

Page 176



61 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Eligible 
hospital 
procedures

Pre-operative 
questionnaires 
completed

Participation 
Rate

Pre-operative 
questionnaires 
linked

All Procedures 1960 350 17.9% 272
Groin Hernia 398 22 5.5% 15
Hip Replacement 742 152 20.5% 120
Knee Replacement 738 176 23.8% 137
Varicose Vein 82 0 0.0% 0
Table 21 - Indicates the participation response rates by patients to the questionnaire

Participation in Clinical Audits

National Clinical Audits Listed for the Quality Account 2015/2016

The National Clinical Audits and National Confidential Enquiries that North Bristol NHS Trust participated in 
during April 2015 – March 2016 (stated in the DoH list of audits for inclusion in the Quality Account) are as 
follows:

 59 National Clinical Audits were listed to be reported in the Quality Account for 2015/2016. This did 
not include the National Confidential Enquiries.

 During April 2015 – March 2016, 44 of the 59 (75%) national clinical audits covered NHS services 
that North Bristol NHS Trust provides.

 During April 2015 – March 2016 North Bristol NHS Trust participated in 41 of the 44 (93%) relevant 
national clinical audits.

The table below details the national clinical audits listed on the quality account for 2015/2016. It indicates 
NBT’s eligibility for participation, whether NBT did participate and the case ascertainment figures and 
percentages for each audit in which NBT participated.

Case AscertainmentNational Clinical Audit Title Eligible to 
Participate?

Participating?
No Submitted No Expected %

Acute Coronary Syndrome or Acute 
Myocardial Infarction (MINAP)

Yes Yes 456 456 100%

National Adult Bronchiectasis Audit Yes Yes 01 5
Bowel cancer (NBOCAP) Yes Yes 2502 241 103%
Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM)3 Yes Yes
Case Mix Programme (CMP) Yes Yes 9324 932 100%
Child health clinical outcome review 
programme

No N/A

Chronic Kidney Disease in primary care No N/A
Congenital Heart Disease (Paediatric 
cardiac surgery) (CHD)

No N/A

Coronary Angioplasty/National Audit of 
PCI

Yes Yes 214 214 100%

Diabetes (Adult) Yes Yes
- Diabetes Foot Care Audit Yes Yes Data not submitted5

- Diabetes in Pregnancy Yes Yes 216 21 100%
- National Diabetes Audit Yes Yes

o Case note review 121 121 100%
o Patient experience 92 N/A N/A

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA) No N/A
Elective surgery (National PROMs Yes

1 Data collection does not close until 30 September 2016
2 2015 report (2013/2014 data)
3 Latest report 2013/2014 (published 19th December 2014)
4 As of Quarter 2 2015 (latest quarterly DAR published)
5 Data not submitted as NBT was not made aware by the National Body that the database was open
6 2014 data submitted for report published November 2015. 21 pregnancies captured – may have been more but women did not 
consent.

Page 177



62 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Programme)
Emergency Use of Oxygen Yes Yes 1 Institution

23 
Submissions

1 Institution
Avg. 13 

Submissions

100%

End of Life Care Audit: Care of the Dying Yes Yes 52
Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit 
Programme (FFFAP)

Yes Yes

- National Hip Fracture Database Yes Yes 440 484 91%
- 1st National Audit of Inpatient Falls

7
Yes Yes All falls All falls 100%

Familial Hypercholesterolaemia No N/A
Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) 
programme (Round 5)

Yes Yes Reporting 
Sep 16

Intra-thoracic transplantation (NHSBT UK 
Transplant Registry)

No N/A

Liver transplantation (NHSBT UK 
Transplant Registry)

No N/A

Lung cancer (NLCA) Yes Yes 2538 253 100%
Major Trauma: The Trauma Audit & 
Research Network (TARN)

Yes Yes 1339 1241 108%

National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit No N/A
National Audit of Intermediate Care No N/A
National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) Yes Yes 1159 115 100%
National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease (COPD) Audit Programme – 
pulmonary rehabilitation audit

Yes Yes

National Comparative Audit of Blood 
Transfusion programme

Yes Yes

- Patient Blood Management in 
Adults Undergoing Elective, 
Scheduled Surgery

Yes Yes 32

- The Use of Blood in Lower GI 
Bleeding10

Yes Yes

National Complicated Diverticulitis Audit 
(CAD)

Yes No

National Emergency Laparotomy Audit 
(NELA)

Yes Yes 156 233 67%

National Heart Failure Audit Yes Yes 453 461 98%11

National Joint Registry (NJR) Yes Yes 1625 1625 100%
National Ophthalmology Audit No N/A
National Prostate Cancer Audit Yes Yes 9612 186 52%
National Vascular Registry Yes Yes

- AAA Repair13 Yes Yes 37 45 82%
- Carotid Endarterectomy14 Yes Yes 51 48 106%

Neonatal Intensive and Special Care 
(NNAP)

Yes Yes 282815 2828 100%

Oesophago-gastric cancer (NAOGC) Yes Yes 13616 151-200 81-
90%

Paediatric Asthma No N/A
Paediatric Intensive Care Audit Network 
(PICANet)

No N/A

7 Round 1 figures
8 2015 report on 2014 data
9 2014/2015 data from report published April 2015
10 Report to be published end of May 2016
11 Figures as of 17/05/2016 – Data collection to end 1st June 2016
12 Data from 2014 (2015 report)
13 Data from patients diagnosed between 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2014 (2015 report)
14 Procedures done between January and December 2014 (2015 report)
15 2015 report on 2014 data
16 Patients diagnosed between 1st April 2012 and 31st March 2014 (2015 report)

Page 178



63 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health 
(POMH)

- Will possibly be involved in the 
element - Prescribing for ADHD in 
Children

No N/A

Renal replacement therapy (Renal 
Registry)

Yes Yes 148 (all) All 100%

RCEM Procedural Sedation in Adults Yes Yes 29 50 58%
Pulmonary Hypertension (Pulmonary 
Hypertension Audit)

No N/A

Rheumatoid and Early Inflammatory 
Arthritis

Yes Yes 11417

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme 
(SSNAP)

Yes Yes Not reported Not reported 90%+
18

UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry No N/A
UK Parkinson’s Audit (previously known 
as National Parkinson's Audit)

Yes Yes

- Speech and Language Therapy Yes Yes 20 20 100%
- Patient Management Yes Yes 25 25 100%

RCEM Vital signs in Children Yes Yes 50 50 100%
RCEM VTE risk in lower limb 
immobilisation

Yes Yes 50 50 100%

Table 22 - National Clinical Audits

Local Clinical Audits

The Clinical Audit Committee (CAC) uses the results from local and national audit to inform the Trust 
Quality and Safety Strategy and annual quality objectives. The CAC monitors action plan progression as a 
result of local and national clinical audit activity and highlights to the Trust Quality Committee lack of 
progression or specific actions which require their intervention. CAC reviews one local audit every 2 
months, which equates to 6 over the 12 month period.

17 1st Annual Report 2015 (Data: 1 February 2014 – 30 April 2015)
18 As of Quarter 3 2015/2016

Page 179



64 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

National Clinical Audit Outcomes 2015/2016
Introduction

During 2015/2016 the Clinical Audit Committee reviewed and approved reports and initial action plans for 
25 National Clinical Audits. 21 out of 25 national clinical audits reviewed were listed on the Quality Account.

Once action plans are approved by the Clinical Audit Committee they are monitored to ensure that progress 
is being made at 6 month intervals until completion. 29 6, 12 and 18 month action plan updates were 
reviewed and approved by the Clinical Audit Committee during 2015/2016, 21 of these were National 
Clinical Audits listed on the Quality Account.

Audits are closed if all actions are completed, or a re-audit report is published and outstanding actions are 
carried over to the new action plan. In 2015/2016 9 audits were closed. 

Below are 3 examples of National Clinical Audits that have had an action plan approved and implemented 
during 2015/2016 and a subsequent re-audit report has been published. The summaries below outline the 
outcomes of the earlier reports and the actions implemented to improve results at the re-audit stage. The 
comparative tables and graphs show areas where improvements have been realised and also those areas 
that need further work in order to improve outcomes. Action plans will be developed for the re-audit reports 
and will be appraised by CAC early in 2016/2017.

National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP) 2014 and 2015
(Quality Account)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

0%

50%

100%

150%

National NBT

2014 Report
2013 Data
(CA89630)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

0%

50%

100%

150%

National NBT

2015 Report
2014 Data
(CA8447)

2014 Report Summary

The 2014 audit report indicated several areas of low compliance, however these were broadly in-line with 
the national average. 

Action Plan and Changes in Practice

A comprehensive action plan was developed carrying over any outstanding elements from the previous 
report. Work has been carried out to improve data management for NNAP including appointing a new NICU 
Data Manager. Data migration to more up-to-date systems and data sharing with other departments, 
training specialists to enter their own data regularly as well as the production of monthly reports and 
dashboards gives a more current overview of care. It is noted on the action plan that there are exceptions 
to NNAP standards and this is where NBT’s non-compliance usually falls, however actions are specified to 
endeavour to improve compliance in all areas.

2015 Report Summary

Following implementation of the action plan the 2015 audit report was released. It noted areas of improved 
compliance with regards to antenatal steroids being given and screening times. Compliance fell on one 
metric, and this element will be addressed in the new action plan.

Page 180



65 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Compliance and Improvement Table NBT vs National
Measure Site
No Name

Report 
Year NBT National

+/- 5% 
Improvement

2014 90% 93%1 Temperature taken within 
an hour of birth 2015 88% 94%

2014 82% 83%2 Percentage with any 
antenatal steroids given 2015 96% 85%

2014 100% 94%3 Babies with ROP 
screening 2015 96% 97%

2014 80% 87%4 Screened on time
2015 93% 93%
2014 49% 36%5 Feeding with Mother’s milk 

only 2015 46% 35%
2014 32% 23%6 Feeding with any Mother’s 

milk 2015 32% 25%
2014 95% 84%

7
Consultation with parents 
within 24 hours of 
admission 2015 83% 89%

2014 100% 99%
8

Eligible babies receiving 
neurodevelopment follow-
up 2015 100% 98%

2014 100% 87%
9 Blood cultures with results 

entered <32 weeks 2015 97% Not 
recorded

2014 99% 79%
10

Blood cultures with results 
and clinical signs entered 
≥32 weeks 2015 95% Not 

recorded
Table 23 - NNAP NBT vs National

National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA) 2014 and 2015
(Quality Account) 

2014 Report Summary

North Bristol supports a good MDT approach to the diagnosis of lung cancer, patients are seen by a 
specialist nurse who is present at time of diagnosis, receive CT before bronchoscopy and patients are 
discussed at MDT at a comparably good level when compared to other Trusts in the region. There are 
potential areas of concern with regards to patients having active treatment, patients with non-small cell lung 
cancer having surgery and the percentage of patients with small cell cancers receiving chemotherapy. 

+5% Improvement

No change +/- 5%

-5% Improvement

+5% on National Average

-5% on National Average

+5% 
Improvement
No change +/- 5%

-5% Improvement

+5% on National 
Average
-5% on National 
Average

1

2

3

4

5

6

7
89

10

11

12

13

14

15

0%

50%

100%

150%

National NBT

2014
(CA24772)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7
89

10

11

12

13

14

15

0%

50%

100%

150%

National NBT

2015
(CA53470)

Page 181



66 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Action Plan and Changes in Practice

The action plan concentrated on the four main areas of concern. Data validation was implemented to 
ensure data accuracy. Rates of histological confirmation, surgical resection, and chemotherapy were to be 
reviewed on publication of the 2015 report. Monthly reviews of data uploaded to the NLCA will help to direct 
changes to improve results. It was highlighted that the crude resection rate should be reviewed only in the 
context of the early stage lung cancer resection rate which is a more accurate marker of appropriate case 
resection (NBT - 66.7% which is the 7th highest rate of all Trusts). The shortfall in the chemotherapy rate is 
arguably not clinically significant and could be representative of performance status and patient preference. 
If the chemotherapy rate is lower than the benchmark 70% for the 2015 report further investigation will be 
carried out.

2015 Report Summary

The 2015 report demonstrates improvement in the percentage of NSCLC patients having surgery, and NBT 
is now above the national average for this metric. Unfortunately this is somewhat marred by a lower 
percentage being reported for patients seen by a nurse specialist and patients having a histological 
diagnosis. The action plan for the 2015 report will focus on these areas. Out of the 9 metrics reported in 
2015 NBT was above or comparable to the national average on 7 of these.

Compliance and Improvement Table NBT vs National
Measure Site
No Name

Year
NBT National

+/- 5% 
Improvement

2014 99% 95%1 Discussed at MDT 2015 98% 94%

2014 Not 
recorded

Not 
recorded2 Pathological diagnosis

2015 66% 69%
N/A

2014 87% 88%3 NSCLC specified rate 2015 88% 88%
2014 86% 84%4 Patients seen by nurse 

specialist 2015 59% 78%

2014 Not 
recorded

Not 
recorded5 Anticancer treatment

2015 51% 58%
N/A

2014 14% 17%6 NSCLC having surgery 2015 23% 15%

2014 Not 
recorded

Not 
recorded7 NSCLC stage IIIB/IV and PS 

0-1 having chemotherapy 2015 53% 57%
N/A

2014 Not 
recorded

Not 
recorded8 SCLC patients having 

chemotherapy 2015 69% 68%
N/A

2014 97% 91%
9 Patients receiving CT before 

bronchoscopy 2015 Not 
recorded

Not 
recorded

N/A

2014 80% 65%
10 Nurse specialist present at 

diagnosis 2015 Not 
recorded

Not 
recorded

N/A

2014 75% 75%11 Histological diagnosis 2015 66% 69%
2014 59% 60%

12 Having active treatment 2015 Not 
recorded

Not 
recorded

N/A

2014 15% 15%
13 Receiving surgery (all cases) 2015 Not 

recorded
Not 
recorded

N/A

2014 29% 28%
14 Receiving radiotherapy 2015 Not 

recorded
Not 
recorded

N/A

2014 67% 52%
15

NSCLC Stage IA, IB, IIA or 
IIB having surgery (patients 
first seen 2011-2013) 2015 Not 

recorded
Not 
recorded

N/A

Table 24 - Lung cancer  NBT vs National

+5% Improvement

No change +/- 5%

-5% Improvement

+5% on National Average

-5% on National Average

+5% 
Improvement
No change +/- 5%

-5% Improvement

+5% on National 
Average
-5% on National 
Average

Page 182



67 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

1

2

3

4

5

6

78

9

10

11

12

13

0%

50%

100%

150%

National NBT

2014 Interim Report
(CA60376)

National Clinical Audit of Rheumatoid and Early Inflammatory Arthritis 2014 (EIA)
(Quality Account)

Interim Report Summary

NBT did not reach the expected standard for a number of the quality indicators reported by the National 
Audit. Areas to be targeted for improvement included referral times and patients being seen within 3 weeks. 
There was a short fall in the number of patients receiving educational support and the treatment target set 
for Rheumatoid Arthritis at base line was also falling short of the national average. There were areas where 
NBT was better than the national average such as patients having access to urgent advice, and 100% of 
patients had their treatment target agreed at base line.

Action Plan and Changes in Practice

The referral times (only 5% referred within 3 days) were highlighted by the national clinical audit body 
(British Society for Rheumatology) and a response was returned in December 2015 confirming the data 
and outlining the action plans in place to address the issue. A new referral guideline is being developed in 
conjunction with the referral booking team and consultants, it is hoped that more stringent referral 
guidelines can be added for GPs in order to ensure that EIA patients are seen promptly.  Actions that have 
already been implemented include education of GPs as to the national standards for referral, meetings and 
education with coding to ensure errors do not skew the data, and education sessions are in place with OTs 
and Physios for people with EIA and patients are now offered this session on day of diagnosis. 

Full Report Summary

The full report has since been published for this audit and it shows improvement or no significant change in 
all comparable areas. NBT has work to do to improve compliance to the standard and the action plan will 
be developed in response to this to ensure continued improvement and will be reviewed at Clinical Audit 
Committee by July 2016.

1

2

3

4

5

6

78

9

10

11

12

13

0%

50%

100%

150%

National

2014 Final Report
(CA60376)

Page 183



68 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

+5% Improvement

No change +/- 5%

-5% Improvement
+5% on National 
Average
-5% on National Average

Compliance and Improvement Table NBT vs National

Measure Site

No Name
Report

NBT National
+/- 5% 
Improvement

Interim 5% 14%
1

Patients 
referred within 
3 days Final 8% 17%

Interim 20% 41%2 Patients seen 
within 3 weeks Final 19% 38%

Interim Not 
recorded Not recorded

3

Patients 
commencing 
SMARD <6 
weeks Final 31% 53%

N/A

Interim Not 
recorded Not recorded

4

Treated with 
steroids at 
working 
diagnosis Final 77% 76%

N/A

Interim 10% 59%
5

Patient 
received 
educational 
support

Final 30% 59%

Interim 57% 69%
6

Treatment 
target set for 
RA at BL Final 89% 91%

Interim 100% 91%

7

Treatment 
target agreed 
with the 
patient for RA 
at BL

Final 100% 90%

Interim Not 
recorded Not recorded8

Treatment 
target set at 
FU Final 68% 69%

N/A

Interim Not 
recorded Not recorded

9

Treatment 
target 
achieved at 
FU Final 61% 49%

N/A

Interim 88% 78%
10

Patients have 
access to 
urgent advice Final 100% 99%

Interim Not 
recorded Not recorded

11 Remission
Final 13% 24%

N/A

Interim Not 
recorded Not recorded

12 Low disease 
activity Final 13% 10%

N/A

Interim Not 
recorded Not recorded

13
Reduction in 
DAS score by 
at least 1.2 Final 53% 62%

N/A

+5% 
Improvement
No change +/- 5%

-5% Improvement

+5% on National 
Average
-5% on National 
Average

Table 25 – Compliance and improvement

Page 184



69 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

The table below details the national confidential enquiries listed on the quality account for 2015/2016. It 
indicates NBT’s eligibility for participation, whether NBT did participate and the case ascertainment figures 
and percentages for each audit in which NBT participated.

Case Ascertainment
National Confidential Enquiry Title Eligible to 

Participate? Participating? No 

Submitted
No 

Expected %

Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome 
Review Programme (MBRRACE-UK) Yes Yes 626119 6261 100%

Medical and Surgical Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme, National Confidential Enquiry into 
Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD)

Yes Yes

- Acute Pancreatitis Yes Yes 10 10 100%
- Mental Health in General Hospitals 

Study20 Yes Yes 5 5 100%

- Sepsis Yes Yes 5 5 100%
- Gastrointestinal Haemorrhage Yes Yes 6 6 100%

National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and 
Homicide for  people with Mental Illness (NCISH) No N/A

Table 26 - National Confidential Enquiries

NICE Quality Standards

NICE quality standards are concise sets of prioritised statements designed to drive measurable quality 
improvements within a particular area of health of care. They are derived from the best available evidence 
such as NICE guidance and other evidence sources accredited by NICE. They are developed 
independently by NICE, in collaboration with health and social care professionals, their partners and 
service users.

Quality standards cover a broad range of topics (healthcare, social care and public health) and are relevant 
to a variety of different audiences, which will vary across the topics. Audiences will include commissioners 
of health, public health and social care; staff working in primary care and local authorities; social care 
provider organisations; public health staff; people working in hospitals; people working in the community 
and the users of services and their carers.

NICE quality standards enable:

1. Health, public health and social care practitioners to make decisions about care based on the 
latest evidence and best practice.

2. People receiving health and social care services, their families and carers and the public to find 
information about the quality of services and care they should expect from their health and social 
care provider.

3. Service providers to quickly and easily examine the performance of their organisation and assess 
improvement in standards of care they provide.

4. Commissioners to be confident that the services they are purchasing are high quality and cost 
effective and focused on driving up quality. 

Quality standards consider all areas of care, from public health to healthcare and social care. Evidence 
relating to effectiveness and cost effectiveness, people's experience of using services, safety issues, 
equality and cost impact are considered during development.

Although some standards are area-specific, there will often be significant overlap across areas and this is 
considered during development of the standard. Where appropriate, complementary referrals are combined 
and developed as a fully integrated quality standard.

19 Report published May 2016 (2014 data)
20 Study still open and not all figures are finalised

Page 185



70 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

How quality standards are managed

Within NBT all Quality Standards are assessed for their applicability to NBT and its services and patients. A 
‘Gap Analysis’ is completed by the NBT Lead for the Standard and the Clinical Team or Teams linked to 
the Standards. As an outcome of the Gap Analysis an Action plan is developed to address any possible 
gaps that may exist. The whole system and process is managed by the Quality Improvement & Clinical 
Audit Team on behalf of the Clinical Effectiveness Committee.

To date 116 Quality Standards have been released by NICE and of these some 94 apply the Trust with 
more than 61 Gap analyses’ completed during 2015/16.

Research

We are committed to research and innovation that improves our patients health outcomes and their 
experience of our services

We had 531 active research studies this year with 3617 patients recruited and a further 4190 patients seen 
as part of ongoing research projects. Recruitment was 29% higher than last year and demonstrates North 
Bristol NHS Trust’s commitment to improving the quality of care we offer and to making our contribution to 
wider health improvement. This year we have carried out research in more clinical areas than ever before 
with 44 departments across all clinical directorates running research studies. 30% of patients recruited to 
research in 2015/16 are from the Trusts 6 major specialities.

Strong internal relationships and a commitment to delivering research have made us one of the fastest 
Trusts in the country to set up new research studies. Patients have had the opportunity to participate in 
89% of studies within 70 days of us receiving a request to open a new study.

This year has been notable for new partnerships in research. NBT is leading the way for research to be 
delivered at all the major maternity units in the west of England by building new relationships and sharing 
new ways of working together. 778 women have participated in the IMOX maternity trial at NBT with a total 
of 1386 participating across the region. NBT is also working with a number of leading life science 
companies to improve health and answer key questions about dementia, diabetes, Musculoskeletal and 
cancer.

NBT remains a leader in health research that aims to answer important clinical questions. We are currently 
managing £24.5 million grants awarded to deliver new programmes of research. NBT has attained 
significant success with our musculoskeletal, urology and microbiological grant development and delivery. 

Patients and members of the public are a key part of shaping how we do research. They have helped make 
decisions on what research to fund through our charitable fund scheme Springboard and have sat on our 
panels reviewing tender bids for services we use. This year we have created a patient magazine that has 
been distributed across the whole region to showcase the research we do and the experience of patients 
who take part.

In December 2015 NBT announced that we had partnered with University Hospitals Bristol, RUH and 
Gloucester to become one of 13 NHS Genomic Medicine Centres (GMC), in a major national initiative (the 
100,000 Genome Project) that aims to transform diagnosis and treatment for patients with cancer and rare 
diseases. NBT will contribute approximately 600 genomes to the project annually which should enable the 
development of new and better predictive and diagnostic tests for diseases, and allow drugs and other 
treatments to be tailored precisely to the individual patient.

The Trust is working collaboratively across the geographical area with primary and secondary care 
providers to ensure all patients have equal access to research, highlighting research as a treatment option 
and empowering patients to request and require access to research studies. 

Page 186



71 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Section 5 – Operational Standards and Data Quality

Emergency Department 

North Bristol NHS Trust’s Board has a commitment to sustain a performance of 95% of patients not waiting 
longer than four hours in its A&E departments from arrival to admission, transfer or discharge.

NBT has not been able to sustain the 4 hour A&E performance target but did achieve of this standard 
during Jun-15, Jul-15 and Aug-15. Over the last year patient safety, privacy and dignity have been the 
focus of significant change and improvement in the emergency zone, ensuring consistent safe practice.

Bed occupancy within the Trust is high, resulting in restricted flow of patients through and out of the 
hospital; and the Bristol and North Somerset system has agreed to an action plan aimed to improve and 
sustain the performance in 2016/17. Key actions include;

 Early discharge preparation and documentation within NBT;
 Stronger board-rounds with a pivotal role for the integrated discharge member;
 Simple common referral pathways for discharge;
 Clarity of capacity and flow for discharge; and
 Production of and use of a trusted leaving hospital patient database.

Apr-2
014

May
-2014

Jun-2014

Jul-2
014

Aug-2
014

Se
p-2014

Oct-
2014

Nov-2
014

Dec-2
014

Jan
-2015

Fe
b-2015

Mar-
2015

Apr-2
015

May
-2015

Jun-2015

Jul-2
015

Aug-2
015

Se
p-2015

Oct-
2015

Nov-2
015

Dec-2
015

Jan
-2016

Fe
b-2016

Mar-
2016

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Urgent Care waits in under 4 hours vs Total Attendances (showing target and national)

At
te

nd
an

ce
s

Chart 30 - Urgent Care – Waits in Under 4 Hours vs. Total Attendance

Referral to Treatment

As part of the NHS Constitution NBT recognises the patient’s legal right to start a non-emergency NHS 
consultant-led treatment within a maximum of 18 weeks from referral, unless they choose to wait longer or 
it is clinically appropriate that they wait longer.

Throughout the year NBT has seen a steadily improving position against this performance standard, and 
continues to have agreed improvement profiles in place with the system to remove all long waiters (waits in 
excess of 52 weeks) and then move towards sustainable delivery of this target. 

Page 187



72 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Se
p-14

Nov-1
4

Jan
-15

Mar-
15

May
-15

Jul-1
5

Se
p-15

Nov-1
5

Jan
-16

Mar-
16

82.0%

83.0%

84.0%

85.0%

86.0%

87.0%

88.0%

89.0%

90.0%

91.0%

92.0%

93.0%

Percentage of incomplete pathways <18weeks

In
co

m
pl

et
e 

pa
th

w
ay

s

Chart 31 - Percentage of Incomplete Pathways

Long waiting specialties

The Trust Board for North Bristol NHS Trust is absolutely committed to the zero tolerance of >52 week 
waiters on an RTT incompletes pathway. These long waiters are seen in the orthopaedic and 
neurosciences service for spinal related patients, as well as those on a specialised epilepsy care pathway. 
NBT is partaking in the South West Network Spinal Transformation Project to look at the spinal pathway 
across the local health system to ensure that the service will have an achievable and deliverable capacity 
and demand for all providers and parts of the pathway prior to reopening. 

Clinical Review whilst on waiting list

During the year the Trust’s Quality Committee has reviewed and signed off an approach to ensuring that all 
patients waiting for a longer than the ideally identified time for treatment undergo a clinical review. This 
clinical review varies in nature depending upon the specialty in question but the common requirement is 
that senior clinicians ensure that patients do not experience additional harm due to their waiting time. 
During 2016/17 this approach will be enhanced through more formalised assurance measurement and 
reporting both internally and externally to commissioners.

Improving the discharge of patients from hospital

We discharge many patients each day to a variety of settings. Whilst for many patients this is a positive 
experience, we recognised that for some the experience could be improved. We also wanted to reduce the 
numbers of patients who no longer needed acute hospital care but were still delayed in hospital waiting for 
ongoing care services. 

Many staff also feedback that the systems and processes for discharge were complicated to follow and 
difficult to understand. We have therefore spent time developing and implementing a series of changes and 
improvements:

Discharge to assess – We worked with external health and social care partners to establish three different 
pathways (home with support, community rehabilitation, and long term care), aimed at discharging patients 
once they no longer need acute hospital care – right care, right place, right time.

Integrated Discharge Service – We have built a service comprising health and social care partners, all 
working from the same location to support and deliver safe and timely discharge for patients with complex 
needs. This expert team works with patients and families from the earliest possible stage in their hospital 
stay to determine their ongoing care needs and the most appropriate discharge pathway. This service is 
still in its early stages so there will be further review and development. 

Page 188



73 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Discharge Lounge – We have opened an area on the ground floor overlooking pleasant gardens, 
designed to house patients who are waiting to go home that day. This enables their bed to be vacated early 
to enable any new admissions to have prompt access to a hospital bed at a time when they are acutely ill.

Care Home CQUIN – This has been agreed with commissioners and the care home sector as a set of 
standards designed to improve the experience of care home residents who are admitted to hospital, as well 
as improving the discharge of this vulnerable patient group into the care home sector. We have changed 
our discharge checklist to reflect the new standards and have also implemented an audit programme to 
measure how we are doing.

There have been many other related developments during the course of year, and this has resulted in 
reducing length of hospital stay for many patients, an increase in community support for both health and 
social care, and improved patient satisfaction with the care around discharge planning and their actual 
hospital discharge. Some of the above work is being nationally recognised as good practice, and we will 
continue to improve patient experience around discharge and drive efforts to discharge patients in a timely 
way to improve bed availability for acutely ill patients.

Data Quality

Hospital Episode Statistics 

The Trust submits a wealth of information and monitoring data centrally to our commissioners and the 
Department of Health. The accuracy of this data is of vital importance to the Trust and the NHS to ensure 
high quality clinical care and accurate financial reimbursement.

Our data quality reporting, controls and feedback mechanisms are routinely audited and help us monitor 
and maintain high quality data.

We submitted records during 2015/16 to the Secondary Users’ Service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode 
Statistics (HES) which are included in the latest published data. Within this data we are expected to include 
a valid NHS number and the General Medical Practice (GMP) Code and report this within each year’s 
quality account. This information is presented below.

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16M9
NHS 
no.

GMP 
code

NHS 
No.

GMP 
code

NHS 
No.

GMP 
code

Admitted Patient Care 99.4% 100.00% 99.5% 100.00% 99.5% 98.20%

Out Patients 98.6% 99.90% 98.4% 99.80% 98.7% 99.80%

A&E 97.8% 100.00% 97.4% 100.00% 97.4% 100.00%

Table 27 - HES

The percentage of records in the published data which included patient’s valid NHS number remains 
consistent in each of the three domains.

The completeness for inclusion of the GMP within Admitted Patient Care has suffered since the Lorenzo 
go-live which occurred in mid-November 2015. Prior to that, in October 2015, we were reporting 100% for 
the year to date. The issue within Lorenzo is being resolved but won’t be complete in time for our ‘closure’ 
of 2015/16 data as the national HES refresh will be made ahead of this. 

The fix will prevent under reporting of this in 16/17 and we will also retrospectively fix our own Admitted 
Patient Care dataset for 2015/16.

Clinical coding error rate

Accurate clinical coding is now widely recognised by the NHS as being an essential element for 
benchmarking Trusts performance against peers nationally, recouping accurate income from 
commissioners through Payment by Results (PbR), and it provides the ability to understand the Trusts own 
clinical activity in areas such as mortality statistics, audit and many other crucial areas.

Page 189



74 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

During 2015-16 the clinical coding department participated in the Trusts Monitor reference Cost audit, 
although this did not involve an audit of the actual coded data.

As part of the Trusts internal rolling clinical coding plan of audit the department did conduct several audits 
throughout the financial year, including the mandatory Information Governance (IG) audit, which examines 
general coding accuracy in the departments selected areas.

The approved auditors examined 200 FCE’s (Finished Consultant Episodes) in total. The focus of the audit 
was 100FCE’s for Vascular Surgery and 100 FCE’s for Endoscopy, the results were as follows:

Correct primary 
diagnosis %

Correct secondary 
diagnosis %

Correct primary 
procedure %

Correct secondary 
procedure %

91 91 91 64
Table 74 – FCE’s

The Trust achieved Information Governance Level 2 standards in all but secondary procedure coding.

Below is a comparison of the Trusts results against Information Governance 505 level 2 attainment 
standards. 

Primary diagnosis Secondary diagnosis Primary procedure Secondary procedure
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Trust % 2015-
16

IG Level 2 %

Comparison of Trust results against IG 505 Level 2 standards

Standard

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Chart 32 - Comparison of Trust results against IG 505 Level 2 Standards

There was a noted increase in errors in secondary procedure coding in part due to omission of or incorrect 
site codes being recorded. A change in national standards now means that site codes can be consistently 
audited, which was not the case for many years.  Feedback and any necessary training have and will 
continue to be given to the coding team.

All other areas examined met or exceeded requirements showing continued high standards of coded data 
that compares well nationally with our peers

The department has conducted other audits throughout the financial year, an example of one such audit 
was the Haematology/Oncology audit, in this audit all four examined areas achieved over 93 per cent, and 
this again reflects the high standards to which the department operates.

Throughout the financial year the department has continued to encourage closer working relations with 
clinicians and directorates, including work with the Neuropsychiatry team, Orthopaedic consultants- 
specifically in relation to pelvic work, the Plastic Surgery team, the Women and Children’s team and many 
others.

Page 190



75 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Clinicians have also continued to be widely involved and engaged in the Clinical Coding Validation service, 
with a number of new consultants asking to be registered for the service. This demonstrates the services 
continued value.

The department have had a number of new staff join them throughout the financial year and been 
committed to developing the individual’s skills, as well as the team as whole. The new starters have been 
supported throughout this process by the Deputy Head of Coding, the Clinical Coding Trainer/Auditor and 
the Clinical Coding Team Managers.

The department introduced new data quality reports that helped improve the recording and capture of 
clinical information in a coded format. They also continued with the use of data quality reports already in 
place which had proved themselves in prior years as essential to continue to monitor and improve data 
quality.

The department’s internal programme of audit, clinical coding validation service, clinician engagement and 
variety of data quality reports continue to ensure the coding department has a robust internal programme of 
audit to guarantee accurately coded clinical data.

Information Governance Toolkit attainment levels

The IG Toolkit is now in its 13th year (v13). Evidence is required to be uploaded to support the self-
assessment across 45 requirements.  

There are two possible grades:

 Satisfactory (green); level 2 achieved on all 45 requirements
 Not Satisfactory (red); level 2 not achieved on all requirements

The purpose of the IG toolkit is to drive improvement.  All organisations are expected to achieve level 2 in 
all requirements in accordance with the NHS Operating Framework (informatics planning 2011/2012).

North Bristol NHS Trust IG Toolkit assessment report overall score for 2015/2016 (v13) is 65%, graded red.

There are improvement plans in place detailing the evidence needed for each requirement, which will allow 
the Trust to clearly identify where improvement has been made and or there are gaps in compliance. The 
improvement plans will be reviewed through the Trust governance processes throughout the 2016/17 
financial year.

The Trust has recently received the final report for an internal audit, which concluded that the overall 
system for compiling the IG evidence and score is sound and this includes effective ongoing governance 
arrangements.

Page 191



76 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Section 6 – Engagement and Consultation
Quality Priorities 

To find out which topics matter the most to the Trust’s stakeholders when selecting the Quality Priorities for 
2016-17, the Trust undertook a programme of engagement with its members, staff, Local Authority Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees, the Trust’s own Patient Panel and others. This has included the 
following schedule of meetings, targeted discussions and specific presentations about the Quality Account;

 Review with Trust Patient Panel – February 2016
 Review with Patient Experience Group – February 2016
 Discussion with Healthwatch – February 2016
 Presentation/Discussion at Quality Committee – March 2016
 Presentation to Bristol City Council People Scrutiny Commission – April 2016
 Presentation to North Somerset Council Health Overview & Scrutiny Panel – April 2016
 Supply of presentation for South Gloucestershire Public Health and Health Scrutiny Committee – 

April 2016

The Trust also undertook an on-line survey of the Trust’s members and clinical leads and management 
teams to ascertain views on the priority topics for the year ahead, which received 198 responses and 
identified the four priorities for 2016-17.

The draft Quality Account was circulated for comment in the period 29th April 2016 – 28th May 2016.

A list of the organisations who were sent the document as part of the consultation is shown below.

External Comments 

The following organisations were invited to comment on the draft of the Quality Account:

 South Gloucestershire - Public Health Scrutiny Committee
 Bristol - People Scrutiny Commission
 North Somerset - Health Overview & Scrutiny Panel
 NHS South Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
 NHS Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group
 NHS North Somerset Clinical Commissioning Group
 North Bristol Trust - Patient Panel
 Bristol Healthwatch
 South Gloucestershire Healthwatch
 North Somerset Healthwatch

Commentary from the South Gloucestershire Public Health Scrutiny Committee

Comments to be added from consultation to be undertaken 3 May 2016 – 2 June 2016

Commentary from the Bristol People Scrutiny Commission

Comments to be added from consultation to be undertaken 3 May 2016 – 2 June 2016

Commentary from the North Somerset Health Overview & Scrutiny Panel

Comments to be added from consultation to be undertaken 3 May 2016 – 2 June 2016

Commentary from NHS South Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, Commentary from 
NHS Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS North Somerset Clinical Commissioning Group

Comments to be added from consultation to be undertaken 3 May 2016 – 2 June 2016

Commentary from North Bristol NHS Trust’s Patient Panel

Page 192



77 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

The Patient Panel continues to be consulted on numerous topics and priorities within the Trust and also 
continues to attend and participate in a wide range of committees and groups within the Trusts structures.

The Panel has welcomed the priorities and improvement made over the last year with more and more 
patient care issues being recognised, as a result of asking patients views and reviewing the workings of the 
Trust.

With regards to Dementia Care the improvements already implemented and the proposal for further action 
is welcomed and evidence of these are seen in the wards, however more still needs to be achieved 
throughout the Trust.

More and more improvements surrounding patient care have been seen throughout the Trust, e.g. Cardiac 
Care, missed doses ,Sepsis, AKI, which is to be commended.

The areas for discharge of patients has been seen by the panel as something that needed to be improved , 
with the action taken from patient experience comments and the new initiatives that are being put in place it 
is hopefully going to be a much improved patient experience.

The patient experience is a most important issue and a huge amount has been done already as mentioned 
in the document, however there is still more to be done to ensure the best possible experience for the 
patients of the Trust.

Once again the Patient Panel feels as though their views and input into policy and decision making is 
valued and thank the management for allowing our views and comments to be part of the decision making 
process.

Julie Francis

Chair, Patient Panel

Commentary from Bristol Healthwatch & South Gloucestershire Healthwatch

Healthwatch Bristol and Healthwatch South Gloucestershire reply to the North Bristol NHS 
Trust (NBT) Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Healthwatch Bristol and Healthwatch South Gloucestershire acknowledge that following the Care 
Quality Commission inspection in December 2015 has trust remains as ‘requires improvement’ but 
were pleased to note that within urgent and emergency care services the rating acknowledged the 
improvement in service and is now rated ‘good’. Healthwatch wonders whether the implementation 
of the Patient Administration system (Lorenzo) the disruption in the collection and quality of 
information has impacted on patients. Healthwatch has continually heard that data is not always 
available at their appointments. Healthwatch welcomes the work of the trust on dementia and were 
pleased to hear that this work is acknowledged in being shortlisted for ‘Dementia Team of the 
Year’.

Healthwatch have been disappointed to read that areas that scored worse than last year included 
patients staying on a ward with shared sleeping accommodation, with bath and shower facilities  
with the opposite sex. It was also unacceptable for staff not to have discussed the need for further 
health or social care around discharge, all patients need a discharge plan and Healthwatch would 
like to see this as a trust priority that is acted on to make improvements during the year. 
Healthwatch recognise the aspects of care that have significantly improved as patients tell us that 
they are well cared for by staff. Healthwatch wonders whether the quality improvement workshops 
as part of building improvement capability in the workforce are mandatory?

Page 193

http://www.thecareforum.org/pagehealthwatch-links.html


78 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Healthwatch read with interest the outcomes on the rate of falls, and the reduction can be 
attributed to the face to face training for 817 nursing staff. Healthwatch would like all staff to be 
aware of falls and hope that following the Sign up to Safety funding from NHS England this training 
by Lead nurses can continue. 

NBT set a target of 95% for patients admitted to have their medicines reconciled within 24 hours, 
Healthwatch believe this should be 100% and also encourage the trust to look at the prescription 
of medicines, making sure the patient and / or their carer/family have written information of what 
has been prescribed and how medicines should be taken. Some patients tells us they are not 
given enough information about prescribed medicines on discharge.

Healthwatch were disappointed to read that there were 51 cases of C. Difficile infection (CDI) and 
with almost a third bought in from outside the hospital. Healthwatch would like to work with NBT to 
raise awareness with the public about this unpleasant and potentially severe infection. 
Healthwatch accept the reduction of safety incidents this year, and how staff awareness has been 
actively promoted but Healthwatch feels all staff need to be aware of their Duty of Candour this 
should be mandatory as not all staff will read the guidance on the intranet.

Healthwatch read with interest the themes patient tell NBT and we recognise that a lot of this 
mirrors what Healthwatch hear from children, young people and adults. There were only 28 
negative experience themes on parking and Healthwatch hear a great deal more about the issues 
of car parking at Southmead hospital and the concern people have over the proposed car parking 
charges at Cossham hospital.

Healthwatch read the staff survey feedback and were saddened to read that there has been no 
change in the 26% of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff. Healthwatch 
would like to hear in the coming year what the trust intends to do to address this.

The fall in complaints this year, Healthwatch would like to know the breakdown of low level 
concern themes and whether these match the complaints themes? Healthwatch would also like to 
see the comparison to compliments received last year and the breakdown of compliment themes 
in future quality accounts. Healthwatch were disappointed to read that the Trust has not been able 
to meet all the targets in cancer performance and in trying to fully understand the delays the trust 
is reviewing all patients who are not treated within the 62 days of their GP referral. Healthwatch 
look forward to hearing if the trust can identify ways to address this in the coming year. 
Healthwatch read with concern that the trust has been unable to meet the 95% target of 4 hours 
for patients in A&E and read with interest the key actions for 2016/17. Healthwatch would like 
some clarification on who the integrated discharge member will be as they appear to be key in 
addressing the issue.

As part of the CQUINS where income is conditional on achieving quality improvement Healthwatch 
look forward to hearing the outcomes particularly for CAMHS as Healthwatch is looking at the 
transformation of children and young people’s mental health services.

Healthwatch noted that the quality account as a public document has no information printed about 
how people can access the document in other accessible formats, with the introduction of the 
Accessible Information Standard coming in this year Healthwatch recommend that this is 
something to be considered for the next quality account.

Commentary from North Somerset Healthwatch

Comments to be added from consultation to be undertaken 3 May 2016 – 2 June 2016

Page 194



79 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Section 7 – Appendices
Appendix 1 Mandatory Indicators Table - Data provided by the Health and Social Care Information Centre 

Mandatory indicator NBT
2015/16

National 
average 
2015/16

National 
best 
2015/16

National 
worst 
2015/16

NBT
2014/15 Comment

Venous thromboembolism risk 
assessment

93.5%
Apr 15 - 
Dec15

95.7%
Apr-
Dec15

100%
Apr-
Dec15

80.6%
Apr-
Dec14

97%

The Trust considers that this data is as described as there 
is a close focus on VTE risk assessment performance due 
to challenges raised around the operational delays in 
coding of clinical notes that are causing this to fall below 
the national standard of 95%. This issue has been 
exacerbated by the stabilisation required following the 
new Patient Administration system ‘go live’ in November 
2015. From clinical audits it is clear that actual clinical 
practice does achieve the required 95% standard but the 
coding lag means this is not reported in time for national 
data collection.

The Trust will continue to ensure our patients are risk 
assessed for VTE on admission and is working on 
improving VTE prevention as detailed in the report. Work 
to improve the operational factors that will improve the 
reported percentage is being managed through an agreed 
Action Plan with commissioners, which is overseen 
internally through the Quality Committee and externally 
through the CCG Quality Sub Group.

Clostridium difficile rate per 
100,000 bed days (patients aged 2 
or over)

14.95
Apr 15 – 
Mar 16

15.3
Apr15-
Jan16

0
Apr15-
Jan16

63.4
Apr15-
Jan16

14.2
Apr14 – 
Mar 15

The Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: rate is as described as the latest 
available on the HSCIC website and is validated closely 
on a case by case basis by the Trust’s Infection Control 
Team. 

The Trust will act to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of its services by continuing to focus on a range of 
improvement actions to reduce C.Difficile infection 
through as outlined in this report.

Rate of patient safety incidents 
reported per 1,000 bed days

28.95
Apr15-
Sep15

38.23
Apr15-
Sep15

117[1]

Apr15-
Sep15

15.90
Apr15-
Sep15

30.9
Apr14-
Sep14

The Trust considers that this data is as described as it is 
supplied by the National Reporting & Learning System 
(NRLS) and is consistent with internal data reviewed on a 
monthly basis during the year.

[1] High levels of reporting are indicative of a positive patient safety culture: the aim is to achieve high levels of reporting accompanied by low levels of incidents resulting in severe harm or death (the goal being 
zero)

P
age 195



80 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Mandatory indicator NBT
2015/16

National 
average 
2015/16

National 
best 
2015/16

National 
worst 
2015/16

NBT
2014/15 Comment

The Trust will act to improve this rate, and so the quality 
of its services by continuing to review incident data to 
encourage open and transparent reporting and to identify 
improvements to practice and learning.

Percentage of patient safety 
incidents resulting in severe harm 
or death

0.53%
Apr15-
Sep15

0.42%
Apr15-
Sep15

0%
Apr15-
Sep15

2.92%
Apr15-
Sep15

0.40%
Apr 14-
Sep 14

The Trust considers that this data is as described as it is 
supplied by the National Reporting & Learning System 
(NRLS) and is consistent with internal data reviewed on a 
monthly basis during the year.

The Trust will act to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of its services by continuing to review all Serious 
Incidents through Root Cause Analysis investigation and 
actions  to identify lessons and improvements to practice.

Responsiveness to inpatients’ 
personal needs

Comparative data for 2014/15 (2013/14 in brackets): 
NBT score 63.8 (76.5); England overall 68.9 (68.7); low 59.1 
(54.4); high 86.1 (84.2).

Comparative data for 2015/16 will not be available from the 
Health & Social Care Information Centre until August 2016.

The Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons as this rate is as described as is the 
latest as available on the HSCIC website. 

The Trust will act to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of its services by continuing to collect feedback 
from patients, carers and relatives through a range of 
different sources co-ordinated by the Head of Patient 
Experience and utilising the Patient Panel and Experience 
Group as outlined in this report.

Percentage of staff who would be 
happy with standard of care 
provided if a friend or relative 
needed treatment

69%
2015 Staff 
Survey

75.0%
2015 
Staff 
Survey

86.1%
2015 
Staff 
Survey

55.4%
2015 
Staff 
Survey

51.9%
2014 Staff 
Survey

The Trust considers that this data is as described as it is 
directly extracted from National Survey data and the trend 
variation from previous year is consistent with internal 
surveys intended to inform ongoing improvement actions.

The Trust will act to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of its services by revitalising the approach taken to 
patient feedback to broaden its range and target 
improvement actions rapidly to address themes. This 
includes improvements in relation to the management of 
incidents and feedback on actions taken.

Summary Hospital-level Mortality 
Indicator (SHMI) value and banding

90.2 
Oct 14 – 
Sep 15 

100
Oct 14 – 
Sep 15

73.78
Oct 14 – 
Sep 15

114.72
Oct 14 – 
Sep 15

91.89
Apr 14 – 
Mar 15

Percentage of patient deaths with 26.14% 26.6% 0.2% 53.5% 29.04% 

The Trust considers that this data is as described as it is 
directly extracted from the Dr Foster system and analysed 
through the Trust’s Quality Surveillance Group, the 
medical Director and within specialties. The rate is also 
consistent with historic trends.

P
age 196



81 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Mandatory indicator NBT
2015/16

National 
average 
2015/16

National 
best 
2015/16

National 
worst 
2015/16

NBT
2014/15 Comment

specialty code of ‘Palliative 
medicine’ or diagnosis code of 
‘Palliative care’

Oct 14 – 
Sep15 
(latest 
available)

Jul13 – 
Jun14 The Trust will act to improve this percentage, and so the 

quality of its services by continuing with the approach 
detailed in this account to improve quality and safety. The 
Trust does not specifically target a reduction in mortality 
but has more robust processes in place for monitoring 
mortality including the ongoing review of all Hospital 
deaths. It is important to note that palliative care coding 
has no effect on SHMI.

Patient Reported Outcome Measures – No. of patients reporting an improved score;
Hip Replacement Primary EQ-VAS Apr-Sep 2015 NBT score 87% (national average 76.81%)

Hip Replacement Primary EQ 5D Apr- Sep 2015 NBT score 81.22% (national average 
80.52%)

Knee Replacement Primary EQ-
VAS Apr- Sep 2015 NBT score 81% (national average 73.04%)

Knee Replacement Primary EQ 5D Apr- Sep 2015 NBT score 71.26% (national average 
75.22%)

Varicose Veins, Groin Hernia and 
Hip Replacement Revision No information available for 2015/16

These figures are all taken from the HSCIC website, 
however the sample size is too small to be published 
nationally.

The Trust considers that this data is as described as it is 
obtained directly from the national PROMs information 
site.  The Trust will act to improve this percentage, and so 
the quality of its services by analysing the outcome scores 
and continuing to focus on participation rates for the 
preoperative questionnaires.

Emergency readmissions within 28 
days of discharge: age 0-15

Comparative data for 2011/12: NBT 10.2%; England 
average 10.0%; low 0%; high 47.6%. 

Comparative data is not currently available for 2012/13, 
2013/14 or 2014/15 from the Health & Social Care 
Information Centre.

Emergency readmissions within 28 
days of discharge: age 16 or over

Comparative data for 2011/12: NBT score 10.9%; England 
average 11.4%; low 0%; high 17.1%. 

Comparative data is not currently available for 2012/13, 
2013/14 or 2014/15 from the Health & Social Care 
Information Centre.

The Trust considers that this data is as described as it is 
obtained directly from the national Information Centre site. 

Nationally comparative data is not available. The Trust will 
act to improve this percentage in relation to its bi- monthly 
review with clinical directorates of its own monitoring data 
within the Performance Assurance Framework. This will 
identify adverse trends and agree actions to reduce 
unplanned readmissions.

Table 29 – Mandatory Indicators Table

P
age 197



82 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Appendix 2 2015/16 CQUINS

A proportion of North Bristol NHS Trust’s income in 2015-16 was conditional

on achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed between North Bristol NHS Trust and local 
Clinical Commissioning Groups or NHS England for the provision of NHS services, through the 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework.

Further details of the agreed goals for 2015-16 and for the following 12 month period are available 
electronically at https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/9-cquin-guid-2015-16.pdf

Title National & Local CQUINs (CCG contracted) Outcome

Acute Kidney Injury Acute Kidney Injury - Discharge information  
Sepsis Screening at admission  

Sepsis
Sepsis Antibiotic Administration  
Find, Assess/Investigate, Refer/Inform (FAIRI)  
Staff Training  Dementia Care
Supporting Carers  
Reducing Avoidable Admissions  

Urgent Care
Reduction in alcohol dependence & related emergency admissions  
Discharge summaries - timeliness and completion  
Care homes - Prevention of admission and timely discharge  Patient Discharge
Discharge to assess pathways and Integrated Discharge Hub’ (IDH)  
Reducing late inter-provider cancer referrals  

Cancer Care
Cancer survivorship  

End of Life Care End of Life - prognostic indicators & training  
Patient Experience Patient Self-care -ask 3 questions  
Patient Safety Organisational safety culture review  
Safeguarding Adults Making safeguarding personal for people with Learning Disabilities  

Title Specialised CQUINs (NHS England contracted)  
Clinical Utilisation Implementing Clinical Utilisation review  
HIV monitoring Reducing unnecessary CD4 monitoring  
Vascular Surgery Improving outcomes for major lower limb amputation  

Rehabilitation assessment before critical care discharge  
Critical Care

Reduce delayed discharges from Intensive Care Unit to wards  

Neurology Emergency care plans for patients with a long term neurological 
condition  

CAMHS CAMHS Tier 4 - Carer and family engagement  
NICU Hypothermia  
Orthopaedics Orthopaedics - Developing network  

Good Achievement - 80%+  
Partial achievement - 40%-79%  

Poor achievement- <40%  
Table 30 - CQUINS

Page 198

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/9-cquin-guid-2015-16.pdf


83 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Appendix 3 List of Services provided by NBT as at 31st March 2016

Directorate Specialities Directorate Specialities

Medical Directorate A&E
Care of the Elderly
Medical Day Care
General (Acute) 
Medicine
Cardiology
Dermatology
Clinical Haematology
Respiratory Medicine
Palliative Care
Clinical Immunology
HIV/AIDS Service
Oncology
Clinical Psychology
GI Services (Medicine)
Diabetes & 
Endocrinology
Mental Health Liaison

Renal & Outpatients 
Directorate

Hospital Services
Renal Medicine
Renal Surgery
Transplantation Surgery
Hospital Haemodialysis
Community Renal Services
Home Haemodialysis
Peritoneal Dialysis
Satellite Haemodialysis
Renal Technical, Diagnostic 
& Treatment Services
Outpatient Clinics
Day Case Suite
Minor Operations and 
Procedures Theatre

Musculoskeletal
Directorate

Orthopaedics
Trauma Services
Rheumatology
Paediatric 
Rheumatology
Orthotics
Disablement Services

Women’s and
Children’s
Directorate

Gynaecology
Fertility Services
Integrated Maternity Services
Neonatal Intensive Care Unit 
(NICU)
General Paediatrics incl. 
Outpatients
Peri-operative Acute Care 
Unit
School Nurses
Community Paediatrics
Children’s Speech Therapy
Child & Adolescent Mental 
Health
Family Therapy
Psychotherapy
Children’s Occupational 
Therapy
Child Psychology
Riverside Unit

Surgical Directorate General (Acute) 
Surgery
Vascular Surgery
Breast Services
Urology
Plastics and Burns 
Surgery
GI Services Surgery
Endoscopy
Pigmented Lesion 
Clinic
Audiology
Orthodontics

Neurosciences
Directorate

Neurology
Neurosurgery
Neurophysiology
Neuropathology
Neuropsychiatry
Neuropsychology
Frenchay Centre for Brain 
Injury Rehabilitation (FCBIR)
Head Injury Therapy Unit 
(HITU)
Ophthalmology
Stroke Service

Core Clinical
Services Directorate

Anaesthetics
ITU
HDU
Theatres
Clinical Equipment 
Services
Pain Management
Back Pain Services
Resuscitation Training

Cellular Pathology
Haematology
Immunology
Microbiology
Pharmaceutical Services
Radiology
Medical/Radiation Physics
Regional Quality Control Lab
Infection ControlPage 199



84 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Directorate Specialities Directorate Specialities

Day Case Unit
Pathology
Genetics
Clinical Biochemistry
Dietetics
Outpatient Facilities 
Management

Phlebotomy
Medical Illustration
Adult Speech Therapy
Occupational Therapy
Physiotherapy and associated
Musculo-skeletal rehabilitation

Table 31 - List of Services provided by NBT at 31/03/2016

Page 200



85 - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16

Appendix 4 Auditor’s Opinion

External Auditors opinion to be added from Grant Thornton LLP

Page 201



 

1 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Quality Account 2015/16 

Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS 
Trust 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 202

Agenda Item 7



 

2 

 

 

 

Contents 
 
Part 1: Chief Executive’s statement on behalf of the Board 
 

Introducing Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust (AWP) 
 
 

Part 2a: Our priorities for improvement in 2016/17 
 

Priority 1: To improve the experiences of our service users and carers 
 
Priority 2: To improve the clinical effectiveness of our services 
 
Priority 3: To improve safety and reduce avoidable harm 
 
Priority 4: To improve the physical health and wellbeing of our service users and our 
staff 
 

Part 2b: Statements relating to quality 
 

2.1 Review of services 

 

2.2 Participation in clinical audits 
 2.2.1 Quality Improvement Actions from National Clinical Audit 

 2.2.2 Quality Improvement Actions from Local Audits 

 

2.3 Participation in clinical research 

 

2.4 Commissioning for quality and innovation (CQUIN payment framework) 

 

2.5 Care Quality Commission (CQC) registration 

 

2.6 Quality of data 

 

2.7 Safeguarding 

 
Part 3: Our care quality achievements in 2015/16 
 

3.1 National indicators 

 3.1.1 Care Programme Approach 7 Day Follow up 
 3.1.2 Admissions to Inpatient Services have had access to Crisis   
  Resolution 
 3.1.3 Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care 
 3.1.4 Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting 
  them from avoidable harm 

 National reported Patient Safety Incident Data 

Page 203



 

3 

 

  3.2 Achievement against our 2015/16 Quality Plans 

  
 
3.3 Patient and Carer Experience 

 3.3.1 The NHS Friends and Family Test (FFT) 
 3.3.2 Our work with Carers and the Triangle of Care 
 3.3.3   Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 
           3.3.4   Complaints 
 3.3.5   Praise 
 3.3.6   Themes from PALS and Complaints 
 3.3.7   Community Mental Health Survey 2015 
 3.3.8   In-patient Survey 2015 
 
3.4 Safety and Candour 

3.5 Patient Safety Improvement Plan 

3.6 Staff Feedback 

3.6.1   National Survey Findings 

3.6.2 Staff Friends and Family Test 

 
 
 
Part 4: How we developed our Quality Account 
APPENDICES   
 
Appendix 1:  Patient Safety Improvement Plan 
  

Page 204



 

4 

 

 

Part 1: Chief Executive’s statement of behalf of our Board 
 

 

Communications - SG 
 

About the Trust 
 

Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust (AWP) is a significant provider of 
high quality mental health services across a core catchment area covering Bath and North 
East Somerset (B&NES), Bristol, North Somerset, South Gloucestershire, Swindon and 
Wiltshire. The Trust also provides specialist services for a wider catchment extending 
throughout the south west. 
 
AWP provides services for people with mental health needs, for people with learning 
disabilities combined with mental health needs and for people with needs relating to drug or 
alcohol dependency.  We also provide secure mental health services and work with the 
criminal justice system.  From the 1 April 2016 we have been providing Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services.  We operate from more than 100 sites and increasingly AWP 
provides treatment and care in people's own homes and other community settings, reflecting 
their preferences. Our community services are supported by high quality inpatient services 
that provide short term assessment, treatment and care. 
 
 
We wish to be the organisation of choice for service users, staff and commissioners alike, 
providing a comprehensive range of specialist Mental Health services in primary, secondary 
and tertiary care settings, across our existing geographical area.  Our aim is to enable and 
empower our service users to reach their potential and to live fulfilling lives through providing 
recovery and reablement focused services that yield positive outcomes for them and their 
carers. 
 
In 2015/16 the Trust’s community services saw 75,863 individuals, received over 67,500 new 
referrals, and had more than 461,000 contacts with service users (either via the telephone or 
face to face).  In addition, 1,939 people were admitted into our inpatient units for more 
intensive treatment. 
 
Our turnover in 2014/15 was £197m and we employed an average of 3,270 (whole time 
equivalent) staff from a variety of professional backgrounds including psychiatrists, 
psychologists, mental health nurses and allied health professionals.   
 
Fundamental to delivering quality services is continuing to embed the principles of the NHS 
Constitution within the organisation.  This constitution sets out rights of patients, public and 
staff, pledges which the NHS is committed to achieve, together with responsibilities which the 
public, patients and staff owe to one another to ensure that the NHS operates fairly and 
effectively.   
 
 

 

 

 

Page 205



 

5 

 

 

Part 2a: Our priorities for improvement in 2016/17 
 
Quality Account – Draft Quality Priorities for 2016/17 
 
Our aim is to deliver high quality services throughout the organisation, which are clinically led, 
locally driven and quality focussed. 
 
The priorities we are planning to deliver in 2016/17 are set out below.  Progress will be 
monitored and reported through the Trust’s internal quality governance and assurance 
systems and our external monitoring arrangements undertaken by Commissioners. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 206



 

6 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Priority 1:  To improve the experiences of our service users and carers 
 
Description of issues and rationale for prioritising 
 
Understanding the experience of our service users and carers is key to informing how we 
make adjustments and improvements to our services to meet the needs and expectations of 
those using them.  We actively want to hear the views from all sections of the communities. 
 
We value the contributions of our volunteers and want to increase their presence to improve 
the experience of our service users. 
 
The actions we will take in 2016/17 are set out in the table below: 
 
 

Improvement Priority Actions Success Measures 
 

To provide services that 
our service users will be 
confident to recommend 
to their friends and 
family if they required 
similar treatment.  
 
 
 
 

Implement and embed the 
new Service User and 
Carer Engagement and 
Involvement Strategy. 
 
 
Explore mechanisms 
beyond FFT to gather real-
time service user 
experience feedback. 
 
Sustain our improve-
ments in the national in-
patient and community 
surveys. 
 
 
Continue to demonstrate 
improvements in FFT 
results. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We will expand the use of 

Demonstrate progress 
against all actions on 
implementation plan. 
 
 
 
Undertake and address 
the findings of 3 
additional surveys. 
 
 
Increase the proportion of 
high scores for national 
surveys. 
 
 
 
Improve FFT response 
rate to over 20% 
 
Over 90% of service 
users will recommend our 
services via the ‘Friends 
and Family Test’. 
 
 
 
Quarterly reports on 

Page 207



 

7 

 

Improvement Priority Actions Success Measures 
 

“you said – we did” 
mechanisms 
 

responses to feedback. 

To enhance carers 
experience through 
improved partnership 
working and carer 
support. 

We will seek carer 
involvement in validating 
the quality of ‘Triangle of 
Care’ self-assessments 
and take any improvement 
actions identified. 
 
We will re-launch and fully 
implement and embed the 
Carer’s Charter 
 

Validate a random 
selection of Triangle of 
Care self- assessments 
from each delivery unit 
and report.  
 
 
90% of service users 
asked if they have a carer 
or a person who supports 
them. 
 

To improve engagement 
with Healthwatch 

We will promote 
Healthwatch events to our 
Foundation Trust 
members. 
 
We will expand the 
opportunities for  Health-
watch to be involved in the 
Trust’s internal inspection 
regimes. 
 

Feedback from Health-
watch. 

To improve the range of 
activities provided for 
service users by 
volunteers. 

We will increase our 
Volunteer membership 
base. 
 
We will increase the 
number of wards and 
teams welcoming 
volunteers on a regular 
basis. 
 

10% increase in 
volunteer membership. 
 
 
10% increase in 
volunteer placements. 

 
  

Page 208



 

8 

 

 
Priority 2:  To improve the clinical effectiveness of our services 
 
Description of issues and rationale for prioritising 
 
Clinical effectiveness relies upon providing the highest standards of care based on sound 
evidence-based practice, operating in a system which is safe, free from unacceptable risk and 
focussed on continuall improvement. 
 
We know from our clinical audit programme , patient feedback, incident investigations and our 
regulators that we can do more to improve our clinical practice to achieve the best possible 
outcomes for our service users. 
 
The actions we will take in 2016/17 are set out in the table below: 
 
 

Improvement Priority Actions Success Measures 
 

To improve the quality 
of care planning for 
service users. 

As a minimum, we will 
undertake an annual 
review of service users 
on CPA. 
 
Service users will have 
a crisis and contingency 
plan. 
 
We will undertake an 
audit to check service 
user and carer 
involvement in crisis and 
contingency plans and 
set standards for 
improvement. 
 
Implement the caseload 
tool across all 
community teams and 
extend to intensive and 
in-patient teams 
 

95% of service users 
with an annual review. 
 
 
 
95% of service users 
with a crisis and 
contingency plan. 
 
Audit results and 
improvement plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
20% increase in the 
number of teams 
accessing the caseload 
tool. 

To ensure the right 
service users get the 
right choice of medicine 
at the right time. 
  

We will publish a 
pharmacy formulary. 
 
We will test that our 
physical healthcare 
monitoring following the 
use of rapid 
tranquilisation achieves 
national best practice 
standards. 

Publication of formulary. 
 
 
50% improvement on 
rapid tranquilisation 
practice, tested via audit 
standards. 
 
 
 

Page 209



 

9 

 

Improvement Priority Actions Success Measures 
 

 
We will eradicate blank 
boxes on DPARs. 
 
We will improve our 
PRN medication 
recording. 
 

 
<5% blank boxes 
reported on audit. 
 
We will establish a 
baseline and audit that 
rationales for 
administration of 
medication are in place. 
 

To improve mortality 
governance. 

We will review all 
unexpected deaths 
where AWP is the 
primary provider of care. 
 

Establish existing 
baseline for avoidable 
deaths and achieve a 
5% reduction. 

To deliver transformed, 
safe and responsive 
services.  

We will identify Trust-
wide standards for care 
in all of our care 
pathways. 
 
We will deliver the acute 
care pathway 
programme realising 
better ways of providing 
services across all of 
our services. 

Publication of 
standards. 
 
 
 
Implementation of the 
patient flow bundle by 
September 2016. 
 
Establish standards for 
all in-patient services by 
December 2016 
 

To further reduce 
reliance on paper 
records  

We will reduce all dual 
recording methodology 
where one methodology 
is paper. 
 

Reduced reliance to 
paper records 

 
  

Page 210



 

10 

 

 
Priority 3:  To improve safety and reduce avoidable harm 
 
Description of issues and rationale for prioritising 
 
Providing services that are safe and free from harm is our highest priority.  We have signed 
up to NHS England’s ‘Sign up to Safety’ campaign with the following pledges: 
 

 Putting safety first. Commit to reduce avoidable harm in the NHS by half and make 
public our locally developed goals and plans. 

 Continually learning.  Make our organisation more resilient to risks, by acting on the 
feedback from patients and staff and by constantly measuring and monitoring how safe 
our services are. 

 Being honest.  Be transparent with people about our progress to tackle patient safety 
issues and support staff to be candid with patients and their families if something goes 
wrong. 

 Collaborating.  Take a lead role in supporting local collaborative learning, so that 
improvements are made across all of the local services that patients use. 

 Being supportive. Help our people understand why things go wrong and how to put 
them right. Give them the time and support to improve and celebrate progress 
 

Additionally, the actions we will take in 2016/17 are set out in the table below: 
 
 

Improvement Priority Actions Success Measures 
 

To achieve a 
measurable reduction in 
avoidable harm. 

We will implement the 
actions we have signed 
up to as part of the Sign 
up to Safety pledges. 
 
We will minimise the 
number of avoidable 
slips, trips or falls. 
 
We will further reduce 
our use of restrictive 
practices. 
 
We will continue to use 
the Safety thermometer 
to monitor key safety 
aspects. 
 

95% of planned actions 
for 2016/17 achieved. 
 
 
 
10% reduction in falls on 
in-patient units 
 
 
Achieve a 10% 
reduction in the use of 
PMVA and seclusion. 
 
To be average or above 
average in our ranking 
against other mental 
health trusts 

To learn from service 
user’s and carer’s 
experiences when 
things go wrong. 

We will increase the 
number of patients 
offered post incident 
support following 
restraint. 
 
We will audit the 

10% increase of 
patients offered post 
incident support. 
 
 
 
Evidence of discharging 

Page 211



 

11 

 

Improvement Priority Actions Success Measures 
 

effectiveness of our 
Duty of Candour 
arrangements. 
 
We will establish a 
service user/carer led 
complaints panel to 
improve the quality of 
our complaint 
responses. 
 

/attempting to discharge 
our duty of candour in 
100% of cases 
 
10% reduction in re-
opened complaints. 

To create a more open 
and honest reporting 
culture 

We will respond to the 
recommendations 
contained within Sir 
Robert Francis’ 
Freedom to Speak Up 
Report. 
 
We will implement 
mechanisms to enable 
our staff to be given 
feedback about the 
incidents they report. 

Implementation of  
Freedom to Speak Up 
action plan 
 
 
 
 
Improvement in staff 
survey incident reporting 
questions 

To ensure our staff are 
well placed to 
safeguard. 

We will increase staff 
awareness and 
vigilance of child sexual 
exploitation, modern 
slavery, female genital 
mutilation and domestic 
abuse. 
 
We will consistently 
achieve safeguarding 
training standards. 

Annual safeguarding 
report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
90% compliance for 
relevant staff at level 1, 
2, or 3 safeguarding 
training. 

To ensure we minimise 
as far as is possible the 
options for ligaturing on 
an in-patient ward. 

We will continue with 
our strategies to 
improve the safety of 
our environment, 

10% reduction in the 
number of injuries 
sustained from 
attempted ligatures. 

 
  

Page 212



 

12 

 

 
Priority 4:  To improve the physical health and wellbeing of our service users and staff 
 
There is a strong evidence base that individuals with a serious mental illness have much 
higher morbidity and mortality rates, compared to the general population and that service 
users of mental health services do not always receive the physical health care intervention 
they require and that this contributes toward the increased morbidity and mortality.   
 
As well as the economic benefits of keeping staff well and able to work, evidence shows that 
improving staff health and wellbeing will lead to higher staff engagement, better staff retention 
and better clinical outcomes for patients. 
 
The actions we will take in 2016/17 are set out in the table below: 
 
 

Improvement Priority Actions Success Measures 
 

To improve the physical 
health of our service 
user population. 

We will speed up the 
time it takes inpatients 
to receive a 
comprehensive physical 
health assessment 
(from 72 hours to 24 
hours). 
 
In-patients with 
dementia will be 
screened with a 
validated nutrition tool 
on admission. 
 
We will reduce the 
number of in-patients 
recorded as smokers on 
our in-patient users.  
 
We will introduce 
smoke-free hospitals. 
 
We will increase the 
number of in-patients 
we refer to a stop 
smoking service. 
 
We will develop a 
strategy to help ensure 
excellent nutrition and 
hydration care in our in-
patient services. 
 
We will reduce the 

85% of in-patients 
having a physical health 
assessment within 24 
hours. 
 
 
 
 
95% of in-patients with 
dementia will be 
screened using a 
nutrition tool. 
 
 
85% of in-patient 
service users have their 
smoking status 
recorded. 
 
Smoke-free hospitals. 
 
 
Publication of strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 
Establish baseline and 
achieve a 5% reduction. 
 
 
 
 

Page 213



 

13 

 

Improvement Priority Actions Success Measures 
 

number of in-patients 
attending A&E for 
reasons other than self-
harm. 
 
We will encourage our 
community patients to 
attend an annual 
physical health check 
with their GP.  
 

Feedback from GPs 
 
 
 
 
? To be determined 

To improve the health 
and wellbeing of our 
staff. 

We will introduce a 
range of heath and 
wellbeing initiatives for 
staff. 
 
We will achieve a step 
change in the health of 
the food offered on our 
premises (reducing 
access to drinks and 
foods high in fat, sugar 
and salt). 
 
We will improve the 
uptake of flu 
vaccinations for front 
line staff. 
 

Achievement of national 
CQUIN requirements. 
 
 
 
Achievement of national 
CQUIN requirements  
 
 
 
 
 
 
5% increase in the 
number of front line staff 
accepting the flu 
vaccination. 

To support and develop 
our staff. 

To improve the quality 
of appraisal and 
management 
supervision to ensure 
staff are clear about 
their role and are 
supported to develop. 

Implement the Career 
Framework for staff. 

 
  

Page 214



 

14 

 

 

Part 2b:Statements relating to quality 
 

The Trust’s approach to quality improvement is set out in our Quality Improvement Strategy 
2013 to 2017.  (Available on our website http://www.awp.nhs.uk/news-
publications/publications/trust-strategies/) 

The strategy builds on our commitment to be a Trust which is driven by quality, clinically led 
and which is heavily influenced by the views of service users and carers. Our approach to 
quality improvement is supported by: 

 an organisational environment focused on quality improvement 
 

 a quality assurance system (IQ) aimed to provide a visible ‘team to board reporting’ 
system, enabling teams to own their data and compare with their peers 
 

 delivery through quality priorities owned and developed by delivery units and Corporate 
Directorates. 

Our approach seeks to improve quality systems and processes, including those underpinning 
functions essential for delivering high quality care, such as finance and human resources. 

The following statements provide information to show that the Trust is striving to achieve 
essential standards in all areas, that we measure our clinical processes and performance and 
are involved in national projects to improve quality. 

The Board and it’s Quality and Standards Committee receive and review assurance and 
progress reports on a regular basis. 
 
 

2.1 Review of Services 
 
During 2015/16 Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health NHS Trust provided NHS mental health and 
specialist drug and alcohol services.   
 
AWP has reviewed all of the data available to it on the quality of care in these NHS services. 
 
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2015/16 represents 100% of the total 
income generated from the provision of NHS services by Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health 
Trust during 2015/16. 
 
 

2.2 Participation in clinical audit 
 
During 2015-16, three national clinical audits and one national confidential enquiry covered 
NHS services that AWP provides.  
 
During that period AWP participated in 100% of the national clinical audits and 100% of 
national confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.  
 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that AWP was eligible to 
participate in during 2015-16 are as follows: 

Page 215

http://www.awp.nhs.uk/news-publications/publications/trust-strategies/
http://www.awp.nhs.uk/news-publications/publications/trust-strategies/


 

15 

 

 

 Prescribing for Bipolar Disorder (Sodium Valproate) 

 Prescribing for Substance Misuse: alcohol detoxification 

 Prescribing for ADHD in children, adolescents and adults 

 National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness 

 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that AWP participated in, and 
for which data collection was completed during 2015-16, are listed below in Table 1 alongside 
the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of 
registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry. 

 
 

Table 1 – Participation in National Clinical Audits  

*National Audit Topics that AWP was 
eligible to participate in 

AWP involvement 
Cases submitted / cases 

required 

POMH 15a: Prescribing for Bipolar 
Disorder (Sodium Valproate) 

YES 171 

POMH 14b: Prescribing for Substance 
Misuse: alcohol detoxification 

YES 27 

POMH 13b: Prescribing for ADHD in 
children, adolescents and adults 

YES 50 

National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide 
and Homicide by People with Mental 
Illness 

YES 24/39 

 
*Table 1: Showing the National Audits the Trust was eligible to participate in, those it did 
participate in, and the level of completion of data requirements. 
POMH- Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (Royal College of Psychiatrists) 
NCAPOP - National Clinical Audit & Patient Outcomes Programme 

 
2.2.1 Quality improvement actions from national clinical audit 

The reports of four national clinical audits were reviewed by the Trust in 2015-16 and AWP 
intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided: 

POMH 9c: Antipsychotic prescribing in people with a learning disability. 

POMH 9c audited the use of antipsychotic medication in service users diagnosed with a 
learning disability. This was an audit of 55 cases from 6 team that showed good levels of 
compliance with the standards, above the national average and a significant improvement on 
the previous audit. No improvement actions were required. 

POMH 13b: Prescribing for ADHD in children, adolescents and adults. 

As AWP was not delivering child or adolescent ADHD services at the time of the audit, this 
was an audit of 50 cases from 1 specialist that team showed good levels of compliance with 
the standards. No improvement actions were required, but there are plans to review the 
findings in more detail. 

POMH 15a: Prescribing for Bipolar Disorder (Sodium Valproate) 

Page 216



 

16 

 

This is a new national topic and AWP helped develop the standards by hosting an event in 
Bristol for the Royal College of Psychiatrists. The report has not yet been received by the 
Trust.  (Getting it April 2016) Data for 171 service users was returned.  

POMH 14b: Prescribing for Substance Misuse: Alcohol Detoxification 

POMH 14b audited the quality of alcohol detoxification for mental health inpatients needing an 
unplanned detox. It did not audit specialist alcohol services. There are 20 to 30 such cases 
per year in AWP, and 27 were audited. Whilst numbers are low alcohol detoxification is 
dangerous and needs careful management. The final report will be available to the Trust in 
June 2016. Areas noted by the team were the timely use of pabrinex, continuing regimes 
started in general hospitals and documenting decision making. 

 

2.2.2 Quality improvement actions from local audits 

Local Audits 

The reports of some 60 local clinical audits were reviewed by the Trust in 2015-16 and AWP 
intends to take a number of actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided. Examples 
include: 

AWP-217-16 Community Risk Assessments and Care Planning 
Following a CQC inspection in Bristol an audit was conducted in all of the other localities, 
using the same standards used to assess the Bristol risk assessments and care plans. This 
audit looked at the records of patients in Complex Intervention, Intensive and Recovery 
teams. 309 records were reviewed by 18 teams. Overall compliance was 79% which was risk 
scored orange, so needing urgent dissemination and action planning.  
 
Whilst service users had acceptable up to date care plans and risk assessments it was not 
always clear that service user and carer views were captured in these and risks identified 
were not always included in care plans.  
 
This is an example of the more responsive audits we intend to carry out more often – to check 
if findings in one locality are generalised to the trust as a whole or local. This audit was 
created, sent out, data collected and the report drafted and disseminated in under a week. 
This will allow us to focus more time and energy into meaningful quality improvement work 
within the localities and to share data whilst it is still “live”. 
 
 

AWP-216-16 Seclusion 
This audit is an example of a type of project we also want to carry out more frequently, 
inspired by our previous themed review projects. This was a highly detailed and technical, 
“root and branch” review of all incidents of seclusion, which took three months to complete. 
Results, in the form of an Excel Workbook can be “sliced” to look at findings in a variety of 
ways – by locality, ward, by Mental Health Act Section, including or excluding rapid 
tranquillisation, reason for seclusion, whether police were called and so on. The report is 
currently being written up and will take some time to launch and present in the different 
localities and teams. Unlike AWP-216 this is designed to be a definitive and thorough review 
of seclusion practice which will inform training, practice and policy for many years to come.  
 
Emerging findings show us that seclusion practice needs to improve, particularly the 
frequency of observations, record keeping and physical observations, consequently findings 
were risk scored orange.  Priority actions include simplifying record keeping in RiO, and 

Page 217



 

17 

 

streamlining processes for incident reporting to release time to care for service users who 
need seclusion. 
 
 

2.3 Participation in clinical research 
 

This financial year AWP has participated in 95 studies; 66 National Institute for Health 
Research (NIHR) adopted studies, 13 sponsored by commercial companies, and 29 student 
and non-NIHR research. AWP continues to act as a Participant Identification Centre on NIHR 
studies with RICE (Research Institute for the Care of the Elderly) and North Bristol NHS Trust.   

For our last full year of data (April 2014 to March 2015), comparable figures were: 92 active 
studies in AWP, 51 NIHR studies, 12 sponsored by commercial companies and 41 student 
and non-NIHR research. AWP recruited a total of 800 patients into NIHR studies during this 
period. 

The number of patients receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by AWP in 
2015/16 that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a 
research ethics committee was 803 (correct at 24 March 2016)  (We are awaiting the 
corrected figure for year end), 623 into NIHR studies and a further 180 into student and local 
clinician led research. In addition, staff working for AWP have been able to support 
recruitment of a further 81 people into research studies from other Trusts.   

 

The Trust is committed to research being part of everything we do.  We support high quality 
research into the prevention, treatment and management of mental health problems, 
addictions and dementia and aim to put research findings into clinical practice.  AWP ensures 
we give everyone who uses AWP services, their carer’s and families (as well as our staff) the 
chance to find out about research they could take part in.  This forms our pledge to make 
Research for All, and AWP are an Everyone Included Trust.   

Our Everyone Included approach has been a great success, so far 5 studies have used the 
approach in 2015/16, and over 30 people have taken part in studies.  This is a wonderful 
achievement as without this approach these people would not have been given the 
opportunity to take part. 

AWP works with the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) and the West of England 
Clinical Research Network (WE CRN).  The Trust collaborates locally with universities and 
acute Trusts through Bristol Health Partners (BHP), the West of England Academic Health 
Science Network (AHSN) and the NIHR Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health 
Research and Care West (CLAHRC West). 

The Research and Development (R&D) department currently supports the Department of 
Health contract for the National Suicide Prevention Programme Grant led by Professor 
Gunnell at the University of Bristol.  Along with another Department of Health contract for 
Autism and Depression with the University of Bath (DR Ailsa Russell). The department also 
runs the BEST Evidence in Mental Health clinical question answering service in collaboration 
with the Cochrane Group at the University of Bristol.   

The workforce in AWP R&D are funded by the West of England Clinical Research Network 
and we aim to improve the access of mental health and dementia research to patients across 
the area. 

 

We have extensive development plans in place for 2016/17. 

Page 218



 

18 

 

 
 

2.4 Commissioning for quality and innovation (CQUIN payment 
framework) 
 

Two and a half per cent of the Trust’s income in 2015/16 was conditional on achieving quality 
improvement and innovation goals agreed between AWP and any person or body they 
entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of NHS services, 
through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation Payment Framework. 

During 2015/16 the Trust CQUIN schemes included a series of initiatives agreed locally for 
each CCG area along with three nationally set schemes. The Trust achieved measurable 
improvements and met the target levels aspired to for all of the CQUIN schemes. The Trust is 
awaiting Commissioners’ decisions on payment. 

Further details of the agreed goals for 2015/16 and for the following 12 month period are 
available electronically in an additional document which is available from our website:  insert 
link once published  
 

2.5 Care Quality Commission ( CQC) Registration 
 

AWP is required to register with the Care Quality Commission and its current registration 
status is registered.  The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against 
AWP during 2015/16, but AWP has received one Section 291 Warning Notice in relation to 
services in Bristol.   
 
Four residual warning notices from the Trust’s 2014 CQC inspection were formally lifted in 
May 2015 and the CQC re-issued reports for the acute admissions and long 
stay/forensic/secure services and these were published on 24 July 2015.  This identified that 
there were 57 compliance actions across 9 regulated activities that remained outstanding. 
 
On the 7 and 8 December 2015 the CQC undertook an unannounced inspection of the 
community mental health services in Bristol.  This was a responsive inspection undertaken 
following concerns raised by whistleblowing, commissioners and a staff grievance. The 
inspection identified 6 areas of concern and as a result a warning notice was issued under 
Section 29A of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and this was served to AWP on 31 
December 2015.  The CQC notified the Trust that significant improvement in the quality of 
healthcare provided was required. The Trust was required to undertake certain actions by 1 
February 2016.  The CQC returned on 17 February 2015 and confirmed the Trust had 
complied with the specified requirements for improvement by 1 February 2016. 
 
Further actions required to achieve CQC compliance will be re-inspected when the CQC 
undertake the comprehensive inspection commencing 16 May 2016. 
 
The Trust has a comprehensive programme in place to deliver quality improvements.   
The Programme has established actions and clear milestones necessary to achieve 
compliance against the remaining CQC compliance actions, re-focussing locality and Trust 
priorities against Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOE) through self-assessment and support. 
 
 

Page 219



 

19 

 

2.6 Quality of data 
 
The Trust has a comprehensive and systematic approach to the management of the quality of 
data held on its patient information system RiO, which is used for reporting. 
 
The quality of the electronic patient record is audited monthly via the Trust’s Records 
Management audit, which requires senior clinicians to review five randomly selected records 
and to rate them against 10 criteria. This is supported by a suite of ‘completeness’ metrics 
that check that key information is available for all patients accessing services and that staff 
are entering data into the system in a timely manner.  Results for these indicators are 
reported internally to Board and externally to Commissioners each month.  Additionally, team 
/ ward level information is available in real time to allow managers to track their performance. 
 
The final results for 2014-15 and 2015-16 are presented in table 2 below. 
 
Table 2: Data Quality Indicators Target 2014-15 2015-16 

 
 

Records Management: monthly audit (local indicator) 75% 87.1% 90.4% 

Data completeness – core fields for patient identification 
(national indicator) 

97% 99.9% 99.9% 

Data completeness – outcome fields (national indicator) 50% 79.6% 83.3% 

Data quality: completion of NHS number (national 
indicator) 

99% 99.9% 99.8% 

Data quality: completion of ethnic category (national 
indicator) 

90% 100% 100% 

Data quality: completion of risk assessment (local 
indicator) 

85% 99.9% 99.9% 

Data quality: completion of crisis, relapse and 
contingency plans (local indicator) 

85% 89.5% 97.8% 

Data timeliness – system updated in three days of actual 
event (local indicator) 

95% 93.2% 95% 



 
The Trust will be taking the following actions to improve data quality: 


 The records management audit has been reviewed during 2015-16 to assess efficacy 
and consider improvements.  A series of updates have been agreed and these will be 
implemented in early 2016-17. 

 The Trust has also agreed to further improve its ‘timeliness’ metric to focus on clinical, 
rather than administrative, data within the record.  This will be implemented during 
2016-17. 

 
 
Our performance against other key areas of data quality is as follows: 
The Trust submitted records during 2015/16 to the Secondary Uses Service for inclusion in 
the hospital episode statistics which are included in the latest published data. The percentage 
of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid: 
 

NHS number was 100% for admitted patient care. 

General Medical Practice Code was 100% for admitted patient care. 

Page 220



 

20 

 

 
The Trust’s Information Governance Assessment report score overall for 2015/16 was 77% 
and was graded satisfactory (green). 
 
AWP was not subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit during 2015/16 by the 
Audit Commission. 
 

 

 

2.7 Safeguarding 
 
The Trust continues to regard safeguarding as a priority to protect the people, their families 
and the communities we work with. The Trust remains an active member of the safeguarding 
multi agency partnerships in our area, including Safeguarding Children and Safeguarding 
Adults Boards, Domestic Violence partnerships, MAPPA Strategic Management Boards and 
Contest and Prevent partnerships. 
 
The Board was provided with assurance regarding compliance with safeguarding in 
November including progress on the action plan. This showed: 
 

 The information and evidence from internal and external sources demonstrate that the 
Trust was compliant with its statutory and mandatory duties and responsibilities in 
2014/2015, and had plans to further improve the depth of compliance. 

 

 We overhauled and revamped our safeguarding training programme this year and have 
continued to achieve good uptake.   
 

  

Subject 31.03.2016 

Safeguarding Adults & Children L1 92% 

Safeguarding Children L2 90% 

Safeguarding L3 83% 

 

 

Part 3: Our care quality achievements in 2015/16 
 

The Trust has a robust performance and quality improvement strategy.  From Board level to 
frontline services, quantitative and qualitative information is scrutinised covering the areas of 
patient experience, effectiveness and safety.  Reports are reviewed monthly by the Board, 
and across the Trust, including external scrutiny by our commissioners and a range of care 
forums.  This approach has helped to systematically improve the quality of services. 

Trust’s quality surveillance system, called ‘Information for Quality’ (IQ), reports data at ward 
and team level up to local area service delivery unit and Trust level.  The system reports 
across seven key domains as an early warning system to identify areas for improvement. 

In this section, we describe:  

 what we achieved during the year across the areas of patient experience, effectiveness 
and safety and, 

Page 221



 

21 

 

 how we have progressed with our quality improvement priorities alongside a series of 
quality indicators that we routinely use for measuring the quality of services.  

For each domain of quality, we have included some measures, as key quality indicators, 
which show data for the Trust overall.  Area level breakdowns to enable local comparison are 
available in Appendix D and further information on the definitions of the measures used is 
included in Appendix E. 

 

3.1 National indicators 
 

 

3.1.1 Care programme approach seven day follow- up 
 
AWP is achieving above the national average against this indicator. 

 

National data – CPA seven day follow up 
 

Data source: NHS England 
 

Trust Performance 
Reporting period (for 3 
months in quarter 

Quarter 2 2015-16 Quarter 3 2015-16 

Number % Number % 

490 / 502 97.6% 492 / 505 97.4% 

 Quarter 2 2015-16 Quarter 3 2015-16 

England Average 96.8% 96.9% 

Highest Score Nationally 100% 100% 

Lowest Score Nationally 83.4% 50% 

 
This is the latest data available – will need updating for final version 

 
3.1.2 Admissions to inpatient services have had access to crisis resolution 
 
AWP is achieving below the national average against this indicator. 

 
 

National data – CPA seven day follow up 
 

Data source: NHS England 
 

Trust Performance 
Reporting period (for 3 
months in quarter 

Quarter 2 2015-16 Quarter 3 2015-16 

Number % Number % 

182 / 198 91.9% 180 / 197 91.4% 

 Quarter 2 2015-16 Quarter 3 2015-16 

England Average 97% 97.4% 

Highest Score Nationally 100% 100% 

Lowest Score Nationally 48.5% 61.9% 

Page 222



 

22 

 

 
 
3.1.3 Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care 
 

The Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) provides patient experience indicator 
data for the annual national Community Mental Health (CMH) Survey.  

2015/16 

Domain England average 
score 

AWP score 

Accessibility and waiting 82.1 85.5 

Safe, high quality 
coordinated care 

70.4 76.1 

Better information, more 
choice 

70.4 72.2 

Building closer 
relationships 

76.3 78.6 

TOTALS 74.8 78.1 

Note: 2014/15 data is not directly comparable to 2015/16 data, due to survey changes. 

The CQC does not provide a single overall rating for each trust for this survey, as it assesses 
a number of different aspects of people’s care and results vary across the questions and 
sections. The full 2015 CMH survey data is available on the CQC website: 
http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RVN/survey/6  (to view, scroll to second half of webpage and 
click on sections for individual question results). 
 

The Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons: The data 
reflects the Trusts current position as benchmarked against other similar organisations. 
Further detail on our results for the national Community Mental Health Survey are detailed in 
section 3.5.3. 

The Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality 
of its services, by: 

 ensuring that this quantitative and qualitative survey data is used to put in place actions 
focused on the areas most in need of improvement. 

 using the real time Friends and Family Test feedback to better understand service 
users’ experience of current care, sharing praise to build on good practice and 
responding swiftly to local concerns raised. 

 
 
3.1.4 Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting 
them from avoidable harm 
 
Nationally reported patient safety incident data 

Page 223

http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RVN/survey/6


 

23 

 

Patient safety incident data is collected centrally by the National Reporting and Learning 
Service (NRLS). Two measures are reported below for the rate of incidents reported per 1000 
bed days and the rate of incidents which are categorised as causing severe harm or death. 
The NRLS considers high levels of incident reporting by Trusts to be an indicator of a positive 
reporting culture. Consequently, high numbers of incidents are viewed positively, particularly 
when the proportion of serious incidents is low and the proportion of no harm incidents is high. 
 

Please note that the data for the period October 2014 to March 2015 (published in September 
2015) is the most recently available due to a delay of six months from when data is submitted 
to the NRLS to it being published. Further data is expected in March 2016.  

 

National Data – Patient safety incident data 

Reporting 
Period  
(6 months) 

AWP Score 
England 
Average 

Highest 
score 
nationally 

Lowest 
score 
nationally 

Number Rate 

i) Rate of patient safety incidents reported per 1000 bed days 

01/04/14 to 
30/09/14 

3772 41.21 36.97 94.00 0.00 

01/10/14 to 
31/03/15 

3527 41.76 38.92 92.53 4.83 

ii) Rate of incidents reported that caused severe harm or death 

01/04/14 to 
30/09/14 

34 0.9% 1.1% 5.9% 0.0% 

01/10/14 to 
31/03/15 

20 0.5% 1.2% 5.1% 0.0% 

 
The number of incidents reported to the NRLS by the Trust in the most recent report is slightly 
lower than the previous 6 month period, but over the full year (2014 – 15) the Trust reported 
more incidents than in any year previously. The proportion of incidents graded as ‘death’ had 
decreased to 0.5%, and is slightly lower than the rate for our peers (mean for all mental health 
trusts = 0.7%). The proportion of incidents graded as ‘severe’ but not ‘death’ had decreased 
to 0.0% (mean for all mental health trusts = 0.4%).  
 
Encouraging the reporting of incidents, undertaking root cause analysis investigations for 
serious incidents and implementing practice change to learn lessons and improve forms the 
cornerstone of our Sign up to Safety plan. 
 

 

3.2 Achievement against our 2015/16 Quality Plans 
 
 
 

Page 224



 

24 

 

 
Priority 1: To improve service user and carer experience  
 
Aim:  To provide services that our service users will be confident to recommend to 
their friends and family if they required similar treatment. 
 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

Development of a new 
Service User and Carer 
Involvement Strategy 
developed in partnership with 
our service users and carers 
 

We re—launched our Service User 
Group and our Carer Forum this 
year and a consultation on the new 
strategy was commenced.  We 
anticipate that the new strategy will 
be published in the summer.  

Partly 
achieved 

Complete an in depth 
thematic analysis of patient 
feedback and findings from 
incident reporting 
 

We introduced a new approach to 
reporting on the patient 
experience, facilitating patient 
stories to be told at Board with the 
emphasis on the learning and 
change outcomes.  We introduced 
a patient experience cycle tool as 
a really effective way of sharing 
learning with staff.  A number of 
thematic reviews have been 
undertaken and Safety Matters 
Bulletins shared with staff. 

Achieved 

The use of the Friends and 
Family Test (FFT) as a 
mechanism for gathering 
real-time service user 
feedback 
 

We exceeded the target we set 
ourselves (90% of service users 
recommending our services via the 
Friends and Family Test) in 
community services (91%) but did 
not achieve it for in-patients (81%).  

Partly 
achieved 

Development of survey tools 
to improve the accessibility of 
the FFT 
 
 (partially met) 
 

We wanted to achieve a consistent 
response rate of 15% for 
community services across all of 
our service delivery units.  We 
achieved a 17% response rate by 
the second half of the year, 
however we did not manage to 
achieve consistency as there is 
significant variation between 
response levels across our teams 
and service delivery units. 
 

Partly 
achieved 

 
 
Aim:  To enhance carers experience through improved partnership working and carer 
support. 
 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

We will continue to use the 
Carers Trust ‘Triangle of 

AWP attained its first star in the 
membership scheme in April 

Achieved 

Page 225



 

25 

 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

Care’ self-assessment 
improvement tool across the 
Trust and take forward 
identified improvement 
actions 
 

2014 as a result of assessing its 
in-patient, intensive and 
rehabilitation services.  The 
second star was gained in May 
2015 for assessing all community 
teams.  Improvement plans are in 
place to ensure continuous 
development. 
 

Implementation of our Family 
Friends’ and Carers Charter 
 

Our charter was reviewed and 
confirmed as still valid and 
continually progressing its 
implementation is a key priority of 
the Carers’ Forum. 

Achieved 

Rolling out carer awareness 
training across all teams 
 

Carer awareness training has 
been made available to all teams.  
We set ourselves a target that 
85% of teams would complete the 
carer’s training and achieved 
66%. 

Partly 
achieved 

Simplifying carer  recording 
processes on RiO 
 

We set ourselves the goal of 90% 
of service users being asked if 
they had a carer and achieved 
80%.  There is further work we 
need to do to simplify recording 
this information on RiO. 

Not 
achieved 

Updating and improving carer 
information on Carers pages 
of internal and external 
website 

Our website pages were 
completely revamped and 
updated. 

Achieved 

 
 
 
Priority 2: To improve the clinical effectiveness of our services 
 
Aim:  To ensure that all service users receive a comprehensive assessment including 
formulation, assessment of risk, and have a clinically effective care plan that is agreed 
by the service user 
 
 
 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

Training and development of 
staff on formulation, 
assessment and care 
planning. 
 

We set itself a standard that 85% 
of service users’ records would 
have a formulation summary 
recorded and by the end of 
February we achieved 84%. 
(needs updating when March 
data is available. 

Not 
Achieved 

The clinical toolkit will be We reviewed and updated our Achieved 

Page 226



 

26 

 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

reviewed as per yearly 
review cycle.  
 

clinical toolkit to support staff in 
risk assessment and care 
planning. 
We set ourselves a target of 95% 
of service users having a risk 
assessment recorded and 
achieved >99% 
 

Guidance on recording 
assessments and 
formulations for clinicians will 
be refreshed following the 
introduction of open RiO.  
 

We introduced open RiO and 
further developed and refreshed 
our guidance for clinicians. 
We set ourselves a target that 
90% of service users have crisis 
and contingency plan and 
achieved 97% 
 

Achieved 

Checklists for managers will 
be developed which will 
enable the review of 
assessments, formulation 
and care plans. These will be 
used monthly. 
 

We set ourselves the target that 
85% of service users’ care plans 
would contain the following 
elements: 

 statement of need which 
has been identified during 
assessment 

 goals 

 interventions with 
timescales 

 evidence of service user 
and carer involvement in 
the development of the 
care plan 

 are agreed and signed by 
the service user 

 
We achieved 94% 

Achieved 

Development of clinical 
networks to advise on clinical 
effectiveness and standards 

We have established new 
networks for PCLs, Trauma, 
Personality Disorder, 
Rehabilitation, Acute Care, Social 
Work and Psychological 
therapies, and continue to 
support clinical networks for 
Intensive, EI, Dual Diagnosis and 
Suicide Prevention. Our 
Integrated Governance 
Committee took the decision not 
to pursue the establishment of 
Affective Disorders, Neurological 
Disorders and Older People' 
networks. 
 

Achieved 

Page 227



 

27 

 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

 

 
Aim:  To improve the quality of the electronic patient record (EPR) to aid and reflect 
clinical practice and decision making 
  

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

Development and agreement 
of Trust standards for the 
completion of a good quality 
patient record 
 

We completed a significant piece 
of work in developing new record 
management standards that are 
informed by standards in the 
NPSA Suicide Prevention toolkit. 
 
We made substantial changes to 
our records management audit 
and this informs the performance 
data we consider in our IQ 
system.  This change was ready 
to go live for the start of the new 
financial year. 
 

Achieved 

Tailoring of the new EPR to 
the needs of service users 
and staff 
 

We set ourselves the standard of 
85% compliance with monthly 
audits of the clinical record and 
achieved 94%. 
 

Achieved 

Implementation of a new 
EPR  and delivery of training 

 

We implemented our new 
Electronic Patient Record (EPR) 
in September 2015 and started 
customising it for our needs from 
February 2016.  Guidance was 
issued to support the new system 
and our existing training provision 
remains in place.  We will seek 
staff feedback on the system in 
due course. 

Achieved 

 
 
Priority 3:  To reduce avoidable harm          
 
Listening to patients, carers and staff, learning from what they say when things go 
wrong and taking action to improve patients’ safety.   
 
Our aim is to reduce avoidable harm by 50% in line with NHS England’s ‘Sign up to 
Safety’ campaign to save lives and reduce harm for patients over the next 3 years. 
 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

We will develop and deliver a 
patient safety improvement 
plan and set out our actions 
to meet the Sign up to Safety 

We signed up to safety and 
developed a patient safety 
improvement plan, which we are 
continuing to implement. 

Achieved 

Page 228



 

28 

 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

pledges: 
1. Put safety first 
2. Continually learn  
3. Honesty 
4. Collaborate 
5. Support 

 

We set ourselves a number 
of success measures for 
safety: 
Achieve CQC rating of ‘good’ 
in the safe domain. 
 
8% reduction in falls leading 
to a fracture. 
 
Maintain and improve our 
position in the top 25% of 
organisations by the rate of 
incidents reported. 
 
 
Evidence of discharging our 
duty of candour for 100% of 
serious incidents 
 
 
 
 
 
90% of actions completed on 
the Patient Safety 
Development Plan 
 

 
 
The CQC warning notice  about 
some of our services meant that  
we did not achieve this measure. 
Despite the work of our Falls 
Reduction Group, we had more 
falls this year than last.  
 
Despite increasing the number of 
our incident reports we did not 
manage to maintain this position.  
We are still above average 
compared to other mental health 
trusts. 
We undertook an audit to test our 
compliance and listened to 
feedback from our 
commissioners.  We identified 
that our systems were not robust 
enough to consistently capture 
the outcome of our efforts to be 
open, and we have therefore 
introduced significant changes 
and improvements. 
 
We completed 89% of actions on 
the Patient Safety Development 
Plan. 
 

Not 
achieved 

 
Aim:  To reduce the use and need for restrictive interventions and improve the use of 
positive and proactive approaches to care   
 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

Implementation of 
Department of Health 
Guidance ‘Positive and 
Proactive Care: reducing the 

We wanted to implement the 
‘Safewards Model’1 on all of our 
wards and have achieved this. 

 

Achieved 

                                                 
1
 A model of care designed to reduce the use of restrictive practices such as restraint or rapid tranquilisation. 

Page 229



 

29 

 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

need for restrictive 
interventions’. 
Adoption of the 2015 update 
of the Mental Health Act 
1983: Code of Practice. 

 We wanted to achieve a 15% 
reduction in restraint and 
achieved 6% 
(12% at Q3) 
 

Not 
achieved 

 We wanted to achieve a 10% 
reduction in the use of seclusion 
above 8 hours duration and in 
fact there was a 24% increase.   
 

Not 
achieved 

 
 
 

We wanted to improve our score 
for national inpatient survey 
question ‘Do you feel safe?’ and 
have increased from 34% 41%. 
 

Achieved 

 
 
 
 
Priority 4:  To improve the physical health of our patients 
 
Aim:  To reduce premature death and improve the physical health condition of severely 
mentally ill patients and ensure physical health needs are identified and treated. 
 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

All inpatients will receive a 
comprehensive physical 
health assessment within 72 
hours of admission to a ward. 
 

We set ourselves the target of 
meeting 90% (inpatient) and 80% 
(EI) compliance with the 
completion cardio metabolic risk 
factors assessed via the National 
Audit of Schizophrenia.  Audit 
data shows that we achieved 
compliance of 96.4% for in-
patients and 74% for Early 
Intervention patients. 
 
We aim to achieve an improved 
score for national inpatient survey 
question ‘Do you feel enough 
care was taken of your physical 
health needs?’, however the data 
is not yet available to see if we 
achieved this. 
 
 

Partly 
achieved 

Page 230



 

30 

 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

The full implementation of 
appropriate processes for 
assessing, documenting and 
acting on cardio metabolic 
risk factors for patients with 
schizophrenia in our wards 
and early intervention (EI) 
services.  
 

We set ourselves the objective of 
95% of inpatients with physical 
health assessment within 72 
hours of admission.  We achieved 
full implementation of the 
Cardiometabolic CQUIN for in-
patients with complaiance at 
96.4%.  (EI audit results not yet 
available). 
 

Achieved 

All inpatients will receive a 
daily assessment of their 
physical health condition. 
 

85% of inpatients receive daily 
physical health assessment and 
achieved 64%, however this was 
a new requirement introduced 
this year and progress continues. 

Not 
Achieved 

Care plans to fully reflect 
actions to address lifestyle 
and physical health needs 

We have undertaken significant 
improvements in our cardio 
metabolic monitoring as a result 
of our CQUIN work. 

Achieved 

 
 
Aim:  Ensuring that discharge summaries and care plans are shared with GPs and 
include comprehensive information including diagnosis, medications, physical health 
conditions and recovery interventions. 
 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

Development of 
comprehensive guidance and 
training for clinical 
practitioners on the inclusion 
of diagnosis, medications, 
physical health conditions 
and recovery interventions in 
care plans for inpatients 

We set ourselves the target of 
meeting 90% compliance 
assessed by a local audit of care 
plans and achieved 74%. 
We aim to achieve an improved 
score for national inpatient survey 
question ‘Do you feel enough 
care was taken of your physical 
health needs?’, however the data 
is not yet available to see if we 
achieved this. 
 
 
 
 

Not 
Achieved 

 
 
 
Priority 5:  To provide services that are compliant with the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) 
Fundamental Standards of care. 
 
Aim:  To ensure that all services are compliant with the CQC Fundamental Standards of 
care 
 

Page 231



 

31 

 

Planned Actions  Outcome Status 

We set ourselves a number 
of challenging objectives to 
achieve this aim: 

 Self-assessments of 
compliance at ward 
and team level  

 Development of a 
dashboard to provide 
information at ward 
and team level to 
inform improvement 
activity 

 Locally led and 
independent/peer 
review quality walk 
around programme 

 Mock inspections and 
independent 
compliance checks 

 ‘15 steps challenge’ 
visiting programme 

 

We undertook all of the actions 
that we said we would, however, 
the improvement notice we 
received from the CQC means 
that we are not currently fully 
compliant with their standards, 
which is what we set out to 
achieve. 
 
 
 

Not 
achieved 

Quality improvement training 
and specialist support for 
projects 
 

We exceeded our target of a 20% 
increase in the number of 
registered quality improvement 
projects.  We have registered 41 
projects since the start of the year 
as a result of partnership with 
Medical Education and through 
the Quality Academy's training 
and support to staff. This included 
a one day conference for 150 
staff on Quality Improvement 
methods and tools. 
  

Achieved 

Quality improvements plans 
in place for all service 
delivery units 

Quality improvement plans were 
implemented in each service 
delivery unit and monitored via 
presentations to our Quality and 
Standards Committee.  

Achieved 

 
 

3.3 Patient and Carer Experience 
 

3.3.1 The NHS Friends and Family Test (FFT) 
 

Page 232



 

32 

 

The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a single question used across the NHS that asks people 
who use NHS services whether they would recommend the service to friends and family who 
need similar care or treatment.  They also have the option to comment on their care. 

 

This year we received over 10,000 responses to our FFT, a 20% increase on last year.  
Monthly reporting shows that we are consistently a top mental health trust for the number of 
surveys received.  The majority of people who respond also choose to comment on their care. 
This year 78% of responders commented.  

 

Last year between 88% and 92% of AWP participants would recommend our services (the 
national benchmark was between 86% and 88%).  91% of community patients would 
recommend us and 81% of in-patients. 

 

 

 

 

We have worked to improved the accessibility of the FFT and use feedback kiosks, survey i-
pads, telephone surveys as well as paper questionnaires.  A British Sign Language version of 
the FFT is available on the Trust website and a written translation from BSL has also been 
produced, as well as the paper version for people with learning difficulties and the easy read 
version for anyone who prefers it, for whom English is not a first language or for those who 
are cognitively impaired. 

 

Quantitative and qualitative feedback from the Friends and Family Test is reviewed at local 
quality meetings, and shared locally with staff, service users and carers. It helps us to see 
where we are doing well and where we need to improve. The majority of feedback is praise; 
individual praise for staff is regularly shared back with them. 91% of comments were positive 
and 9% negative.  We feedback about how we have responded to comments via posters in 
wards and community waiting areas.  Examples of comments we have received include: 

  

Community 
Patients 

Would
recommend

Would not
recommend

In-patients 

Would
recommend

Would not
recommend

Page 233



 

33 

 

 

 
  

I am in the armed forces and 
have been going through 
personal problems; this course 
is helping me to understand 
stress more. I will be able to 
give soldiers some ideas on 
personal level to aid them with 
their stress but also signpost 
them to the course so it can 
help them too.  

Very pleased with the service provided 
over the last 2 years since Mum’s 

diagnosis. Caring and compassionate 
interactions by the Memory Services 

staff 

On arriving at Beechlydene 
I was pleasantly surpirised 

with the environment, it was 
light spacious and airy. It 
has underfloor heating 

which was lovley. My room 
was cosy comfortable and 
well-lit and the shower so 

refreshing. 

I came to Acer to detox off drugs 
and when I walked through I felt 
nervous and anxious but it didn’t 
take long to feel better because 
the staff here made me feel at 
ease and very comfortable. I’m 

grateful to all of the staff for what 
they have done and I would 
recommend it to anyone with  

drug or alcohol problems. 

You were there when I desperately 
needed you. Your workers were 
always understanding, polite and 

managed to make me smile even on 
my darkest days.  

The recent changes have 
disrupted things: I do 

understand that staff are 
under pressure 

Staff are understanding patient and 
make sure your medical needs are 
well met, lots of information given 
including medication and aftercare 

Page 234



 

34 

 

 

 

3.3.2 Our work with Carers and the Triangle of Care 
 
AWP is a member of the national scheme, The Triangle of Care, coordinated and supported 
by the Carers Trust.  It is through this scheme that AWP self-assesses its progress when 
working in partnership with families and carers of people using our services.  We use the self-
assessment tool that underpins the six standards in the Triangle of Care that are seen as best 
practice to engage with families, carers: 

 
The six key standards of the Triangle of Care:  

 Carers and the essential role they play are identified at first contact or as soon as 
possible thereafter.  

 Staff are ‘carer aware’ and trained in carer engagement strategies.  

 Policy and practice protocols re: confidentiality and sharing information, are in place.  

 Defined post(s) responsible for carers are in place.  

 A carer introduction to the service and staff is available, with a relevant range of 
information across the care pathway.  

 A range of carer support services is available.  
 
 

 
 
AWP attained its first star in the membership scheme in April 2014 as a result of assessing 
its Inpatient, Intensive and Rehabilitation services.  The second star was gained in May 2015 
for assessing all Community Teams.   
 
Our on-going commitment to the scheme is for staff to continue to monitor their action plans 
and make improvements.  The Carer Leads in place for each Local Delivery Unit are 
instrumental in overseeing this process and provide support for the local Carer Champions.  
The Champions are able to provide a knowledgeable resource for colleagues to ensure 
working in partnership is seen as integral to the recovery of people using services. 
 
 
The Trust-wide Carers’ Forum:  
The Forum has continued to involve carers, partner organisation and AWP staff to work in 
partnership to monitor work in the Local Delivery Units regarding the Triangle of Care, sharing 
good practice for implementation of the Care Act, especially regarding assessments of carer 
needs and escalating trust-wide carer issues to the Board.  It developed and is overseeing the 
implementation of the Carer’s Charter. 
 
Since January 2016 the Forum has become the main group for carers to represent the views 
of their peers from groups in their Local Delivery Units.  It is now the place for issues to be 
considered and actions to be overseen.  The Director of Nursing and Quality attends and is 

Page 235

https://www.google.co.uk/url?url=https://professionals.carers.org/working-mental-health-carers/triangle-care-mental-health&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ved=0ahUKEwi2lMKfzpXMAhWLAJoKHf0cBfMQwW4IFjAA&usg=AFQjCNEWFVs1iPUKnUnCT5MWQQBP-eRp7w


 

35 

 

able to escalate issues to the Board and cascade responses back to carers, staff and 
managers for action.  
 

 

3.3.3 Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 

 

The PALS service continue to provide free, confidential, impartial advice to service users, 
families, carers and interested members of the public. PALS help the Trust to know how 
people feel about our services and how they experience the care we deliver.  The information 
gathered by the team acts as early warning system for the Trust when things are not right, 
and they help us to improve our services.  

Over the past year the team have received 1,802 enquiries. Further information about the 
work that PALS do is available on our website at: http://www.awp.nhs.uk/advice-support/pals/ 

 

 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

PALS cases 1688 1485 1631 1887 1802 

 

3.3.4 Complaints  
 

All complaints and concerns will be treated as feedback and an opportunity to learn, develop 
and improve. The key purpose of our complaints and concerns handling process is to identify 
what, if anything, went wrong, apologise, describe the learning from the investigation and set 
out clearly the action the Trust has taken to minimise the risk of it happening again. This year 
we have received 360 complaints, compared to 314 last year.  

Actions arising from complaints can range from system issues, policy changes, to arranging 
an appointment for someone to review their care. Each action is tracked to ensure completion 
and they are recorded on a plan which is monitored and has senior management oversight.  

 

 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

No of formal complaints 278 302 272 314 360 

No of informal complaints 27 103 88 72 78 

Total 305 405 360 386 438 

Referred to Parliamentary 
and Health Service 
Ombudsman 

19 21 7 12    4 

 

  

Page 236

http://www.awp.nhs.uk/advice-support/pals/


 

36 

 

 

3.3.5 Praise  
 

This year the Trust has implemented an on-line praise recording so teams can let us know 
when they have received a compliment about their service. These are then received by the 
PALS team and themed so we can see what is being praised and we can look at areas of 
good practice. This year has seen compliments rise from 724 to 1,122. 

 

 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Praise received 709 782 849 724 1,122 

 

3.3.6 Themes from PALS and Complaints  
 

The table below shows the classification of themes arising from complaints and PALS.  The 
classification list has been revised this year and the Trust has adopted the themes used by 
the Care Quality Commission. Examples of the fields these themes contain have been given 
in the table, but these lists are not exhaustive.  

 

Five themes from our feedback* Complaints PALS  

Responsive (includes access to services, 
responsiveness to referrals and inpatient bed 
management) 

 
93 412 

Effective (includes clinical care, CPA, discharge 
from services, MHA, physical healthcare) 

 
108 

341 

Caring (includes attitude of staff, privacy and 
dignity, communication) 

 
99 

524 

Safety (includes medication, nutrition, personal 
safety, safeguarding, personal property) 

 
38 

176 

Well led (incudes policy and procedure, health 
records, complaints handling, requests for 
information, user and carer involvement)  

 
22 349 

TOTAL 360 1802 

 

3.3.7 Community Mental Health Survey 2015 
 

The Trust took part in the national community mental health survey and had a response rate 
of 28%.  Its results for the different sections of the survey are shown in the table below: 

  

Page 237



 

37 

 

 

 

Section heading Score out of  
10 for your  
trust (2015) 

How this score 
compares with 
other trusts 

Health and Social Care Workers 7.8 About the same 

Organising care 8.8 About the same 

Planning care 7.3 About the same 

Reviewing care 7.8 About the same 

Changes in who people see 6.8 About the same 

Crisis Care 6.3 About the same 

Treatments 7.7 Better 

Other areas of life 5.5 About the same 

Overall views and experiences   7.2 About the same 

Overall experience 6.9 About the same 

 

The Trust is better for ‘Treatments’ (four questions about involvement in decisions about 
treatment and medication) compared to most other trusts that took part in the Community 
Mental Health Survey. For all other sections, it is described as performing ‘about the same’ as 
most other trusts that took part in the survey. Within this range, the majority of scores were 
above the average for all mental health trusts. 

We had the top score in the country for people being given information about medication in a 
way they were able to understand. No scores were significantly lower than in 2014. There 
were notable improvements in the ‘other areas of life section’: for supporting people to find 
advice and support regarding employment, finances and benefits, accommodation and peer 
support. Following 2014 survey actions to ensure that service users have out of hours contact 
details, there were significant improvements for service users knowing who to contact in a 
crisis (2014=6.3, 2015= 7.3), however, there is still scope for improvement for people getting 
the help they want from crisis care (2014=5.7, 2015=5.3). 

67% of survey respondents chose to comment. The comments were equally balanced 
between positive and negative feedback. The majority of positive comments described caring 
staff and effective services. Resourcing of mental health services and access were the main 
concerns raised. 

 

3.3.8 Inpatient Survey 2015 

 

The Trust chose to repeat the national adult inpatient survey for the seventh consecutive year.  
Seventeen mental health trusts undertook this optional survey. Our response rate was 22% 
and responses were from a more ethnically diverse group than in previous years.   

This year, we had improved scores for two thirds of the questions. Following the ongoing 
Trust wide implementation of the Safe Wards initiative, more service users told us that they 
always felt safe on the ward (34% in 2014, 41% in 2015) and more said that nurses always 
listened carefully to them (39% in 2014, 48% in 2015). Other improved scores included care 
for physical problems and people finding talking therapy helpful. More people wanted talking 
therapies than said they received them on the wards. Where scores were lower than in 2014, 

Page 238



 

38 

 

they were generally only slightly lower; for example, in 2014, 58% said that the toilets and 
bathrooms were very clean compared to 57% in 2015.  

Following actions from the last inpatient survey, the percentage of people saying that there 
are always enough activities at evenings and weekends went from 8% to 16%, however, there 
is still a need for improvement. 
 

Theme 
 

Positive 
comments 

 
Negative comments 

      Responsive  2 2% 4 4% 

Effective  
 

44 39% 32 31% 

Caring  
 

51 46% 38 36% 

Safety  
 

13 11% 19 19% 

Well Led 
 

2 2% 10 10% 

  
  

 
  

 

      

   
100% 

 
100% 

       

The Trust wide priority areas for action were agreed by the Quality and Standards Committee 
in November, and are: 

 Other areas of life (involving carers, peer support and community engagement). 

 Crisis care.  

 Impact of changes in care. 

  

 Involvement in decisions about medicines  

 
 

3.4 Safety and Candour 
 
Learning from incidents 
 
During 2015 - 16 our staff reported 9,911 incidents, of which 132 were considered serious. 
A serious untoward incident (SUI) is defined as any event or circumstance arising that led to 
serious unintended or unexpected harm, loss or damage. Every serious incident is 
investigated by a senior member of staff to identify the root causes and to share lessons 
learned to prevent reoccurrence. These investigation reports are quality assured through the 
Trust’s internal governance processes, which includes approval by the Clinical Executive, and 
also through scrutiny by the Commissioner of the relevant service. 
 
There was an increase in the number of serious untoward incidents reported this year, which 
is attributed to the new National Serious Untoward Incident framework requiring a broader 
range of incidents to be reported: 
 
 

Page 239



 

39 

 

 
 
 

Themes from Serious Untoward Incidents 2015/16 
 
The chart below shows the themes from serious untoward incidents: 

 
 
 
There is close monitoring to ensure the implementation of recommendations arising from 
SUIs. The learning categoris identified from serious untoward incidents are shown in the chart 
below: 
 

110 

87 

71 

102 

118 
109 

132 

*2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016

Number of Incidents reported on steis 
2009 - 2016 

1 1 
6 

1 1 2 
6 

1 3 
9 

2 2 1 

32 

49 

3 

12 

Steised Incidents by Category 
1 April 2015 - 31 March 2016 

Page 240



 

40 

 

 
 

Duty of Candour 
 
AWP is committed to fulfilling its contractual and statutory duties in relation to discharging its 
Duty of Candour when things go wrong, in the spirit of openness, candour and transparency 
as follows: 
 

 Openness: Enabling concerns to be raised and disclosed freely without fear and enabling 
questions to be answered. 

 Candour: Ensuring that service users harmed by a notifiable patient safety incident are 
informed of the fact and that an appropriate remedy is offered. 

 Transparency: Allowing true information about outcomes to be shared. 

 
The independent chairs appointed to undertake root cause analysis invesigations into serious 
incidents are required to verify that all necessary and appropriate steps have been taken to 
ensure staff have been candid and open.  We audited these processes in 2015/16 and 
listened to feedback from our Commissioners and found some shortcomings in processes for 
evidencing that we had discharged our duty.  We have therefore changed and  strengthened 
our arrangements and there is now Executive level confirmation that the duty of candour has 
been discharged. 
 

3.5 Patient Safety Improvement Plan 

39 

154 

153 

110 

77 

33 

145 

141 

138 

09: Health and Safety

08: Engagement

07: Information

06: Competency

05: Resources

04: Medicines Management

03: Clinical Practice

02: Service Delivery

01: Access and Egress

Key Themes Categories - All Recommendations 
April 2016   - March 2016 

Page 241



 

41 

 

 
We developed a set of actions to fulfil the pledges we made when we ‘Signed up to Safety’ 
and they can be found as Appendix 1. 
 

 
 

3.6 Staff Feedback 
 

3.6.1 National Survey Findings 
 

The Trust values the hard work of our staff and their dedication to providing high quality 
mental health care that promotes recovery and hope.  We have committed to supporting and 
developing our staff as a strategic priority.    

Survey results are analysed by each of our Localities and from a whole organisation 
perspective to provide a Trust wide picture.  Results are used to develop and refine plans to 
improve staff experience of working at the Trust.   

The Trust wide results of the 2015 Annual Staff Survey are reported below: 

Staff Survey Response Rate Response  

2014 

Trust  National average 

51% (1790 staff) 42% 

2015 

49.9% (1750 staff) 46.1% 

Comparison with other MH Trusts 

Year (No of key 
findings) 

2014 
(29) 

2015 
(32) 

Above national 
average 

10% 
(3) 

9% (3) 

On a par with 
national average 

10% 
(3) 

47% 
(15) 

Below national 
average 

80% 
(23) 

44% 
(14) 

 

We are pleased with the positive response rate and value the feedback received from staff.   

Survey results have improved compared with 2014.  We are pleased that the actions of our 
Localities, HR and Organisational Development Teams are making a difference.   

In the past year we have maintained a focus on staff engagement through leadership and 
team development, staff health and wellbeing; and staff recognition and benefits schemes. 

Staff engagement has been shown to link with care quality and safety and we are pleased 
that our staff engagement score has improved. 

  

Page 242



 

42 

 

 

 

Year  2014  2015  

AWP Staff 
Engagement Score  

3.6 3.68 

Average MH Trust 
Staff Engagement 
Score 

3.72 3.75 

 

Highest 5 
Ranking 
Scores  

Trust 

2015  

National 
average for 
mental 
health/ 
learning 
disabilities 

 Lowest 5 Ranking 
Scores  

Trust  

2015 

National 
average for 
mental health 
/ learning 
disabilities 

Percentage 
of staff 
reporting 
errors, near 
misses or 
incidents 
witnessed in 
the 
last month 

93% 91%  Quality of non-
mandatory training, 
learning or 
development 

3.91 4.01 

Percentage 
of staff 
appraised in 
last 12 
months 

91% 89%  Percentage of staff 
agreeing that their 
role makes a 
difference to patients 
/ service 

users 

85% 89% 

Percentage 
of staff 
experiencing 
physical 
violence from 
patients, 
relatives or 
the 
public in last 
12 months 

19% 21%  Quality of appraisals 2.97 3.11 

Percentage 
of staff 
feeling 
pressure in 
the last 3 
months to 
attend work 
when 
feeling unwell 

54% 55%  Percentage of staff / 
colleagues reporting 
most recent 
experience of 
harassment, 

bullying or abuse 

39% 49% 

Page 243



 

43 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
*National averages for mental health and learning disability Trusts 

We remain committed to improving staff experience and wellbeing and will build on the 
positive improvements in the coming year. 

 
3.6.2 Staff Friends and Family Test 
 
The Staff Friends and Family test is carried out in Q1, Q2 and Q4 for the financial year with 
Q3 results provided by the NHS National Staff Survey.  
 

Year on year data is provided from the annual NHS Staff Survey. The indicator is the 
percentage of staff who answer either ‘agree’ or ‘strongly agree’ to the question: 
 
If a friend or relative needed treatment I would be happy with the standard of care 
provided by this organisation: 
 

National Data – National NHS Staff Survey – Friends and Family Test 

Reporting 

Period 

AWP 

Score 

Average 

(median) for 

mental health 

nationally 

Highest score 

nationally 

Lowest score 

nationally 

2015 50% 59% 82% 37% 

2014 48% 66% 93% 36% 

 

I would recommend my organisation as a place to work: 

 

National Data – National NHS Staff Survey – Friends and Family Test 

Reporting 

Period 

AWP 

Score 

Average 

(median) for 

mental health 

nationally 

Highest score 

nationally 

Lowest score 

nationally 

2015 46% 56% 73% 34% 

2014 42% 54% 74% 34% 

 

Culture of Care Barometer: 

We have now completed a pilot stage of the Culture of Care Barometer (incorporating the 

Staff Friends and Family Test questions) which will measure staff confidence in reporting 

areas of concern, support received from local managers and whether staff see senior leaders 

living Trust values. The aim is that the results of the barometer survey will assist Locality 

Percentage 
of staff / 
colleagues 
reporting 
most recent 
experience of 
violence 

85% 84%  Percentage of staff 
experiencing 
harassment, bullying 
or abuse from 
patients, relatives or 
the public in last 12 
months 

36% 32% 

Page 244



 

44 

 

Management Teams to target specific staff issues in teams working with staff to plan and 

improve staff engagement and experience at a local level. The Culture of Care Barometer will 

be implemented Trustwide in the coming year.  

 

 

Part 4: How we developed our Quality Account 
 

This is the sixth year that NHS Trusts have reported formally on the quality of their services. 

Much of this report is set out to meet legal requirements.  However we also report on our 
priorities for improvement which have been agreed in partnership with clinicians, service 
users and carers. 

Our aim has been to produce a true and fair representation of our services, including 
information that is meaningful, relevant and understandable to our service users, their carers 
and the public. 

 

External assurances and comments 

 

To be added 

 

Concluding comments 

We very much hope that the information contained in this document is useful and meaningful, 
reinforcing the fact that providing high quality and safe services is AWP’s highest priority and 
at the heart of all that we do. 

We would value your feedback on this document so we can improve next year’s Quality 
Account.  You can contact us via the details below.  Alternatively, if you would like further 
information, a hard copy of this document, or have any questions, please contact us. 

 
 

 
Contact us with your feedback or for further information at: 

Email:  Communications@awp.nhs.uk 

Telephone: 01249 468000 

Or write to: Quality Account 

Communications Team  

  Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust 

  Jenner House 

  Langley Park Estate 

  Chippenham 

  SN15 1GG 

 
 

Page 245

mailto:Communications@awp.nhs.uk


 

45 

 

 

Appendices:   

1 Sign Up to Safety Action Plan 

  

Page 246



 

46 

 

 

Appendix 1 

 

SIGN UP FORM                                                                     



Organisation name:  

 

Avon and Wiltshire Partnership NHS Trust 

In signing up, we commit to strengthening our patient safety by: 

 Describing the actions (on the following pages) we will undertake in response to the 

five campaign pledges  

 Committing to turn these actions into a Safety Improvement Plan which will show how 

our organisation intends to save lives and reduce harm for patients over the next three 

years . 

 

 Identify the patient safety improvement areas we will focus on  

 Engage our local community, patients and staff to ensure that the focus of our work 

reflects what is important to our community  

 Make public our commitments and plans. 

 The Safety Improvement Plan details the driver diagrams / work plans for four main 

safety themes. These include: 

 Suicide prevention  

 Falls prevention  

 Use of restrictive practices  

 AWOL (failure to return from leave) 
 

Chief Executive or organisation leadership sponsor: 

 

Dr Hayley Richards 

Name    Signature                   Date 

Please tell who will be the key contact in your organisation for Sign up to Safety: 

 

Title: 
Mr 

 
First name: Alan 

Last 
name: 

Metherall 

Email: 
alan.metherall@nhs.net 

 
Job title: 

Deputy Director 
of Nursing 

Page 247



 

47 

 

The five Sign up to Safety pledges 

 

1. Putting safety first. Commit to reduce avoidable harm in the NHS by half and 
make public our locally developed goals and plans 
 
We will 

 Maintain full compliance with the CQC Safe domain and achieve a rating of 

Good* 

 8% Reduction in falls leading to a fracture. * 

 Implement Safewards across all our wards to: 

o 15 – 20 % reduction in all restrictive practices* 

o 10% reduction in the use of seclusion above 8 hours duration * 

 100 of boxes on medication charts will be completed (no blank boxes)  

 

2. Continually learning. Make our organisation more resilient to risks, by acting on 

the feedback from patients and staff and by constantly measuring and monitoring how 

safe our services are 

 

We will 

 Personalise incident reports and investigations wherever possible but using 

names and only animalise reports where families request or where rules and 

the law requires.**** 

 Develop a case management approach to responding , reviewing and learning 

from incidents** 

 Completed the establishment of a dedicated clinically led patient safety team** 

 The Quality Academy will support teams in developing and using Quality 

Improvement tools  

 Improve patient feedback through the extended use of 15 Steps  

 Embed the NPSA Inpatient and Community Suicide Prevention Tool Kits as the 

core framework for clinically-focused suicide prevention.   

 Support and adoption of Human Factors approaches towards patient safety ** 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Being honest. Be transparent with people about our progress to tackle patient 

safety issues and support staff to be candid with patients and their families if 

something goes wrong 

 

Page 248



 

48 

 

We will 

The Board will role model and demonstrate leadership at Board level*** 

Evidence of discharging our Duty of Candour for 100% of serious incidents* 

Openly report incident data using the Trust Information for Quality system “IQ” to 

enable staff, service users, carers and our external stakeholders e.g. CCG 

Commissioners. 

Maintain and Improve our position in the top 25% of organisations by the rate of 

incidents reported. *  

Improve score for national inpatient survey question “Do you feel safe” * 

Continually review and revise processes ,  policy and procedures relating to our 

Duty of Candour, placing patients and families at the centre of what we do. 

 

 

4. Collaborating. Take a lead role in supporting local collaborative learning, so 

that improvements are made across all of the local services that patients use 

 

We will 

 Undertake shared investigations wherever possible with relevant partners 

and stakeholders*** 

 Lead a project in one locality as part of the zero suicide collaborative** 

 Increase the use of patient stories by people with lived experience *** 

 Support “ everyone included” within Research and Development 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

5. Being supportive. Help our people understand why things go wrong and how to 

put them right. Give them the time and support to improve and celebrate progress 

 

We will 

Host an initial Trust wide Patient Safety Conference which will become an annual 

event** 

Introduced a patient safety award as part of the staff awards 

Page 249



 

49 

 

Using Social Movement theories to develop Patient Safety Champions across the 

Trust including our Membership. 

Ensure all relevant job descriptions detail the required level of knowledge skills and 
experience for Quality Improvement and Human Factors.** 
 
Roll out training for the Safety Champions in Human Factors in patient safety ** 
 
Work with our academic providers to ensure quality improvement and human 
factors training are embedded into pre-registration courses.** 
 

Bright Ideas programme to run through 2015 2018 

 
Links to our Pledges 

 * Quality Account 2015 2016 Success Measure 

                http://www.awp.nhs.uk/media/717530/awp-quality-account-2014-15.pdf  

 **  Executive Report – establishing a Clinically Led Patient Safety Team 

 ***  The Health Foundation http://www.health.org.uk/  

 ****  Clinical Human Factors Group http://chfg.org/ 

                                                                       
 

 

 
 

Page 250

http://www.awp.nhs.uk/media/717530/awp-quality-account-2014-15.pdf
http://www.health.org.uk/
http://chfg.org/


 

1 
 

 

 

Quality Review and Quality Account 2015/16   
 

Content 
 

Part 1: A Statement of Quality from the Chief Executive 
 
Part 2: Priorities for Improvement and Statements of Assurance from the Board of 
Directors 
 
A Review of Quality Improvements made within SWASFT in 2015/16 
 
2015/16 Quality Priorities 
 Sign Up to Safety 

 Paediatric Big Six 

 Frequent Callers 

 
Quality Priorities for Improvement 2016/17 
 Cardiac Arrest 

 Accessible Information 

 Human Factors 

 
Statutory Statements of Assurance from the Board 
 
Key Performance Indicators 
 Category A and A19 

 Ambulance Clinical Quality Indicators 

 Staff Survey 

 National Reporting & Learning System 

 Duty of Candour 

 Care Quality Commission 

 
Part 3: Quality Overview 2015/16 
 Right Care 

 Electronic Patient Clinical Record 

 Patient Safety 

 Central Alert System 

 Ambulance Clinical Quality Indicators 

 Clinical Quality Improvements 

 Research Activity 

 Patient Experience 

 
Assurance Statements – Verbatim 
 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Quality Report 
 
Glossary of Terms and Acronyms 
  

Page 251

Agenda Item 8



 

2 
 

Part 1: A Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive 
 
To be completed. 

 

Part 2: Priorities for Improvement and Statements of Assurance 
from the Board of Directors 
 
A Review of Quality Improvement Priorities made within the South Western 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust in 2015/16 
 
Providing quality services to its patients remained the top priority for the Trust during 
2015/16, with this priority being evidenced through its vision, values and strategic goals.  
 
The Trust’s vision statement is ‘To be an organisation that is committed to delivering high 
quality services to patients and continues to develop ways of working to ensure patients 
receive the right care, in the right place at the right time.’ This reflects the vision for 
emergency and urgent care set out by Sir Bruce Keogh: “for those people with urgent but 
non-life threatening needs we (the NHS) must provide highly responsive, effective and 
personalised services outside of hospital.”  
 
This vision is communicated and promoted through the following: 
 

From Prevention to Intervention: this phrase summarises the Trust’s ambition to 
support a safer, more efficient and sustainable urgent and emergency care system for 
the future. It recognises the integral part ambulance services can play in working 
alongside health partners to prevent disease and identify effective ways of influencing 
people’s behaviours and lifestyles and in playing an increasingly significant role in 
urgent and emergency care provision. 

 
Right Care, Right Place, Right Time: captures one of the Trust’s key initiatives that 
focuses on ensuring patients receive the best possible care, in the most appropriate 
place and at the right time. This is alongside a drive to safely reduce the number of 
inappropriate A&E attendances at acute hospitals and deliver a wide range of 
developments to improve the appropriateness of the care delivered to patients. 

 
1 Number, 1 Referral, 1 Outcome:  captures the value added by the Trust as a 
provider of NHS 111 services that are integrated with GP Out-of-Hours and 999 
services. 

 
Local Service, Regional Resilience: recognises the dual role of the ambulance 
service in delivering a local service providing individual and personalised care to 
patients balanced with system wide coverage and capacity for resilience. 

 
The values agreed by the Board of Directors demonstrate the emphasis that the Trust 
places on the individuality of patients and staff, and the commitment the Trust has to 
delivering high quality services. 
 
 
 

Page 252



 

3 
 

Values 

 Respect and dignity.   

 Commitment to quality of care. 

 Compassion. 

 Improving lives.   

 Working together for patients.    
 
The Trust’s long term strategic goals and corporate objectives reflect its quality priorities. 
These include national priorities for ambulance trusts and local commitments agreed with 
the Clinical Commissioning Groups (responsible for commissioning services) and our 
Council of Governors. The corporate objectives are aligned to the strategic goals set out 
below and show the recurrence of quality throughout the strategic approach. 
 
Strategic Goals  
Safe, Clinically Appropriate Responses: Delivering high quality and compassionate care to 
patients in the most clinically appropriate, safe and effective way. 
 
Right People, Right Skills, Right Values: Supporting and enabling greater local 
responsibility and accountability for decision making; building a workforce of competent, 
capable staff who are flexible and responsive to change and innovation. 
 
24/7 Emergency and Urgent Care:  Influencing local health and social care systems in 
managing demand pressures and developing new care models, leading emergency and 
urgent care systems and providing high quality services 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 
 
Creating Organisational Strength:  Continuing to ensure the Trust is sustainable, 
maintaining and enhancing financial stability.  In this way the Trust will be capable of 
continuous development and transformational change by strengthening resilience, 
capacity and capability. 
 
Performance and progress against these are all reported within the Trust’s Integrated 
Corporate Performance Report, which is presented to the Board of Directors at each 
publicly held meeting and is available on our website. 
 
Corporate Objectives 2016/17 
 Supporting staff: This objective focuses on embedding a robust culture of supporting 

staff and changes the shape of training and support; 

 Delivering performance: This objective focuses on the Trust’s contractual and national 
obligations in relation to key performance indicators and how the Trust intends to deliver 
these in the year ahead; 

 Clinical quality: This objective continues the focus of the Trust on delivering the basics 
to a high standard ensuring that a high quality safe and effective service is delivered to 
patients. It includes the Trust’s approach to quality improvement, proposed CQUIN 
initiatives and the Trust’s ‘sign up to safety’ priorities;  

 No compromise: This objective addresses the change in financial risk appetite within 
the Trust in relation to securing new business and approaching new opportunities 

 
Quality Strategy 
To be included 
 

Page 253



 

4 
 

2015/16 Quality Priorities 
 
In 2015 the Trust published a Quality Account which illustrated its continuous quality 
improvement journey and set out its priorities for the year ahead. These priorities (listed 
under the three categories of patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience) 
are restated below as they appeared at that time, along with an overview of the Trust’s 
performance:  
 
Patient Safety 
Priority 1 – Sign Up to Safety 
Sign up to Safety is a national campaign, launched by NHS England, designed to 
strengthen patient safety in the NHS and make it the ‘safest healthcare system in the 
world’.1  By Signing up to Safety, we will align our patient safety improvement plans to the 
NHS-wide purpose, thereby strengthening our own activities.  The campaign provides a 
robust structure on which we can pin our safety improvements, and this should help to 
make them clearer and more accessible to our service users. 
 
Aims 
To develop and implement a clear and measurable programme of safety improvement 
across all of the Trust’s services (A&E, Out of Hours, NHS111 and Patient Transport 
Services), which is underpinned by a published set of principles supporting the five Sign up 
to Safety pledges, which are: 
 

1. Put Safety First 
Commit to reducing avoidable harm in the NHS by half and make public our goals 
and plans developed locally. 

2. Continually Learn 
Make our own organisation more resilient to risks, by acting on the feedback from 
patients and by constantly measuring and monitoring how safe our services are. 

3. Honesty 
Be transparent with people about our progress to tackle patient safety issues and 
support staff to be candid with patients and their families if something goes wrong. 

4. Collaborate 
Take a leading role in supporting local collaborative learning, so that improvements 
are made across all of the local services that patients use. 

5. Support 
Help people understand why things go wrong and how to put them right.  Give staff 
the time and support to improve and celebrate the progress. 

 
Initiatives  

 Develop a clear set of aims or principles to support the five Sign up to Safety pledges. 

 Engage and consult with patients, staff, governors, and other stakeholders, to seek 
their feedback on what they see as priorities for patient safety. 

 Develop and implement a short/medium/long term programme of safety improvement 
using the feedback provided. 

 Support the work of the three Patient Safety Collaboratives covering our operational 
area, including encouraging managers to undertake the Institute of Healthcare 
Improvement (IHI) Accelerated Patient Safety Programme. 

 

                                                 
1
 www.england.nhs.uk/signuptosafety 

Page 254



 

5 
 

 
Board Sponsor:  
Jenny Winslade, Executive Director of Nursing and Governance  
  
Implementation Lead:  
Vanessa Williams, Head of Patient Safety and Risk  
  
How will we know if we have achieved this priority?  

 We will have a clear set of aims or principles supporting the five Sign up to Safety 
pledges signed off by our Chief Executive Officer and published on the Trust website. 

 Through engagement with staff and governors, we will have received:  
o Responses from a minimum 3% of staff (n129/4285), and at least 50% of 

governors (n13/26), to a new engagement survey on safety, to be used to 
develop the programme of safety improvement. 

 We will have a measurable short/medium/long term programme of safety improvement 
based around feedback provided from stakeholders and signed off by the Trust Quality 
and Governance Committee. 

 We will have improved the completion of actions (within agreed target deadlines) 
developed through learning from serious/moderate harm incidents from the baseline (at 
April 2015) to 70%.  This will be reported to and monitored by the Directors’ Group. 

 We will be able to demonstrate active involvement in the three Patient Safety 
Collaboratives covering our operational area, by ensuring a minimum of 3 Trust 
managers attend the Patient Safety Collaborative IHI training programme in 2015/16, 
and that at least one representative attends each meeting of the three Patient Safety 
Collaboratives 

 Implementation of the new programme will have commenced by quarter four of 
2015/16.  This will include development of a full plan for 2016/17.   

 Progress towards the Sign up to Safety campaign during 2015/16 will be reported by 
exception to the Quality and Governance Committee, including a deep dive into the first 
year’s work at year end.  

 
Did we achieve this priority? 
We partially achieved this priority: 

 We developed a clear set of principles supporting the five Sign up to Safety pledges 
and these will be published on our website. 

 We have commenced a programme of engagement with staff asking them what one 
thing would help to improvement the safety of their patients.  Our aim is get a minimum 
3% response from staff (n129) 

 We will also be engaging with our governors to ask them for their views on safety 
improvement.  Our aim to receive a response from a minimum of 50% of governors 
(n13) 

 We have improved the completion of actions developed through learning from 
serious/moderate harm incidents from the baseline 91% (at April 2015) to 91.5% at the 
end of March 2016.   

 We have been actively involved in the three Patient Safety Collaboratives covering our 
operational area, by putting 3 Trust managers through the Patient Safety Collaborative 
IHI training programme in October 2015, and attending  meetings of the three Patient 
Safety Collaboratives, working with them on new initiatives including introduction of the 
National Early Warning Score to help improve the safety of patients involved in 
handover delays at emergency departments 

Page 255



 

6 
 

 Due to delays in the engagement process, we expect to have a draft safety 
improvement programme developed by the end of Quarter 1 2016/17. Implementation 
was intended to have started in Quarter 4 of 2015/16. 

 
Clinical Effectiveness 
Priority 2 – Paediatric Big Six 
A recent study reported an increase of 28% in the admission rate for children under 15 
years of age between 1999 and 2010 in England.  In addition, a Kings Fund Review of the 
South of England in 2012 reported a 9% growth in general paediatric admissions over the 
previous four years.  National data shows that the “big six” conditions accounted for 50% 
(2008/09) of all emergency and urgent care admissions. 
  
There is significant potential to better manage these conditions if there is the right 
distribution of services and a co-ordinated, systematic approach to the management, 
monitoring and recording of a patient’s care, known as the care pathway. The South West 
Strategic Clinical Network has identified scope to both reduce avoidable admissions and 
improve treatment and outcomes in the South West in relation to children, young people 
and their families, according with the Trust’s Right Care2 initiative. 
 
Aims 
To promote the evidence-based assessment and management of unwell children and 
young people for the six most common conditions when accessing 999 ambulance 
services. The six conditions are: 

 Fever 

 Croup 

 Abdominal pain 

 Diarrhoea (with or without vomiting) 

 Asthma 

 Head injury 
 

Initiatives 

 Development of an overarching Trust document covering the Guideline for Paediatric 
Big Six. 

 Integration of the overarching document into the Electronic Patient Clinical Record. 

 Partnership working with Acute Trusts to identify ways in which direct admissions or 
advice can be achieved. 

 
Board Sponsor 
Executive Medical Director 
 
Implementation Lead 
Clinical Development Officer (East) 
 
How will we know if we have achieved this priority? 

 Trust clinicians will be supported by the latest evidenced best guidance with support 
from the region’s providers, to reduce variation in the assessment and management of 
the six conditions and ensure patients are safe and have access to equitable care 
pathways.  

 The Big 6 Guideline will be published and uploaded to the intranet and electronic 
patient record.  

Page 256



 

7 
 

 75% of frontline clinicians (Specialist Paramedics, Operational Officers and 
Paramedics) will receive Big 6 training (excluding staff on secondment, maternity and 
long term sick leave).  

 
Did we achieve this priority? 
Yes, we achieved this priority. 
 

A recent audit of 300 records relating to paediatric care has shown that there has been a 
reduction in conveyance of cases that presented as lower-risk when compared against the 
guidelines; all “Red Flag” cases were recognised as such and appropriately treated and 
conveyed. The audit also identified areas where the Trust will continue to work in 
collaboration with acute trusts in relation to advice lines and alternative pathways.  
 
The Big 6 guideline has been published in print format and sent to all clinicians in the 
Trust. It has been uploaded to the electronic patient clinical record (ePCR) server, and is 
also available on the Trust’s intranet and internet sites. 
 
88.37% of frontline clinicians (Specialist Paramedics, Operational Officers and 
Paramedics) have attended education events which contained Big 6 guidance (excluding 
staff on secondment, maternity and long term sick leave). The Trust has also recently 
targeted those who have not been able to attend the events, by ensuring the yearly one-to-
one Learning and Development Review day contains the Big 6 guidance, which has 
accounted for another 0.98% of relevant staff. In addition, those who have not yet attended 
either of these opportunities have been sent an electronic package explaining the 
guideline and its origins, applications and extra links for personal learning. This has been 
acknowledged as received by a further 4.49% of relevant staff, giving a combined total of 
93.84%. Recognition and management of paediatric illnesses will continue to be a subject 
for education events for the next financial year. 
 

Patient Experience 
Priority 3 – Frequent Callers  
Frequent callers are a small group of patients who access emergency healthcare on an 
abnormally high number of occasions. These patients, who often have specific social or 
healthcare needs, also have a significant impact on the ability of the NHS and emergency 
services to deliver a safe service to the wider community due to the level of resource 
required to deal with their requirements.  
 
Improved partnership working is required to ensure that frequent callers are treated in an 
equitable manner and that care plans are developed and delivered, which meet their 
individual needs in line with the Trust’s Right Care2 initiative. This work will enable the 
Trust to manage demand from this small group by ensuring that resources are not used 
inappropriately and that their needs do not impact on the ability of the service to  
meet the requirements of other users. 
 
Aim 
To improve the management of Frequent Callers who present to the ambulance service 
and a range of health and social care providers.   
 
Initiatives 

 Establish links with Frequent Caller Leads in external organisations including Acute 
Trusts, Mental Health Trusts and NHS111 providers. 

Page 257



 

8 
 

 Review the top five Frequent Callers from private addresses, aged 18 years and over, 
for each CCG area. Establish the percentage which already has an individual action 
plan in place. 

 Work with partner organisations to develop individual action plans for any patients 
identified above where they are not already in place. 

 
Board Sponsor 
Director of Operations 
 
Implementation Lead 
Frequent Caller Lead 
 
How will we know if we achieve this priority? 

 We will have produced a list of the key contacts within relevant external organisations. 

 We will increase the percentage of frequent callers, identified during each quarter, who 
have an action plan in place at the end of the following quarter, compared to the 
quarter in which they were identified. 

 
Did we achieve this priority? 
Yes, we achieved this priority. 
 
During the year all A&E departments across the area were contacted, with their High 
Service User (HSU) Leads being identified and the Trust attending Frequent User 
meetings to discuss mutual HSU issues.  Links were also made with all NHS111 services 
and Mental Health providers across the region. All key contacts details have been collated 
for ongoing reference and networking purposes. 
 
The Frequent Caller Team has proactively been contacting the wider Primary and 
Secondary Health Care teams, Social Care and Mental Health teams, to actively engage 
in the development of care plans where the patient is a 999 HSU. The Trust is also 
represented at multiagency meetings to progress initiatives in this area.     
 
The Top 5 most prolific Frequent Callers for each of the thirteen commissioning areas 
were identified on a quarterly basis throughout 2015/16, with this study covering 132 
patients.  The need for a care plan for all of these 132 patients was analysed. Where care 
plans were not found to be in place, relevant teams were contacted and the need for a 
Care Plan was discussed.  It should be noted, however, that individual Care Plans are not 
always required to manage the patient’s 999 demand, for example if 999 demand has 
ceased following the initial steps of the Frequent Caller process being undertaken.   
 
By proactively managing 999 HSUs the percentage treated via telephone triage and 
consultation, rather than by ambulance crews attending has increased considerably from a 
range of 0-40%, to a range of 13-92% over 2015/16. 
 
The Frequent Caller Team will continue to work proactively with the wider health and 
social care community to obtain individual care plans where required. 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 258



 

9 
 

Quality Priorities for Improvement 2016/17 
 
The Trust is accountable to its patients and service users and the Quality Account provides 
an ideal mechanism for addressing this. As a Foundation Trust, SWASFT has a Council of 
Governors which is invaluable in representing the views of Governors, the Trust 
membership and the wider public, gained through engagement activities. The Trust liaised 
with its Council of Governors to obtain their opinion and input on the suggested priorities 
within this report and to encourage them to think about how they can engage with the Trust 
Membership and the wider public about these priorities.  
 
In developing the priorities for the forthcoming year, the Trust has taken into account 
feedback provided by stakeholders, including commissioners, on previous Quality 
Accounts.  
 
When setting the priorities for 2016/17 consideration has been given to Quality Account 
priorities from previous years, the learning from these and the benefits in focusing further 
on these areas.  In previous years the Trust has focussed upon ROSC (the return of 
spontaneous circulation) as every month the Trust responds to around 200 partients who 
have suffered a cardiac arrest; and this year this focus continues with a quality priority that 
focusses upon improving outcomes from cardiac arrest. 
 
During 2015/16 the Implementation Leads for the agreed priorities were responsible for 
monitoring progress at the appropriate working groups, whilst the progress of the Trust’s 
quality development programme was monitored through the Quality Committee. These 
governance arrangements will be continued during the forthcoming year. 
 
A review of the progress against these priorities will be included in next year’s Quality 
Report and Account. 

 
Clinical Effectiveness – Cardiac Arrest 
Why a Priority?  
A cardiac arrest is considered the ultimate medical emergency, where outcomes are 
based largely on the correct treatment being delivered as quickly as possible, with 
clinicians delivering interventions that contribute to each part of the chain of survival.  The 
ambulance service plays a crucial part in delivering these early interventions, influencing 
all of the links within the chain of survival. 
 
Evidence based resuscitation guidance is provided by the UK Resuscitation Council, which 
details the interventions which are likely to increase the chance of survival in a respiratory 
or cardiac arrest. It is well evidenced that adherence to the principles within the 
resuscitation guidelines increases the chance of a patient regaining a pulse (known as 
ROSC, Return of Spontaneous Circulation) and therefore survival to discharge (leaving 
hospital alive).  
 
Ambulance services are measured on the rate of ROSC and survival to discharge for all 
resuscitated cardiac arrest patients. The same clinical indicators are also reported for a 
sub-set known as the Utstein group, which includes only patients who should have the 
best chance of a positive outcome. Use of the Utstein group enables international 
comparison of performance between health systems. It should be noted that a range of 
factors outside of the ambulance services control affect survival to discharge, such as the 
quality of the care received within hospital.  

Page 259



 

10 
 

 
There is potential to improve outcomes from cardiac arrest if a more co-ordinated, 
systematic approach to the management is adopted. 
 
Aim 
The aim of this Clinical Effectiveness Indicator is to improve adherence to the 
Resuscitation Council guidelines and therefore the quality of resuscitation by Trust 
clinicians. In addition we will promote the benefits of partnership working with local acute 
trusts, in order to improve outcomes in cardiac arrest. 
 
Initiatives 

 Use recognised quality improvement techniques such as Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) 
cycles, process maps, and feedback using annotated statistical process control (SPC) 
charts to understand the gaps in care, the barriers to improvement and how to address 
these. 

 Develop and implement resuscitation checklists to support clinicians when managing 
cardiac arrest. 

 Deliver a Resuscitation Council 2015 training update and practical ALS scenario to 
90% of available Trust frontline clinical staff, in order to improve the quality of treatment 
provided. To embed sustainable improvement we will promote partnership working with 
acute trusts and Strategic Clinical Networks in order to reduce variation in patient 
outcomes. We may use operational modelling techniques to explore the potential 
implications of cardiac arrest centres in the South West. 

 
Board Sponsor 
Executive Medical Director  
 
Implementation Lead 
James Wenman, Clinical Development Manager 
 
How will we know if we have achieved this priority?  

 Trust clinicians will be supported by resuscitation checklists based on the updated 
resuscitation council guidance which will support adherence to evidence based 
guidance and team working in cardiac arrest. 

 90% of available frontline clinicians (Specialist Paramedics, Operational Officers, 
Paramedics, Advanced Technicians, Ambulance Practitioners and Emergency Care 
Assistants) will receive a cardiac arrest update and practical ALS assessment as part 
of their annual development day.1 

 The Trust will establish links with our stakeholders so that outcomes from cardiac 
arrest and the benefits of partnership working can be explored. 

 
 
Patient Engagement – Accessible Information 
Why a Priority? 
When people require transport to hospital or need urgent or emergency care, it is essential 
that they are able to communicate clearly with the staff who attend them so that the care 
provided is appropriate and safe.  When care is provided in an emergency setting 
ambulance trusts are not always in a position to establish whether there are any individual 
communication needs which should be taken into account.  There are existing 
mechanisms in place in the clinical hubs, such as:  warnings on addresses for patients 
who have had laryngectomies and tracheostomies and may have difficulty communicating; 

Page 260



 

11 
 

Easy Read letters for frequent callers and contact with their learning disability or other 
teams to aid communication; communication is covered in the Pathways course; and hub 
staff are advised that if there are communication difficulties the call should be early exited 
and a response sent. 
 
A new Accessible Information Standard has been introduced which is designed for trusts 
to establish those communication needs at the first point of contact.  In order to support 
implementation of the Standard and increase the chances of that information being 
available to emergency ambulance crews when they need it, it is important that patients 
know how to provide the information before they require our help.  Encouraging patients to 
explain any individual communication needs when they call or when we attend them, will 
also support them when they need access to patient transport and out of hours care.   
 
Understanding better how our patients wish us to communicate with them will enable us to 
improve their access to and the quality of their experience of the services we provide.  
 

Aims 
 Improve the level of contact by those with communication difficulties in advance of their 

treatment so that we able to provide them with a better and more accessible service, 
noting that we do not as yet have the capability to record this information for future 
contact 

 Increase engagement with groups supporting those with sensory loss to better 
understand their communication needs and help to develop bespoke communication 
tools 

 Increase access to the use of 999 text messaging services 

 

Initiatives 
Develop an education campaign to advise patients about the need to tell us (when they 
call or we attend them) if they have particular communication needs.  This will include: 

 Adding a footnote to the following patient facing correspondence: complaint 
acknowledgements; proactive apology letters; Duty of Candour calls and letters; 
and patient survey forms 

 Develop a video, advising patients what they need to tell us about their 
communication needs and when, for publication on the Trust website and 
dissemination to patient support groups 

 Develop posters for display at treatment centres and ?? 

 Consider adaptation to ePCR to allow the recording of patient communication 
requirements 

 Review and develop a plan for improvement of the Trust’s website to maximise the 
use of plain English and accessibility, asking Trust members to review the updated 
content 

 Develop a programme of engagement with groups supporting patients with sensory 
loss to allow them to explain their particular communication needs, leading to future 
development of an Accessible Information Standard action plan. 

 
Board Sponsor 
Executive Director of Nursing and Governance 
 
Implementation Lead 
Nicole Casey, Head of Governance 
 

Page 261



 

12 
 

How will we know we have achieved this priority? 

 Reports on notification of communication needs measured as a result of patient 
facing correspondence and the video and poster campaign, from a baseline set on 
1 April 2016.  This will be reported to us by staff in the hub or on scene. 

 Comment on the amended Trust website by a survey of Trust members 

 Development of an Accessible Information Standard action plan 

 
Patient Experience – Human Factors 

 
Why a priority? 
A thematic review of patient safety incidents identified human factors as a common theme 
amongst serious incidents.  Human factors can influence how people behave and perform.  
In the context of the Trust, human factors are environmental, organisational and job 
factors, and individual characteristics which influence behaviour.   

 
Aim 
The patient safety indicator will focus on undertaking a review of human factors influencing 
errors made during the telephone triage process to identify solutions to improve patient 
safety. 

 
Initiatives  

 Undertake research to agree the defined list of human factors from the models 
available which will be utilised to undertake the review. 

 Conduct a review of patient safety incidents to identify where telephone triage errors 
were identified as a concern. 

 Using the agreed human factors model, analyse the identified incidents to identify the 
human factors associated with the telephone triage errors. 

 Undertake a deep dive of the key human factors identified as part of the analysis and 
develop proposals for solutions to be considered by the Executive Director of Nursing 
and Governance to reduce the likelihood of error in telephone triaging. 

 
Board Sponsor 
Jenny Winslade, Executive Director of Nursing and Governance  
  
Implementation Lead 
Vanessa Williams, Head of Patient Safety and Risk  
  
How will we know if we have achieved this priority?  

 We will have an agreed human factors model to utilise in the organisation for patient 
safety research and future analysis of incidents, complaints, etc. 

 We will have identified key human factors influencing telephone triage errors.   

 We will have developed proposed solutions to address errors minimising the likelihood 

of recurrence of incidents relating to telephone triage.   

 

  

Page 262



 

13 
 

Statements of Assurance from the Board 
 
Statutory Statement 
 
This content is common to all healthcare providers which make Quality Accounts 
comparable between organisations and provides assurance that the Board has reviewed 
and engaged in cross-cutting initiatives which link strongly to quality improvement. 
 
1. During 2015/16 the South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

provided and/or sub-contracted three relevant health services: 

 Emergency (999) Ambulance Service; 

 Urgent Care Service (NHS 111; GP Out-of-Hours and Tiverton Urgent Care 
Centre);  

 Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service. 
 
1.1 The South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the 

data available to them on the quality of care in three of these relevant health services. 
 
1.2 The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2015/16 

represents xxxxxx per cent of the total income generated from the provision of 
relevant health services by the South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust for 2015/16. 

 
2. During 2015/16, zero national clinical audits and zero national confidential enquiries 

covered relevant health services that South Western Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust provides. 

 
2.1 During 2015/16 South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

participated in 100 per cent national clinical audits and 100 per cent national 
confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries which it was eligible to participate in. 
 

2.2 The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that South Western 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to participate in during 
2015/16 are as follows: 

 None 
 
2.3 The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that South Western 

Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust participated in during 2015/16 are as 
follows: 

 None 
 

2.4 The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that South Western 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and for which data 
collection was completed during 2015/16, are listed below alongside the number of 
cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of 
registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry: 

 
2.5 The reports of no national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2015/16 

and South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the 
following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided: 

Page 263



 

14 
 

 Undertake a programme of Quality Improvement activity across the organisation 
to facilitate the delivery of high quality care. 

 
2.6 The reports of 5 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2015/16 and 

South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the 
following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided: 

 xxxxxxxx 
 
3. The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or sub-

contracted by South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust in 2015/16 
that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a 
research ethics committee was 2,000. 

 
4. A proportion of South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust income in 

2015/16 was conditional on achieving quality improvement and innovation goals 
agreed between South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust and any 
person or body they entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the 
provision of relevant health services, through the Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation payment framework. Further details of the agreed goals for 2015/16 and 
for the following 12 month period are available electronically at www.swast.nhs.uk. 

 
4.1  The monetary total available for the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 

payments, for all service lines, for 2015/16 was £xxxxx and for 2014/15 was 
£2,927,940. 

 
5. South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust is required to register 

with the Care Quality Commission and its current registration status is ‘registered 
without compliance conditions’.  
 

5.1  South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust has the following 
conditions on registration: 

 None. 
 
5.2 The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against South 

Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust during 2015/16. 
 

5.3 South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust has not participated in 
any special reviews or investigations by the Care Quality Commission during the 
reporting period. 

  
6. South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust did/did not submit 

records during 2015/16 to the Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the Hospital 
Episode Statistics which are included in the latest published data. 

 
7. South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Information Governance 

Assessment Report overall score for 2015/16 was 71% and green.   
 
8. South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust was/was not subject to 

the Payment by Results clinical coding audit during the reporting period by the Audit 
Commission. 

 
 

Page 264

http://www.swast.nhs.uk/


 

15 
 

9. South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust will be taking the 
following action to improve data quality: 

 Continue to maintain and develop the existing data quality processes 
embedded within the Trust. 

 Hold regular meetings of the Information Assurance Group to continue to 
provide a focus on this area. 

 Ensure completion and return of the monthly Data Quality Service Line Reports 
and in particular strengthen reporting by its NHS111 services. 

 Continue to provide Data Quality Assurance Reports to the Board of Directors. 

 Where external assurance of data quality is required, commission an 
independent review from Audit Southwest, the Trust’s internal audit provider. 

 
  

Page 265



 

16 
 

Key Performance Indicators 
 
This section includes the mandatory indicators which the Trust is required to include in this 
report. Further performance information is shown in Part 3 of this report. 
 
Category A Performance  
 

Category A 
Performance  

Target 2015/16 2014/15 
National 
Average 
2015/16* 

Highest 
Trust 

2015/16* 

Lowest 
Trust 

2015/16* 

Red 1 75% 73.72% 75.24% 73.50% 79.10% 67.84% 

Red 2 75% 63.60% 71.42% 69.12% 75.95% 62.66% 

 

Category A 
Performance  

Target
 2015/16 2014/15 

National 
Average 
2015/16* 

Highest 
Trust  

2015/16* 

Lowest 
Trust  

2015/16* 

19 Minute 95% 89.44% 93.62% 93.37% 97.34% 88.81% 

*Highest/Lowest Trust reporting has been noted for each indicator independently, current information from 
YTD 2015/16 reported at the end of January 2016. 

 
Category A performance by Clinical Commissioning Group can be found at Appendix 1. 
 
For clarification, Category A incidents are those involving patients with a presenting 
condition which may be immediately life threatening and who should receive an 
emergency response within 8 minutes irrespective of location, in 75% of cases. Red 1 calls 
are those requiring the most time critical response and cover cardiac arrest patients who 
are not breathing and do not have a pulse and other severe conditions such as airway 
obstruction. Red 2 calls are those which are serious but less immediately time critical and 
cover conditions such as stroke and fits.  In addition, Category A patients should receive 
an ambulance response at the scene within 19 minutes in 95% of cases. A19 performance 
is based on the combination of both Red 1 and Red 2 categories of call. 
 
The Trust is assessed against the delivery of the Red 1, Red 2 and A19 performance 
targets quarterly by Monitor. The Trust met the Red 1 performance target in Quarters 1, 2 
and 3 of 2015/16, but the other two targets were breached. In Quarter 4 all three 
performance targets were breached.  Details of the breaches have been reported within 
the Annual Governance Statement, which forms part of the Annual Report and includes 
assurance of the action taken to improve the position.  
 
The South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is 
as described for the following reasons: 

 The Trust has robust data quality processes in place to ensure the reporting of 
performance information is both accurate and timely. 

 Information is collated in accordance with the guidance for the Ambulance Quality 
Indicators. 

 This information is reported to the Board of Directors monthly in the Integrated 
Corporate Performance Report. 
 

Page 266



 

17 
 

The South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust is taking the following 
actions to improve Red performance percentages, and so the quality of its services, by: 

 The development and implementation of a ‘Measures to Improve Performance’ plan 
during Quarter 2 of 2015/16, which was updated during Quarter 3 and 4 of 2015/16. 
This is a comprehensive plan developed by the Operations directorate, in 
conjunction with all directorates across the Trust, to identify the key actions and 
developments required to improve Red performance. 

 
The Trust is currently a pilot organisation for the Ambulance Response Review which is 
looking at the way in which ambulances are monitored in terms of response times.  Details 
of this review can be found at page 21. 
 
Ambulance Clinical Quality Indicators (ACQIs) 
ACQIs are designed to reflect best practice in the delivery of care for specific conditions 
and to stimulate continuous improvement in care. They were initially introduced in 
2010/11, and since this time ambulance trusts have been working nationally to agree and 
improve the comparability of the datasets reported.  
 
Whilst there are currently no national performance targets for ACQIs, local thresholds have 
been agreed with the Trust’s commissioners and these are shown in the table below. In 
addition the data from the indicators is used to reduce any variation in performance across 
Trusts (where clinically appropriate) and drive continuous improvement in patient outcomes 
over time. 
 
Further ACQI information is contained in Part 3 of this report and details of all ACQIs are 
contained in the Trust’s monthly Integrated Corporate Performance Report presented to 
the Trust Board of Directors and available on the Trust’s website. 
 

 

C
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

Y
e
a
r 

to
 d

a
te

 

2
0
1
5

/1
6
 (

A
p
ri

l 
to

 

x
x
x
 1

5
) 

2
0
1
4

/1
5

 

N
a
ti
o
n
a

l 
A

v
e
ra

g
e
 

(A
p
r 

to
 x

x
x
 1

5
) 

H
ig

h
e
s
t 

T
ru

s
t 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

(A
p
ri
l 
to

 x
x
 1

5
) 

L
o
w

e
s
t 
T

ru
s
t 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

(A
p
ri
l 
to

 x
x
x
 1

5
) 

Outcome from Acute ST Elevation 
Myocardial Infarction (STEMI) - % of 
patients suffering a STEMI and who receive 
an appropriate care bundle. 

85.0% XX XX XX XX XX 

Outcome from Stroke for Ambulance 
Patients - % of suspected stroke patients 
(assessed face to face) who receive an 
appropriate care bundle. 

95.0% XX XX XX XX XX 

*Highest/Lowest Trust reporting has been noted for each indicator independently. 

 
Data for these indicators is not currently available for information after xxxxxx 2015. The 
longer timeframe for the production of this clinical data is due to the manual nature of the 
collection process and the delays experienced in collecting some of the data from third 
party sources. 
 
The South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is 
as described for the following reasons: 

 xxxxxxxxxx 

Page 267



 

18 
 

Staff Survey 
One of the key findings in the 2015 national staff survey relates to staff recommending the 
Trust as a place to work or receive treatment. Staff were asked to rate their answer on a 
five point scale from “1” strongly disagree to “5” strongly agree. Staff responses were then 
converted into scores. The table below shows the Trust’s performance compared to last 
year, together with the performance of other Ambulance Trusts. 
 

 
Staff Survey Indicator 

Performance 
2015 

Performance 
2014 

National 
Ambulance 

Average 2015 

Highest 
Ambulance 
Trust 2015 

Lowest 
Ambulance 
Trust 2015 

Staff recommendation of 
the Trust as a place to 
work or receive 
treatment. 

3.45 3.28 3.33 3.52 n/a 

Percentage of staff 
experiencing harassment, 
bullying or abuse from 
staff in the last 12 months 

24% 25% 30% 15% n/a 

Percentage of staff 
believing that the Trust 
provides equal 
opportunities for career 
progression or promotion 
 
 

76% 70% 71% 76% n/a 

 
The 2015 survey demonstrated significant improvement in the three indicators above, with 
the Trust consistently performing better than the National Ambulance Average. For the 
final indicator regarding equal opportunities to career progression, the Trust was the 
leading Ambulance Trust, further demonstrating the positive impact the new My Career 
Conversation process has had on staff perception of how appraisals and staff 
development are managed. 
 
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust is taking the following actions to 
improve staff engagement, and so the quality of its services, by: 

 Reviewing the results of the 2015 staff survey with each of the locality managers to 
develop suitable targeted action plans for their individual areas aimed at improving 
response rates and performance across the Trust.   

 Ensuring that staff have the opportunity to give feedback on this point through ongoing 
implementation of the Friends and Family Test for staff throughout 2016/17. 

 Holding roadshows at Emergency Departments and major ambulance stations during 
May and October 2016 – with members of Human Resources, Learning & 
Development, Executive Directors and operational colleagues in attendance. 

 
National Reporting and Learning System 
All Trusts are required to provide confidential and anonymised reports of patient safety 
incidents to the National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS). This information is 
analysed to identify common risks to patients and opportunities to improve patient safety. 
These incidents are identified through the Trust’s incident reporting processes, and of the 
9,889 incidents reported during the 2015/16 year, xxxx have been identified as relating to 
patient safety. 

Page 268



 

19 
 

The National Patient Safety Agency recognised that organisations that report more 
incidents usually have a better and more effective safety culture, stating ‘you can’t learn if 
you don’t know what the problems are’. 
 

Indicator 

2015/16 2014/15 
National 
Average 

Highest 
Trust* 

Lowest 
Trust* 

1 Oct to 
31 Mar 

01 Apr to 
30 Sep 

01 Oct to 
31 Mar 

01 Apr to 
30 Sep 

1 April to 30 Sept 2015 

Total Incidents 
Reported to NRLS 

xx Xx 1,252*** 234*** xx xx xx 

Number of Incidents 
Reported as Severe 
Harm 

xx Xx 27 5 xx xx xx 

Number of Incidents 
Reported as Death 

xx Xx 2 1 xx xx xx 

*Highest/Lowest Trust reporting has been noted for each indicator independently. 
**This information is sourced from the Trust’s incident reporting system based on the criteria used in NRLS 
reports. All other information in this table is published by the NRLS based on the data they received and 
collated from the Trust during their reporting periods. Information is published in arrears, and therefore the 
most recent information available from the NRLS relates to the period 1 April to xxxxxx. 

 
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 

 The Trust has a good culture for reporting adverse incidents. 

 Information is provided to the NRLS electronically through the upload of data taken 
from the Trust’s adverse incident reporting system. 

 The Trust has taken the following actions to improve this number, and so the quality 
of its services, by: 

o Continuing to encourage the reporting of adverse incidents by all members of 
staff so learning can occur at all levels of the Trust. 

o Reviewing the mechanisms for learning from adverse incidents to ensure this 
is done quickly and effectively, and disseminated to staff so they have 
continued confidence in the reporting system. 

o Reviewing the mapping of coding of patient safety incidents with the NRLS to 
ensure reporting is consistent with national requirements. 

 
Duty of Candour 
On 1 April 2013, the contractual Duty of Candour was introduced for all NHS Trusts to 
report to patients or their next of kin where it is identified that moderate or serious harm 
has resulted from care provided by the Trust. This duty became regulatory on 27 
November 2014 and was included within the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated 
Activities) as Regulation 20.    
 
The Trust has developed a process for the management of these incidents which has 
been agreed with commissioners.   
 
The Trust supports an open culture and has introduced a ‘Proactive Apology Process’ which 
involves apologising to patients when the level of service that has been provided to them is 
below the standard that the Trust would expect.  This process, which applies to incidents 
rated as being negligible or low, complements the Trust’s approach to the Duty of Candour. 
  

Page 269



 

20 
 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
The Trust maintains its registration with the CQC with no conditions.   
 
The Trust is proactive in ensuring compliance with CQC regulations through the 
maintenance of a centralised evidence system; an annual review of processes; and an 
annual assessment of compliance across all service lines by way of an internal audit 
review.  A “green” rated internal audit outcome was achieved for 2014/15 with the Trust 
robustly evidencing compliance against all three of the outcomes reviewed.  The annual 
review for 2015/16 focussed upon staff understanding of the Trust’s approach to quality 
and, at the time of drafting this text, the outcome of the review is awaited. 
 
In March 2016, the CQC carried out an inspection of the NHS111 services provided by the 
Trust.  The outcome of this inspection, which was triggered by adverse media coverage, is 
awaited.  However, initial feedback included: 

 Call centre staff were praised, in particular the way in which they treated patients 
with compassion and reduced anxiety levels. It is anticipated that the “Caring” 
domain will be rated as good. 

 Safeguarding was highlighted as a particular strength. 

 The strong resilience provided through the integration of the two clinical hubs 
was praised. 

 
There were also some areas for development including staff engagement and staffing 
levels which are being addressed by the Trust. 
 
The Trust will be undergoing its first comprehensive CQC inspection of all service lines in 
June 2016 and preparation is underway to ensure that it maintains its unconditional 
registration.  A key element of this work has been assessing the Trust and its services 
against the CQC five domains of safe, effective, caring, responsive and well-led.  An initial 
assessment is set out below. 
 
Self-assessment against ratings to be inserted. 
 
Part 3: Quality Overview 2015/16 
 
Additional Quality Achievements and Performance of Trust against selected metrics 
This section provides an overview of other performance metrics for the Trust.  
 
The indicators and information contained within this section of the report have been selected 
to describe the Trust’s continuous quality improvement journey. They build on the indicators 
reported in the previous Quality Reports and where possible historical and national 
benchmarked information has been provided to help contextualise the Trust’s performance. 
 
Right Care 
Over the past decade, the Trust has been improving the pathways and care options 
available to our clinicians. Ambulance services are now a key provider of urgent as well as 
emergency care, and our workforce, pathways and clinical support have adapted to this 
challenge. Many of the patients that call 999 for an ambulance can be managed safely 
effectively over the phone, without sending an emergency ambulance. Where we do need 
to send an ambulance, over half of our patients can be managed by ambulance clinicians 
in their own home. In 2010, we developed the Right Care, Right Place, Right Time 
initiative, a five year commissioner funded agreement that committed to us reducing 
unnecessary admissions to Emergency Departments (EDs) by 10%.  

Page 270



 

21 
 

  
Thanks to the enthusiasm of our clinicians, the programme exceeded expectations, with 
the proportion of 999 calls managed without ED attendance increasing from 50.84% in 
2010/11 to 57.45% in 2013/14. SWASFT has consistently achieved the highest non-
conveyance rate of any UK ambulance Trust. We also have the highest rate of admission 
for patients we do convey to EDs, demonstrating appropriate clinical decision-making. 
  
The Right Care2 programme was launched in 2014/15 to build on this initial success to 
ensure that even more patients are able to be safely managed within the community. 
During 2015-16 the initiative has assisted in reducing the impact of ambulance activity 
increases on the EDs at acute hospitals across the South West. Whilst overall ambulance 
incident volumes increased by 5.06% in the same period, the number of incidents resulting 
in a conveyance to an ED only increased by 1.87% compared to 2014/15. If the proportion 
of patients conveyed to an ED had remained at the same level as 2014-15, a further 
12,313 more patients would have been taken to EDs in 2015-16. 
 
Our clinicians are at the heart of the Right Care2 programme, and have the greatest level 
of clinical autonomy of any UK ambulance service. We continued to promote a dedicated 
feedback system amongst staff and EDs to seek information on blocks to providing the 
right care. Over 2,850 items of feedback were received during 2015-16, with the Trust 
working closely with CCGs and providers to resolve the issues. Time and time again, the 
feedback has proved vital in improving access to existing pathways and creating further 
opportunities. 
 
Ambulance Response Review 
Dispatch on Disposition 
In February 2015 the Trust was delighted to have been chosen in partnership with London 
Ambulance Service, to pilot a new way for ambulance services to respond to 999 calls.  
 
The Dispatch on Disposition (DoD) pilot allowed call-handlers a small amount of extra time 
to triage the patient over the telephone before an ambulance resource was dispatched to 
respond.  This additional triage time did not apply to those incidents which were identified 
as immediately life-threatening (i.e. Red 1 incidents) where an ambulance resource would 
continue to be dispatched immediately. 
 
The limited extra assessment time was to ensure that call handlers were able to better 
deploy resources where they were most needed. This time also provided an opportunity to 
identify the most clinically appropriate response to meet the needs of the patient. In some 
cases this may not be an ambulance response, and patients may be better served by an 
immediate referral to another service (e.g. local GP, pharmacy or walk-in centre). 
 
The Trust worked with NHS England, the Association of Ambulance Chief Executives 
(AACE), the College of Paramedics and London Ambulance Service during the pilot period 
with strict oversight and monitoring of the results and impacts of these service changes, 
including patient safety. The DoD pilot was also subject to rigorous and independent 
external evaluation, the findings of which will be published in due course. 
 
During the pilot period (10 February 2015 to 18 April 2016) the Trust was required to 
monitor against metrics for Red 1, Red 2 and A19 performance. In agreement with NHS 
England changes were made to the clock start to allow additional telephone triage time 
before an ambulance resource was dispatched, in all calls except Red1 which remained at 
the time of call-connect. This additional time was incrementally adjusted up to five minutes 

Page 271



 

22 
 

during the pilot; however this has been reduced to four minutes in anticipation of the 
Clinical Coding trial. 
 
The DoD pilot this was expected to improve Red 1 and Red 2 performance, resource 
allocation and Hear & Treat rates. This expected positive effect for Red 1 and Red 2 has been 
difficult to demonstrate due to an unexpected increase in demand on the service.  However, 
the vehicle allocation and Hear & Treat have shown improvement under the DoD pilot. 
 
The pilot was effective in demonstrating its intended aims and a further four Trusts were 
recruited into the pilot to further demonstrate the benefits, with the remaining Ambulance 
Trusts acting as controls.  The Trust has been instrumental in driving the agenda and the 
need to review the time-driven targets which do not directly reflect patient outcomes.  
 
The success of the pilot has led to Phase2 to further enhance the aims of Ambulance 
Response Programme (ARP), with a Clinical Code Trial being developed from October 
2015 to respond to patient needs with the correct resources first time, and reduce the time 
to treatment for the most serious conditions.  
 
The Trust and Yorkshire Ambulance Service were selected to participate in this trial, 
providing a once in a decade opportunity to influence ambulance performance measures.  
Implementation began in January 2016 with a go live date of April 2016.  The Trial will 
report to the Secretary of State for Health in Autumn 2016. 
 
Electronic Patient Clinical Record 
One of the Trust’s quality priorities for 2014/15 was the electronic Patient Clinical 
Record (ePCR) and development work continued throughout 2015/16 with the Trust 
continuing to roll out the (ePCR) product to the counties of Devon, Cornwall, 
Somerset and Dorset, with ten acute trusts now live and over 60% of Trust staff 
trained and successfully utilising the system. 
 
Rather than purchase an off the shelf product, the ePCR has been designed by Trust staff 
with a bespoke configuration to support and document a structured patient assessment 
and to enhance clinical decision making to ensure that the patient receives the Right 
Care.  This has added a level of complexity to the project, but has enabled the Trust to 
work with the developers to create a comprehensive system which focuses on the 
development of effective assessment and care planning to enhance the patient experience 
and ensure that the patient is directed to the right service for definitive care. 
 
The system uses a combination of assessment tools, structured data fields and free text 
options, to arrive at a final disposition and treatment plan.  This is then viewed within 
Clinical Work Stations in the Acute Trust or via email functionality within community 
service providers. 
 
The Trust has been successful in linking the products development in to system wide 
projects.  The West of England Academic Health Science Network (WEAHSN) has seen 
the benefit the ePCR can bring to the wider health economy and has been working with 
the Trust to create automated calculation of the national Early Warning Score (NEWS). 
The introduction of NEWS, a structured triage tool used across health and social care, as 
a means of quickly identifying the severity of illness and tracking any serious deterioration, 
has been particularly successful and demonstrates how the ePCR can be used across 
health boundaries to support the wider health economy in delivering high quality care. 
 

Page 272



 

23 
 

The Trust is now engaged and leading further national developments to create 
opportunities for systems integration.  This will enable electronic systems across health 
and social care to communicate and for clinicians across organisations to share essential 
need to know information.  
 
During 2016-17 the Trust will finalise the ePCR roll out within the North Division and work 
to enhance its capabilities and further support high quality care. 
 
Urgent Care Service 
The Urgent Care Services, both GP Out of Hours and NHS 111, are monitored through the 
assessment against national quality requirements. These quality requirements cover a 
number of different areas (including the auditing of calls and patient experiences).  This 
information is reported in the Integrated Corporate Performance Report, presented to the 
Board of Directors at each meeting, and available on the Trust’s website. 
 
In addition to the NHS111 and GP Out of Hours, the Trust operates a number of smaller 
urgent care service contracts, including a Single Point of Access (SPoA) to healthcare 
professionals in Dorset, dental call handling and triage, Out of Hours services to prisons in 
Dorset and GP practice telephone cover.  Within all of these contracts, the Trust continues 
to achieve well against the contractual performance requirements. 
 
GP Out of Hours Service 
During the first quarter of 2015/16 the Trust delivered GP Out of Hours Services across 
Dorset, Somerset and Gloucester.  From 1 July 2015, the Somerset Out of Hours service 
moved to a new provider as identified through the procurement exercise undertaken by the 
Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
Appendix 2 of this report shows the achievement of the national quality requirements.  
These requirements are set by the Department of Health and are applicable to every Out 
of Hours service in England. 
 
As can be seen, the two services have performed differently during 2015/16, reflecting that 
the Dorset contract is a well-established service with a history of good performance 
whereas the Gloucestershire contract is new, commencing on 1 April 2015. Overall Dorset 
continued to deliver well against performance and quality requirements whereas in 
Gloucestershire, the overall performance has been more volatile with overall delivery at a 
level below that seen in Dorset.   
 
The Trust continues to focus on actions which contribute to deliver an improving position 
against the contractual performance requirements, some of these including a full review of 
the shift patterns and staffing structure; enabling remote access to allow GPs to undertake 
telephone triage at peak periods from home; and enhancing existing standard operating 
procedures to improve patient flow between emergency departments, minor injury units 
and the Out of Hours led primary care centres (co-located with these other departments). 
 
NHS111 
As with the Out of Hours service, the Trust commenced the year delivering NHS111 
services to Devon, Dorset, Cornwall and Somerset. However, on 1 July 2015 the 
Somerset service transitioned to a new provider. 
 
  

Page 273



 

24 
 

Following the decision of the Trust to service notice on the Devon and Cornwall NHS111 
contracts with effect from 31 March 2016, agreement was reached that additional 
investments would be provided by the Clinical Commissioning Groups to ensure an 
improving position of service delivery for the remainder of 2015/16.  As a result of this an 
extended period of recruitment commenced in July for all contracts, the outcome of which 
was a steady increase in clinical staff numbers and call answering, with a reciprocal 
improvement in the performance and quality of the service provided. 
 
In December 2015, Devon Clinical Commissioning Group commenced a procurement 
exercise to secure the next provider for its NHS111 and GP Out of Hours services.  Whilst 
the Trust developed an initial partnership to explore the options to bid for these services, in 
February a decision was made to not progress this and therefore it awaits instruction from 
the Clinical Commissioning Group as to who the successful bidder is.  Once this award 
has been made the Trust will work with this new provider to ensure a smooth transition for 
staff and patients. 
 
Appendix 3 sets outs activity for each of the NHS111 contracts during 2015/16, together 
with performance against national quality requirements.  As with Out of Hours services, 
national quality targets are set out by the Department of Health for NHS111 services and 
are applicable to every service in England. 
 
Tiverton Urgent Care Centre 
The Trust took over the management of the Urgent Care Centre in Tiverton in July 2014.  
The primary measure within the operating contract is the 4 hour waiting time standard, 
which is the same target for Acute Trust Emergency Departments.  As can be seen from 
the table below, performance is excellent and patient report receiving an excellent service. 
 

Indicator Target 2015/16 8 July 2014 – 31 
March 2015 

Percentage of cases completed 
within 4 hours 

95% 99.77% 99.43% 

 
  

Page 274



 

25 
 

Ambulance Clinical Quality Indicators 
The following tables show Trust performance for further ACQIs.  
 

Indicator 

Y
e

a
r 

to
 d

a
te

 

2
0
1

5
/1

6
 

(A
p

r 
to

 O
c

t)
 

2
0
1

4
/1

5
 

N
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
A

v
e
ra

g
e
 

(A
p

r 
to

 O
c

t 
2

0
1

5
) 

H
ig

h
e

s
t 

T
ru

s
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

(A
p

r 
to

 O
c

t 
1

5
)*

 

L
o

w
e

s
t 

T
ru

s
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

(A
p

r 
to

 O
c

t1
5
)*

 

Return of spontaneous circulation 
(ROSC) at time of arrival at hospital 
(Overall) 

X X X X X 

Percentage of Face Arm Speech Test 
(FAST) positive stroke patients (assessed 
face to face) potentially eligible for stroke 
thrombolysis, who arrive at a hyperacute 
stroke centre within 60 minutes of call 

X X X X X 

*Highest/Lowest Trust reporting has been noted for each indicator independently. 

 
 

Indicator 

Y
e

a
r 

to
 d

a
te

 

2
0
1

5
/1

6
 (

A
p

r 

1
5
 t

o
 F

e
b

 2
0

1
6
) 

 

2
0
1

4
/1

5
 

N
a

ti
o

n
a

l 

A
v

e
ra

g
e
 (

A
p

r 

1
5
 t

o
 F

e
b

 1
6
) 

H
ig

h
e
s

t 
T

ru
s

t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

(A
p

r 
1

5
 t

o
 F

e
b

 

1
6
) 

L
o

w
e

s
t 

T
ru

s
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

(A
p

r 
1

5
 t

o
 F

e
b

 

1
6
) 

Calls closed with telephone advice X X X X X 

Incidents managed without the need for 
transport to A&E 

X X X X X 

*Highest/Lowest Trust reporting has been noted for each indicator independently. 

 

Research Activity 
 
Disseminating work at External Conferences 
During 2015/16 the Research and Audit team showcased their work to a national audience 
through attendance at several key conferences.  Posters were displayed at the National 
College of Paramedics Conference, and our Lead Research Paramedic delivered an 
update of her work which was sponsored by the college. At the 999 EMS Research Forum 
the team won prizes for ‘Best Poster’, and also the top award of highest quality research, 
which attracts a prize to speak at an international conference, this year in New Zealand. 
Additionally, the team presented at the South West Emergency Academic Conference in 
March. 
 
  

Page 275



 

26 
 

Research Showcase 
The Research and Audit Team also hosted the Trust’s annual Research Showcase in 
Exeter in March 2016. 
 
 
The aim of the event was to showcase some of the research currently being undertaken 
both within and outside of the Trust, and to promote engagement with staff and students, 
highlighting some of the ways in which they can become involved in, and develop, a 
research career.  The event brought together a multi-disciplinary group including a wide 
range of staff grades, students from University partners, and representatives from the 
research community and Higher Education Institutions (HEIs). 
 
The speakers presented on a range of projects, including both recently completed and 
ongoing studies, including: 

 AIRWAYS-2 – This ongoing study, which the Trust is sponsoring, is the largest trial of 
airway management in the world, and is comparing intubation with a supraglottic airway 
device for managing the airway in patients experiencing an out of hospital cardiac 
arrest. 

 The Peninsula Public Involvement Group described their experiences as a user led 
advisory group participating in research, and the value of involving patients and service 
users. 

 PARAMEDIC-2 – a key study in out of hospital cardiac arrest, examining whether 
adrenaline has a beneficial effect in this patient group. 
 

The event was shared with a global audience through social media. Over 300 ‘tweets’ 
during the event resulted in over 349,200 twitter impressions.  
 

Patient Safety 
 
Incident Reporting 
As reported in Part 2 of this report, the Trust has a central reporting system for adverse 
incidents, including near misses, as well as Moderate Harm Incidents (MIs) and Serious 
Incidents (SIs).   
 
All three core service lines for the Trust: A&E; Patient Transport Service (PTS) and Urgent 
Care Service (UCS), are covered in the patient safety measures reported within this 
section, including the table below which sets out the categories and numbers of patient 
safety incidents managed by the Trust. 
 

Other Patient Safety Measures 2015/16 2014/15 

Adverse Incidents xxxxx 1,450 

Moderate Harm Incidents 40 48 

Serious Incidents 41 56 

 
Working groups within the Trust receive reports on incidents relating to their remit. During 
the year the Trust established a Quality Development Forum which replaced the 
Experiential Learning Forum. The role of the Quality Development Forum is to drive the 
Quality Strategy within the Trust and to lead on service and quality improvement as the 
sub group to the Quality Committee. The group’s key duties include: 

Page 276



 

27 
 

 Proactively highlighting areas of concern or poor practice and undertaking focused 
reviews, informed by other forums such as the Quality Committee and Clinical 
Effectiveness Group, to develop and influence Trust-wide quality improvements; 

 Approving updates to the Trust’s Quality Strategy, and supporting its implementation; 

 Making recommendations for action to improve quality, ensuring those actions are 
implemented and disseminated throughout the organisation; 

 Referring and receiving recommendations for change to policy to appropriate Director; 

 Referring and receiving recommendations for change to the Trust annual training 
programme, via the Clinical Effectiveness Group;  

 Analysing and acting upon feedback from the external environment such as national groups. 
 
The first theme reviewed by the Quality Development Forum during the year was 
‘Emotional Resilience’.  The outcome of this review included the recommendation to 
develop an accredited Emotional Resilience course for staff.   Future themes for review 
have been identified as Clinical Care and Human Factors, with the latter being a quality 
priority for 2016/17. 
 
Serious Incidents 
A fundamental part of the Trust’s risk management system is appropriately managing SIs 
to ensure lessons are learned. SIs are identified through a systematic review of both 
adverse incidents and patient feedback. All incidents that are believed to potentially meet 
the nationally set criteria for a SI are passed to the clinically qualified Patient Safety 
Manager for preliminary review, before being circulated to the dedicated Serious and 
Moderate Harm decision making group. 
 
It is important to note that the proportion of SIs as a percentage of patient contact activity 
remains very low. In addition, the Trust has seen a decrease in SIs reported in 2015/16.  
Analysis of the 2015/16 SIs has identified that there is an equal split between those 
identified for the East and West divisions for the A&E service line, however the North 
division has seen double that seen for other divisions.  In addition, the majority of SIs 
which related to the Trust’s A&E Clinical Hubs took place within the East division.  
 
SI investigations are considered within Serious Incident Review Meetings which are 
designed to identify organisational learning.  These meetings are chaired by a Clinical 
Director or Deputy Director.  All staff involved in the incident are invited to attend as this 
provides the best opportunity for the Trust to identify learning. Learning can either be at a 
local, Trust wide or at times national level, for example referring learning to NHS Pathways 
to help them improve the national Pathways system. A Serious Incident Action Plan is 
maintained to monitor progress against actions identified.   
 
Learning from SIs is shared via the Trust’s publication ‘Reflect’ which is widely publicised 
within the Trust’s newsletter and available to all staff on the intranet.  The Trust produces a 
bi-monthly Patient Safety and Experience Report presented to the Board of Directors 
which summarises themes and learning arising from SIs. One example of a trend identified 
during the year is the impact of Human Factors on patient safety incidents.  This has led to 
Human Factors being been identified as one of the Trust’s Quality Priorities for 2016/17 
and will be the subject of a review overseen by the Trust’s Quality Development Forum.   
Other areas of learning have included actions associated with demand, delays in the 
provision of back up resources, telephone triage, confirmation bias, incomplete patient 
clinical records, communications and moving and handling of patients.    
 

Page 277



 

28 
 

Central Alert System 
The Central Alert System (CAS) is an electronic web-based system developed by the 
Department of Health, the National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA), NHS Estates and the 
Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA). This aims to improve the 
systems in NHS Trusts for assuring that safety alerts have been received and 
implemented. During 2015/16 the Trust acknowledged almost 100% of CAS notifications 
within 48 hours except one. The number of notifications received is set out in the table 
below. 
 

Other Patient Safety Measures 2015/16 2014/15 

Central Alert System (CAS) Received 119 157 

 
Patient Experience 
Patient experience and patient engagement provide the best source of information to 
understand whether the services delivered by the Trust meet the expectations of the 
patient, including assessing whether a quality service is provided. 
 
The following table shows some of the Trust’s existing methods and quantitative 
information on service user experience. 
 

Patient Experience Measures 2015/16 2014/15 

Complaints, Concerns and Comments2 1,517 1,268 

Patient, Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) – Lost Property, 
signposting to other services etc 

1005 857 

Health Service Ombudsman complaints upheld 2 in part 2 

Compliments 2,225 2,055 

 
Learning from Incidents and Complaints 
A review of root causes identified following investigations into serious and moderate harm 
incidents and moderate complaints completed during 2015/16 has identified the most 
common causes being: 

 clinical care eg misinterpretation of clinical signs;  poor record completion; and a lack 
of capacity assessment; 

 access and waiting eg delayed call backs and limited resources due to high levels of 
demand; 

 communication eg failure to probe on questioning and poor communication with 
control following RTCs 

 infrastructure such as IT process errors or a Hub system error. 
 

                                                 
2
 When noting the number of comments, concerns and complaints received it is important to consider 

that the Trust proactively invites feedback from patients and their representatives. 
 

Page 278



 

29 
 

The area of Clinical Care is the most commonly identified root cause; however, it is 
important to recognise that this category also includes the care afforded by telephone 
triage.  These incidents are often difficult to definitively categorise and may also appear in 
the communication category under a failure to probe or similar.  A high number of 
complaints are multifaceted in nature which in turn leads to multiple root causes being 
identified. 
 
Examples of learning from each of the identified root cause themes are set out below: 

 
Clinical Care 
There have been no overriding themes identified by the Patient Experience and Patient 
Safety teams. Clinical Care has been identified as a topic to be reviewed by the Quality 
Development Forum in 2016/17.   In terms of concerns relating to clinical care issues 
during face to face assessments, learning points included: 

 

 Confirmation bias when a clinician allows other factors to cloud their assessment and 
diagnosis of a patient – for instance if a patient is nervous about travelling to hospital 
they may tailor their answers to convince you they are feeling better than they are.  
Confirmation bias can lead to clinicians making inadequate treatment plans for their 
patients.  An article regarding confirmation bias will be included within a future edition 
of the Trust’s Reflect publication. 

 

 Incomplete Patient Clinical Records (PCR), for example recording of less than two 
complete sets of observations and the lack of a systematic assessment using the 
‘Medical model’.  This has led to poor decision making with regards to non-
conveyance and safety netting.  The individuals concerned have received further 
training from the Trust’s Learning and Development Team or GP Lead. 

 

 The Trust has also noted an ongoing theme in relation to spinal care. This was 
highlighted previously as a trend and the Medical Directorate revisited the guideline.  
Whilst initially the reporting figures reduced, it has become evident that cases have 
still been occurring.  There appears to be a discrepancy in understanding and 
application of the spinal guidelines which is resulting in staff not treating patients with 
potential spinal injuries appropriately. In order to address this immediately an article 
reinforcing the guidelines is to be placed in the Trust’s weekly bulletin and a special 
edition of Reflect will be produced.   

 
In previous years, sepsis has been a quality priority for the Trust.  2015/16 saw a small but 
increasing number of sepsis cases. This is high profile nationally and learning continues to 
be embedded. The main themes and learning in terms of actions taken include:  

 Sepsis remaining under discussion at the Trust’s Quality Development Forum.   

 The Trust has contributed to the JRCALC guidance regarding Sepsis management;   

 ‘Sepsis Assessment and Management (SAM)’ leaflets have been produced and put 
onto vehicles – these leaflets are written for the lay person to understand, so members 
of public know what to look out for;   

 The e-PCR is to be modified to alert the crew if they are about to leave a patient at 
home who has signs of symptoms;  

 As reported previously, Paediatric ‘Big6’ guidelines were issued in August 2015, 
covering the six main causes of paediatric illness and symptoms to look out for; and 

Page 279



 

30 
 

 The development and implementation of a training programme for staff working within 
our 111 services took place in 2015/16 which incorporated sepsis red flags, meningitis, 
septicaemia in children and the unwell child. 

 
Human Factors  
Human factors can influence how people behave and perform.  Human factors are 
environmental, organisational and job factors, and individual characteristics which 
influence behaviour. 
 
In this reporting period, learning in respect of behaviours has resulted in remedial training 
on clinical guidelines and supervised shifts; as well as reflective practice. 
 
The human factors that influence those behaviours will be part of a bigger piece of work 
which will be undertaken by the Patient Safety team and overseen by the Trust’s Quality 
Development Forum.   
 
The Trust has met with an expert in Human Factors investigations methodology and will be 
liaising with the Academic Health Science Network regarding moving this area of work 
forward. 
 
Telephone triage inherently is subject to issues of Human Factors and potential error given 
the nature of the system.  As has been stated previously, one of the Trust’s Quality 
Priorities for 2016/17 is to undertake a review of patient safety incidents where telephone 
triage errors were identified as a concern and analyse these using an agreed human 
factors model with a view to developing proposals for improvement. 
 
Access and Waiting 
Of the remedial actions relating to access and waiting, a small number of actions relate to 

dispatching errors. There was no identified relationship between each of the cases and 

individual learning actions for the staff involved were put into place. 
 
During 2015/16 demand and resourcing continued to be an issue.  The Trust continues to 
face two acute challenges; demand for services which is growing by more than 6% per year; 
and challenges in resourcing to meet that demand. The Trust aims to deliver the very best 
service it can to its patients within these constraints, despite that a number of complaints 
and incidents have identified demand and the availability of resources as a root cause.  In 
order to address this issue, the Trust has developed a Quality Improvement Plan and holds 
twice weekly performance briefings attended by representatives from all key functions.  It 
has been agreed that the Trust and Commissioners will work collaboratively to understand 
where they can best concentrate resources in order to provide the greatest improvement 
and to focus on the external factors which impact demand. 
 
Learning points within the Clinical Hubs and 111 Call Centres have resulted in a review of 
the Standing Operating Procedure in respect of “Resource Movements Across Localities” 
in order to ensure that resources are best utilised across the Trust, and the repeat caller 
processes have been highlighted to staff within the UCS service line in order to ensure that 
this process is better understood in the management of patients. 
 
  

Page 280



 

31 
 

Communication 
The area of communication skills has been identified as a theme by the Trust’s Quality 
Development Forum in relation to complaints and adverse incidents and this has 
subsequently been linked to emotional resilience of staff.  It is anticipated that the Trust’s 
new Peer Support Network will assist in this area and in addition the Trust is considering 
the development of an accredited Emotional Resilience course.   
 
Individual action that has taken place as a result of complaints regarding the attitude of 
staff includes attendance at a Customer Care course.    
 
Compliments 
The Trust receives telephone calls, letters and emails of thanks from many patients every 
week. Wherever possible this gratitude is passed directly onto the members of staff who 
attended the patient or service user. 
 
2,225 compliments were received during 2015/16; an increase of 8% on 2014/15.   
 
The Trust continues to use ‘wordles’ – a visual representation of the key words included in 
the compliments received. These are shared on the Trust’s intranet so that all staff can 
see the type of positive feedback that the Trust receives about the work that they do. 
The picture below is a year-end summary of the compliments received for 2015/16, 
the larger the word/phrase the more frequently it was used. 
 
Wordle to be included. 
 
Patient Engagement 
During 2015/16 the Trust continued to develop its patient engagement activities, ensuring 
that its services are responsive to individual needs; are focused on patients and the local 
community; and supporting its ongoing commitment to improving the quality of care provided. 
 
The Patient Engagement Team source patient stories for use at the start of each meeting 
of the Board of Directors and of the Council of Governors. Previously these stories were 
written testimonies read out by a member of the forum; however, this year the Trust 
enhanced this project and has begun to invite patients into the Board meeting to share 
their stories in person. This activity has been a positive experience not only for the meeting 
members, but for the patients involved too. 
 
Patient Opinion 
Patients and their relatives and carers can post details of their experience on the “Patient 
Opinion” website, with these posts being available to anybody visiting the site.  The Trust 
responds to every comment about its service.  Where the feedback is negative or indicates 
service failure, the individual who provided the comments is invited to contact the Trust 
directly with further details so that the concerns can be addressed by the Patient 
Experience Team.   Where the post is positive and the incident in question can be 
identified, the posting is passed directly to the member(s) of staff involved.  If there is 
insufficient detail the Patient Engagement Team will respond requesting additional 
information in order to be able to convey the positive feedback.    
 
During the year 141 stories relating to the Trust have been posted on Patient Opinion.  
This is a decrease of 48% compared to last year. The decrease is likely to be due to the 
cessation of advertising of the site; as the Trust chose not to renew its subscription to the 
Patient Opinion site due to funding requirements. 

Page 281



 

32 
 

 
Patient Experience Surveys 
The Trust audits a random sample of 1% of patient contacts every month for its NHS111 
contracts and separately for the GP Out of Hours contracts, with care being taken to 
ensure that the survey is not sent to anyone whom it would not be appropriate to contact, 
for example a sensitive case that may related to a safeguarding concern.   
 
A paper questionnaire is sent out to respondents, which also contains a link to the online 
survey.  The survey includes a series of questions under the following headings: 

 Friends and Family Test  

 Getting through 

 After the call 

 Satisfaction 

 Use of 111/Out of Hours telephone service and satisfaction with the NHS 

 Caller/patient information 
 
The Trust provides a monthly report to its Commissioners on the number of calls taken; and 
the forms returned within that period, with a detailed report being submitted every six months.  
 
During the year 1,329 people responded to the survey in respect of their NHS111 
experience; equating to a response rate of 23%.  These responses highlighted that further 
consideration needs to be given to communication about the service to manage patient 
expectations, whilst the issue of clinician availability was also raised. 
 
Some of the comments provided by survey respondents have raised issues about triage; 
the perception that questioning is too long and unhelpful, with respondents indicating that 
the questioning has ‘fuelled’ feelings of anxiety.  A small number of survey respondents 
have stated that the attitude from the call taker was less than favourable.  
 

Many positive comments relate to patients feeling grateful for the service; with 
respondents citing how the staff they spoke to or were attended by were helpful and 
caring. 
 
491 responses were received from the GP Out of Hours surveys during the year, equating 
to a response rate of 25%.  Feedback suggests that patients are satisfied with the service 
received, with them being likely to recommend the service and to use it again.  
Respondents cited high levels of satisfaction with the service, confirming that they were 
given good information regarding their care options and treatment. 
 
Learning Disability 
During 2015/16 the Patient Engagement Team has continued to work with the patient 
reference group, called SWAG (South Western Ambulance Group), which was established 
in September 2014.  
 
The Trust has successfully completed the first annual work plan for SWAG and has now 
developed a new plan for the coming year.  The Group is preparing to welcome and 
interview the Trust’s Chief Executive early in 2016/17. They have compiled a detailed list 
of questions and are very much looking forward to this opportunity.   
 
  

Page 282



 

33 
 

During the first year of SWAG the group; 

 looked at the Trust filming and photography equipment and spoke extensively about 
consent; including consent to be filmed/photographed and for images to be used by 
the service and consent regarding treatment and travel; 

 reviewed easy read materials and supported the creation of a new leaflet designed to 
provide patients with details to contact the Trust with a complaint or a compliment; 

 considered reasons to contact the Trust for medical help and the consequences of 
misusing the service. 

 
The Trust is currently establishing relationships with groups that support patients with LD 
in Gloucester and South Devon. It is hoped this engagement will provide the Trust with 
more in depth feedback from this patient group with a view to improving services for them. 
 
Friends and Family Test for Patients 
The FFT is a single question survey which asks patients whether they would recommend the 
NHS service they have received to friends and family who need similar treatment or care.   
 
The Trust offers the FFT to patients who receive ‘See and Treat’ care across the 999 and 
Urgent Care service lines; this means care delivered to patients when they are seen by a 
Trust clinician and the patient is not conveyed to any receiving facility. The FFT is also 
offered to patients that access the Patient Transport Service (PTS). 
 
Response rates to the FFT are poor.  A review of response rates across all ambulance 
services identifies that this is an issue across the country. However, it is difficult to directly 
compare data as each Trust is using a different response method and so it can’t be used 
as a reliable bench mark. 

 
Despite the low response rate, the Trust continues to receive largely positive feedback to 
the FFT. However, this in itself provides a challenge for service development based on 
these responses as the only consistent theme offered in the feedback is that of praise and 
gratitude.  
 
The FFT results for 2015/16 are set out below – 

 
Public and Patient Involvement 
During 2015/16 the Trust attended 197 patient and public involvement events such as 
county shows, community fetes, school and college visits and public health awareness 
days.  These event were staffed predominantly by volunteers drawn from clinicians, 
managers, administrators, governors and community first responders. 
 
These events provide a fantastic opportunity to engage with existing patients and potential 
service users.  They also provide an opportunity to deliver proactive health checks. A total 
of 1,200 members of the public had their blood pressure checked during 2015/16 and a 
further 52 people received a free NHS Health Check, covering blood pressure, body mass 
index, blood glucose and cholesterol levels. The results were provided immediately and 
where necessary recommendations about further medical care, such as attending their 
own GP, were made. 

Recommend? April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March 

Would 86% 88% 89% 92% 84% 94% 89% 86% 94% 88% 86% 91% 

Would not 5% 7% 5% 8% 11% 4% 8% 5% 6% 7% 11% 9% 

Page 283



 

34 
 

We have continued to improve our links with our Road Safety Partnerships across the area 
and worked with Gloucestershire Constabulary to deliver an educational day warning 
youngsters of the dangers and consequences of antisocial behaviour such as knife crime. 
Other achievements include;  

 Providing public health messages to the public by working with our CCG partners 
and other health and care organisations; 

 Establishing links with our local armed forces and supplying NHS health checks to 
serving Royal Marines; 

 Joining forces with Avon & Somerset Constabulary’s Festive Drink Drive Campaign; 

 Continued partnership working with colleagues from the police, street pastors and 
town centre managers – operating the mobile treatment centre in densely populated 
locations;  

 Working with our Heathwatch partners and inviting them to Trust HQ to meet us and 
view our systems of work. 

 Raising the profile of the Trust’s Bristol Bike Unit by ensuring that they have a 
presence at high profile events across the Trust area.  

  

Page 284



 

35 
 

Assurance Statements – Verbatim 
 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
 
 
Healthwatch 
 
 
Local Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
  

Page 285



 

36 
 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Quality Report 
 
The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service 
(Quality Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. 
 
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of 
annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the 
arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data 
quality for the preparation of the quality report. 
 
In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves 
that: 

 

 the content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2015/16 and supporting guidance; 

 

 the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources 
of information including: 

 
o board minutes and papers for the period May 2015 to 19 May 2016 
o papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period May 2015 to 19 

May 2016 
o feedback from the commissioners dated xxxxxxx  
o feedback from governors dated xxxxxxxxxxxx  
o feedback from Local Healthwatch organisations dated  
o feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committees dated xxxxxx 
o the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local 

Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated xxxxxxx  
o the latest national patient survey dated 8 July 2014 
o the latest national staff survey dated 22 March 2016 
o the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control environment 

dated xxxxxxxx 
 

 the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS Foundation Trust’s 
performance over the period covered; 

 

 the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate; 
 

 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of 
performance included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to 
confirm that they are working effectively in practice; 

 

 the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is 
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed 
definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and  

 

 the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting 
guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) (published at 
www.monitor.gov.uk/ annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to support data 
quality for the preparation of the Quality Report (available at 
www.monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual). 

Page 286

http://www.monitor.gov.uk/%20annualreportingmanual)
http://www.monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual)


 

37 
 

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the 
above requirements in preparing the Quality Report. 
 
By order of the board 
 
 
Chairman 
 
Date 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Date 

Page 287



 

38 
 

Appendix 1 
Category A Performance by Clinical Commissioning Group.  
 

 Red 1 Performance Red 2 Performance A19 Performance 

Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 

No of 
Incidents* 

2015/16 2014/15* 
No of 

Incidents* 
2015/16 2014/15* 

No of 
Incidents* 

2015/16 2014/15* 

Kernow 1,848 71.97% 74.83% 32,831 57.63% 69.20% 34,537 82.50% 90.74% 

South Devon & 
Torbay 

1,018 78.88% 83.23% 18,176 68.36% 75.99% 19,182 93.32% 96.21% 

NEW Devon 2,940 80.00% 79.49% 49,332 68.38% 75.61% 51,988 90.47% 93.69% 

Somerset 1,650 74.67% 72.98% 27,728 60.97% 70.92% 29,284 86.15% 92.82% 

Dorset 2,856 82.42% 84.07% 46,687 65.59% 73.70% 49,111 91.23% 95.77% 

North Somerset 741 67.21% 70.34% 12,951 60.30% 68.56% 13,677 87.62% 93.25% 

Bath & NE Somerset 570 72.11% 74.75% 9,559 65.01% 72.22% 10,123 90.08% 93.73% 

Bristol 1,919 72.95% 76.63% 30,942 66.72% 74.29% 32,575 94.64% 97.11% 

South 
Gloucestershire 

711 62.87% 65.35% 13,810 55.18% 63.64% 14,495 91.58% 94.58% 

Gloucestershire 2,045 64.40% 67.07% 34,067 62.47% 66.44% 36,109 88.79% 91.53% 

Wiltshire 1,288 61.26% 65.86% 24,679 55.54% 62.28% 25,952 84.89% 88.71% 

Swindon 807 78.81% 81.88% 12,614 75.40% 79.03% 13,420 95.74% 96.99% 

Trust 18,423 73.72% 75.24% 314,056 63.60% 71.42% 331,156 89.44% 93.62% 

 
 

P
age 288



 

39 
 

Appendix 2 
GP Out of Hours Quality Requirements 
 

Quality Requirement Target Dorset 
Somerset 

(Apr 15 – Jun 15) 
Gloucester 

QR1 - Providers must report regularly to 
NHS Commissioners on their compliance 
with the Quality Requirements 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR2 - Percentage of Out-of-Hours 
consultation details sent to the practice 
where the patient is registered by 08:00 the 
next working day 

95.00% 97.46% 97.13% 99.94% 

QR3 - Providers must have systems in place 
to support and encourage the regular 
exchange of information between all those 
who may be providing care to patients with 
predefined needs 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR4 - Providers must regularly audit a 
random sample of patient contacts (audit 
should provide sufficient data to review the 
clinical performance of each individual 
working within the service) 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR5 - Providers must regularly audit a 
random sample of patients’ experiences of 
the service 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR6 - Providers must operate a complaints 
procedure that is consistent with the 
principles of the NHS complaints procedure 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR7 - Providers must demonstrate their 
ability to match their capacity to meet 
predictable fluctuations in demand for their 
contracted service 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR10a - All immediately life threatening 
conditions (walk in patients) to be passed to 
the ambulance service within 3 minutes of 
face to face presentation 

95.00% n/a n/a n/a 

QR10b - Definitive Clinical Assessment for 
Urgent adult cases presenting at treatment 
location to start within 20 minutes - not 
applicable to this service as a separate 
clinical assessment is not carried out 
between presentation and clinical 
consultation at walk-in-centres 

95.00% n/a n/a 72.19% 

Page 289



 

40 
 

Quality Requirement Target Dorset 
Somerset 

(Apr 15 – Jun 15) 
Gloucester 

QR10b - Definitive Clinical Assessment for 
Urgent Child cases presenting at treatment 
location to start within 20 minutes - not 
applicable to this service as a separate 
clinical assessment is not carried out 
between presentation and clinical 
consultation at walk-in-centres 

95.00% n/a n/a 38.98% 

QR10b - Definitive Clinical Assessment for 
Less Urgent cases presenting at treatment 
location to start within 60 minutes - not 
applicable to this service as a separate 
clinical assessment is not carried out 
between presentation and clinical 
consultation at walk- in-centres 

95.00% n/a n/a 94.94% 

QR10d - At the end of an assessment, the 
patient must be clear of the outcome 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR11 - Providers must ensure that patients 
are treated by the clinician best equipped to 
meet their needs in the most appropriate 
location 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR12 – Emergency Consultations 
(presenting at base) started within 1 hour 

95.00% 0 cases 0 cases 75.86% 

QR12 - Urgent Consultations (presenting 
at base) started within 2 hours 

95.00% 90.50% 94.22% 93.26% 

QR12 - Less Urgent Consultations 
(presenting at base) started within 6 hours 

95.00% 97.41% 97.44% 98.40% 

QR12 - Emergency Consultations (home visits) 
started within 1 hour 

95.00% 0 cases 0 cases 68.09% 

QR12 - Urgent Consultations (home visits) 
started within 2 hours 

95.00% 93.16% 91.31% 86.36% 

QR12 - Less Urgent Consultations (home 
visits) started within 6 hours 

95.00% 96.31% 96.92% 91.24% 

QR13 - Patients unable to communicate 
effectively in English will be provided with an 
interpretation service within 15 minutes of 
initial contact. Providers must also make 
appropriate provision for patients with 
impaired hearing or impaired sight 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant 

 

Page 290



 

41 
 

Appendix 3 
NHS111 Quality Requirements 

 

Quality Requirement Target Dorset Devon 
Somerset 

(Apr 15 – Jun 
15) 

Cornwall 
and IoS 

Activity (Total calls offered) n/a 247,305 392,376 40,401 162,987 

QR1 - Providers must report regularly 
to NHS Commissioners on their 
compliance with the Quality 
Requirements 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR2 - Providers must send details of 
all consultations (including appropriate 
clinical information) to the practice 
where the patient is registered by 0800 
the next working day. 

95.00% 84.52% 88.50% 88.42% 85.96% 

QR3 - Providers must have systems in 
place to support and encourage the 
regular exchange of information 
between all those who may be 
providing care to patients with 
predefined needs 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR4 - Providers must regularly audit a 
random sample of patient contacts 
(audit should provide sufficient data to 
review the clinical performance of each 
individual working within the service) 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR5 - Providers must regularly audit a 
random sample of patients’ 
experiences of the service 

1.00% 0.53% 0.83% 0.96% 1.03% 

QR6 - Providers must operate a 
complaints procedure that is consistent 
with the principles of the NHS 
complaints procedure 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR7 - Providers must demonstrate 
their ability to match their capacity to 
meet predictable fluctuations in 
demand for their contracted service 

Compliance 
Partially 

Compliant 
Non-

Compliant 
Non-

Compliant 
Non-

Compliant 

QR8a - No more than 5% of calls 
abandoned before being answered 5.00% 3.48% 8.64% 12.47% 8.81% 

QR8b - Calls to be answered within 60 
seconds of the end of the introductory 
message 

95.00% 84.94% 68.19% 62.74% 68.63% 

QR9a - All immediately life threatening 
conditions to be passed to the 
ambulance service within 3 minutes 

95.00% 94.38% 95.63% 95.24% 89.62% 

QR9b - Patient callbacks must be 
achieved within 10 minutes 95.00% 19.54% 49.70% 20.06% 25.22% 

Page 291



 

42 
 

Quality Requirement Target Dorset Devon 
Somerset 

(Apr 15 – Jun 
15) 

Cornwall 
and IoS 

Activity (Total calls offered) n/a 247,305 392,376 40,401 162,987 

QR13 - Patients unable to 
communicate effectively in English will 
be provided with an interpretation 
service within 15 minutes of initial 
contact. Providers must also make 
appropriate provision for patients with 
impaired hearing or impaired sight 

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

QR14 - Providers must demonstrate 
the online completion of the annual 
assessment of the Information 
Governance Toolkit at level 2 or above 
and that this is audited on an annual 
basis by Internal Auditors using the 
national framework 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant Compliant 

QR15 - Providers must demonstrate 
that they are complying with the 
Department of Health Information 
Governance SUI Guidance on 
reporting of Information Governance 
incidents appropriately. 

Compliance Compliant Compliant Compliant Compliant 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 292



 

43 
 

Glossary of Terms and Acronyms 
 

Term Description 

111 National phone number for people to access non-emergency healthcare 
and advice 

A19 
Performance 

A19 performance is based on the combination of both Red 1 and Red 2 
categories of call. (Please see definitions of Red 1 and Red 2 below.) 

A&E Accident and Emergency 

ACQIs Ambulance Clinical Quality Indicators – a set of nationally agreed 
measures for ambulance trusts which reflect best practice and stimulate 
continuous quality improvement. 

AI - Adverse 
Incident 

Any event or circumstance that could have or did lead to unintended or 
unexpected harm, loss or damage to any individual or the Trust.  

Adverse incidents may or may not be clinical and may involve actual or 
potential injury, mis-diagnosis or treatment, equipment failure, damage, 
loss, fire, theft, violence, abuse, accidents, ill health, near misses and 
hazards. 

ATP Testing Adenosine triphosphate testing – process whereby a swab is used to 
pick up contamination on a surface which can then be measured to 
assess its cleanliness. 

Audit 
Commission 

The Audit Commission has the role of protecting the public purse which it 
does by auditing a range of public bodies in England.  Information 
gleaned from audits are used to provide evidence based analysis to help 
services learn from one another.  The Audit Commission closed on 31 
March 2015 

Board of 
Directors 

Executive body responsible for the operational management and 
conduct of the organisation 

Category A 
Incidents 

Incidents with patients with a presenting condition which may be 
immediately life threatening and who should receive an emergency 
response within 8 minutes irrespective of location, in 75% of cases.  
In addition Category A patients should receive an ambulance response 
at the scene within 19 minutes in 95% of cases.  

Clinical Audit A quality improvement process that seeks to improve patient care and 
outcomes by measuring the quality of care and services against agreed 
standards and making improvements where necessary. 

CCGs Clinical commissioning groups – GP-led commissioners of local 
healthcare services 

Clinical 
Guidelines 

Trust documents which introduce guidance which is either not 

considered within the scope of the JRCALC guidelines, or where further 

clarification is required. 

Clinical Hub SWASFT term for control room where phone calls to the Trust are 
handled. 

  

Page 293



 

44 
 

CoG Council of Governors – elected body that acts as guardians of NHS 
Foundation Trust, holding the board of directors to account and 
representing views of staff, public and other stakeholders 

CQC  Care Quality Commission - the independent regulator of health and adult 
social care. 

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework enables 
commissioners to reward excellence, by linking a proportion of 
healthcare providers’ income to the achievement of local quality 
improvement goals. 

CTB Call to balloon – when a heart attack is suffered, the time taken from the 
initial emergency call to the balloon being inflated during primary 
angioplasty (see below.) 

Definitive 
Clinical 
Assessment 

An assessment carried out by an appropriately trained and experienced 
clinician on the telephone or face-to-face. It is the assessment which will 
result either in reassurance and advice, or in a face-to-face consultation 
(either in a centre or in the patient’s own home).  

DH Department of Health – the government department that provides 
strategic leadership to the NHS and social care organisations in the UK 

ECG Electrocardiogram - a diagnostic tool that is routinely used to assess the 
electrical and muscular functions of the heart. 

ECS Electronic Care System – allows the Trust to electronically capture, 
exchange and report on patient information. 

Executive 
Directors 

Senior members of staff – including the Chief Executive and Finance 
Director – who sit on the Board of directors, have decision-making 
powers and a defined set of responsibilities. 

FAQ Frequently asked questions 

FAST test Face, Arm, Speech, Time – brief but effective test to determine whether 
or not someone has suffered a stroke. 

FFT Friends and Family Test – NHS single question survey which asks 
patients whether they would recommend the service received to their 
friends and family. 

NHS FT National Health Service Foundation Trust – A not-for-profit, public benefit 
corporation which is part of the NHS and created to devolve decision-
making from central government to local organisations and communities.   

Governance ‘Rules’ that govern the internal conduct of an organisation by defining the 
roles and responsibilities of key offices/groups and the relationships 
between them, as well as the process for due decision making and the 
internal accountability arrangements  

GP General Practitioner 

Health Service 
Ombudsman 

Full title is the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman 
established by Parliament to investigate complaints that individuals have 
been treated unfairly or have received poor service from government 
departments, the NHS and other public organisations in England. 

  

Page 294



 

45 
 

Healthwatch Organisations comprised of individuals and community groups 
working together to improve health and social care services.  They 
represent the views of the public, people who use service and carers 
on the Health and Wellbeing boards set up by local authorities. 

HOSCs Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees – local authority 
committees with powers to scrutinise local health services to ensure 
improvements are made and inequalities reduced. 

Hospital 
Episode 
Statistics 

A data warehouse containing details of all admissions, outpatient 
appointments and A&E attendances at NHS hospitals in England. 

ICPR Integrated Corporate Performance Report – a document which reports 
the Trust’s progress against its business plans; highlights where 
performance targets have not been met; describes the corrective 
action and timescales to address any performance issues.   

IG Information Governance is a framework which brings together all the 
legal rules, guidance and best practice that apply to the handling of 
information.  It demonstrates that an organisation can be trusted to 
maintain the confidentiality and security of personal information and is 
consistent in the way in which it handles personal and corporate 
information.  

IV Intravenous - substance administered to the body via a vein. 

JRCALC 
Guidelines 

National clinical practice guidelines for NHS paramedics developed by 
the Joint Royal Colleges Ambulance Liaison Committee. 

KPIs Key performance indicators – a set of quantifiable measures used to 
demonstrate or compare performance in terms of meeting strategic 
and operational objectives.    

Local Clinical 
Audit 

A quality improvement project involving healthcare professionals 
evaluating aspects of care they have selected as being important to 
the organisation and service users. 

MI Myocardial infarction – heart attack 

MINAP Myocardial Infarction National Audit Project – established in 1999 to 
examine the quality of heart attacks pre-hospital and in hospitals in 
England and Wales. As part of this, ambulance services report 
regularly on the number of MI patients they have attended, the 
treatment provided (thrombolysis and/or PPCI) and the time it took for 
patients to receive the treatment. 

Moderate 
Harm Incident 

A patient safety incident that resulted in a moderate increase in 
treatment and that caused moderate, but not permanent, harm to one 
or more patients. A moderate increase in treatment is defined as a 
return to surgery, an unplanned readmission, a prolonged episode of 
care, extra time in hospital or as an outpatient, cancellation of 
treatment, or transfer to another area such as intensive care as a 
result of the incident. 

Monitor Independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts. 

  

Page 295



 

46 
 

National 
Clinical Audit 

A clinical audit involving healthcare professionals across England and 
Wales in the systematic evaluation of their clinical practice against 
standards and to support and encourage improvement and deliver 
better outcomes in the quality of treatment and care.   

The priorities for national clinical audits are set centrally by the 
Department of Health and all NHS Trusts are expected to participate 
in the national audit programme. 

NEDs Non-Executive Directors – members of the Board of Directors, but not 
part of the executive management team 

NICE National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence – independent 
organisation responsible for providing national guidance on promoting 
good health and preventing and treating ill health. 

NPSA National Patient Safety Agency – An arm’s length body of the 
Department of Health that leads and contributes to improved, safe 
patient care by informing, supporting and influencing organisations 
and people working in the health sector. 

NRLS National patient safety incident database. 

OoH Out of Hours – a service which enables patients to access a GP out of 
normal practice hours. 

PALS Patient Advice and Liaison Service – a confidential advice, support 
and information service in respect of health related matters. 

Patient 
Opinion 

An independent website where people can post their experiences of 
using a health care service. 

Payment by 
Results 

The payment system in England under which Commissioners pay 
healthcare providers for each patient seen or treated, taking into 
account the complexity of the patient’s healthcare needs. 

PPI Patient and Public Involvement – the process of engaging with the 
needs and expectations of patients and the wider public in order to 
inform service development and delivery. 

Primary 
Angioplasty 

Definitive treatment for a heart attack which involves the insertion of a 
small tube through a vein into the blocked blood vessel in the heart 
where a balloon at the tip of the tube is inflated to open the blood 
vessel.  

Priorities for 
Improvement 

There is a national requirement for NHS Trusts to select three to five 
priorities for quality improvement each year.  These priorities must 
reflect the three key areas of patient safety, patient experience and 
patient outcomes. 

PTS Patient Transport Service – the non-emergency conveyance of 
patients to and from healthcare provision. 

Quality 
Strategy 

Trust document sets out how the Trust will deliver high quality, cost 
effective effective emergency and urgent health care services to 
people in the South West. 

  

Page 296



 

47 
 

Red 1 and Red 
2 Calls 

Those calls requiring the most time critical response and cover 
cardiac arrest patients who are not breathing and do not have a pulse 
and other severe conditions such as airway obstruction. Red 2 calls 
are those serious but less immediately time critical and cover 
conditions such as stroke and fits.   

Right Care Trust initiative to work with local health communities to ensure that 
patients receive the right care, in the right place at the right time, 
resulting in patients being treated without the need to attend an 
Emergency Department. 

RoSC Return of spontaneous circulation – desirable clinical outcome of a 
patient in cardiac arrest 

Secondary 
Uses Service 

A national NHS database of activity in Trusts, used for performance 
monitoring, reconciliation and payments. 

Sepsis A life threatening condition that arises when the body’s response to an 
infection injures its own tissues and organs. 

SI – Serious 
Incident 

An incident requiring investigation that has resulted in one or more of 
the following: 

 Unexpected or avoidable death; 

 Serious harm; 

 Prevents an organisation’s ability to continue to deliver health care 
services; 

 Allegations of abuse; 

 Adverse media coverage or public concern; 

 Never events (serious, largely preventable patient safety incidents 
that should not occur if the available preventative measures have 
been implemented.) 

SPoA Single point of access – a contact point which health and social care 
professionals can use to arrange the right care for urgent and non-
urgent patient needs  

STEMI ST elevation myocardial infarction – particular type of heart attack 
determined by an electrocardiogram (ECG) test 

SWASFT South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

Thrombolysis Drug that can dissolve blood clots, used for patients who have 
suffered a heart attack or stroke 

Triage Process for assessing and sorting patients based on their need for or 
likely benefit from immediate medical treatment to ensure a fair, 
appropriate allocation of resources 

 
 

Page 297


	Agenda
	5 University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 2015/16
	01b - Univ Hosp Quality Report 2015-16 - final

	6 North Bristol NHS Trust - Account of the Quality of Clinical Services 2015/16
	7 Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust - Quality Account 2015/16
	8 South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust - Quality Review and Quality Account 2015/16

